COGNITIVE AGEING: THE ROLE OF NUTRITION

EDITED BY: Lucie Geurts, David Vauzour, Louise Dye, Daniel Joseph Lamport and Crystal Haskell-Ramsay PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Nutrition



۵





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-220-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-220-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

COGNITIVE AGEING: THE ROLE OF NUTRITION

Topic Editors:

Lucie Geurts, International Life Sciences Institute Europe, Belgium David Vauzour, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom Louise Dye, University of Leeds, United Kingdom Daniel Joseph Lamport, University of Reading, United Kingdom Crystal Haskell-Ramsay, Northumbria University, United Kingdom

Citation: Geurts, L., Vauzour, D., Dye, L., Lamport, D. J., Haskell-Ramsay, C., eds. (2022). Cognitive Ageing: The Role of Nutrition. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-220-0

Table of Contents

05 Evaluation of Effect of Ninjin'yoeito on Regional Brain Glucose Metabolism by ¹⁸F-FDG Autoradiography With Insulin Loading in Aged Mice

Jingmin Zhao, Ryota Imai, Naoyuki Ukon, Saki Shimoyama, Chengbo Tan, Yuko Maejima, Yuji Omiya, Kazuhiro Takahashi, Guangxian Nan, Songji Zhao, Hiroshi Ito and Kenju Shimomura

14 Therapeutic Opportunities for Food Supplements in Neurodegenerative Disease and Depression

Rita Businaro, David Vauzour, Jerome Sarris, Gerald Münch, Erika Gyengesi, Laura Brogelli and Pedro Zuzarte

- 24 Age-Dependent Association Between Elevated Homocysteine and Cognitive Impairment in a Post-stroke Population: A Prospective Study Shengnan Zhou, Jiahao Chen, Lin Cheng, Kaili Fan, Minjie Xu, Wenwei Ren, Yunbin Chen, Dandan Geng, Haoran Cheng, Xiaoqian Luan, Jiaying Song, Gangqiang Lin, Guiqian Huang and Jincai He
- 34 Carotenoid-Rich Brain Nutrient Pattern Is Positively Correlated With Higher Cognition and Lower Depression in the Oldest Old With No Dementia

Jirayu Tanprasertsuk, Tammy M. Scott, Aron K. Barbey, Kathryn Barger, Xiang-Dong Wang, Mary Ann Johnson, Leonard W. Poon, Rohini Vishwanathan, Nirupa R. Matthan, Alice H. Lichtenstein, Guylaine Ferland and Elizabeth J. Johnson

46 β-*Lactolin Reduces Age-Related Inflammation and Cognitive Decline* Yasuhisa Ano, Rena Ohya, Akihiko Takashima, Kazuyuki Uchida and Hiroyuki Nakayama

55 Metformin Use and Cognitive Function in Older Adults With Type 2 Diabetes Following a Mediterranean Diet Intervention

Natalia Soldevila-Domenech, Aida Cuenca-Royo, Nancy Babio, Laura Forcano, Stephanie Nishi, Cristina Vintró-Alcaraz, Carlos Gómez-Martínez, Susana Jiménez-Murcia, Rebeca Fernández-Carrión, Maria Gomis-González, Andrea Alvarez-Sala, Silvia Carlos, Xavier Pintó, Dolores Corella, Javier Díez-Espino, Olga Castañer, Fernando Fernández-Aranda, Jordi Salas-Salvadó and Rafael de la Torre

- 71 Bone and Lean Mass Loss and Cognitive Impairment for Healthy Elder Adults: Analysis of the Nutrition and Health Survey in Taiwan 2013–2016 and a Validation Study With Structural Equation Modeling Sheng-Feng Lin, Yen-Chun Fan, Wen-Harn Pan and Chvi-Huev Bai
- 81 US Older Adults That Consume Avocado or Guacamole Have Better Cognition Than Non-consumers: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2011–2014

Feon W. Cheng, Nikki A. Ford and Matthew K. Taylor

90 An Interactive Review on the Role of Tocotrienols in the Neurodegenerative Disorders

Ruth Naomi, Nurul Husna Shafie, Priyatharisni Kaniappan and Hasnah Bahari

 103 Dietary Fish Hydrolysate Improves Memory Performance Through Microglial Signature Remodeling During Aging
Mathilde Chataigner, Céline Lucas, Mathieu Di Miceli, Véronique Pallet, Sophie Laye, Alexis Mehaignerie, Elodie Bouvret, Anne-Laure Dinel and

Corinne Joffre





Evaluation of Effect of Ninjin'yoeito on Regional Brain Glucose Metabolism by ¹⁸F-FDG Autoradiography With Insulin Loading in Aged Mice

Jingmin Zhao^{1,2}, Ryota Imai^{3,4}, Naoyuki Ukon⁵, Saki Shimoyama⁵, Chengbo Tan^{5,6}, Yuko Maejima⁴, Yuji Omiya³, Kazuhiro Takahashi⁵, Guangxian Nan^{1*†}, Songji Zhao^{5,7*†}, Hiroshi Ito^{2,5} and Kenju Shimomura⁴

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Vauzour, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Fang Xie, Fudan University, China Sophie Lancelot, Université de Lyon, France

*Correspondence:

Guangxian Nan nangx@jlu.edu.cn Songji Zhao zhao-s@fmu.ac.jp

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 23 January 2021 Accepted: 16 March 2021 Published: 12 May 2021

Citation:

Zhao J, Imai R, Ukon N, Shimoyama S, Tan C, Maejima Y, Omiya Y, Takahashi K, Nan G, Zhao S, Ito H and Shimomura K (2021) Evaluation of Effect of Ninjin'yoeito on Regional Brain Glucose Metabolism by ¹⁸F-FDG Autoradiography With Insulin Loading in Aged Mice. Front. Nutr. 8:657663. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.657663 ¹ Department of Neurology, China-Japan Union Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China, ² Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan, ³ Tsumura Kampo Research Laboratories, Kampo Research and Development Division, Tsumura & Co., Ibaraki, Japan, ⁴ Department of Bioregulation and Pharmacological Medicine, Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan, ⁶ Advanced Clinical Research Center, Fukushima Global Medical Science Center, Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan, ⁶ Department of Neurosurgery, Shanghai East Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ⁷ Department of Pathophysiology, Basic Medical College of Jilin University, Changchun, China

Introduction: A recent clinical study revealed that Ninjin'yoeito (NYT) may potentially improve cognitive outcome. However, the mechanism by which NYT exerts its effect on elderly patients remains unclear. The aim of this study is to evaluate the effect of Ninjin'yoeito on regional brain glucose metabolism by ¹⁸F-FDG autoradiography with insulin loading in aged wild-type mice.

Materials and Methods: After 12 weeks of feeding NYT, mice were assigned to the control and insulin-loaded groups and received an intraperitoneal injection of human insulin (2 U/kg body weight) 30 min prior to ¹⁸F-FDG injection. Ninety minutes after the injection, brain autoradiography was performed.

Results: After insulin loading, the ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation showed negative changes in the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus in the control group, whereas positive changes were observed in the NYT-treated group.

Conclusions: Ninjin'yoeito may potentially reduce insulin resistance in the brain regions in aged mice, thereby preventing age-related brain diseases.

Keywords: Ninjin'yoeito, glucose metabolism, 18F-FDG autoradiography, age, insulin loading

INTRODUCTION

With a global aging population, health issues caused by aging and age-related diseases have become inevitable challenges to all countries. Understanding the functional changes of organs that occur as a result of aging is essential to prevent age-related diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD) (1). In particular, the metabolism of glucose as an energy source has been regarded as a potential indicator for these body disorders.

5

Insulin resistance is one of the major underlying mechanisms in abnormal glucose tolerance (2). Accumulated evidence supports the idea that insulin resistance raises the risk of AD (3) and also correlates with the progression of PD (4). The aged brain has reduced insulin receptor expression levels, diminished insulin transport into the central nervous system, and may even experience insulin resistance (3–7). Therefore, reducing brain insulin resistance is one of the key points to prevent aging-related brain diseases.

Ninjin'yoeito (NYT, Ren-Shen-Yang-Rong-Tang) is a traditional Japanese medicine (Kampo medicine) and a multicomponent formulation composed of 12 crude drug extracts from ginseng, Japanese angelica roots, peony roots, rehmannia roots, Atractylodes rhizomes, poria sclerotium, cinnamon bark, astragalus root, Citrus unshiu peel, polygala roots, schisandra fruit, and Glycyrrhiza. NYT extract is approved by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare as a Kampo medicine for the decline in physical strength, fatigue, anorexia, night sweats, cold extremities, and anemia (8). It is also used for individuals with deteriorating physical or psychiatric conditions, particularly among the elderly (9). Ninjin-to is composed of four medicinal herbs, atractylodes rhizome, ginseng, glycyrrhiza, and processed ginger, and has been reported to prevent the progression of diabetes mellitus in non-obese diabetic mice (10). Moreover, glucose intolerance in obese mice is alleviated by *astragalus* root through improvement of insulin resistance (11). Interestingly, NYT contains atractylodes rhizome, ginseng, and glycyrrhiza, which are components of Ninjin-to preventing the progression of diabetes (10). Furthermore, NYT also contains astragalus root, which improves insulin resistance (11). On the other hand, a recent clinical study revealed that NYT may potentially improve cognitive outcome and AD-related depression in patients with AD (8). Therefore, we hypothesize that NYT may potentially improve insulin resistance in the brain.

The glucose analog [¹⁸F]-Fluoro-2-deoxy-2-D-glucose (¹⁸F-FDG), a molecular imaging probe, is widely used in nuclear medicine for evaluating tissue glucose utilization and glucose metabolism (12–14). In this study, we attempted to clarify the effect of Ninjin'yoeito on regional brain glucose metabolism by ¹⁸F-FDG autoradiography (ARG) with insulin loading in aged mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Radiopharmaceutical and Reagent NYT Extract

NYT is an herbal supplement composed of 12 crude drugs (15). The NYT extract we used was supplied by Tsumura & Co.

¹⁸F-FDG

¹⁸F-FDG supplied for clinical PET examinations, and synthesized by standard procedures was obtained from Fukushima Medical University Advanced Clinical Research Center Cyclotron Facility (Fukushima, Japan). The specific activity of ¹⁸F-FDG was about 300 GBq/mmol.

Preparation of Animal Models

The entire experimental protocol was approved by the Laboratory Animal Care and Use Committee of Fukushima Medical University (Approval Number 30021) and performed in accordance with the Guidelines for Animal Experiments at Fukushima Medical University. Male C57BL/6J mice (72 weeks old) (n = 24) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories Japan, Inc. (Yokohama, Japan). All mice were housed in a 12 h light/dark cycle at room temperature maintained at 23-25°C and relative humidity at 45-60%. Food and water were provided ad libitum, and the treatment and care of animals met all the criteria of the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC) International (http:// www.aaalac.org/) (16). The experimental protocol is shown in Figure 1. All mice were fed an original diet (CRF-6, ORIENTAL YEAST CO., LTD., Tokyo, Japan). After 12 weeks (84 weeks old), mice were randomly assigned to the control (n = 12) and treatment (n = 12) groups. The mice in the control group were continued on the original diet (100% CRF-6). The mice in the treatment group were fed the original diet mixed with NYT (97% CRF-6 mixed with 3% NYT, ORIENTAL YEAST CO., LTD., Tokyo, Japan). After 12 weeks (96 weeks old), all mice were fasted overnight and then both the control and treatment groups were further divided two subgroups without and with insulin loading (Figure 1).

Brain ¹⁸F-FDG ARG Study

The four subgroups of mice (n = 6, each group) were the insulin- and non-insulin-loaded subgroups of the control and treatment groups. The mice in the insulin-loaded subgroups were intraperitoneally injected with human insulin (2 U/kg body weight, Eli Lilly & Co., Kobe) 30 min prior to ¹⁸F-FDG injection. Each animal was initially anesthetized with 3-4% isoflurane in air and maintained via spontaneous ventilation with 2% isoflurane in air. ¹⁸F-FDG (11.5 MBq/0.1 ml) was injected into the tail vein. Ninety minutes later, the animals were sacrificed; then their brains were rapidly removed, placed in Brain Matrix (Stoelting Co., USA) and cut into coronal slices (2 mm/slice), from which 9-10 coronal slices were obtained for exposure to a phosphor imaging plate (Fuji Imaging Plate BAS-SR 2025 for ¹⁸F; Fuji Photo Film Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) with a set of calibrated standards (17). This autoradiographic exposure was performed overnight to detect the distribution of ¹⁸F-FDG. ARG images were analyzed using a computerized imaging analysis system (raytest, CR35, Version 2.1.0, Straubenhardt, Germany) with the image analysis software AIDA (Version 5.1 SP2, Straubenhardt, Germany). To determine brain radioactivity concentration, the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus were defined using AIDA. The regions of interest (ROIs), namely, the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus in the left and right hemispheres in all mice, were marked on the same anatomical plane with reference to the corresponding brain coronal slices (Figure 2). The radioactivity concentration in each ROI was determined per unit area, and the percentage of injected dose per pixel of the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus was obtained and normalized to the animal weight [%ID/pixel/kg body weight (%ID/p/kg)]. Finally, the average of the left and



right values around each of the four regions was obtained. The rates of change in $^{18}\text{F-FDG}$ accumulation level before and after insulin loading were assessed using the following formula: $[(^{18}\text{F-FDG} uptake level after insulin loading—}^{18}\text{F-FDG}$ uptake level before insulin loading)/ $^{18}\text{F-FDG}$ uptake level before insulin loading)/ $^{18}\text{F-FDG}$ uptake level before insulin loading)/ $^{18}\text{F-FDG}$ uptake level before insulin loading) \times 100%. Blood samples for glucose concentration measurement were obtained from all groups. When the blood glucose concentration decreased and displayed as "low" after insulin loading, we defined this blood glucose concentration as 20 mmol/dl which is the detection limit of blood glucose meter.

Statistical Analyses

All data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Statistical analyses were performed using the unpaired Student's *t*-test to

evaluate the significance of differences between the control and treatment groups in body weight, blood glucose concentration, and ¹⁸F-FDG distribution, as well as between non-insulin and insulin-loaded subgroups both in the control and treatment groups. Significance was assumed at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Brain ¹⁸F-FDG Autoradiographic Experiment in Control and Treatment Groups

The body weight and blood glucose concentration were determined in the control and treatment groups (Table 1).



the cortex, striatum, hippocampus, and thalamus on the left and right hemispheres in four groups. The cortex is encircled in hippocampus in blue, and the thalamus in orange.

TABLE 1 Body weight (g) and blood glucose concentration (mg/dl) in brain $^{18}\mbox{F-FDG}$ autoradiography study.

	Control	groups	Treatment groups		
	Without insulin (n = 6)	With insulin (n = 6)	Without insulin (n = 6)	With insulin $(n = 6)$	
Body weight	35.1 ± 4.1	31.6 ± 3.5	32.4 ± 1.8	32.4 ± 3.0	
Blood glucose	96.5 ± 9.5	27.2 ± 16.1****	* 90.8 ± 8.0	$23.7 \pm 6.2^{****}$	

Data are shown in parentheses (mean \pm SD).

Without insulin, no insulin-loaded groups; With insulin, insulin-loaded groups.

****P < 0.0001 vs. value in with insulin-loaded group.

The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in brain regions were also determined in the control and treatment groups (**Table 2**). The body weight and blood glucose concentration were not significantly different between these two groups (**Table 1**). The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus were also not significantly different between these two groups (**Table 2**).

Changes in ¹⁸F-FDG Accumulation Level Between Control and Control/Insulin-Loaded Groups

The body weight and blood glucose concentration were determined in the control and control/ insulin-loaded groups (**Table 1**). The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in brain regions were also determined in the control and control/insulin-loaded

TABLE 2 | ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in brain regions in mice (%ID/p/kg).

	Control	groups	Treatment groups		
	Without insulin (n = 6)	With insulin (n = 6)	Without insulin (n = 6)	With insulin (n = 6)	
Cortex	0.019 ± 0.002	0.016 ± 0.002*	0.017 ± 0.003	0.018 ± 0.002	
Striatum	0.024 ± 0.004	0.024 ± 0.004	0.024 ± 0.004	$0.028 \pm 0.002^{\#}$	
Thalamus	0.023 ± 0.002	0.021 ± 0.005	0.021 ± 0.004	0.022 ± 0.003	
Hippocampus	0.016 ± 0.002	0.016 ± 0.004	0.014 ± 0.002	0.017 ± 0.003	

Data are shown in parentheses (mean \pm SD).

Insulin, insulin-loaded group; Without insulin, no insulin-loaded groups.

*P < 0.05, vs. value in without insulin-loaded control group.

 $^{\#}P < 0.05$, vs. value in with insulin-loaded control group.

groups (**Table 2**). The body weight was not significantly different between these two groups (**Table 1**). After insulin loading, the blood glucose concentration significantly decreased (P < 0.0001) compared with that in the control group (**Table 1**). The level of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the cortex significantly decreased after insulin loading (P < 0.05; **Table 2**).

Changes in ¹⁸F-FDG Accumulation Level Between Treatment and Treatment Plus Insulin-Loaded Groups

The body weight and blood glucose concentration were determined in the treatment and treatment plus insulin-loaded groups (**Table 1**). The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in brain

regions were determined in the treatment and treatment plus insulin-loaded groups (**Table 2**). The body weight was not significantly different between these two groups (**Table 1**). After insulin loading, the blood glucose concentration significantly decreased compared with that in the treatment group (P < 0.0001; **Table 1**). The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the striatum and hippocampus tended to increase trend after insulin loading (**Table 2**).

Comparison of ¹⁸F-FDG Accumulation Level Between Control and Treatment Groups After Insulin Loading

The body weight and blood glucose concentration were not significantly different between the control and treatment plus insulin-loaded groups (**Table 1**). The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the cortex were higher in the treatment group than in the control group after insulin loading. The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the striatum were significantly higher in the treatment group than in the control group after insulin loading (P < 0.05; **Table 2**).

Rates of Change in ¹⁸F-FDG Accumulation Level Before and After Insulin Loading

The rates of change in ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation level before and after insulin loading were assessed using the following formula: $[(^{18}F-FDG uptake level after insulin loading—^{18}F-FDG uptake level before insulin loading)/^{18}F-FDG uptake level before insulin loading] × 100%. The ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation showed negative changes in the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus in the control group, whereas positive changes were observed in the treatment group ($ **Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

To clarify the effect of Ninjin'yoeito on brain glucose metabolism, we examined and compared the ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in brain regions after NYT treatment with insulin loading in aged mice. The ARG method has also been widely used in the quantitative analysis of images of small animal models. ARG imaging plates have a much higher spatial resolution [the Fuji BAS-SR imaging plate is 25–100 μ m (17)], than small-animal PET scanners and can visualize the distribution of the radiotracers, within small brain regions and improve the quantification of image analysis of the small brain regions. Therefore, we chose the ARG method to evaluate the effect of NYT on regional brain glucose metabolism in this study.

The highest concentration of insulin receptors was observed in neuronal cell bodies of the hippocampus and cerebral cortex (18, 19). Thalamic atrophy was found to start early in life and has a linear association with age; the same study showed that thalamic atrophy correlated with diminished performance on tests of processing speed (20). Effects of both deficient striatal neurogenesis and age-related neurodegeneration within the striatum accumulate, resulting in a progressive decline in the control functions of the basal ganglia, loss of dopaminergic neurons, and occurrence of PD clinical symptoms (21). On the basis of these studies, we chose the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus in the aged brain for analysis in this study.

In this study, the blood glucose concentration and body weight were not significantly different between the control and treatment groups, and between the control and treatment plus insulin-loaded groups. The levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus were not significantly different between the control and treatment groups. However, the level of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the cortex was higher in the treatment group than in the control group after insulin loading. Moreover, after insulin loading, the levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the striatum were significantly higher in the treatment group than in the control group. It can be seen from these data that after the insulin loading, the levels of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation were higher in the treatment group than in the control group. It conto higher is the treatment group than in the control group than

On the other hand, in the control group, the level of ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation in the cortex was significantly decreased after insulin loading, whereas no significant difference found in the treatment group. Insulin as a hormone secreted by pancreatic β-cells, which affects the peripheral system, has been wellcharacterized. Recent evidence has confirmed that active insulin could also be observed in the central nervous system. Despite the debate about whether insulin is synthesized in the adult brain, it is easily transported across the blood-brain barrier to the central nervous system through a process mediated by saturable receptors (22-24). Elevated peripheral insulin levels will sharply increase the brain and cerebrospinal fluid insulin levels, while prolonged peripheral hyperinsulinemia will downregulate the blood-brain barrier insulin receptors and inhibit the transport of insulin to the brain (25, 26). Insulin receptors are situated on the synapses of both neurons and astrocytes (27). Although insulin and insulin receptors are abundant in the brain, they are selectively distributed, with high concentrations in the cerebral cortex, hypothalamus, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, as well as in the amygdala and septum (23, 28-30). In the literature, it is widely accepted that aging is accompanied by an increase in insulin resistance (31, 32). Bingham et al. (13) demonstrated that glucose metabolism in the cerebral cortex increases significantly after treatment with low-dose insulin. The basis for insulin effects on glucose metabolism in reginal brains may be due to the distribution of glucose transporter isoforms (GLUTs) (33, 34). The insulin-sensitive GLUTs 4 and 8 are selectively distributed in the brain, and insulin enhances brain GLUT 4 expression and translocation (35). In rats, GLUT 4 is expressed in the cerebellum, sensorimotor cortex, hippocampus, pituitary, and hypothalamus (36-39) and GLUT 8 has been observed to be expressed in the hippocampus and hypothalamus (33).

In this study, after insulin loading, the brain ¹⁸F-FDG uptake level in the cortex of aged mice did not increase but decreased in the control group. This result suggests that there was an obstacle in the cortical glucose metabolism in elderly mice. However, in the treatment group, although the ¹⁸F-FDG uptake level in the cortex of aged mice did not increase, it did not decrease either. This may be explained by the fact that NYT can improve the insulin resistance of the cortex of aged mice. On the other hand, the ¹⁸F-FDG uptake levels in the striatum



and hippocampus of aged mice did not increase after insulin loading in the control group, whereas an increasing trend after insulin loading was observed in the treatment group. This result suggests that NYT may also improve the insulin resistance in the striatum and hippocampus. After insulin loading, the ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation showed negative changes in the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus in the control group. Previous studies ascribed the reduced ¹⁸F-FDG uptake levels in tumors and inflammatory lesions with insulin-induced hypoglycemia to the effect of insulin, i.e., insulin shifts ¹⁸F-FDG from the original area to insulin-sensitive organs (40, 41). This insulin effect may also explain the reduced ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation level in the control group because of the decreased insulin sensitivity of the brain leading to the shift of ¹⁸F-FDG to insulin-sensitive organs. However, in the treatment groups, the ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation showed positive changes in the cortex, striatum, thalamus, and hippocampus after insulin loading. It may indicate that NYT may potentially reduce the insulin resistance in the brain regions of aged mice.

A study showed that insulin resistance in the periphery systems in patients with AD positively correlated with brain amyloid β -protein (A β) deposition in the frontal and temporal areas (42). Studies have shown that peripheral insulin resistance may precede the accumulation of A β in which midlife Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance

(HOMA-IR) predicted Aß aggregation, as assessed by amyloid positron emission tomography 15 years after HOMA-IR was measured (43). In cognitively healthy adults, compared with $A\beta$ negative adults, peripheral insulin resistance is also associated with increased levels of A β accumulation within 2 years (44, 45). Brain insulin resistance impairs synaptic integrity, and tau and A β can also interfere with the actions of insulin at synapses (46). Insulin desensitization may be one of the base of PD disease progression. Clinical data demonstrate that around 8-30% of PD patients are diabetic, a significantly higher percentage than that of the age-matched control group (47-50). Previous studies have documented the importance of insulin signaling in the brain (51-53) and proved that insulin signaling is compromised in the brains of PD patients (54-56). Analogs of incretin hormones have been developed to improve insulin signaling in Type 2 diabetes (57, 58). These drugs enhance insulin release and insulin sensitivity. The antidiabetics in the class of incretin receptor agonists improve symptoms and brain pathology in AD and PD animal models, as well as glucose utilization in AD patients and clinical symptoms in PD patients after their systemic administration (59). The treatment to reduce brain insulin resistance is considered for the treatment of AD and PD.

Hosogi et al. found that NYT improved the serum glucose levels and insulin resistance in STZ-induced diabetic mice (60). This improvement by NYT might be due to the alleviation of interstitial fluid acidification through the increased expression of SMCT1 in the proximal colon leading to the absorption of butyrate, a pH buffer, via epithelial cells of the proximal colon (60). The studies reported by Gonçalves and Martel (61) and Gao et al. (62) revealed the mechanism of NYT-induced improvement of insulin resistance: SMCT1 transports butyrate (61), and butyrate intake prevents insulin resistance in high-fat-diet-fed mice (62). These reports (61, 62) suggest that the elevation of SMCT1 expression prevents the occurrence of insulin resistance by increasing the intake of butyrate. The report by Gao et al. (62) indicates that butyrate treatment improves insulin sensitivity by decreasing the levels of blood lipids such as triglycerides, cholesterol, and total fatty acids, which are as critical factors causing insulin resistance. Therefore, the data showing that NYT reduces local brain insulin resistance in aged mice may provide new options for the treatment of AD and PD.

Small-animal PET as a non-invasive, *in vivo* molecular imaging modality has been widely used for preclinical animal models in research facilities, which provide longitudinal investigation of the same subject and voxel-wise analysis. However, most dedicated small-animal PET scanners are limited by their relatively coarse spatial resolution [typically 1 to 2 mm full width at half-maximum (FWHM)] and therefore cannot reliably define specific regions within the mouse brain (63).

The small-animal PET system (Inveon, PET/SPECT/CT) with a spatial resolution of 1.63 mm was installed in our preclinical facility (64). Prior to this study, we have also evaluated the quantitative analysis of ¹⁸F-FDG PET images of the mouse brain. However, owing to the poor spatial resolution of ¹⁸F-FDG PET images, it was impossible to accurately define specific regions and set the ROIs at specific regions within the mouse brain. Yang et al. indicated that high-resolution prototype small-animal ¹⁸F-FDG PET scanner images showed a much higher spatial resolution and a more detailed structure of the mouse brain (63). However, the dedicated small-animal ¹⁸F-FDG PET scanner (Inveon) could not.

The limitations of our study were as follows. The number of animals per group was small. We only performed image analysis of the coronal sections of the mouse brain, and we did not

REFERENCES

- Martin GM, The biology of aging: 1985-2010 and beyond. Faseb J. (2011) 25:3756-62. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-1102.ufm
- Xiao J, Weng J, Ji L, Jia W, Lu J, Shan Z, et al. Worse pancreatic β-cell function and better insulin sensitivity in older Chinese without diabetes. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2014) 69:463–70. doi: 10.1093/gerona/ glt104
- Cholerton B, Baker LD, Craft S. Insulin resistance and pathological brain ageing. *Diabet Med.* (2011) 28:1463–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03464.x
- Banks WA, Jaspan JB, Kastin AJ. Effect of diabetes mellitus on the permeability of the blood-brain barrier to insulin. *Peptides*. (1997) 18:1577– 84. doi: 10.1016/S0196-9781(97)00238-6
- Biessels GJ, van der Heide LP, Kamal A, Bleys RL, Gispen WH. Ageing and diabetes: implications for brain function. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2002) 441:1–14. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(02)01486-3
- 6. Frazier HN, Anderson KL, Maimaiti S, Ghoweri AO, Kraner SD, Popa GJ, et al. Expression of a constitutively active human insulin receptor in hippocampal

perform image analysis of the sagittal sections. We consider that more accurate quantitative image information from different sections can be obtained if ARG image analysis of the sagittal sections is performed in this study.

CONCLUSION

In summary, Ninjin'yoeito may potentially reduce insulin resistance in the brain regions in aged mice, thereby preventing age-related brain diseases.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The entire experimental protocols were approved by the Laboratory Animal Care and Use Committee of Fukushima Medical University (Approval Number 30021) and performed in accordance with the Guidelines for Animal Experiments at Fukushima Medical University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ designed the study and wrote the manuscript. RI, NU, CT, and SS performed animal studies. YO performed bait prescription. KT performed radiolabeling and QC examination. HI and YM contributed to the interpretation of the results. GN, SZ, and KS critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors have reviewed the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by Tsumura & Co. This study was also supported in part by Japan China Sasakawa Medical Fellowship.

neurons does not alter VGCC currents. *Neurochem Res.* (2019) 44:269–80. doi: 10.1007/s11064-018-2510-2

- Rhea EM, Banks WA. Role of the blood-brain barrier in central nervous system insulin resistance. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:521. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00521
- Kudoh C, Arita R, Honda M, Kishi T, Komatsu Y, Asou H, et al. Effect of ninjin'yoeito, a Kampo (traditional Japanese) medicine, on cognitive impairment and depression in patients with Alzheimer's disease: 2 years of observation. *Psychogeriatrics*. (2016) 16:85–92. doi: 10.1111/psyg.12125
- Suzuki S, Aihara F, Shibahara M, Sakai K. Safety and effectiveness of Ninjin'yoeito: a utilization study in elderly patients. *Front Nutr.* (2019) 6:14. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00014
- Kobayashi T, Song QH, Hong T, Kitamura H, Cyong JC. Preventive effect of Ninjin-to (Ren-Shen-Tang), a Kampo (Japanese traditional) formulation, on spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Microbiol Immunol.* (2000) 44:299–305. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2000.tb02499.x
- 11. Xu A, Wang H, Hoo RL, Sweeney G, Vanhoutte PM, Wang Y, et al. Selective elevation of adiponectin production by the natural compounds derived from

a medicinal herb alleviates insulin resistance and glucose intolerance in obese mice. *Endocrinology*. (2009) 150:625–33. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0999

- Voipio-Pulkki LM, Nuutila P, Knuuti MJ, Ruotsalainen U, Haaparanta M, Teräs M, et al. Heart and skeletal muscle glucose disposal in type 2 diabetic patients as determined by positron emission tomography. *J Nucl Med.* (1993) 34:2064–7.
- Bingham EM, Hopkins D, Smith D, Pernet A, Hallett W, Reed L, et al. The role of insulin in human brain glucose metabolism: an 18fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography study. *Diabetes*. (2002) 51:3384– 90. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.12.3384
- Virtanen KA, Peltoniemi P, Marjamäki P, Asola M, Strindberg L, Parkkola R, et al. Human adipose tissue glucose uptake determined using [(18)F]-fluorodeoxy-glucose ([(18)F]FDG) and PET in combination with microdialysis. *Diabetologia*. (2001) 44:2171–9. doi: 10.1007/s001250100026
- Goswami C, Dezaki K, Wang L, Inui A, Seino Y, Yada T. Ninjin'yoeito targets distinct Ca(2+) channels to activate ghrelin-responsive vs. unresponsive NPY neurons in the arcuate nucleus. *Front Nutr.* (2020) 7:104. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00104
- Oriuchi N, Aoki M, Ukon N, Washiyama K, Tan C, Shimoyama S, et al. Possibility of cancer-stem-cell-targeted radioimmunotherapy for acute myelogenous leukemia using (211)At-CXCR4 monoclonal antibody. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:6810. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-63557-9
- Zhao S, Kuge Y, Mochizuki T, Takahashi T, Nakada K, Sato M, et al. Biologic correlates of intratumoral heterogeneity in 18F-FDG distribution with regional expression of glucose transporters and hexokinase-II in experimental tumor. J Nucl Med. (2005) 46:675–82.
- Unger J, McNeill TH, Moxley RT, III, White M, Moss A, Livingston JN. Distribution of insulin receptor-like immunoreactivity in the rat forebrain. *Neuroscience*. (1989) 31:143–57. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(89)90036-5
- van Houten M, Posner BI, Kopriwa BM, Brawer JR. Insulin-binding sites in the rat brain: *in vivo* localization to the circumventricular organs by quantitative radioautography. *Endocrinology*. (1979) 105:666–73. doi: 10.1210/endo-105-3-666
- Van Der Werf YD, Tisserand DJ, Visser PJ, Hofman PA, Vuurman E, Uylings HB, et al. Thalamic volume predicts performance on tests of cognitive speed and decreases in healthy aging. A magnetic resonance imagingbased volumetric analysis. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res.* (2001) 11:377–85. doi: 10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00010-6
- Błaszczyk JW, Nigrostriatal interaction in the aging brain: new therapeutic target for Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars). (2017) 77:106–12. doi: 10.21307/ane-2017-041
- Banks WA, Jaspan JB, Huang W, Kastin AJ. Transport of insulin across the blood-brain barrier: saturability at euglycemic doses of insulin. *Peptides*. (1997) 18:1423–9. doi: 10.1016/S0196-9781(97)00231-3
- Baskin DG, Figlewicz DP, Woods SC, Porte D, Jr., Dorsa DM. Insulin in the brain. Annu Rev Physiol. (1987) 49:335–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ph.49.030187.002003
- Baura GD, Foster DM, Porte D, Jr., Kahn SE, Bergman RN, et al. Saturable transport of insulin from plasma into the central nervous system of dogs *in vivo*. A mechanism for regulated insulin delivery to the brain. J Clin Invest. (1993) 92:1824–30. doi: 10.1172/JCI116773
- Schwartz MW, Figlewicz DF, Kahn SE, Baskin DG, Greenwood MR, Porte D, Jr., Insulin binding to brain capillaries is reduced in genetically obese, hyperinsulinemic Zucker rats. *Peptides*. (1990) 11:467–72. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(90)90044-6
- Wallum BJ, Taborsky GJ, Jr., Porte D, Jr., Figlewicz DP, Jacobson L, Beard JC, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid insulin levels increase during intravenous insulin infusions in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1987) 64:190–4. doi: 10.1210/jcem-64-1-190
- Abbott MA, Wells DG, Fallon JR. The insulin receptor tyrosine kinase substrate p58/53 and the insulin receptor are components of CNS synapses. *J Neurosci.* (1999) 19:7300–8. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-17-07300.1999
- Havrankova J, Roth J, Brownstein M. Insulin receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system of the rat. *Nature*. (1978) 272:827–9. doi: 10.1038/272827a0
- Havrankova J, Schmechel D, Roth J, Brownstein M. Identification of insulin in rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (1978) 75:5737–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.75.11.5737

- Unger JW, Livingston JN, Moss AM. Insulin receptors in the central nervous system: localization, signalling mechanisms and functional aspects. *Prog Neurobiol.* (1991) 36:343–62. doi: 10.1016/0301-0082(91)90015-S
- Karakelides H, Irving BA, Short KR, O'Brien P, Nair KS. Age, obesity, and sex effects on insulin sensitivity and skeletal muscle mitochondrial function. *Diabetes*. (2010) 59:89–97. doi: 10.2337/db09-0591
- Jackson RA, Blix PM, Matthews JA, Hamling JB, Din BM, Brown DC, et al. Influence of ageing on glucose homeostasis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1982) 55:840–8. doi: 10.1210/jcem-55-5-840
- Reagan LP, Gorovits N, Hoskin EK, Alves SE, Katz EB, Grillo CA, et al. Localization and regulation of GLUTx1 glucose transporter in the hippocampus of streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:2820–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.051629798
- Schulingkamp RJ, Pagano TC, Hung D, Raffa RB. Insulin receptors and insulin action in the brain: review and clinical implications. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2000) 24:855–72. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00040-3
- Piroli GG, Grillo CA, Reznikov LR, Adams S, McEwen BS, Charron MJ, et al. Corticosterone impairs insulin-stimulated translocation of GLUT4 in the rat hippocampus. *Neuroendocrinology*. (2007) 85:71–80. doi: 10.1159/000101694
- Apelt J, Mehlhorn G, Schliebs R. Insulin-sensitive GLUT4 glucose transporters are colocalized with GLUT3-expressing cells and demonstrate a chemically distinct neuron-specific localization in rat brain. J Neurosci Res. (1999) 57:693–705.
- Brant AM, Jess TJ, Milligan G, Brown CM, Gould GW. Immunological analysis of glucose transporters expressed in different regions of the rat brain and central nervous system. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1993) 192:1297–302. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1993.1557
- El Messari S, Leloup C, Quignon M, Brisorgueil MJ, Penicaud L, Arluison M. Immunocytochemical localization of the insulin-responsive glucose transporter 4 (Glut4) in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol. (1998) 399:492–512
- Livingstone C, Lyall H, Gould GW. Hypothalamic GLUT 4 expression: a glucose- and insulin-sensing mechanism? *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (1995) 107:67– 70. doi: 10.1016/0303-7207(94)03423-Q
- Zhao S, Kuge Y, Tsukamoto E, Mochizuki T, Kato T, Hikosaka K, et al. Effects of insulin and glucose loading on FDG uptake in experimental malignant tumours and inflammatory lesions. *Eur J Nucl Med.* (2001) 28:730– 5. doi: 10.1007/s002590100517
- Torizuka T, Fisher SJ, Wahl RL. Insulin-induced hypoglycemia decreases uptake of 2-[F-18]fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose into experimental mammary carcinoma. *Radiology*. (1997) 203:169–72. doi: 10.1148/radiology.203.1.9122387
- Willette AA, Johnson SC, Birdsill AC, Sager MA, Christian B, Baker LD, et al. Insulin resistance predicts brain amyloid deposition in late middle-aged adults. *Alzheimers Dement*. (2015) 11:504–510.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.03.011
- Ekblad LL, Johansson J, Helin S, Viitanen M, Laine H, Puukka P, et al. Midlife insulin resistance, APOE genotype, and late-life brain amyloid accumulation. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1150–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005214
- Gomez G, Beason-Held LL, Bilgel M, An Y, Wong DF, Studenski S, et al. Metabolic syndrome and amyloid accumulation in the aging brain. J Alzheimers Dis. (2018) 65:629–39. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180297
- Kapogiannis D, Mustapic M, Shardell MD, Berkowitz ST, Diehl TC, Spangler RD, et al. Association of extracellular vesicle biomarkers with alzheimer disease in the baltimore longitudinal study of aging. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:1340–51. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2462
- Forner S, Baglietto-Vargas D, Martini AC, Trujillo-Estrada L, LaFerla FM. Synaptic impairment in Alzheimer's disease: a dysregulated symphony. *Trends Neurosci.* (2017) 40:347–57. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2017.04.002
- Hu G, Jousilahti P, Bidel S, Antikainen R, Tuomilehto J. Type 2 diabetes and the risk of Parkinson's disease. *Diabetes Care.* (2007) 30:842–7. doi: 10.2337/dc06-2011
- Schernhammer E, Hansen J, Rugbjerg K, Wermuth L, Ritz B. Diabetes and the risk of developing Parkinson's disease in Denmark. *Diabetes Care*. (2011) 34:1102–8. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1333
- Cereda E, Barichella M, Pedrolli C, Klersy C, Cassani E, Caccialanza R, et al. Diabetes and risk of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Diabetes Care*. (2011) 34:2614–23. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1584

- Miyake Y, Tanaka K, Fukushima W, Sasaki S, Kiyohara C, Tsuboi Y, et al. Case-control study of risk of Parkinson's disease in relation to hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and diabetes in Japan. J Neurol Sci. (2010) 293:82–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2010.03.002
- Freiherr J, Hallschmid M, Frey WH, II, Brünner YF, Chapman CD, Hölscher C, et al. Intranasal insulin as a treatment for Alzheimer's disease: a review of basic research and clinical evidence. CNS Drugs. (2013) 27:505–14. doi: 10.1007/s40263-013-0076-8
- Ghasemi R, Dargahi L, Haeri A, Moosavi M, Mohamed Z, Ahmadiani A. Brain insulin dysregulation: implication for neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2013) 47:1045–65. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8404-z
- van der Heide LP, Ramakers GM, Smidt MP. Insulin signaling in the central nervous system: learning to survive. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2006) 79:205–21. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2006.06.003
- Aviles-Olmos I, Dickson J, Kefalopoulou Z, Djamshidian A, Ell P, Soderlund T, et al. Exenatide and the treatment of patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Clin Invest.* (2013) 123:2730–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI68295
- Moroo I, Yamada T, Makino H, Tooyama I, McGeer PL, McGeer EG, et al. Loss of insulin receptor immunoreactivity from the substantia nigra pars compacta neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1994) 87:343–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00313602
- Morris JK, Bomhoff GL, Gorres BK, Davis VA, Kim J, Lee PP, et al. Insulin resistance impairs nigrostriatal dopamine function. *Exp Neurol.* (2011) 231:171–80. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.06.005
- Campbell JE, Drucker DJ. Pharmacology, physiology, and mechanisms of incretin hormone action. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:819–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.04.008
- Holst JJ, Treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus with agonists of the GLP-1 receptor or DPP-IV inhibitors. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs*. (2004) 9:155–66. doi: 10.1517/14728214.9.1.155
- 59. Salameh TS, Rhea EM, Talbot K, Banks WA. Brain uptake pharmacokinetics of incretin receptor agonists showing promise as Alzheimer's and

Parkinson's disease therapeutics. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2020) 180:114187. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2020.114187

- Hosogi S, Ohsawa M, Kato I, Kuwahara A, Inui T, Inui A, et al. Improvement of diabetes mellitus symptoms by intake of Ninjin'yoeito. *Front Nutr.* (2018) 5:112. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2018.00112
- Gonçalves P, Martel F. Butyrate and colorectal cancer: the role of butyrate transport. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2013) 14:994–1008. doi: 10.2174/1389200211314090006
- Gao Z, Yin J, Zhang J, Ward RE, Martin RJ, Lefevre M, et al. Butyrate improves insulin sensitivity and increases energy expenditure in mice. *Diabetes*. (2009) 58:1509–17. doi: 10.2337/db08-1637
- Yang Y, Bec J, Zhou J, Zhang M, Judenhofer MS, Bai X, et al. A prototype high-resolution small-animal PET scanner dedicated to mouse brain imaging. *J Nucl Med.* (2016) 57:1130–5. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.115.165886
- Magota K, Kubo N, Kuge Y, Nishijima K, Zhao S, Tamaki N. Performance characterization of the Inveon preclinical small-animal PET/SPECT/CT system for multimodality imaging. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*. (2011) 38:742–52. doi: 10.1007/s00259-010-1683-y

Conflict of Interest: RI and YO were employed by the company Tsumura & Co.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zhao, Imai, Ukon, Shimoyama, Tan, Maejima, Omiya, Takahashi, Nan, Zhao, Ito and Shimomura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Therapeutic Opportunities for Food Supplements in Neurodegenerative Disease and Depression

Rita Businaro^{1†}, David Vauzour^{2*†}, Jerome Sarris^{3,4†}, Gerald Münch^{5†}, Erika Gyengesi^{5†}, Laura Brogelli^{6†} and Pedro Zuzarte^{7,8†}

¹ Department of Medico-Surgical Sciences and Biotechnologies, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, United Kingdom, ³ NICM Health Research Institute, Western Sydney University, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ⁴ Professorial Unit, The Melbourne Clinic, Department of Psychiatry, Melbourne University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁵ Pharmacology Unit, School of Medicine, Western Sydney University, Campbelltown, NSW, Australia, ⁶ Polistudium srl, Millan, Italy, ⁷ Psychiatric Clinic, Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, ⁸ Neuropsychiatry Research Department, GNR Clinical Center, Lisbon, Portugal

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nafisa M. Jadavji, Midwestern University, United States

Reviewed by:

Antonio Daniele, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Italy Bruno Pietro Imbimbo, Chiesi Farmaceutici, Italy

> *Correspondence: David Vauzour D.Vauzour@uea.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 19 February 2021 Accepted: 19 April 2021 Published: 14 May 2021

Citation:

Businaro R, Vauzour D, Sarris J, Münch G, Gyengesi E, Brogelli L and Zuzarte P (2021) Therapeutic Opportunities for Food Supplements in Neurodegenerative Disease and Depression. Front. Nutr. 8:669846. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.669846

Frontiers in Nutrition | www.frontiersin.org

Emerging evidence is showing nutrition as a crucial factor in the high prevalence and incidence of neurodegenerative mental disorders. Preventive interventions on neuroinflammation seem to be able to interfere with neurodegeneration. Supplementation of essential nutrients, such as long-chain-polyunsaturated fatty acids, vitamin E and mineral elements, may minimize inflammation, enhancing antioxidative defense, and lowering the risk and incidence of age-related diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases and neurodegenerative diseases. This manuscript reviews the current evidence on the role of neuroinflammation in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative and mental disorders, and preventive strategies for food supplementation in these neuropsychiatric diseases. Dietary supplementation-based strategies have been demonstrated to be effective in subjects with mild cognitive impairment, while weaker results have been obtained in patients with advance neurodegenerative disease. Adjunctive supplementation has also been demonstrated to improve depression, this being of marked benefit considering the comorbidity between cognitive impairment/dementia and depression. Further research is needed to improve the prescriptive precision of supplementation in patients, and to better understand potential interactions with clinical and pharmacokinetic factors.

Keywords: brain health, depression, neuroinflammation, diet, gut-brain axis

INTRODUCTION

Cognitive impairment is a relevant manifestation of neurodegenerative diseases, which are a heterogeneous group of nervous system conditions, including Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease, Lewy body dementia, and vascular dementia (1). These disorders are characterized pathologically by the abnormal deposition of proteins throughout the brain and spinal cord; glial activation; increased neuroinflammation and changes in metabolic functions of the central and peripheral nervous system (1). Clinical manifestations of these conditions, such as depression and dementia, afflict a growing population worldwide and represent a significant healthcare, social and public policy burden. As an example, over 50 million people live with dementia in the world today and this number is projected to increase to 152 million by 2050 (2). In fact, dementia is considered a mental health issue, with neuropsychiatric symptoms, including depression. The actual prevalence of this latter manifestation can be high in AD patients, with great variability of estimates across studies according to criteria, ranging from 13% (3) to up to 97% (4). Moreover, depression occurring in mid-life or across the lifespan is associated with an increased risk of dementia (5).

Brain vulnerability is influenced by both non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors, including age, family history and genetics on one hand, and preventable cardiovascular risk, obesity, diabetes, sleep apnea, physical activity, tobacco/alcohol/drugs, and stress, on the other hand (6, 7). Diet is one of the most important lifestyle-related factors which may impact on brain vulnerability. Emerging evidence is showing nutrition as a crucial factor in the high prevalence and incidence of mental disorders suggesting that diet is important to brain health as much as to the health of other physiological systems, such as the cardiovascular, endocrine, and digestive systems (8). Micronutrients, such as vitamins and trace mineral elements, are involved in every cellular/biochemical process and play important roles in the brain and heart function, immunological responses, and antioxidant defense systems. Low levels of micronutrients reduce the activity of antioxidant enzymes, which may lead to DNA, protein, and fatty acid oxidation and crosslinking, along with mitochondrial ATP depletion, therefore contributing to cardiovascular or neurodegenerative disorders (9). n-3 Polyunsaturated fatty acids are involved in the maintenance of cognitive functions, promoting adult neurogenesis and neuronal plasticity through the modulation of membrane remodeling, inflammatory mediators and oxidative stress (10).

Growing evidence shows that the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and mediators in the nervous system is associated with persistent stress stimuli and may lead to neuronal dysfunction and death (11–14). Recent studies also highlight the role of the gut microbiota in many neurodegenerative diseases, as a "microbiota–gut–brain axis" would synchronize the gut with the central nervous system (CNS) and modify the behavior and brain immune homeostasis (15). Modulation of the gut microbiota may be a tractable strategy for developing novel strategies for complex CNS disorders (16). Supplementation of essential nutrients, such as long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs), vitamin E and mineral elements, may minimize inflammation and enhance antioxidative defense. Consequently, it may lead to lowering the risk and incidence of age-related diseases, including neurodegenerative diseases.

This manuscript reviews the current evidence on the role neuroinflammation in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative and mental disorders, and nutrient based preventive strategies for food supplementation in these neuro-psychiatric dysfunctions.

INFLAMMATORY MECHANISMS IN NEURODEGENERATION AND DEPRESSION

Functional and cognitive impairments featuring dementia, in particular AD, vascular dementia and Parkinson's disease, have been associated with depression (17, 18). Concurrent preclinical and clinical evidence has suggested in recent years that in a subset of patients, inflammatory processes and decreased cerebral levels of neurotrophic factors might play some role in the complex pathogenesis of depression (19). Volume reduction of the hippocampus was also observed in AD and depressed patients, and this morphological alteration was related to stress exposure, known to impair the dendritic complexity of the neurons in the CA3 subfield of the hippocampus and affects neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus (20-22). Oxidative stress plays a role in the pathophysiology of depression in bipolar disorder, and high levels of lipid peroxidation in the blood correlates with decreased dentate gyrus volume (23). The notion that depression, as well as infection, encompasses symptoms, such as malaise, anhedonia, decreased social behavior, decreased motor activity, sleep abnormalities and fatigue, which are collectively referred as "sickness behavior," also suggests the involvement of inflammatory processes in depression development. Such symptoms are confirmed by acute occurrence of depressive symptoms in healthy volunteers administered with lipopolysaccharide (24). Stress syndrome-that is, elevated cortisol levels-has been observed in up to 70% of patients with depression, and also in AD pathology (25).

The role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of depression is supported by studies showing increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, TNF- α , and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), in patients with depression (26, 27), and by some experiments in preclinical models in which the administration of inflammatory cytokines promoted a depressive-like syndrome (28, 29). Though it should be noted that inflammation occurs in a sub-set of people with depression and is not always apparent via cytokine blood assays (30). Both depression and heart disease have been linked to the impairment of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway and have been proposed as clinical manifestations of one underlying mechanism (31, 32).

Persistent stress stimuli have, however, been observed to induce the synthesis and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-1 β , mainly by neurons and the macrophage–monocyte line, including microglia, resulting in increased expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase. Hydrogen peroxide acts as a cell-to-cell messenger, in the process of inflammatory responses induced by oxidative stress (33). In addition, neurons and glial cells can produce proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α (11, 14, 34, 35).

One further mechanism of depression is a deficit of neurotrophic factors, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which leads to altered synaptic plasticity and then to neuronal dysfunction and cell death (18, 36). Inadequate supply of trophic factors also affects neurogenesis, reducing the number of neuronal stem cells able to multiply and differentiate. Several studies on stressed rodents and on patients with depression detected decreased levels of BDNF, together with abnormalities in the levels of neurotransmitters and neuroendocrine dysfunction (18). In humans, it was also reported that BDNF decreases with age and that higher levels of BDNF correlate with better cognitive performance in older adults (36).

The Role of Microglia

It has been observed that morphological and functional alterations of the microglia appear in adults suffering from depression. Such findings were also replicated in numerous experimental animal models subjected to chronic stress where high levels of proinflammatory cytokines were found to be secreted mainly by activated microglia within the brain. Moreover, an elevated level of microglia activation was detected in individuals with depression who had committed suicide (37).

A microglial signature dependent on TGF-B signaling was demonstrated and was found to be activated by any type of pathologic event or change in brain homeostasis (38). Microglia can strongly influence the pathologic outcome or response to a stressor due to the release of a plethora of substances, including cytokines, chemokines and growth factors. A diversity of microglia phenotypes has been described in response to health, aging, disease, and lifestyle (39). Consequently, the activation of microglia with release of cytokines and neuroinflammation takes place in some individuals and not in others (40). Briefly, catecholamines released during stress bind to receptors expressed by innate immune cells, this binding induces the synthesis and release of inflammatory cytokines that stimulate the production of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) by the hypothalamic paraventricular neurons. CRF transported by portal hypophyseal circulation targets the adenohypophysis leading to the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) that binds to adrenal glands to induce cortisol release. Cortisol has a double paradoxical effect: it has anti-inflammatory activity in the periphery and pro-inflammatory activity at the CNS level, where specific receptors are present within the hippocampus and amygdala. Stress conditions, as well as an exogenous application of glucocorticoids, can cause hippocampal neuronal damage and cognitive impairment (41-43).

RATIONALE FOR FOOD SUPPLEMENTATION TO CONTROL NEUROINFLAMMATION

Since food is one of the most important lifestyle factors accounting for mental health, one of the strategies currently being developed to treat depression, as well as AD, is to administer compounds with anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activity, capable of crossing the blood–brain barrier, and targeting cells and the molecular players of neuroinflammation. The relevance of this attempt is confirmed by evidence that treatment with anti-inflammatory drugs had beneficial effects on patients with major depression, although some studies failed to demonstrate that COX-2 inhibitors had an activity superior to placebo, most likely due to the fact that COX inhibitors do not affect the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (44–47). As it is known that natural compounds present in plant-based foods, such as fruits (especially berries), display anti-inflammatory neuroprotective activity, nutritional protocols aiming at counteracting the progression of chronic diseases have been proposed (48–57). Interest has also focused on dietary patterns, such as feeding time and circadian rhythms, to increase availability of bioactive compounds capable of exerting both antiinflammatory and antioxidant functions. The field of "nutritional psychiatry" aims to describe and understand the relationship between dietary factors and mental health disorders (10, 58).

n-3 LC-PUFAs (a.k.a. omega-3) are precursors of a series of lipid mediators, including resolvins, protectins and maresins, which are collectively termed "specialized pro-resolving mediators" (SPM), and which terminate inflammatory processes blocking polymorphonucleate migration and promoting macrophage M2 switch (59). Several preclinical and clinical studies have shown that n-3 LC-PUFAs are involved in the maintenance of cognitive functions acting on membrane remodeling, inflammation mediators and oxidative stress. They are considered beneficial for the CNS via the modulation of adult neurogenesis, synaptic and neuronal plasticity, and microglia activation (10). Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is a key structural component of membrane phospholipids in the brain and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) is a precursor of anti-inflammatory cytokines, an inhibitor of prostaglandins, thromboxanes and leukotrienes. In contrast, linoleic acid, a n-6 LC-PUFA (a.k.a. omega-6), is a precursor of the inflammatory mediator arachidonic acid (10). DHA is 250-300-times more abundant in brain tissue compared to EPA (60). It is known that EPA and DHA can cross the blood-brain barrier by diffusion and by blood-brain barrier transporters (61). The latter mechanisms could be defective in aged people or subjects with related genotypes, such as APOE4, suggesting higher requirements in population subgroups (62).

DHA intake has been related to lower rates of incident dementia. In populations with higher dietary intake of DHA and higher concentrations of plasma DHA there is a lower risk of cognitive impairment (61). In addition, peripheral blood macrophages obtained from patients with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and AD, were unable to accomplish an effective phagocytosis for A β peptide (the main component of the amyloid plaques in AD), unlike macrophages obtained from healthy controls which could recover phagocytic functions via n-3-LC-PUFA. Recent studies of fish-derived omega-3 supplementation in patients with AD and MCI have shown polarization of *APOE3/E3* patients' macrophages to an intermediate M1–M2 phenotype that is optimal for A β peptide phagocytosis and the stabilization of cognitive decline (63, 64).

Moreover, DHA can increase neuronal membrane fluidity and decrease membrane peroxidation by reducing cholesterol levels in the cell membrane, which leads to reduced oxidative stress in the cerebral cortex and in the hippocampus (65, 66). DHA red blood cell content has been related with memory performance, as 2.4g of EPA plus DHA/day significantly improved red blood cell membrane EPA+DHA composition in older adults with memory impairment, and working memory and neuronal response were concomitantly improved (66). Other clinical trials showed different outcomes of the omega-3, such as EPA, docosapentaenoic acid (DPA), and DHA, supplementation, suggesting its effectiveness in the prevention of dementia although not in the treatment of overt dementia (65); this probably is in relation to the different genotypes of the subjects included in the trial (e.g., carriers of the *E4* allele) (67). Dietary supplementation of EPA, DPA, and DHA in aged rats restored reduced depolarization-induced transmitter release, by changing the membrane composition, while healthy human adults who received EPA supplementation have decreased serum proinflammatory cytokines levels (59, 68).

Great interest was also focused on the properties of some compounds to exert an antioxidant activity, such as vitamin E, and on the ability to interfere with one carbon metabolism by decreasing the quantities of homocysteine, such as the B vitamins (49). Administration of vitamin E at 2,000 IU/day was reported to slow functional decline in mild and mild to moderate AD, while it had no effect on subjects with MCI (69). Moreover, preclinical studies have reinforced the hypothesis of an antidepressant-like response of vitamin E, as the mechanisms underlying its effect seem to be related to the modulation of oxidative stress and neuroinflammation (70).

VARIABILITY IN RESPONSE TO NUTRACEUTICALS INTAKE: THE ROLE OF THE GUT-BRAIN AXIS AND THE MICROBIOME DURING AGING AND NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Although dietary supplements can be obtained and consumed without medical prescription, criteria should be necessary to identify patients affected with neurodegenerative diseases who would most benefit from such an approach. As an example, a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials (RCT) found that higher intake of the omega-3 EPA and DHA improved specific cognitive domains in subjects with MCI without dementia but had no effects in healthy adults and those with AD (71). This suggests that people in the early stages of progression of cognitive decline and depression may benefit from treatment with omega-3, but that advanced disease is not susceptible to improvement. So, eligible patients need to be identified when such supplementation is proposed in a clinical setting. In this respect, a clinical trial carried out in elderly people with MCI demonstrated beneficial effect of B-vitamin treatment on brain atrophy rate of adults with MCI, only in subjects with high plasma n-3 LC-PUFAs (72). Of note, it has been observed that when the omega-3 fatty acids DHA and EPA concentrations are low, vitamin B treatment has no effect on cognitive decline in MCI, but when omega-3 levels are in the upper normal range, vitamin Bs interact to slow cognitive decline (73).

It is known that gut microbes are a relevant factor changing the effect of dietary supplements on the brain. The exposome represents all exogenous and endogenous environmental exposures of which microbiota, genes and lifestyle environment, may determine the metabolism associated with a specific phenotype. It is known that our microbiome is changing with growing age. Indeed, both cell culture-dependent and independent studies show that the gut microbiota of older people differs from that of younger adults (74). There is no chronological threshold or age at which the composition of the microbiota suddenly alters; rather, changes occur gradually with time. O'Toole and Jeffery (75) showed that the gut microbiota of older people differs from that of younger adults and may modulate aging-related changes in innate immunity, sarcopenia and cognitive functions.

Accumulating evidence now indicates that the gut microbiota also communicates with the CNS, possibly through neural, endocrine and immune pathways, and thereby influences brain function and behavior (11). Thus, the emerging concept of a microbiota–gut–brain axis suggests that modulation of the gut microbiota may be a tractable strategy for developing novel therapeutics for complex CNS disorders (16).

The Human Microbiome Project and subsequent studies using next-generation sequencing technology have highlighted that thousands of different microbial species are present in the human gut, and that there has been a significant variability of taxa in the microbiota composition among people. Several factors (gestational age, mode of delivery, diet, sanitation, and antibiotic treatment) influence the bacterial community in the human gastrointestinal tract, and among these, dietary components, such as n-3 fatty acids, fibers and polyphenols, play a crucial role (76, 77).

A bidirectional communication between the gut and the brain occurs via the immune system, the vagus nerve, the enteric nervous system and microbial metabolites (78). Substances, including short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), proteins and tryptophan metabolites, exchanged through the circulatory system, affect mood, cognition and other brain function parameters (15, 16).

It is important to consider that gut microbes can produce neurotransmitters, such as dopamine, 5-HT, GABA, and acetylcholine (16). These neurotransmitters may signal to the brain via the vagus nerve. In particular, gut microbes can stimulate immune cells to produce cytokines. These cytokines might target the brain via blood vessels of the circulatory system. In addition, gut microbes can produce metabolites, such as microbial fermentation end-products (SCFAs, e.g., butyrate) that can regulate the epigenetic synthesis of BDNF, for example (79, 80). These metabolites can potentially migrate to the brain via the blood vessels or may stimulate gut epithelial cells to produce neurotransmitters that activate the vagus nerve (16).

Activity of the gut-brain axis seems to be linked to certain genetic variations. One example is the apolipoprotein E4 (*APOE4*) genotype which has been associated with early cognitive decline and is the strongest prevalent genetic risk factor for AD. Apolipoprotein E is a transporter of cholesterol and it is present in the liver (80-90%), in the brain glia and macrophages. It was found to influence the structure and the function of the gut microbiome both in humans and mice (81, 82). This suggests that the gut-brain axis is a potential target to reduce

the impact of the *APOE4* allele on cognitive decline and for the prevention of AD (81). For example, fecal microbiota amplicon sequencing from age- and BMI-matched individuals revealed higher levels of *Prevotellaceae* in *APOE3/E3* carriers relative to other genotype subgroups, whereas higher levels of *Ruminococcaceae* were correlated with the *APOE2/E3* genotype relative to *APOE4* carriers. *Ruminococcaceae* are involved in the production of SCFAs, such that their depletion is causally linked to inflammation (83). These findings therefore suggest that these bacteria might contribute to the protective effects of *APOE2* and *APOE3* alleles against AD relative to the *APOE4* genotype (81).

As a confirmation of these concepts, it has been observed that fish oil intake works better in non-APOE4 carriers. Huang et al. (84) highlighted that consumption of fatty fish was associated with a reduced risk of dementia and AD for those without the APOE4 allele. Quinn et al. (85) performed a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial to determine that supplementation with DHA slows cognitive and functional decline in individuals with AD. Participants were randomly assigned to algal DHA at a dose of 2 g/day or to placebo for a duration of treatment of 18 months. Overall, supplementation with DHA compared with placebo did not slow the rate of cognitive and functional decline in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer disease, but while there was no DHA treatment effect on any outcome measure in the APOE4-positive group, those receiving DHA in the APOE4-negative group had a significantly lower decline in mean change in Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-Cognitive Subscale score over 18 months vs. placebo group.

More recently, Arellanes et al. (86) demonstrated that supplementation with DHA doses higher than 1g per day may contribute to reducing certain biomarkers associated with dementia prevention. High doses of DHA are needed for adequate brain bioavailability and APOE4 is associated with reduced delivery of DHA and EPA to the brain before the onset of cognitive impairment. A total of 33 individuals were provided with two vitamin B complex supplements per day (each containing 500 µg of vitamin B12, 50 mg of vitamin B6, and 400 μ g of folic acid) and randomized to 2,152 mg of DHA per day or placebo over 6 months. There was a significant increase in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) DHA in the DHA supplement arm compared with placebo. It was also observed that a trend for a greater increase in CSF DHA in APOE4 non-carriers compared with carriers occurred (but the interaction between the treatment group and APOE group on the change of CSF DHA was not significant). CSF EPA levels were increased after DHA supplementation, with such results being in line with previous reports (87). However, change in CSF EPA levels in both groups was significantly greater in APOE4 non-carriers compared to carriers.

As mentioned earlier, EPA and DHA are able to produce SPMs such as RvE1, RvE2, and RvD1, RvD2, respectively, that are involved in the resolution of inflammation (88). Martinsen et al. quantified cortical and hippocampal fatty acid, and phospholipid profiles along with select EPA- and DHA-derived SPMs in 2-, 9- and 18-month-old *APOE3* and *APOE4* male and female mice. A 10% lower cortical DHA was evident in *APOE4* females at 18 mo compared with 2 mo, with no significant decrease in

APOE3 or *APOE4* males. This decrease was associated with a reduction in DHA-phosphatidylethanolamine. In addition, although no sex**APOE* genotype interactions were observed for SPMs expressed as a ratio of their parent compound, higher cortical RvD3, neuroprotectin D1 (NPD1), maresin 1 (MaR1) were evident in females, and lower cortical 17R-resolvin D1, 10S, 17S-diHDHA, and 18-HEPE in *APOE4* (88).

Presented evidence suggests that precision medicine represents a future perspective for treatment and prevention of neurodegenerative diseases. Genetics, nutrigenetics, and pharmacogenetics have a major role in health maintenance and treatment of diseases. In particular, a genomics, transcriptomics, and epigenomics approach could be useful, and the potential advantages of a genotype-based personalized nutrition could facilitate early, personalized therapy, and improve motivation.

THERAPEUTIC OPPORTUNITIES FOR FOOD SUPPLEMENTS IN DEPRESSION: EVIDENCE, LIMITATIONS AND SUGGESTIONS FOR THE FUTURE

Evidence for the potential efficacy of several supplementation strategies in the prevention and treatment of neurodegenerative diseases has been obtained in clinical trials, although inconsistent results were produced. A systematic overview of all available top-tier meta-analyses of RCTs reported on the efficacy of nutrient supplements in patients with common and severe mental disorders (89). In particular, 33 unique meta-analyses with outcome data from placebo-controlled trials were included from a total of 10,951 participants. Results highlighted that omega-3 LC-PUFA, EPA at dose up to 4,400 mg/day (on average 1–2 g of EPA per day) in particular, is significantly effective in depression. Moreover, good evidence supported the effectiveness of high dose of methyl folate (15 mg/day) compared with folic acid and zinc as an adjunctive treatment in major depressive disorder (MDD) (89).

Nevertheless, some clinical trials failed to demonstrate the efficacy of LC-PUFA, either alone or associated with pharmacological or behavioral interventions, in patients with depression (90–93).

Unpromising results were also obtained by some authors researching the impact of the impact of LC-PUFA supplementation on cognitive functions (94–96). In some instances, clinical trials tested complex interventions and obtained data which may be difficult to interpret. As an example, Chew et al. evaluated the effects on cognitive function of oral supplementation with 1 g LC-PUFA and/or lutein 10 mg/zeaxanthin 2 mg in elderly subjects with age-related macular degeneration and failed to demonstrate efficacy of supplementation (97).

It is possible that multinutrient combinations may provide some advantage, with possible favorable synergistic interactions between components. For example, a recent 36-month, double-blind, placebo-controlled study in 311 participants with prodromal AD reported that a multinutrient intervention containing DHA and EPA slowed decline of cognition, function, brain atrophy, and disease progression (98).

It has been observed that adjunctive use of nutraceuticals has the potential to modulate several key neurochemical pathways and can be used as an augmentation strategy to improve inadequate response to antidepressants. In this application, a systematic review and meta-analysis found primarily positive results for replicated studies testing adjunctive S-adenosyl methionine (SAMe), methyl folate, n-3 LC-PUFAs (EPA or ethyl-EPA), and vitamin D; positive isolated studies found efficacy of creatine and an amino acid formula; mixed results were found for zinc, folic acid, and vitamin C; and negative results were found for inositol (99).

Folate deficiency has been reported in approximately onethird of people suffering from depressive disorders (99). A combined folate, B12 and B6 dietary deficiency, induces hyperhomocysteinemia and imbalance of S-adenosylmethionine and S-adenosylhomocysteine, leading to an up-regulation of presenilin1 (PS1) and beta-secretase (BACE) and amyloid beta deposition, promoting progression to AD (100). Several studies tested folic acid adjunctively with antidepressants and most of these studies yielded positive results in regard to enhancing either antidepressant response rates or increasing response onset. The 5-methlytetrahydrofolate (dosage 400 μ g to 15 mg) or folinic acid (400–800 μ g) are considered safe and potentially effective forms (99).

Available data regarding the adjunctive use of n-3 LC-PUFAs in depression are in favor of n-3 compared with placebo. A recent network meta-analysis of 10 clinical trials including 910 patients, demonstrated that adjuvant supplementation with n-3 PUFAs was superior on MDD symptoms in comparison with placebo, and that high dose n-3 PUFAs (SMD: 0.908 \pm 0.331; 95% CI: 0.262–1.581) were more effective than low dose n-3 PUFAs (SMD: 0.601 \pm 0.286; 95% CI: 0.034–1.18) (101).

A recent key study, Mischoulon et al. (102), evaluated 196 patients with MDD who were administered with EPA 1 g/day or DHA 1 g/day or placebo for 8 weeks. Significant improvement in depression symptoms as measured by the 17 -item Hamilton Rating Scale (HAM-D-17), the Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology–Self-report (QIDS-SR) and the Clinical Global Impression—Severity scale (CGI-S) was observed but neither active treatment reached statistical significance compared to placebo, with the response rates being 40–50% for each arm with a remission of \sim 30%. The authors of the study concluded that neither EPA-enriched nor DHA-enriched n-3 was superior to placebo for the treatment of MDD, hypothesizing that baseline levels of inflammatory and metabolic markers, such as human C-reactive protein, IL-6, IL-1RA, leptin, and adiponectin could have an impact on response (102).

Rapaport et al. (103) explored in a *post-hoc* analysis of the above study, whether inflammatory biomarkers act as moderators of clinical response to omega-3 fatty acids in subjects with MDD. It has been observed that, overall, although treatment group differences were negligible (standardized treatment effect size, ES: -0.13-0.04), subjects with "high" inflammation improved more on EPA than placebo (ES: -0.39) or DHA (ES: -0.60) and less on DHA than placebo (ES: 0.21). Furthermore, difference between EPA and placebo effect increased with increasing numbers of markers of high inflammation. Therefore, the authors concluded that employing multiple markers of inflammation facilitated the identification of a more homogeneous cohort of subjects with MDD responding to EPA with an advantage over placebo.

A *post-hoc* analysis of an 8-week, double-blind, RCT (n = 158) investigated a combination of nutraceuticals comprising omega-3 (EPA 1 g/DHA 656 mg), SAMe, zinc, 5-hydroxytryptophan, folinic acid, and co-factors vs. placebo for the treatment of MDD. The study explored levels of PUFAs, folate, vitamin B12, zinc, homocysteine and BDNF as possible predictors and correlates of response to nutraceutical supplementation. It has been demonstrated that concentrations of EPA and DHA in red cell membranes increased in response to treatment and were significantly correlated with a decrease in depressive symptoms during active treatment (p = 0.003 and p = 0.029, respectively). Higher baseline levels of omega-3 fatty acid also correlated with depression reduction in the active treatment group (p = 0.011) (99). Therefore, changes in fatty acid levels resulting from a nutraceutical combination containing EPA and DHA provided a biomarker response in treating depression (99).

A subcommittee of the International Society for Nutritional Psychiatry Research organized an expert panel and developed a consensus-based practice guideline for clinical use of n-3 LC-PUFAs in MDD (104). Although a link between low omega-3 levels and depressive symptoms was acknowledged, evidence for supplementation as a prevention strategy was not sufficient. Stronger evidence was found for adjunctive supplementation with antidepressants, and acute use in the presence of obesity or inflammation was deemed as a potentially more effective treatment strategy. Evidence for efficacy of omega-3 supplementation in bipolar disorder was present, while evidence for use in children or elderly was not strong. Application in perinatal usage was based on weak evidence but omega-3 were indicated as safer than antidepressants (105). With respect to formulation and dosage, both pure EPA or an EPA/DHA combination of a ratio higher than 2 are considered effective, and the recommended dosages should be 1-2 g of net EPA daily, from either pure EPA or an EPA/DHA (>2:1) formula.

Current evidence most strongly supports a positive association between zinc deficiency and the risk of depression (106–108). Conversely, the relationship between magnesium and selenium deficiency and depression has not been fully understood. Several hypotheses have been advanced, and selenium and magnesium seem to be involved in the regulation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis, and of glutamate (109).

Owen et al. (110) measured plasma vitamin E (α -tocopherol) in 49 adults with major depression. It has been observed that subjects had significantly lower plasma vitamin E (4.71 \pm 0.13 μ mol/mmol cholesterol) than has previously been reported for healthy patients, and plasma vitamin E was inversely correlated to depression score. In addition, alpha tocopherol was found to be beneficial in mild to moderate AD by slowing decline of cognition (69).

In conclusion, good evidence supports the efficacy of adjunctive supplementation with EPA, vitamin D, and methyl

folate in patients with depression, and mixed results are available for zinc and vitamin C.

CONCLUSION

Neuroinflammatory mechanisms based on glial cell inflammatory processes and resulting neuronal dysfunction and impaired neurogenesis have been identified (106). Several neurodegenerative conditions have been linked to persistent oxidative stress, and pathological changes dependent on release of inflammatory mediators. In addition, the role of some nutrients, namely DHA and EPA among others we have not reviewed, in the regulation of microinflammation and central neurotransmission has been elucidated. Therefore, great interest has focused on diet and eating habits which may provide suitable levels of bioactive compounds capable of exerting both antiinflammatory and antioxidant functions, and their therapeutic potential to prevent neurodegenerative diseases and one of their prodromes, clinical depression.

Dietary supplementation-based strategies have been demonstrated to be effective in people with depression and in those with MCI, while weaker results have been obtained in patients with advanced neurodegenerative disease.

When addressing prevention and treatment of neuroinflammation-dependent conditions by dietary supplementation, beyond the identification of required nutrients,

REFERENCES

- Bell SM, Burgess T, Lee J, Blackburn DJ, Allen SP, Mortiboys H. Peripheral glycolysis in neurodegenerative diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:8924. doi: 10.3390/ijms21238924
- World Alzheimer Report. (2018). Available online at: https://www.alzint.org/ resource/world-alzheimer-report-2018/
- Chi S, Wang C, Jiang T, Zhu XC, Yu JT, Tan L. The prevalence of depression in alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* (2015) 12:189–98. doi: 10.2174/1567205012666150204124310
- Steinberg M, Shao H, Zandi P, Lyketsos CG, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Norton MC, et al. Point and 5-year period prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: the cache county study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2008) 23:170– 7. doi: 10.1002/gps.1858
- Yang W, Li X, Pan KY, Yang R, Song R, Qi X, et al. Association of life-course depression with the risk of dementia in late life: a nationwide twin study. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2021). doi: 10.1002/alz.12303. [Epub ahead of print].
- Flanagan E, Lamport D, Brennan L, Burnet P, Calabrese V, Cunnane SC, et al. Nutrition and the ageing brain: moving towards clinical applications. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2020) 62:101079. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101079
- Vauzour D, Camprubi-Robles M, Miquel-Kergoat S, Andres-Lacueva C, Bánáti D, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Nutrition for the ageing brain: towards evidence for an optimal diet. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2017) 35:222– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2016.09.010
- Sarris J, Logan AC, Akbaraly TN, Amminger GP, Balanzá-Martínez V, Freeman MP, et al. Nutritional medicine as mainstream in psychiatry. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2015) 2:271–4. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)00051-0
- Kazmierczak-Barańska J, Boguszewska K, Karwowski BT. Nutrition can help DNA repair in the case of aging. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:3364. doi: 10.3390/nu12113364
- Godos J, Currenti W, Angelino D, Mena P, Castellano S, Caraci F, et al. Diet and mental health: review of the recent updates on molecular mechanisms. *Antioxidants.* (2020) 9:346. doi: 10.3390/antiox9040346

it is necessary to evaluate substance metabolism, absorption and distribution, namely into the CNS, and the interaction with subject's feature including genetic variation and microbiota. The emerging concept of a microbiota–gut–brain axis suggests that modulation of the gut microbiota may be a tractable strategy for developing novel therapeutics for complex CNS disorders, and dietary habits play a crucial role in the selection of the bacterial community in the human gastrointestinal tract (77).

Future research ideally should focus on precisionbased approaches tailoring supplementation based on nutrient deficiencies, neurochemical abnormalities or pharmacogenetic differences.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

performed Editorial assistance was by Aashni Polistudium Shah. B.Sc., of (Milan, Italv); this by Angelini. JS assistance was supported is NHMRC supported by Clinical Research an Fellowship APP1125000.

- Ricci S, Fuso A, Ippoliti F, Businaro R. Stress-Induced cytokines and neuronal dysfunction in alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. (2012) 28:11– 24. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2011-110821
- Munhoz CD, García-Bueno B, Madrigal JLM, Lepsch LB, Scavone C, Leza JC. Stress-induced neuroinflammation: mechanisms and new pharmacological targets. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2008) 41:1037–46. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X2008001200001
- Nogovitsyn N, Muller M, Souza R, Hassel S, Arnott SR, Davis AD, et al. Hippocampal tail volume as a predictive biomarker of antidepressant treatment outcomes in patients with major depressive disorder: a CAN-BIND report. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2019) 45:283–91. doi: 10.1038/s41386-019-0542-1
- Unno K, Sumiyoshi A, Konishi T, Hayashi M, Taguchi K, Muguruma Y, et al. Theanine, the main amino acid in tea, prevents stress-induced brain atrophy by modifying early stress responses. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:174. doi: 10.3390/nu12010174
- Doifode T, Giridharan VV, Generoso JS, Bhatti G, Collodel A, Schulz PE, et al. The impact of the microbiota-gut-brain axis on Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology. *Pharmacol Res.* (2021) 164:105314. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105314
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:701– 12. doi: 10.1038/nrn3346
- Diniz BS, Butters MA, Albert SM, Dew MA, Reynolds CF. Latelife depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based cohort studies. Br J Psychiatry. (2018) 202:329–35. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.118307
- Diniz BS, Reynolds CF, Begley A, Dew MA, Anderson SJ, Lotrich F, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in late-life depression and comorbid mild cognitive impairment: a longitudinal study. J Psychiatr Res. (2014) 49:96–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.11.004
- Florensa-Zanuy E, Garro-Martínez E, Adell A, Castro E, Díaz Á, Pazos Á, et al. Cannabidiol antidepressant-like effect in the lipopolysaccharide model

in mice: modulation of inflammatory pathways. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2021) 185:114433. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114433

- Czéh B, Lucassen PJ. What causes the hippocampal volume decrease in depression? *Euro Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 257:250– 60. doi: 10.1007/s00406-007-0728-0
- Gould E, Tanapat P, Rydel T, Hastings N. Regulation of hippocampal neurogenesis in adulthood. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2000) 48:715–20. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01021-0
- Lucassen PJ, Meerlo P, Naylor AS, van Dam AM, Dayer AG, Fuchs E, et al. Regulation of adult neurogenesis by stress, sleep disruption, exercise and inflammation: implications for depression and antidepressant action? *Euro Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2010) 20:1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.08.003
- 23. Elvsåshagen T, Zuzarte P, Westlye LT, Bøen E, Josefsen D, Boye B, et al. Dentate gyrus-cornu ammonis (CA) 4 volume is decreased and associated with depressive episodes and lipid peroxidation in bipolar II disorder: longitudinal and cross-sectional analyses. *Bipolar Disord*. (2016) 18:657– 68. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12457
- Reichenberg A, Yirmiya R, Schuld A, Kraus T, Haack M, Morag A, et al. Cytokine-Associated emotional and cognitive disturbances in humans. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2001) 58:445–52. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.5.445
- Ma K, Zhang H, Baloch Z, Pathogenetic and therapeutic applications of tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α) in major depressive disorder: a systematic review. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:733. doi: 10.3390/ijms17050733
- Lee KM, Kim YK. The role of IL-12 and TGF-β1 in the pathophysiology of major depressive disorder. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2006) 6:1298– 304. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2006.03.015
- Myint A, Leonard B, Steinbusch H, Kim Y. Th1, Th2, and Th3 cytokine alterations in major depression. J Affect Disord. (2005) 88:167– 73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2005.07.008
- Bonsall DR, Kim H, Tocci C, Ndiaye A, Petronzio A, McKay-Corkum G, et al. Suppression of locomotor activity in female C57Bl/6J mice treated with interleukin-1β: investigating a method for the study of fatigue in laboratory animals. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0140678. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140678
- Chong PS, Fung ML, Wong KH, Lim LW. Therapeutic potential of hericium erinaceus for depressive disorder. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 21:163. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010163
- Raison CL, Miller AH. Role of inflammation in depression: implications for phenomenology, pathophysiology and treatment. *Mod Trends Pharmacopsychiatry*. (2013) 28:33–48. doi: 10.1159/000343966
- Chen Z, Wu Y, Duan J, Yang L. The cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway could be an important mechanism underling the comorbidity of depression and cardiovascular disease: a comment to shao et al. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 286:112881. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112881
- 32. Shao M, Lin X, Jiang D, Tian H, Xu Y, Wang L, et al. Depression and cardiovascular disease: shared molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 285:112802. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112802
- 33. Gunawardena D, Raju R, Münch G. Hydrogen peroxide mediates pro-inflammatory cell-to-cell signaling: a new therapeutic target for inflammation? *Neur Regenerat Res.* (2019) 14:1430– 7. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.253529
- Johnson JD, Barnard DF, Kulp AC, Mehta DM. Neuroendocrine regulation of brain cytokines after psychological stress. *J Endocrine Soc.* (2019) 3:1302– 20. doi: 10.1210/js.2019-00053
- 35. Steiner N, Balez R, Karunaweera N, Lind JM, Münch G, Ooi L. Neuroprotection of Neuro2a cells and the cytokine suppressive and anti-inflammatory mode of action of resveratrol in activated RAW 264.7 macrophages and C8–B4 microglia. *Neurochem Int.* (2016) 95:46– 54. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2015.10.013
- Neshatdoust S, Saunders C, Castle SM, Vauzour D, Williams C, Butler L, et al. High-flavonoid intake induces cognitive improvements linked to changes in serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor: two randomised, controlled trials. *Nutr Heal Aging*. (2016) 4:81–93. doi: 10.3233/NHA-1615
- Brites D, Fernandes A. Neuroinflammation and depression: microglia activation, extracellular microvesicles and microRNA dysregulation. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 9:476. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00476

- Butovsky O, Jedrychowski MP, Moore CS, Cialic R, Lanser AJ, Gabriely G, et al. Identification of a unique TGF-β-dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia. *Nat Neurosci.* (2013) 17:131–43. doi: 10.1038/nn.3599
- Wolf SA, Boddeke HWGM, Kettenmann H. Microglia in physiology and disease. Ann Rev Physiol. (2017) 79:619– 43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034406
- Kim YK, Na KS, Myint A-M, Leonard BE. The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in neuroinflammation, neurogenesis and the neuroendocrine system in major depression. *Progr Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2016) 64:277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.06.008
- Cereseto M, Reinés A, Ferrero A, Sifonios L, Rubio M, Wikinski S. Chronic treatment with high doses of corticosterone decreases cytoskeletal proteins in the rat hippocampus. *Euro J Neurosci.* (2006) 24:3354– 64. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05232.x
- Levy A, Dachir S, Arbel I, Kadar T. Aging, stress, and cognitive functiona. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1994) 717:79– 88. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1994.tb12075.x
- Linnemann C, Lang UE. Pathways connecting late-life depression and dementia. Front Pharmacol. (2020) 11:279. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00279
- Fields C, Drye L, Vaidya V, Lyketsos C. Celecoxib or naproxen treatment does not benefit depressive symptoms in persons age 70 and older: findings from a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2012) 20:505– 13. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e318227f4da
- Husain MI, Chaudhry IB, Khoso AB, Husain MO, Hodsoll J, Ansari MA, et al. Minocycline and celecoxib as adjunctive treatments for bipolar depression: a multicentre, factorial design randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:515–27. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30138-3
- 46. Iyengar RL, Gandhi S, Aneja A, Thorpe K, Razzouk L, Greenberg J, et al. NSAIDs are associated with lower depression scores in patients with osteoarthritis. *Am J Med.* (2013) 126:1017.e11-8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.02.037
- Müller N, Schwarz MJ, Dehning S, Douhe A, Cerovecki A, Goldstein-Müller B, et al. The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib has therapeutic effects in major depression: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled, add-on pilot study to reboxetine. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2006) 11:680– 4. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001805
- Angeloni C, Businaro R, Vauzour D. The role of diet in preventing and reducing cognitive decline. *Curr Opin Psychiatry.* (2020) 33:432– 8. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000605
- Businaro R, Corsi M, Asprino R, Di Lorenzo C, Laskin D, Corbo RM, et al. Modulation of inflammation as a way of delaying alzheimer's disease progression: the diet's role. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* (2018) 15:363– 80. doi: 10.2174/1567205014666170829100100
- Businaro R, Maggi E, Armeli F, Murray A, Laskin DL. Nutraceuticals as potential therapeutics for vesicant-induced pulmonary fibrosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2020) 1480:5–13. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14442
- Buttari B, Profumo E, Segoni L, D'Arcangelo D, Rossi S, Facchiano F, et al. Resveratrol counteracts inflammation in human M1 and M2 macrophages upon challenge with 7-oxo-cholesterol: potential therapeutic implications in atherosclerosis. *Oxidat Med Cell Longev.* (2014) 2014:1–12. doi: 10.1155/2014/257543
- De Caris MG, Grieco M, Maggi E, Francioso A, Armeli F, Mosca L, et al. Blueberry counteracts BV-2 microglia morphological and functional switch after LPS challenge. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1830. doi: 10.3390/nu12061830
- Pinto A, Bonucci A, Maggi E, Corsi M, Businaro R. Anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory activity of ketogenic diet: new perspectives for neuroprotection in alzheimer's disease. *Antioxidants.* (2018) 7:63. doi: 10.3390/antiox7050063
- Profumo E, Buttari B, Tinaburri L, D'Arcangelo D, Sorice M, Capozzi A, et al. Oxidative stress induces HSP90 upregulation on the surface of primary human endothelial cells: role of the antioxidant 7, 8-dihydroxy-4-methylcoumarin in preventing HSP90 exposure to the immune system. Oxidat Med Cell Longev. (2018) 2018:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2018/2373167
- Sobolev, Ciampa, Ingallina, Mannina, Capitani, Ernesti, et al. Blueberry-Based meals for obese patients with metabolic syndrome: a multidisciplinary metabolomic pilot study. *Metabolites*. (2019) 9:138. doi: 10.3390/metabo9070138

- Versele R, Corsi M, Fuso A, Sevin E, Businaro R, Gosselet F, et al. Ketone bodies promote amyloid-β1–40 clearance in a human *in vitro* blood–brain barrier model. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:934. doi: 10.3390/ijms21030934
- Venigalla M, Gyengesi E, Münch G. Curcumin and apigenin novel and promising therapeutics against chronic neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Neur Regenerat Res.* (2015) 10:1181– 5. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.162686
- Sarris J. Nutritional psychiatry: from concept to the clinic. Drugs. (2019) 79:929–34. doi: 10.1007/s40265-019-01134-9
- Serhan CN. Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology. Nature. (2014) 510:92–101. doi: 10.1038/nature13479
- Brenna JT, Diau GY. The influence of dietary docosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid on central nervous system polyunsaturated fatty acid composition. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*. (2007) 77:247– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2007.10.016
- Baierle M, Vencato P, Oldenburg L, Bordignon S, Zibetti M, Trentini C, et al. Fatty acid status and its relationship to cognitive decline and homocysteine levels in the elderly. *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:3624–40. doi: 10.3390/nu6093624
- Pontifex M, Vauzour D, Minihane A-M. The effect of APOE genotype on Alzheimer's disease risk is influenced by sex and docosahexaenoic acid status. *Neurobiol Aging.* (2018) 69:209–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.05.017
- Fiala M, Kooij G, Wagner K, Hammock B, Pellegrini M. Modulation of innate immunity of patients with Alzheimer's disease by omega-3 fatty acids. *FASEB J.* (2017) 31:3229–39. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700065R
- 64. Olivera-Perez HM, Lam L, Dang J, Jiang W, Rodriguez F, Rigali E, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids increase the unfolded protein response and improve amyloid-β phagocytosis by macrophages of patients with mild cognitive impairment. FASEB J. (2017) 31:4359–69. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700290R
- Simonetto M, Infante M, Sacco RL, Rundek T, Della-Morte D. A novel anti-inflammatory role of omega-3 PUFAs in prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis and vascular cognitive impairment and dementia. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2279. doi: 10.3390/nu11102279
- 66. Boespflug EL, McNamara RK, Eliassen JC, Schidler MD, Krikorian R. Fish oil supplementation increases event-related posterior cingulate activation in older adults with subjective memory impairment. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging.* (2015) 20:161–9. doi: 10.1007/s12603-015-0609-6
- Yassine HN, Braskie MN, Mack WJ, Castor KJ, Fonteh AN, Schneider LS, et al. Association of docosahexaenoic acid supplementation with Alzheimer disease stage in apolipoprotein E4 carriers. *JAMA Neurol.* (2017) 74:339– 47. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.4899
- McGahon BM, Martin DSD, Horrobin DF, Lynch MA. Age-related changes in synaptic function: analysis of the effect of dietary supplementation with Omega-3 fatty acids. *Neuroscience*. (1999) 94:305–14. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00219-5
- Dysken MW, Sano M, Asthana S, Vertrees JE, Pallaki M, Llorente M, et al. Effect of vitamin e and memantine on functional decline in alzheimer disease. *JAMA*. (2014) 311:33–44. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.282834
- Manosso LM, Camargo A, Dafre AL, Rodrigues ALS. Vitamin E for the management of major depressive disorder: possible role of the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant systems. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2020) 1– 15. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2020.1853417. [Epub ahead of print].
- Mazereeuw G, Lanctôt KL, Chau SA, Swardfager W, Herrmann N. Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2012) 33:1482.e17–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.12.014
- 72. Jernerén F, Elshorbagy AK, Oulhaj A, Smith SM, Refsum H, Smith AD. Brain atrophy in cognitively impaired elderly: the importance of long-chain Omega-3 fatty acids and B vitamin status in a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 102:215–21. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.103283
- Oulhaj A, Jernerén F, Refsum H, Smith AD, de Jager CA. Omega-3 fatty acid status enhances the prevention of cognitive decline by B vitamins in mild cognitive impairment. J Alzheimers Dis. (2016) 50:547– 57. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150777
- Kurilshikov A, Medina-Gomez C, Bacigalupe R, Radjabzadeh D, Wang J, Demirkan A, et al. Large-scale association analyses identify host factors influencing human gut microbiome composition. *Nat Genet.* (2021) 53:156– 65. doi: 10.1038/s41588-020-00763-1

- O'Toole PW, Jeffery IB. Gut microbiota and aging. Science. (2015) 350:1214– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.aac8469
- Human Microbiome Project. Available online at: https://commonfund.nih. gov/hmp (accessed April 29, 2021).
- Parolini C. Effects of fish n-3 PUFAs on intestinal microbiota and immune system. *Mar Drugs*. (2019) 17:374. doi: 10.3390/md17060374
- Mediavilla C. Bidirectional gut-brain communication: a role for orexin-A. Neurochem Int. (2020) 141:104882. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2020.104882
- Boulle F, van den Hove DLA, Jakob SB, Rutten BP, Hamon M, van Os J, et al. Epigenetic regulation of the BDNF gene: implications for psychiatric disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2011) 17:584–96. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.107
- Wu X, Chen PS, Dallas S, Wilson B, Block ML, Wang C C, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors up-regulate astrocyte GDNF and BDNF gene transcription and protect dopaminergic neurons. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2008) 11:1123– 34. doi: 10.1017/S1461145708009024
- Tran TTT, Corsini S, Kellingray L, Hegarty C, Le Gall G, Narbad A, et al. APOE genotype influences the gut microbiome structure and function in humans and mice: relevance for Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology. *FASEB* J. (2019) 33:8221–31. doi: 10.1096/fj.201900071R
- Maldonado Weng J, Parikh I, Naqib A, York J, Green SJ, Estus S, et al. Synergistic effects of APOE and sex on the gut microbiome of young EFAD transgenic mice. *Mol Neurodegenerat.* (2019) 14:47. doi: 10.1186/s13024-019-0352-2
- Larsen N, Vogensen FK, van den Berg FWJ, Nielsen DS, Andreasen AS, Pedersen BK, et al. Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from non-diabetic adults. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e9085. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009085
- Huang TL, Zandi PP, Tucker KL, Fitzpatrick AL, Kuller LH, Fried LP, et al. Benefits of fatty fish on dementia risk are stronger for those without APOE4. *Neurology*. (2005) 65:1409–14. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000183148.34197.2e
- Quinn JF, Raman R, Thomas RG, Yurko-Mauro K, Nelson EB, Van Dyck C, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid supplementation and cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease. JAMA. (2010) 304:1903–11. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1510
- Arellanes IC, Choe N, Solomon V, He X, Kavin B, Martinez AE, et al. Brain delivery of supplemental docosahexaenoic acid (DHA): a randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. *EBioMedicine*. (2020) 59:102883. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102883
- Metherel AH, Irfan M, Klingel SL, Mutch DM, Bazinet RP. Compound-specific isotope analysis reveals no retroconversion of DHA to EPA but substantial conversion of EPA to DHA following supplementation: a randomized control trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 110:823–31. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz097
- Martinsen A, Tejera N, Vauzour D, Harden G, Dick J, Shinde S, et al. Altered SPMs and age-associated decrease in brain DHA in APOE4 female mice. *FASEB J.* (2019) 33:10315–26. doi: 10.1096/fj.201900423R
- Firth J, Teasdale SB, Allott K, Siskind D, Marx W, Cotter J, et al. The efficacy and safety of nutrient supplements in the treatment of mental disorders: a meta-review of meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. *World Psychiatry*. (2019) 18:308–24. doi: 10.1002/wps.20672
- 90. Maltais M, de Souto Barreto P, Pothier K, Cantet C, Andrieu S, Rolland Y, et al. Lifestyle multidomain intervention, omega-3 supplementation, or both for reducing the risk of developing clinically relevant depressive symptoms in older adults with memory complaints? Secondary analysis from the MAPT trial. *Exp Gerontol.* (2019) 120:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.02.010
- McPhilemy G, Byrne F, Waldron M, Hibbeln JR, Davis J, McDonald C, et al. A 52-week prophylactic randomised control trial of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. (2021). doi: 10.1111/bdi.13037. [Epub ahead of print].
- 92. Suradom C, Suttajit S, Oon-arom A, Maneeton B, Srisurapanont M. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (n-3 PUFA) supplementation for prevention and treatment of perinatal depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized-controlled trials. *Nord J Psychiatry*. (2020) 1– 8. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2020.1843710. [Epub ahead of print].
- 93. Thesing CS, Milaneschi Y, Bot M, Brouwer IA, Owens M, Hegerl U, et al. Supplementation-induced increase in circulating omega-3 serum levels is not associated with a reduction in depressive symptoms: results from the

MooDFOOD depression prevention trial. *Depress Anxiety*. (2020) 37:1079–88. doi: 10.1002/da.23092

- 94. Balachandar R, Soundararajan S, Bagepally BS. Docosahexaenoic acid supplementation in age-related cognitive decline: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Euro J Clin Pharmacol.* (2020) 76:639–48. doi: 10.1007/s00228-020-02843-x
- 95. Giudici KV, de Souto Barreto P, Beard J, Cantet C, Araujo de Carvalho I, Rolland Y, et al. Effect of long-term omega-3 supplementation and a lifestyle multidomain intervention on intrinsic capacity among community-dwelling older adults: secondary analysis of a randomized, placebo-controlled trial (MAPT study). *Maturitas.* (2020) 141:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2020.06.012
- 96. Rolland Y, Barreto PdS, Maltais M, Guyonnet S, Cantet C, Andrieu S, et al. Effect of long-term omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation with or without multidomain lifestyle intervention on muscle strength in older adults: secondary analysis of the multidomain alzheimer preventive trial (MAPT). *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1931. doi: 10.3390/nu11081931
- Chew EY, Clemons TE, Agrón E, Launer LJ, Grodstein F, Bernstein PS. Effect of omega-3 fatty acids, lutein/zeaxanthin, or other nutrient supplementation on cognitive function. *Jama.* (2015) 314:791–801. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.9677
- Soininen H, Solomon A, Visser PJ, Hendrix SB, Blennow K, Kivipelto M, et al. 36-month LipiDiDiet multinutrient clinical trial in prodromal Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. (2020) 17:29–40. doi: 10.1002/alz.12172
- Sarris J, Murphy J, Mischoulon D, Papakostas GI, Fava M, Berk M, et al. Adjunctive nutraceuticals for depression: a systematic review and metaanalyses. *Focus*. (2018) 16:328–40. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.16304
- 100. Fuso A, Nicolia V, Cavallaro RA, Ricceri L, D'Anselmi F, Coluccia P, et al. B-vitamin deprivation induces hyperhomocysteinemia and brain S-adenosylhomocysteine, depletes brain S-adenosylmethionine, and enhances PS1 and BACE expression and amyloid-β deposition in mice. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* (2008) 37:731–46. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2007.12.018
- 101. Luo X-d, Feng J-s, Yang Z, Huang Q-t, Lin J-d, Yang B, et al. High-dose omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation might be more superior than low-dose for major depressive disorder in early therapy period: a network meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2020) 20:248. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02656-3
- 102. Mischoulon D, Nierenberg AA, Schettler PJ, Kinkead BL, Fehling K, Martinson MA, et al. A double-blind, randomized controlled clinical trial comparing eicosapentaenoic acid versus docosahexaenoic acid for depression. J Clin Psychiatry. (2015) 76:54–61. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m08986
- 103. Rapaport MH, Nierenberg AA, Schettler PJ, Kinkead B, Cardoos A, Walker R, et al. Inflammation as a predictive biomarker for response to omega-3 fatty acids in major depressive disorder: a proof-of-concept study. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2015) 21:71–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.22
- 104. Guu TW, Mischoulon D, Sarris J, Hibbeln J, McNamara Robert K, Hamazaki K, et al. International society for nutritional psychiatry research practice guidelines for omega-3 fatty acids in the treatment of major depressive disorder. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2019) 88:263–73. doi: 10.1159/000502652

- 105. Sarris J, Freeman MP. Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation for perinatal depression and other subpopulations? J Clin Psychiatry. (2020) 81:20com13489. doi: 10.4088/JCP.20com13489
- 106. Ali T, Hao Q, Ullah N, Rahman SU, Shah FA, He K, et al. Melatonin act as an antidepressant via attenuation of neuroinflammation by targeting Sirt1/Nrf2/HO-1 signaling. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2020) 13:96. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2020.00096
- Cope EC, Levenson CW. Role of zinc in the development and treatment of mood disorders. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2010) 13:685– 9. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32833df61a
- Anbari-Nogyni Z, Bidaki R, Madadizadeh F, Sangsefidi ZS, Fallahzadeh H, Karimi-Nazari E, et al. Relationship of zinc status with depression and anxiety among elderly population. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2020) 37:233– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2020.02.008
- 109. Wang J, Um P, Dickerman B, Liu J. Zinc, magnesium, selenium and depression: a review of the evidence, potential mechanisms and implications. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:584. doi: 10.3390/nu100 50584
- Owen AJ, Batterham MJ, Probst YC, Grenyer BFS, Tapsell LC. Low plasma vitamin E levels in major depression: diet or disease? *Euro J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 59:304–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602072

Conflict of Interest: JS has received either presentation honoraria, travel support, clinical trial grants, book royalties, or independent consultancy payments from: Integria Healthcare & MediHerb, Pfizer, Scius Health, Key Pharmaceuticals, Taki Mai, Fiji Kava, FIT-BioCeuticals, Blackmores, Soho-Flordis, Healthworld, HealthEd, HealthMasters, Kantar Consulting, Angelini Pharmaceuticals, Grunbiotics, Polistudium, Australian Natural Therapeutics Group, Research Reviews, Elsevier, Chaminade University, International Society for Affective Disorders, Complementary Medicines Australia, SPRIM, Terry White Chemists, ANS, Society for Medicinal Plant and Natural Product Research, Sanofi-Aventis, Omega-3 Center, the National Health and Medical Research Council, CR Roper Fellowship. EG has received grants or PhD fellowship support from Indena Italy SpA and Verdure Sciences. LB is employed in Polistudium, Italy, which received funds for editorial assistance from Angelini. GM has received either presentation honoraria, travel support, grants, or independent consultancy payments from Polistudium, Integria Healthcare, Qbiotics, Soho-Floris, and Pharmako Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Businaro, Vauzour, Sarris, Münch, Gyengesi, Brogelli and Zuzarte. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Age-Dependent Association Between Elevated Homocysteine and Cognitive Impairment in a Post-stroke Population: A Prospective Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lucie Geurts, International Life Sciences Institute Europe, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Erica Marie Weekman, University of Kentucky, United States Krishnamachari Srinivasan, St. John's Research Institute, India

*Correspondence:

Jincai He hjc@wmu.edu.cn Guiqian Huang huangguiqian@wmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 07 April 2021 Accepted: 31 May 2021 Published: 29 June 2021

Citation:

Zhou S-N, Chen J-H, Cheng L, Fan K-L, Xu M-J, Ren W-W, Chen Y-B, Geng D-D, Cheng H-R, Luan X-Q, Song J-Y, Lin G-Q, Huang G-Q and He J-C (2021) Age-Dependent Association Between Elevated Homocysteine and Cognitive Impairment in a Post-stroke Population: A Prospective Study. Front. Nutr. 8:691837. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.691837 Shengnan Zhou^{1†}, Jiahao Chen^{1†}, Lin Cheng^{1†}, Kaili Fan², Minjie Xu^{1,2}, Wenwei Ren¹, Yunbin Chen¹, Dandan Geng¹, Haoran Cheng¹, Xiaoqian Luan¹, Jiaying Song¹, Gangqiang Lin¹, Guiqian Huang^{1*} and Jincai He^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou, China, ² School of Mental Health, Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou, China

Background and Purpose: The results regarding the independent association between homocysteine (Hcy) levels and post-stroke cognitive impairment (PSCI) were inconsistent. The effect of age on this association has yet to be explored. This study aims to determine the relationship between Hcy levels, age, and cognitive impairment in a post-stroke population.

Methods: A total of 592 patients with acute ischemic stroke (AIS) completed follow-up. Serum Hcy levels were measured enzymatically by spectrophotometry within 24 h of admission. Cognitive function was evaluated by the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) 1 month after stroke, and the scores ≤ 24 were considered as cognitive impairment. Our study was dichotomized into two groups by a cut-off of 65 years. Multivariate logistic regression models were used to determine the association between baseline Hcy levels and cognitive impairment.

Results: According to the MMSE score, 317 (53.5%) patients had cognitive impairment. Patients with higher levels of Hcy were more prone to have cognitive impairment 1 month after stroke than patients with lower levels of Hcy (p < 0.001). The optimal cut-off points of Hcy level (μ mol/L) were (T1) ≤ 8 , (T2) 8–12, and (T3) ≥ 12 . After adjusting for confounding factors, the multivariate regression analysis showed that the third Hcy tertile was independently associated with cognitive impairment [odds ratio (OR) = 2.057, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.133–3.735, p = 0.018). A stronger association [T2 (OR = 2.266, 95% CI = 1.042–4.926, p = 0.039); T3 (OR =3.583, 95% CI = 1.456–8.818, p = 0.005)] was found in the younger group. However, the independent association was not confirmed in the older group.

24

Conclusions: Elevated Hcy levels in the acute phase of ischemic stroke were independently associated with cognitive impairment in a post-stroke population. Furthermore, the association was age-dependent and more meaningful in a younger population aged below 65. So, Hcy levels in patients with stroke should be well-monitored, especially in younger patients.

Keywords: homocysteine, age, ischemic stroke, cognitive impairment, Mini-Mental State Exam

INTRODUCTION

Currently, the prevalence of post-stroke cognitive impairment (PSCI) ranges from 20 to 80% among different countries, races, and diagnostic criteria (1), which is associated with functional outcomes and survival of stroke (2, 3) resulting in a tremendous clinical and economic burden on individuals and society. Moreover, cognitive impairment tends to progressively worsen following stroke (4), with 20-30% of the patients developing dementia (5). Hence, international guidelines recommend cognitive assessment as a routine neurological examination for all stroke survivors (6). Older age, poor educational status, female sex, and genetic factors are known conventional unamenable risk factors for PSCI (7). Hence, it is imperative to identify modifiable risk factors to guide medical treatments and reduce the prevalence of post-stroke dementia (PSD). Concentrations of homocysteine (Hcy) represent a modifiable risk factor that can be prevented and treated by vitamin supplementation. Therefore, understanding the prognostic impact of Hcy levels for PSCI is clinically relevant.

A growing body of evidence suggests that high Hcy levels may contribute to the pathogenesis of PSCI via oxidative stress (8), vascular inflammation (8), endothelial dysfunction (9, 10), and accelerate amyloid and tau protein accumulation (11). However, clinical studies investigating the association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in patients with stroke have yielded inconsistent results (12-16). The reasons for the contradictory results of previous studies remain equivocal. Age is one possible explanation for this discrepancy. Notably, Hcy concentrations were reported to increase with age (17, 18). Numerous studies have shown that age not only affects the relationship between Hcy and stroke (19-21) but also the relationship between Hcy and cognitive decline (22). For example, a nationwide study based on 12,683 patients with stroke suggested that the association between Hcy and stroke was strongest in younger individuals and declined linearly with increasing age (20). To the best of our knowledge, the effect of age on the association between Hcy and PSCI has yet to be explored. A traditional threshold of age at which people can be assumed to be "old," the age of 65 years, was linked with Alzheimer's disease (AD) (23) and PSD (4). To moderate the confounding effect of age, our study was dichotomized into two groups by a cut-off of 65 years.

Therefore, this study was designed to determine the relationship between Hcy levels, age, and cognitive impairment in a post-stroke population. In other words, we aimed to identify the association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment

in a post-stroke population and investigate the effect of age on the association.

METHOD

Study Design and Participants

From October 2013 to November 2019, patients with acute ischemic stroke (AIS) were consecutively recruited within 7 days of onset at the First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University. Eligible participants with AIS aged between 18 and 80 years were diagnosed using CT or MRI within 72 h of admission and were willing to support our work by completing the follow-up plans and cognitive assessments.

All the participants completed the detection of related indicators within 24 h of admissions, such as folate, vitamin B12, and Hcy. The Hcy levels were further divided into tertiles according to the number of patients and the distribution of the Hcy value, which makes the highest differences in this study. Furthermore, the Hcy tertiles were used to observe whether any enhanced performance could be quantified while maintaining the statistical efficacy in each category.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) pre-existing transient ischemic attack or hemorrhagic stroke history, (2) intravenous thrombolytic therapy or interventional treatment received by the patient, (3) primary major cognitive impairment even dementia, (4) other central nervous system diseases, such as Parkinson disease and hydrocephalus, (5) serious mental illness, including pre-stroke depression and schizophrenia, (6) severe critical organ failure, especially severe kidney disease, (7) out of competence to complete cognitive assessments, such as coma, severe aphasia, dysarthria or hearing impairment, and (8) folate or vitamin B therapy within 2 weeks of admission or medication therapy that would affect Hcy levels. Ultimately, a total of 592 patients completed the follow-up and were included in this study.

This prospective cohort study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University and was conducted in accordance with the ethical guidelines of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki. All participants or their guardians understood our study well and signed written informed consent. For participants with less education or cognitive impairment, verbal informed consent was provided to them together with their guardians. Finally, with the full understanding and agreement of guardians, those participants who could not write signed a written informed consent using their thumbprints. Meanwhile, their guardians signed their names beside the thumbprints.

Data Collection

Baseline information was acquired through face-to-face interviews combined with electronic medical records and primary nursing records. A standardized questionnaire was designed to collect information on the demographic characteristics of trained neurological physicians. Demographic data included age, sex, body mass index (BMI), and years of education. Vascular risk factors included currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease (CAD), and atrial fibrillation (AF). Notably, blood pressure (BP) was recorded within 24 h after admission as systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Laboratory tests included Hcy, folate, vitamin B12, and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). The serum levels of Hcy, folate, and vitamin B12 were measured using an automatic biochemical analyzer (Beckman Olympus AU2700, USA) at the laboratory of our hospital. The concentrations were analyzed enzymatically using spectrophotometry with commercial reagents.

Other clinical data we collected included stroke severity, TOAST mechanism, and clinical depressive symptoms. However, this study lacked the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores before the onset of stroke. The patients included in this study already had a stroke before admission to the Department of Neurology, so we were unable to collect the MMSE scores before the stroke. Although we excluded patients with mild cognitive impairment or dementia from this study, there were still potential confounders of pre-stroke cognitive impairment.

Stroke severity was assessed on admission by experienced neurologists using the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) (24). All the patients were investigated to clarify the stroke subtype according to the TOAST criteria (25). The severity of depression of patients was evaluated by Hamilton Depression Scale (HAMD-17) (26) within 7 days of onset, which was recorded as the HAMD score. According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth, a HAMD score \geq 7 combined with clinical manifestations indicated depressive symptoms.

A radiologist who was blinded to the clinical results performed the cranial CT or MRI on patients within 72 h after admission.

Outcome Assessment and Follow-Up

Experienced neurological physicians, blinded to the baseline characteristics of the patients, evaluated the cognitive function of the patients using the Chinese version of the MMSE (27) at 1 month after stroke. The MMSE has been translated into Chinese and was validated for reliability and validity as a screening tool for cognitive impairment in the Chinese stroke population (28). The MMSE scores range from 0 to 30, with higher scores indicating better performance. Considering the low education level of the patients, the MMSE scores ≤ 24 points indicated cognitive impairment (29–32).

Statistical Analyses

Categorical variables were shown as proportions, and group differences were analyzed using the chi-square test. According to the distribution of continuous data, mean \pm SD was used to describe a normal distribution, and Student's *t*-test was

used to assess the group differences. For skewed distribution, median (interquartile range, IQR) and Mann-Whitney U-test were implemented. According to the Hcy tertiles, all the patients were divided into three groups and the comparisons among the three tertiles were performed using the Kruskal-Wallistest, one-way ANOVA, Pearson's chi-square-test, or Fisher's exact-test. Variables reflecting significant group differences (p < 0.05) were considered as confounding factors and were included in the univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses. Model 1 included age, sex, and years of education. Model 2 was adjusted for age, sex, years of education, currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, AF, folate, eGFR, NIHSS score, TOAST mechanism, and HAMD score. Model 3 was adjusted for sex and years of education. Model 4 was adjusted for sex, years of education, currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, AF, folate, eGFR, NIHSS score, TOAST mechanism, and HAMD score. Two-tailed pvalues < 0.05 were considered statistically significant, which were computed using IBM SPSS Statistics software Version 26 for Windows.

RESULT

Baseline Characteristics of Patients With AIS Grouped by Cognitive Impairment According to MMSE

During the research period, a total of 1,112 patients with AIS were enrolled in this prospective study, of which 705 patients were eligible for the study. Ultimately, 592 patients completed the 1-month follow-up and were included in this study. A total of 222 (37.5%) patients were female, and the median age of the enrolled patients was 64 years (range 30–80 years), and the median Hcy concentration was 10.0 μ mol/L (range 3.1–38.0 μ mol/L). In addition, 317 (53.5%) patients had cognitive impairment, which is similar to a number of previous research (1, 33).

Table 1 shows the baseline demographic, clinical, and laboratory characteristics of patients with and without cognitive impairment. Compared to patients without cognitive impairment, patients with cognitive impairment were more likely to be older and female. Also, they tended to have fewer years of education and higher NIHSS scores. Meanwhile, fewer cigarette smokers and alcohol drinkers were found in patients with cognitive impairment, but patients with a history of hypertension and AF were more likely to undergo cognitive impairment. Regarding laboratory parameters, patients with cognitive impairment had higher serum Hcy concentration, but lower serum folate concentrations and lower eGFR. Among patients with and without cognitive impairment, the median (IQR) values of Hcy were 10.9 μ mol/L (8.0–13.0 μ mol/L) and 9.5 μ mol/L (4.0–12.0 µmol/L), respectively, and showed a significant difference (p = 0.001). Furthermore, patients with cognitive impairment had higher HAMD scores at baseline, reflecting a worse emotional status of these patients compared to those without cognitive impairment.

Variables	Total	MMSE > 24	MMSE ≤ 24	P-value
	(n = 592)	(<i>n</i> = 275)	(<i>n</i> = 317)	
Age, year (median, IQR)	64.0 (57.0–70.0)	61.0 (51.0–67.0)	67.0 (60.0–73.0)	<0.001
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	222 (37.5%)	60 (21.8%)	162 (51.1%)	< 0.001
BMI (median, IQR)	23.8 (22.0–26.1)	24.0 (22.1–26.3)	23.4 (21.6–26.0)	0.079
Education, year (median, IQR)	4.0 (0.0–6.0)	6.0 (4.0–9.0)	0.0 (0.0–5.0)	< 0.001
Currently smoking, n (%)	274 (46.8%)	158 (58.3%)	116 (36.9%)	0.002
Currently drinking, n (%)	206 (36.1%)	111 (41.9%)	95 (31.0%)	0.007
Hypertension, n (%)	421 (71.1%)	184 (66.9%)	237 (74.8%)	0.035
Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	49 (8.3%)	27 (9.8%)	21 (6.7%)	0.170
Diabetes, n (%)	138 (23.5%)	63 (22.9%)	75 (24.0%)	0.764
CAD, <i>n</i> (%)	38 (6.5%)	18 (6.6%)	20 (6.4%)	0.902
AF, n (%)	47 (7.9%)	15 (5.5%)	32 (10.1%)	0.037
SBP, mmHg (mean \pm SD)	150.0 ± 17.7	150.0 ± 17.9	149.9 ± 17.5	0.944
DBP, mmHg (mean \pm SD)	82.7 ± 11.9	83.6 ± 11.0	81.9 ± 12.5	0.120
Hcy, μmol/L (median, IQR)	10.0 (4.7–12.6)	9.5 (4.0–12.0)	10.9 (8.0–13.0)	0.001
Folate, nmol/l (median, IQR)	5.8 (4.0-8.4)	6.6 (4.1–9.4)	5.2 (3.8–7.8)	0.002
B12, pmol/l (median, IQR)	352.0(253.0-488.0)	355.0 (265.3–495.3)	351.0 (244.5–478.0)	0.500
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ² (mean \pm SD)	92.7 (78.3–104.0)	95.0 (79.8–106.5)	90.1 (77.0–100.8)	0.001
NIHSS score (median, IQR)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	1.5 (1.0–3.0)	0.001
TOAST mechanism				0.008
LAA, n (%)	474 (80.1%)	223 (81.1%)	251 (79.2%)	
CE, n (%)	58 (9.8%)	17 (6.2%)	41 (12.9%)	
SVO, n (%)	40 (6.8%)	21 (7.6%)	19 (6.0%)	
Others, n (%)	20 (3.4%)	14 (5.1%)	6 (1.9%)	
HAMD score (median, IQR)	4.0 (2.0–7.0)	4.0 (1.0–7.0)	4.0 (2.0-8.0)	0.016
Depressive symptoms, n (%)	139 (23.5%)	60 (21.8%)	79 (24.9%)	0.374

MMSE, Mini-Mental State Exam; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; AF, atrial fibrillation; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HCY, Homocysteine; eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; NIHSS, National Institute of Health stroke scale; LAA, Large artery atherosclerosis; CE, Cardioaortic embolism; SVO, Small artery occlusion; Others, Other causes; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Scale.

Baseline Characteristics of Patients With AIS in Different Hcy Tertiles

Table 2 shows the baseline demographic, clinical, and laboratory characteristics of patients with AIS according to the Hcy tertiles. Levels of Hcy were $\leq 8 \mu \text{mol/L}$ in the tertile 1 and $\geq 12 \mu \text{mol/L}$ in the tertile 3. The incidence of cognitive impairment was significantly higher in the third Hcy tertile than in the first and second Hcy tertiles (29.7 vs. 52.0 and 62.2%, respectively, p = 0.008). The median (IQR) scores of the MMSE in the three groups were 25.0 (20.0–28.0), 24.0 (19.0–28.0), and 23.0 (18.0–27), respectively (p = 0.005). Patients with higher levels of Hcy had higher BMI, NIHSS scores, a higher percentage of smoking and AF and lower median age, percentage of females, levels of B12, levels of folate, and eGFR.

Association Between Hcy Levels and Cognitive Impairment

Table 3 shows the multivariate logistic analysis for the association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment. In these regression models, the occurrence of cognitive impairment was considered as a dependent variable and the first Hcy tertile was used as a reference. After adjusting for potential confounders including age, sex, years of education, currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, AF, folate, eGFR, NIHSS score, TOAST mechanism, and HAMD score, the third Hcy tertile was independently associated with the prevalence of cognitive impairment [odds ratio (OR) = 2.057, 95% confidence interval (CI) =1.133–3.735, p = 0.018]. Moreover, age, years of education, NIHSS score, and cardioaortic embolism (CE) were significantly associated with cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population.

Baseline Characteristics of Patients With AIS Grouped by Age

Table 4 shows the baseline demographic, clinical, and laboratory characteristics of patients with AIS according to age. Compared with the older group (age \geq 65 years), the younger age group (age < 65 years) had lower levels of Hcy [10.0 (5.0–13.0) vs. 11.0 (4.5–13.0), p < 0.001] and lower prevalence of cognitive impairment [126 (41.7%) vs. 191 (65.9%), p < 0.001]. The median (IQR) scores of the MMSE in the younger and older groups were 26.0 (21.0–28.0) and 22 (18.0–26.0), respectively (p < 0.001). Furthermore, the younger age group had a higher BMI, higher years of education, higher levels of B12, and higher eGFR but had lower DBP. As for the previous history of patients, patients in the older age group were more likely to have a history of

TABLE 2 | Baseline characteristics of patients with AIS in different HCY tertiles.

	HCY tertiles					
Variables	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3	P-value		
	(<i>n</i> = 201)	(<i>n</i> = 198)	(<i>n</i> = 193)			
HCY, μmol/L	≤8	8–12	≥12			
MMSE ≤ 24, n (%)	94 (46.8%)	103 (52.0%)	120 (62.2%)	0.008		
MMSE score (median, IQR)	25.0 (20.0–28.0)	24.0 (19.0-28.0)	23.0 (18.0–27.0)	0.005		
Age, year (median, IQR)	63.0 (56.0–69.0)	63.0 (54.0–69.0)	67.0 (59.0–72.0)	0.001		
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	83 (41.3%)	86 (43.4%)	53 (27.5%)	0.002		
BMI (median, IQR)	23.8 (22.6-26.1)	24.2 (22.6–26.6)	23.4 (21.5-26.4)	0.040		
Education, year (median, IQR)	4.0 (0.0-6.0)	4.0 (0.0–7.0)	4.0 (0.0–6.0)	0.869		
Currently smoking, <i>n</i> (%)	92 (46.2%)	80 (40.8%)	102 (53.7%)	0.040		
Currently drinking, n (%)	72 (36.9%)	66 (34.2%)	68 (37.2%)	0.799		
Hypertension, n (%)	139 (69.2%)	142 (71.7%)	140 (72.5%)	0.740		
Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	17 (8.5%)	18 (9.1%)	13 (6.8%)	0.705		
Diabetes, n (%)	48 (24.0%)	51 (25.8%)	39 (20.5%)	0.467		
CAD, n (%)	10 (5.1%)	13 (6.6%)	15 (7.9%)	0.515		
AF, n (%)	8 (4.0%)	16 (8.1%)	23 (11.9%)	0.014		
SBP, mmHg (mean \pm SD)	149.8 ± 18.0	149.4 ± 17.6	150.8 ± 17.5	0.767		
DBP, mmHg (mean \pm SD)	81.9 ± 11.1	82.8 ± 12.1	83.4 ± 12.4	0.486		
Hcy, μmol/L (median, IQR)	3.8 (3.4–6.2)	10.0 (9.0–11.0)	14.0 (12.1–16.2)	< 0.001		
Folate, nmol/l (median, IQR)	6.7 (4.6–9.2)	5.4 (3.4–8.2)	5.1 (3.8–8.0)	0.001		
B12, pmol/l (median, IQR)	390.0 (265.0–528.0)	366.0(267.0-483.0)	309.0 (223.0-423.0)	0.003		
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ² (mean \pm SD)	96.1 (87.0–104.9)	92.8 (80.4–105.3)	84.6 (71.2–99.5)	< 0.001		
NIHSS score (median, IQR)	1.0 (1.0–2.0)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	2 (1.0-4.0)	< 0.001		
TOAST mechanism				0.341		
LAA, n (%)	161 (80.1%)	160 (80.8%)	153 (79.3%)			
CE, n (%)	21 (10.4%)	16 (8.1%)	21 (10.9%)			
SVO, n (%)	9 (4.5%)	15 (7.6%)	16 (8.3%)			
Others, n (%)	10 (5.0%)	7 (3.5%)	3 (1.6%)			
HAMD score (median, IQR)	3.0 (1.0–7.0)	5.0 (2.0-7.8)	4.0 (2.0–7.0)	0.065		
Depressive symptoms, n (%)	44 (21.9%)	50 (25.3%)	45 (23.3%)	0.689		

MMSE, Mini-Mental State Exam; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; AF, atrial fibrillation; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HCY, Homocysteine; eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; NIHSS, National Institute of Health stroke scale; LAA, Large artery atherosclerosis; CE, Cardioaortic embolism; SVO, Small artery occlusion; Others, Other causes; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Scale.

hypertension, CAD, and AF. Meanwhile, more cigarette smokers and alcohol drinkers were found in the younger age group.

Multivariate Adjusted OR for the Association Between Hcy Levels and Cognitive Impairment in the Subcategorized Groups of Age

Based on the Hcy tertiles, in the younger age group, 110 (36.4%) had lower Hcy levels and 78 (25.8%) had higher Hcy levels, while in the older age group, 91 (31.4%) had lower Hcy levels and 115 (39.7%) had higher Hcy levels (**Figure 1**).

Table 5 shows the association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in the different age groups. In univariate analyses, the third Hcy tertile was associated with cognitive impairment in the total group with an OR of 1.871 (95% CI = 1.252-2.796, p = 0.002) (**Table 3**). **Table 5** shows significant association between the third Hcy tertile and cognitive impairment with a higher risk of the younger age group (OR

= 3.156, 95% CI = 1.506-6.613, p = 0.002) and the older age group (OR = 1.823, 95% CI = 1.161-3.504, p = 0.026). These differences remained significant after adjusting for sex and years of education. After further adjustments for the potential factors detected in the univariate analysis (Model 4: adjusting for sex, years of education, currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, AF, Folate, eGFR, NIHSS score, TOAST mechanism, and HAMD score), the association between the third Hcy tertile and cognitive impairment in the younger age group remained significant (Model 4: OR = 3.583, 95% CI = 1.456-8.818, p = 0.005). However, the association in the older age group disappeared (Model 4: OR = 1.273, 95% CI = 0.547-2.961, p = 0.576). Notably, in the younger age group, patients in the second Hcy tertile group were also associated with an increased risk of cognitive impairment with an OR of 2.625 (95% CI = 1.351–5.102, p = 0.004) in univariate analyses. These differences remained significant after adjusting for confounding factors and risk factors (Model 4: OR = 2.266, 95% CI = 1.042-4.926, p =0.039).

	Univariate analysis		Model 1 ^a		Model 2 ^b	
	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Hcy tertiles						
Tertile 1	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Tertile 2	1.234 (0.833–1.828)	0.294	1.522 (0.928–2.495)	0.096	1.269 (0.720–2.234)	0.410
Tertile 3	1.871 (1.252–2.796)	0.002	2.633 (1.596-4.442)	< 0.001	2.057 (1.133–3.735)	0.018
Age, years	1.073 (1.053–1.093)	< 0.001	1.055 (1.032–1.079)	< 0.001	1.057 (1.027–1.087)	< 0.001
Gender, female	3.745 (2.610–5.374)	< 0.001	2.224 (1.403–3.525)	0.001	2.092 (0.995–4.398)	0.052
Years of education	1.216 (1.110–1.333)	< 0.001	0.720 (0.672–0.772)	< 0.001	0.734 (0.677–0.797)	< 0.001
Currently smoking	0.419 (0.300–0.585)	< 0.001			0.835 (0.435–1.601)	0.587
Currently drinking	0.625 (0.443–0.881)	0.007			1.307 (0.755–2.264)	0.339
Hypertension	1.465 (1.025–2.093)	0.036			1.093 (0.649–1.841)	0.738
AF	1.946 (1.030–3.676)	0.040			0.885 (0.333–2.353)	0.807
Folate	0.514 (0.272–0.971)	0.040			0.978 (0.920-1.041)	0.484
eGFR	0.986 (0.977–0.994)	0.001			0.998 (0.985–1.012)	0.819
NIHSS score	1.142 (1.058–1.233)	0.001			1.160 (1.037–1.298)	0.009
TOAST mechanism						
LAA	Reference				Reference	
CE	2.143 (1.184–3.879)	0.012			2.378 (1.008–5.611)	0.048
SVO	0.804 (0.421–1.534)	0.508			1.165 (0.469–2.896)	0.742
Others	0.381 (0.144–1.008)	0.052			1.430 (0.363–5.636)	0.609
HAMD score	1.045 (1.005-1.086)	0.026			0.992 (0.937-1.049)	0.770

HCY, Homocysteine; AF, atrial fibrillation; eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; NIHSS, National Institute of Health stroke scale; LAA, Large artery atherosclerosis; CE, Cardioaortic embolism; SVO, Small artery occlusion; Others, Other causes; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Scale.

^aModel 1: adjusted for age, gender and years of education

^b Model 2: adjusted for variables in Model 1 plus currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, AF, folate, eGFR, NIHSS score, TOAST mechanism, and HAMD score.

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to discuss and analyze the relationship between Hcy levels, age, and cognitive impairment in a post-stroke population. Our study demonstrated that elevated Hcy levels in the acute phase of ischemic stroke were independently associated with cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. In the comparison of different age groups (\geq 65 and <65 years), we found that elevated Hcy levels played a stronger role in the younger age group than in the older age group. After adjusting for the confounding factors, the association remained significant in the total group and the younger age group but disappeared in the older age group. The results indicated the age-dependent effect of Hcy on cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. Of note, moderately raised serum Hcy ($\geq 12 \mu$ mol/L in the total group and $>8 \mu$ mol/L in the younger age group) increased the risk of 1-month cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population, as reflected by the MMSE scores.

In addition to age and years of education, the conventional factors of PSCI, we also found that higher NIHSS scores were independently associated with cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population, which has been proven in previous studies (34, 35). We also found that CE was associated with a higher prevalence of cognitive impairment in stroke survivors independently. In a previous study, PSCI was found to be

common for all stroke subtypes (36), which was inconsistent with this study. The insufficient sample size of the CE might have imposed some biases in the results. In our study, large artery atherosclerosis accounted for a large proportion (80.1%), while CE accounted for only 9.8%. Therefore, further studies are needed to explore the relationship between the TOAST subtypes and PSCI. Moreover, fewer cigarette smokers were found in patients with cognitive impairment and moderately elevated Hcy levels (T2). However, previous studies showed that smoking was a risk factor for PSCI (4) and high Hcy levels (17, 18). The contrary results in this study may be attributed to the lower proportion of males among these patients.

This study found an independent association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. However, the results were contradictory, as mentioned earlier. One study conducted in 169 patients with stroke demonstrated that the linear relationship between Hcy levels and acute MMSE scores disappeared after adjusting for stroke subtypes (15). Another study failed to find a relationship between the plasma Hcy levels and the 27-month cognitive changes after stroke in 170 well-recovered elderly patients (16). The reasons for the contradictory results of previous studies remain unclear. One possible explanation for this discrepancy is age. The risk for AD increases rapidly with age, doubling every 5 years after the age of 65 (23). Similarly, a review of PSD revealed that age \geq 65 years was a risk factor for PSD (4).To determine whether

TABLE 4 | Baseline characteristics of patients with AIS grouped by age.

Variables	Total (<i>n</i> = 592)	Younger age group (age < 65 y) ($n = 302$)	Older age group (age \geq 65 y) ($n = 290$)	P-value
	(1 = 332)	(1 = 302)	(1 = 230)	
Age, year (median, IQR)	64 (57–70)	57 (50–61)	70 (67–74)	< 0.001
Female, n (%)	222 (37.5%)	106 (35.1%)	116 (40.0%)	0.218
BMI (median, IQR)	23.8 (22.0-26.1)	24.2 (22.4–26.6)	23.1 (21.3–25.5)	< 0.001
Education, year (median, IQR)	4.0 (0.0-6.0)	5.0 (0.0-8.0)	3.0 (0.0–6.0)	< 0.001
Currently smoking, n (%)	274 (46.8%)	157 (53.0%)	117 (40.5%)	0.002
Currently drinking, n (%)	206 (36.1%)	119 (40.9%)	87 (31.1%)	0.015
Hypertension, n (%)	421 (71.1%)	203 (67.2%)	218 (75.2%)	0.033
Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	49 (8.3%)	25 (8.3%)	24 (8.4%)	0.980
Diabetes, n (%)	138 (23.5%)	69 (22.9%)	69 (24.0%)	0.749
CAD, n (%)	38 (6.5%)	12 (4.0%)	26 (9.1%)	0.013
AF, n (%)	47 (7.9%)	12 (4.0%)	35 (12.1%)	0.014
SBP, mmHg (mean \pm SD)	150.0 ± 17.7	148.6 ± 18.6	151.4 ± 16.7	0.076
DBP, mmHg (mean \pm SD)	82.7 ± 11.9	84.8 ± 12.1	80.5 ± 11.3	< 0.001
Hcy, μmol/L (median, IQR)	10.0 (4.7-12.6)	10.0 (5.0–13.0)	11.0 (4.5–13.0)	< 0.001
Folate, nmol/l (median, IQR)	5.8 (4.0-8.4)	6.0 (4.2–8.4)	5.2 (3.7–8.5)	0.133
B12, pmol/l (median, IQR)	352.0 (253.0–488.0)	371.0 (258.0–529.0)	337.5 (249.3–445.8)	0.024
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m ² (mean \pm SD)	92.7 (78.3-104.0)	100.5 (85.6–109.4)	86.7 (73.1–95.3)	< 0.001
NIHSS score (median, IQR)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	1.0 (0.0–3.0)	0.816
TOAST mechanism				0.031
LAA, n (%)	474 (80.1%)	243 (80.5%)	231 (79.7%)	
CE, n (%)	58 (9.8%)	22 (7.3%)	36 (12.4%)	
SVO, n (%)	40 (6.8%)	22 (7.3%)	18 (6.2%)	
Others, n (%)	20 (3.4%)	15 (5.0%)	5 (1.7%)	
MMSE ≤ 24, <i>n</i> (%)	317 (53.5%)	126 (41.7%)	191 (65.9%)	< 0.001
MMSE score (median, IQR)	24.0 (19.0-27.0)	26.0 (21.0-28.0)	22 (18.0–26.0)	< 0.001
HAMD score (median, IQR)	4.0 (2.0-7.0)	4.0 (1.0-7.0)	4.0 (2.0–7.0)	0.531
Depressive symptoms, n (%)	139 (23.5%)	67 (22.2%)	72 (24.8%)	0.440

BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; AF, atrial fibrillation; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; eGFR, estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate; NIHSS, National Institute of Health stroke scale; LAA, Large artery atherosclerosis; CE, Cardioaortic embolism; SVO, Small artery occlusion; Others, Other causes; MMSE, Mini-mental State Examination; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Scale.

there is an age-dependent association between Hcy and cognitive impairment in stroke survivors, we divided the total group into two subgroups, \geq 65 and <65 years.

As mentioned earlier, an independent association has been reported between Hcy and PSCI with a variable time of outcome assessments from 2 months and up to 3 years after stroke (12-14). We observed an age difference in the relationship between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. None of the aforementioned studies performed an age-specific analysis. Accumulating evidence indicated a relationship between Hcy levels, age, and stroke (19-21). For example, a prospective study revealed a strong, graded, and significant association between Hcy and stroke in young Asian patients with ischemic stroke (21). Moreover, Wang et al. (37) found no association between Hcy and functional outcome after stroke among elderly patients. In addition, a study based on cognitively healthy subjects discovered an agedependent association between Hcy and cognitive decline and demonstrated that younger patients had a stronger association (22). Our findings regarding serum Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population support and extend the previous studies. Indeed, we found that elevated Hcy could be an independent risk factor for cognitive impairment only in younger patients but not in older patients. Thus, the



association between Hcy and cognitive impairment in the poststroke population was age-dependent, suggesting that it could be useful in screening and targeting younger patients who need TABLE 5 | Multivariate adjusted odds ratios for the association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in the subcategorized groups of age.

	Univariate analysis		Model 3 ^a		Model 4 ^b	
	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	OR (95%CI)	p-value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Younger age	group (age < 65 y)					
Hcy tertiles						
Tertile 1	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Tertile 2	2.625 (1.351-5.102)	0.004	2.199 (1.120-4.317)	0.022	2.266 (1.042-4.926)	0.039
Tertile 3	3.156 (1.506–6.613)	0.002	3.767 (1.770-8.017)	0.001	3.583 (1.456–8.818)	0.005
Older age gro	oup (age ≥ 65 y)					
Hcy tertiles						
Tertile 1	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Tertile 2	1.291 (0.701–2.376)	0.413	0.941 (0.439–2.017)	0.875	0.661 (0.273-1.600)	0.358
Tertile 3	1.823 (1.161-3.504)	0.026	2.147 (1.035-4.456)	0.040	1.273 (0.547-2.961)	0.576

^aModel 3: adjusted for gender and years of education.

^bModel 4: adjusted for variables in Model 1 plus currently smoking, currently drinking, hypertension, AF, folate, eGFR, NIHSS score, TOAST mechanism, and HAMD score.

to lower their Hcy levels to improve the cognitive prognosis of ischemic stroke.

In our study, we also found that moderately raised Hcy (\geq 12 µmol/L in the total group and >8 µmol/L in the younger age group) increased the risk of cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population, which has not been studied yet. Previous studies only considered Hcy as a continuous variable in analysis and did not explore the graded association between Hcy and PSCI (12-14). The reference values for plasma Hcy ranged from 5 to 15 µmol/L. The latest guideline for the prevention and treatment of hypertension in China in 2010 has regarded an increase of Hcy $> 10 \mu mol/L$ as one of the important risk factors for cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases. Moreover, an International Consensus Statement in 2018 indicated that moderately elevated plasma total Hcy (>11 µmol/L) was one of the causes of age-related cognitive decline and dementia (38). Notably, we found a lower range of Hcy concentrations (>8 μ mol/L), which would significantly increase the prevalence of cognitive impairment in younger stroke survivors. Therefore, Hcy levels in patients with stroke should be well-monitored, especially in younger patients. In other words, Hcy-lowering treatment should be administered once Hcy concentrations reach over 8 µmol/L in younger patients with stroke. Only one study has explored the association between Hcy-lowering therapies and cognitive impairment after stroke. Nevertheless, Hankey et al. (39) failed to discover an association between daily Hcy-lowering treatment and cognitive impairment in patients with previous stroke or transient ischemic attack. But in the aforementioned study, the Hcy-lowering treatment was administered without adjusting for age and Hcy levels. Interestingly, a post-hoc analysis from a clinical trial showed that younger patients may benefit the most from Hcy-lowering therapies (40). Despite the negative results in clinical studies using Hcy-lowering therapies to improve cognitive performance after stroke, the age-dependent effect on the association between Hcy and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population is encouraging to pursue a feasible and effective treatment option in a specific subgroup of patients divided by age.

Homocysteine is postulated to cause PSCI via various mechanisms. Elevated Hcy is well-known to exert cytotoxic and pro-inflammatory effects, leading to vascular endothelial dysfunction and lipid metabolic disorders that cause thrombosis and arteriosclerosis (8-10, 41). All of these result in cerebrovascular disease, which indirectly causes vascular cognitive impairment (VCI). Moreover, Hcy neurotoxicity involves an increase in glutamate excitotoxicity (42), accelerating the development of oxidative stress in the hippocampal neurons (43), amyloid and tau protein accumulation (11), apoptosis (44), and neuronal death (45) contributing to the pathogenesis of AD. In short, elevated Hcy involves not only in VCI but also in the pathogenesis of AD, which has also been observed in the mechanisms of PSCI (1). However, these cannot explain why the association between Hcy and cognitive impairment exists only in younger patients. One possible explanation for this finding was that the association between Hcy levels and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population was not causal among elderly patients. In other words, the harmful effects of elevated Hcy could be masked by other vascular risk factors, such as hypertension, diabetes, and AF. The prevalence rates of hypertension and diabetes were 75.2 and 24.0% in the older age group, respectively, which were much higher than the rate of the younger age group in the present study and the rates reported in other studies.

This study has certain limitations. First, this was a singlecenter and prospective study with a lack of baseline MMSE score. Therefore, we could not establish causality between Hcy and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. First, multicenter studies are needed to confirm these results and verify the justification of the Hcy tertiles. Second, cognitive function was merely measured by MMSE, other stroke-specific measures and more detailed neuropsychological assessments should be applied together with MMSE to evaluate the cognitive function accurately in the future study. Third, longer followup periods are needed to explore the effect of elevated Hcy on cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. Fourth, we did not consider radiological parameters in the analysis. Fifth, the medications of the patients were not recorded on admission and during the follow-up, which may cause some bias in this study. Finally, patients with aphasia or other serious conditions, and those aged > 80 years, were not included in our study. Meanwhile, patients enrolled in our sample analysis tended to have lower NIHSS scores and mostly minor strokes on admission. These may have underestimated the actual incidence of cognitive impairment after stroke and diminished the representativeness of the cohort, thus limiting the generalization of the results. Larger sample size and prolonged follow-up should be taken into account in the future.

CONCLUSION

In summary, our study suggested a graded association between elevated Hcy and cognitive impairment in the post-stroke population. We found that the association was stronger in younger patients but not in older patients. Therefore, Hcy levels in patients with stroke should be well-monitored, especially in younger patients. Further studies should be conducted among participants with different social and cultural backgrounds to replicate our findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

REFERENCES

- Sun J, Tan L, Yu J. Post-stroke cognitive impairment: epidemiology, mechanisms and management. Ann Transl Med. (2014) 2:80. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2014.08.05
- Melkas S, Oksala N, Jokinen H, Pohjasvaara T, Vataja R, Oksala A, et al. Poststroke dementia predicts poor survival in long-term follow-up: influence of prestroke cognitive decline and previous stroke. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2009) 80:865–70. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2008.166603
- Paker N, Bugdayci D, Tekdöş D, Kaya B, Dere C. Impact of cognitive impairment on functional outcome in stroke. *Stroke Res Treat.* (2010) 2010:652612. doi: 10.4061/2010/652612
- Mijajlović M, Pavlović A, Brainin M, Heiss W, Quinn T, Ihle-Hansen H, et al. Post-stroke dementia—a comprehensive review. *BMC Med.* (2017) 15:11. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0779-7
- Pendlebury S, Rothwell P. Prevalence, incidence, and factors associated with pre-stroke and post-stroke dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2009) 8:1006–18. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70236-4
- Hachinski V, Iadecola C, Petersen R, Breteler M, Nyenhuis D, Black S, et al. National institute of neurological disorders and stroke-Canadian stroke network vascular cognitive impairment harmonization standards. *Stroke*. (2006) 37:2220–41. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000237236.88823.47
- Gottesman R, Hillis A. Predictors and assessment of cognitive dysfunction resulting from ischaemic stroke. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:895–905. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70164-2
- Papatheodorou L, Weiss N. Vascular oxidant stress and inflammation in hyperhomocysteinemia. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2007) 9:1941– 58. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007.1750
- Gurda D, Handschuh L, Kotkowiak W, Jakubowski H. Homocysteine thiolactone and N-homocysteinylated protein induce pro-atherogenic changes in gene expression in human vascular endothelial cells. *Amino Acids*. (2015) 47:1319–39. doi: 10.1007/s00726-015-1956-7

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

J-CH and S-NZ designed the study. S-NZ, J-HC, and LC wrote the manuscript. S-NZ did the statistical analyses. J-HC, LC, K-LF, W-WR, M-JX, Y-BC, D-DG, H-RC, X-QL, J-YS, and G-QL screened and extracted data. J-CH and G-QH supervised the study. All the authors have made an intellectual contribution to the manuscript and approved the submission.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Projects of National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81873799) and the Wenzhou Municipal Sci-Tech Bureau Programmer (Y2020421).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all collaborators for data collection. We also thank all the patients who participated.

- Eberhardt R, Forgione M, Cap A, Leopold J, Rudd M, Trolliet M, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in a murine model of mild hyperhomocyst(e)inemia. *J Clin Investig.* (2000) 106:483–91. doi: 10.1172/JCI8342
- Irizarry M, Gurol M, Raju S, Diaz-Arrastia R, Locascio J, Tennis M, et al. Association of homocysteine with plasma amyloid beta protein in aging and neurodegenerative disease. *Neurology*. (2005) 65:1402– 8. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000183063.99107.5c
- Sachdev P, Valenzuela M, Brodaty H, Wang X, Looi J, Lorentz L, et al. Homocysteine as a risk factor for cognitive impairment in stroke patients. *Demen Geriatr Cogn Disord*. (2003) 15:155–62. doi: 10.1159/000068481
- An X, Li C. Analysis of risk factors for vascular cognitive impairment in patients with cerebral infarction. *Cell Biochem Biophys.* (2015) 71:673– 7. doi: 10.1007/s12013-014-0246-4
- Wu J, Xue J, Zhuang L, Liu C. Plasma parameters and risk factors of patients with post-stroke cognitive impairment. *Ann Palliat Med.* (2020) 9:45–52. doi: 10.21037/apm.2019.12.05
- Tay S, Ampil E, Chen C, Auchus A. The relationship between homocysteine, cognition and stroke subtypes in acute stroke. *J Neurol Sci.* (2006) 250:58– 61. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2006.06.028
- Rowan E, Dickinson H, Stephens S, Ballard C, Kalaria R, Kenny R. Homocysteine and post-stroke cognitive decline. *Age Ageing*. (2007) 36:339– 43. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afm006
- Setién-Suero E, Suárez-Pinilla M, Suárez-Pinilla P, Crespo-Facorro B, Ayesa-Arriola R. Homocysteine and cognition: a systematic review of 111 studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 69:280–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.014
- Sharma M, Tiwari M, Tiwari R. Hyperhomocysteinemia: impact on neurodegenerative diseases. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2015) 117:287– 96. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.12424
- Verhoef P, Hennekens C, Malinow M, Kok F, Willett W, Stampfer M. A prospective study of plasma homocyst(e)ine and risk of ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. (1994) 25:1924–30. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.25.10.1924

- Towfighi A, Markovic D, Ovbiagele B. Pronounced association of elevated serum homocysteine with stroke in subgroups of individuals: a nationwide study. J Neurol Sci. (2010) 298:153–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2010.07.013
- Tan N, Venketasubramanian N, Saw S, Tjia H. Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia and risk of ischemic stroke among young Asian adults. *Stroke*. (2002) 33:1956– 62. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000021899.08659.C8
- Legdeur N, Heymans M, Comijs H, Huisman M, Maier A, Visser P. Age dependency of risk factors for cognitive decline. *BMC Geriatr.* (2018) 18:187. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0876-2
- Qiu C, Kivipelto M, von Strauss E. Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: occurrence, determinants, and strategies toward intervention. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*. (2009) 11:111–28. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2009.11.2/cqiu
- Goldstein L, Samsa G. Reliability of the national institutes of health stroke scale. Extension to non-neurologists in the context of a clinical trial. *Stroke*. (1997) 28:307–10. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.28.2.307
- 25. Adams H, Bendixen B, Kappelle L, Biller J, Love B, Gordon D, et al. Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. TOAST. Trial of org 10172 in acute stroke treatment. *Stroke.* (1993) 24:35–41. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.24.1.35
- Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1960) 23:56–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56
- Folstein M, Folstein S, McHugh P. Mini-mental state. A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.* (1975) 12:189–98. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Zhu Y, Zhao S, Fan Z, Li Z, He F, Lin C, et al. Evaluation of the mini-mental state examination and the montreal cognitive assessment for predicting poststroke cognitive impairment during the acute phase in Chinese minor stroke patients. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2020) 12:236. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.00236
- Chausson N, Olindo S, Cabre P, Saint-Vil M, Smadja D. Five-year outcome of a stroke cohort in Martinique, French West Indies: Etude Réalisée en Martinique et Centrée sur l'Incidence des Accidents vasculaires cérebraux, Part 2. Stroke. (2010) 41:594–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.573402
- Bunevicius A, Kazlauskas H, Raskauskiene N, Janusonis V, Bunevicius R. Ischemic stroke functional outcomes are independently associated with C-reactive protein concentrations and cognitive outcomes with triiodothyronine concentrations: a pilot study. *Endocrine*. (2014) 45:213– 20. doi: 10.1007/s12020-013-9958-2
- Keener A, Paul K, Folle A, Bronstein J, Ritz B. Cognitive impairment and mortality in a population-based Parkinson's disease cohort. *J Parkinson's Dis.* (2018) 8:353–62. doi: 10.3233/JPD-171257
- Sitzia C, Sterlicchio M, Crapanzano C, Dozio E, Vianello E, Corsi Romanelli M. Intra-erythrocytes magnesium deficiency could reflect cognitive impairment status due to vascular disease: a pilot study. *J Transl Med.* (2020) 18:458. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02645-w
- Jokinen H, Melkas S, Ylikoski R, Pohjasvaara T, Kaste M, Erkinjuntti T, et al. Post-stroke cognitive impairment is common even after successful clinical recovery. *Eur J Neurol.* (2015) 22:1288–94. doi: 10.1111/ene.12743
- Hou X, Xu H, Chen W, Zhang N, Zhao Z, Fang X, et al. Neuroprotective effect of dimethyl fumarate on cognitive impairment induced by ischemic stroke. *Ann Transl Med.* (2020) 8:375. doi: 10.21037/atm.2020.02.10
- Feng L, He W, Huang G, Lin S, Yuan C, Cheng H, et al. Reduced thiamine is a predictor for cognitive impairment of cerebral infarction. *Brain Behav.* (2020) 10:e01709. doi: 10.1002/brb3.1709

- Aam S, Einstad M, Munthe-Kaas R, Lydersen S, Ihle-Hansen H, Knapskog A, et al. Post-stroke cognitive impairment-impact of follow-up time and stroke subtype on severity and cognitive profile: the nor-COAST study. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:699. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00699
- Wang W, Gao C, Yu C, Liu S, Hou D, Wang Y, et al. No association between elevated total homocysteine levels and functional outcome in elderly patients with acute cerebral infarction. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:70. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00070
- Smith A, Refsum H, Bottiglieri T, Fenech M, Hooshmand B, McCaddon A, et al. Homocysteine and dementia: an international consensus statement. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2018) 62:561–70. doi: 10.3233/JAD-171042
- 39. Hankey G, Ford A, Yi Q, Eikelboom J, Lees K, Chen C, et al. Effect of B vitamins and lowering homocysteine on cognitive impairment in patients with previous stroke or transient ischemic attack: a prespecified secondary analysis of a randomized, placebo-controlled trial and meta-analysis. *Stroke.* (2013) 44:2232–9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.001886
- Saposnik G, Ray J, Sheridan P, McQueen M, Lonn E. Homocysteinelowering therapy and stroke risk, severity, and disability: additional findings from the HOPE 2 trial. *Stroke*. (2009) 40:1365–72. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.529503
- Dardik R, Varon D, Tamarin I, Zivelin A, Salomon O, Shenkman B, et al. Homocysteine and oxidized low density lipoprotein enhanced platelet adhesion to endothelial cells under flow conditions: distinct mechanisms of thrombogenic modulation. *Thromb Haemost*. (2000) 83:338–44. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1613809
- Zieminska E, Matyja E, Kozlowska H, Stafiej A, Lazarewicz J. Excitotoxic neuronal injury in acute homocysteine neurotoxicity: role of calcium and mitochondrial alterations. *Neurochem Int.* (2006) 48:491–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2005.12.023
- Övey I, Naziroglu M. Homocysteine and cytosolic GSH depletion induce apoptosis and oxidative toxicity through cytosolic calcium overload in the hippocampus of aged mice: involvement of TRPM2 and TRPV1 channels. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 284:225–33. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.09.078
- 44. Kruman I, Culmsee C, Chan S, Kruman Y, Guo Z, Penix L, et al. Homocysteine elicits a DNA damage response in neurons that promotes apoptosis and hypersensitivity to excitotoxicity. *J Neurosci.* (2000) 20:6920– 6. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-18-06920.2000
- 45. Ho P, Ashline D, Dhitavat S, Ortiz D, Collins S, Shea T, et al. Folate deprivation induces neurodegeneration: roles of oxidative stress and increased homocysteine. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2003) 14:32–42. doi: 10.1016/S0969-9961(03)00070-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zhou, Chen, Cheng, Fan, Xu, Ren, Chen, Geng, Cheng, Luan, Song, Lin, Huang and He. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Carotenoid-Rich Brain Nutrient Pattern Is Positively Correlated With Higher Cognition and Lower Depression in the Oldest Old With No Dementia

Jirayu Tanprasertsuk¹, Tammy M. Scott¹, Aron K. Barbey², Kathryn Barger³, Xiang-Dong Wang³, Mary Ann Johnson⁴, Leonard W. Poon⁵, Rohini Vishwanathan³, Nirupa R. Matthan^{1,3}, Alice H. Lichtenstein^{1,3}, Guylaine Ferland⁶ and Elizabeth J. Johnson^{1*}

¹ Gerald J. and Dorothy R. Friedman School of Nutrition Science and Policy, Tufts University, Boston, MA, United States, ² Department of Psychology, Beckman Institute for Advanced Science and Technology, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL, United States, ³ Jean Mayer USDA Human Nutrition Research Center on Aging at Tufts University, Boston, MA, United States, ⁴ Department of Nutrition and Health Sciences, University of Nebraska Lincoln, Lincoln, NE, United States, ⁵ Institute of Gerontology, College of Public Health, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, United States, ⁶ Département de Nutrition, Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Vauzour, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Justyna Godos, University of Catania, Italy Donato Angelino, University of Teramo, Italy

*Correspondence: Elizabeth J. Johnson elizabeth.johnson@tufts.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 03 May 2021 **Accepted:** 31 May 2021 **Published:** 29 June 2021

Citation:

Tanprasertsuk J, Scott TM, Barbey AK, Barger K, Wang XD, Johnson MA, Poon LW, Vishwanathan R, Matthan NR, Lichtenstein AH, Ferland G and Johnson EJ (2021) Carotenoid-Rich Brain Nutrient Pattern Is Positively Correlated With Higher Cognition and Lower Depression in the Oldest Old With No Dementia. Front. Nutr. 8:704691. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.704691 **Background:** Healthy dietary patterns are related to better cognitive health in aging populations. While levels of individual nutrients in neural tissues are individually associated with cognitive function, the investigation of nutrient patterns in human brain tissue has not been conducted.

Methods: Brain tissues were acquired from frontal and temporal cortices of 47 centenarians from the Georgia Centenarian Study. Fat-soluble nutrients (carotenoids, vitamins A, E, K, and fatty acids [FA]) were measured and averaged from the two brain regions. Nutrient patterns were constructed using principal component analysis. Cognitive composite scores were constructed from cognitive assessment from the time point closest to death. Dementia status was rated by Global Deterioration Scale (GDS). Pearson's correlation coefficients between NP scores and cognitive composite scores were calculated controlling for sex, education, hypertension, diabetes, and APOE ϵ 4 allele.

Result: Among non-demented subjects (GDS = 1–3, n = 23), a nutrient pattern higher in carotenoids was consistently associated with better performance on global cognition (r = 0.38, p = 0.070), memory (r = 0.38, p = 0.073), language (r = 0.42, p = 0.046), and lower depression (r = -0.40, p = 0.090). The findings were confirmed with univariate analysis.

Conclusion: Both multivariate and univariate analyses demonstrate that brain nutrient pattern explained mainly by carotenoid concentrations is correlated with cognitive function among subjects who had no dementia. Investigation of their synergistic roles on the prevention of age-related cognitive impairment remains to be performed.

Keywords: dementia, cognition, carotenoids, vitamin A, vitamin E, vitamin K, fatty acids, centenarian adults

INTRODUCTION

Advancing age is the number one risk factor of age-related cognitive impairment and dementia, representing a major public health epidemic among older Americans (1). A systematic review of cross-sectional studies and longitudinal cohorts has identified a relation between diet quality and cognitive health in the aging population (2). A healthy diet covers a variety of dietary patterns such as Mediterranean diet (MeDi) (3, 4), Healthy Dietary Index (HDI) diet (5), Healthy Eating Index (HEI) diet (6), Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet (7), and Mediterranean-DASH Intervention for Neurodegenerative Delay (MIND) diet (8). In some studies, dietary patterns are derived a posteriori with cluster analysis, factor analysis (e.g., principal component analysis [PCA]), or reduced rank regression (9-13). Though healthy dietary patterns have been diversely defined, they share common components of high intake of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, nuts, seeds, fish, and limited intake of added sugar, sodium, high-fat dairy products, red, and processed meat (2).

Traditionally, habitual dietary intake has been estimated using subjective recall data derived from food frequency questionnaires (FFQ). This approach, despite its direct translation for establishing dietary recommendations, does not account for recall bias, particularly among subjects with varied cognitive performance, and inter-individual variability in the nutrient absorption and metabolism (14). There has been an attempt to overcome these issues by constructing serum nutrient patterns (NP) as a marker of intake among subjects in the Oregon Brain Aging Study (15), and the Illinois Brain Aging Study (16-18). However, given that cognitive processes originate from the human brain, particularly in neocortices, and that nutrient uptake into the central nervous system (CNS) is strictly regulated at the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (19), we need to expand the scope of investigation further into the CNS for a greater apprehension of nutrition's roles in the aging brain.

While the evidence for relations between diet quality and cognitive function has been largely consistent among observational studies, the evidence from clinical trials of dietary supplements has been mixed (20). When investigating the relationship between nutrition and age-related diseases, the importance of examining nutrition as dietary patterns or NPs have been highlighted (21, 22), as most individuals acquire nutrients predominantly from foods, rather than supplements, throughout their lifespan. From a biochemical and molecular perspective, the etiology of age-related dementia, despite its heterogeneity, shares multiple mechanisms including cardiometabolic risk factors, elevated oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and impaired AMP-activated kinase signaling (23). All of these factors can potentially be regulated by multiple dietary components. The pathology of age-related cognitive impairment is also different from cognitive symptoms caused by a deficiency of a single nutrient that may manifest during a shorter period of time and may be reversible-such as dementia caused by vitamin B12 or niacin deficiency, and Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome caused by a genetic predisposition "to thiamin" deficiency (24, 25).

Therefore, the present research study was proposed based on the rationale that many fat-soluble nutrients (carotenoids, vitamins A, E, K, and fatty acids [FA]) are present in human brain (26-31), and that they are a part of dietary patterns and serum NPs previously reported to be associated with better cognitive function in multiple aging cohorts (2, 15, 26, 28, 32, 33). This was accomplished by constructing a posteriori NPs of fat-soluble nutrients measured in brain tissues acquired postmortem from a subset of centenarians (defined as >98 years) who were enrolled in the Georgia Centenarian Study (GCS)-the longest running centenarian study in the U.S. to date (34, 35). Subsequently, the relationship between constructed NPs and cognitive performance at the time point closest to death was cross-sectionally investigated. Findings from this novel study may also provide insights into the role of nutrition in cognition in the oldest old, which may be similar or different from lesser aged older adults.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subject Recruitment and Brain Collection

The design of GCS, objectives, protocols of subject recruitment, and brain collection have been previously described in detail (34, 35). Briefly, the GCS was a population-based study conducted in 44 counties in northern Georgia. The GCS was primarily designed to identify biological, psychological, and social factors contributing to survivorship and successful aging. Brain tissues from frontal (FC) and temporal cortices (TC) were collected from 47 subjects who were a subset of centenarians enrolled in the phase III of the GCS (2001-2007) and gave consent to donate brain tissue upon death. After tissue collection, all samples were coded and stored at -80° C until the measures of nutrient concentration. All protocols were performed with an approval from the University of Georgia Institutional Review Board. Separate approval for using de-identified data for the present analyses was obtained from the Tufts University/Tufts Medical Center Institutional Review Board.

Nutrient Concentration Measures in Brain Tissues

Protocols for brain lipid extraction, separation, quantification, and concentrations have been previously and separately described for carotenoids, vitamin A (retinol), vitamin E (α and y-tocopherol [TP]), vitamin K (phylloquinone [PK] and menaquinone-4 [MK-4]), and individual FAs (27, 28, 36-39). In short, separation and quantification of five major dietary carotenoids (lutein, zeaxanthin, cryptoxanthin, β-carotene, and lycopene), retinol, and TPs were performed using highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled with a photodiode array detector. The limit of detection (LOD) was 0.2 pmol for carotenoids, 2.0 pmol for retinol, 2.7 pmol for TPs per injection. Only levels of the all-trans isomer of each carotenoid, which is the most predominant isomer in human brain tissues, are reported (26, 40). Separation and detection of PK and MK-4 were performed using HPLC coupled with a fluorescence detector. The LOD was 0.03 pmol for both vitamin K vitamers. Separation and detection of individual FAs were
performed using a gas chromatography coupled with a flame ionization detector, and expressed as molar percentage (mol%). Total saturated FAs (SFAs) represent the sum of 10:0, 12:0, 14:0, 15:0, 16:0, 18:0, 20:0, 22:0, and 24:0. Total monounsaturated FAs (MUFAs) represent the sum of 16:1 (n-9), 16:1 (n-7), 18:1 (n-9), 18:1 (n-7), 20:1 (n-9), 22:1 (n-9), and 24:1 (n-9). Total omega-3 polyunsaturated FAs (n-3 PUFAs) represent the sum of 18:3, 18:4, 20:3, 20:5, 22:5, and 22:6. Total omega-6 polyunsaturated FAs (n-6 PUFAs) represent the sum of 18:2, 18:3, 20:2, 20:3, 20:4, 22:2, 22:4, and 22:5. Total *trans*-FAs represent the sum of 16:1 (n-9), 16:1 (n-7), trans-6-octadecenoic acid (18:1, n-10 to 12), 18:1 (n-9), 18:1 (n-7), *trans-9, trans*-12- octadecenoic acid (18:2, TT/TCTX), and conjugated linoleic acid (18:2, CLA).

Cognitive Assessment and Cognitive Domain Composite Scores

After enrollment in the GCS, cognitive assessment was performed every 6 months at the subject's residence as reported earlier (34). Cognitive data were obtained from the visit closest to death (<1 year for all subjects). Dementia status was assessed by geriatric psychiatrists using Global Deterioration Scale (GDS) and subjects were grouped based on GDS score. A score of 1-2 on GDS was clinically defined as no dementia; a score of 3 represented mild cognitive impairment; and a score of 4-7 represented increasing severity of dementia from mild to severe (41). Cognitive tests included Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE, 24-30 = normal cognition; 19-23 = mild; $10-18 = \text{moderate}; \text{ or } \le 9 = \text{severe cognitive impairment})$ (42), Severe Impairment Battery (SIB, < 63 = very severely impaired cognition) (43), Fuld Object Memory Evaluation (FOME) (44), Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT) (45), Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third Edition (WAIS-III) Similarities (46), Behavioral Dyscontrol Scale (BDS) (47), and the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD) battery which included Verbal Fluency (VF), Boston Naming Test (BNT), Constructional Praxis (CP), and Word List Memory Test (WLMT) (48, 49). Depression was assessed using Geriatric Depression Scale Short Form (GDSSF) (50), and activities of daily living were assessed using Direct Assessment of Function Status (DAFS) (51). All subtests have been validated and are considered reliable measures of cognition in normal aging and in AD (52).

To calculate cognitive domain composite scores, scores from each cognitive test were normalized using z-scoring as previously reported (53). Composite scores of five cognitive domains (memory, executive function, language, visuospatial function, attention), depression, and activities of daily living were then calculated by averaging the z-scores of tests based on the method adapted from Bowman et al. (15). The calculation method has also previously been reported and shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. Global cognition composite scores were also derived by combining total cognitive testing z-scores, MMSE, and SIB. Missing test scores were excluded and the denominator changed accordingly for the calculation of composite scores.

Statistical Analysis

Values are presented as mean (SD). All statistical tests were performed in R 3.5.1 with a significance level set at $\alpha = 0.05$. Findings with p < 0.1 but > 0.05 were reported as borderline significant. Comparisons of subject characteristics between non-demented (GDS 1–3, n = 23) and demented subjects (GDS 4–7, n = 24) were performed using Student's two-sample *t*-test and Fisher's exact test for continuous and categorical variables, respectively.

NPs were derived from concentrations of carotenoids, vitamins A, E, K, SFAs, MUFAs, n-3 PUFAs, n-6 PUFAs, and *trans*-FAs averaged from FC and TC (vitamin K only from FC due to limited brain sample availability) using PCA with a function pca in the R package "pcaMethods" (54). Concentrations of all nutrients were log transformed prior to PCA. Nutrient concentration matrix was unit-variance scaled and centered. We chose non-linear iterative partial least squares algorithm to calculate principal components, or NPs in our case, which is an iterative approach for estimating independent principal components by extracting them one at a time (55). This variation of PCA can handle small amount of missing values, which in our case were PK and MK-4 concentrations from two individuals due to insufficient brain tissues for vitamin K analysis. Only NPs with eigenvalue >1 were reported.

To investigate the relationship between brain nutrient concentrations or NPs and cognitive domain composite scores, Pearson's correlation test was performed with an adjustment for covariates sex, education, hypertension, diabetes, and presence of *APOE* $\varepsilon 4$ allele. Additional adjustment for antithrombotic use was performed for vitamin K, and antidepressant use for depression score. Sub-analyses in non-demented (GDS 1–3) were also performed. Heat maps aided the visualization of correlations.

RESULTS

Subject Characteristics

Characteristics of all 47 subjects are reported in Table 1. By design, all subjects were \geq 98 years old with an average age at death of 102.2 (2.5) years old. Eighty-nine percent were Caucasian and 89% were female. Subjects who did not finish high school accounted for 51%. Seventy percent were institutionalized at the visit closest to death. Body mass index (BMI) was 22.1 (3.9) kg/m² on average, excluding one double amputee whose BMI could not be calculated. Approximately half of the subjects had hypertension (53%) while only 3 subjects had diabetes (6%). In terms of medication and supplement uses, while no subjects took cholesterol-lowering medication, the majority of subjects used at least one form of dietary supplements (72%). Twelve subjects, ten of whom had dementia, could not provide data on history of smoking and alcohol use through recall. Among those with available data, 86% never smoked and 60% never used alcohol. Only one subject was an active smoker at death.

Subject characteristics between non-demented (n = 23) and demented (n = 24) subjects, as assessed by the GDS, were not statistically different, except that BMI in non-demented subjects was marginally higher than that in demented subjects [23.1 (3.5) vs. 21.0 (3.5) kg/m², p = 0.067] (**Table 1**). Although higher

TABLE 1 | Subject characteristics.

Characteristic	All subjects ($n = 47$)	GDS 1-3 (<i>n</i> = 23)	GDS 4–7 (<i>n</i> = 24)	P-value ^a	
Age in years, mean (SD)	102.2 (2.5)	102.2 (2.3)	102.2 (2.8)	0.946	
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	42 (89%)	19 (83%)	23 (96%)	0.188	
Race, n (%)				0.348	
Caucasian	42 (89%)	22 (96%)	20 (83%)		
Black	5 (11%)	1 (4%)	4 (17%)		
BMI in kg/m ² , mean (SD) ^b	22.1 (3.9)	23.1 (3.5)	21.0 (4.0)	0.067	
Hypertension, n (%)	25 (53%)	12 (52%)	13 (54%)	1	
Diabetes, n (%)	3 (6%)	2 (9%)	1 (4%)	0.609	
Education, n (%)				0.204	
< High school	23 (51%)	9 (39%)	14 (64%)		
High school	12 (27%)	7 (30%)	5 (23%)		
> High school	10 (22%)	7 (30%)	3 (14%)		
No data	2	0	2		
Living, <i>n</i> (%)				0.212	
Community dwelling	14 (30%)	9 (39%)	5 (21%)		
Institutionalized	33 (70%)	14 (61%)	19 (79%)		
Dietary supplement use, n (%)	34 (72%)	14 (61%)	20 (83%)	0.111	
Medications, n (%)					
Antidepressants	14 (30%)	4 (17%)	10 (42%)	0.111	
Antipsychotics	5 (12%)	1 (4%)	4 (17%)	0.348	
Anti-inflammatory medications	5 (12%)	4 (17%)	1 (4%)	0.188	
Antithrombotics	10 (21%)	5 (22%)	5 (21%)	1	
Antibiotics	7 (15%)	2 (9%)	5 (21%)	0.416	
Smoking, n (%)				0.570	
Never	30 (86%)	18 (86%)	12 (86%)		
Past	4 (11%)	3 (14%)	1 (7%)		
Present	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	1 (7%)		
No data	12	2	10		
Alcohol use, n (%)				0.041	
Never	21 (60%)	9 (43%)	12 (86%)		
Past	6 (17%)	5 (24%)	1 (7%)		
Present	8 (23%)	7 (33%)	1 (7%)		
No data	12	2	10		
<i>APOE</i> , n (%) ^c					
ε2 allele carrier	8 (17%)	3 (13%)	5 (21%)	0.701	
ε4 allele carrier	8 (17%)	3 (13%)	5 (21%)	0.701	

^a Comparisons between subjects whose Global Deterioration Scale (GDS) = 1–3 (non-demented) and GDS = 4–7 (demented) using Student's t-test for continuous variables and Fisher's exact test for categorical variables.

^bBody mass index (BMI) cannot be calculated for a double amputee whose GDS = 5.

^cAll subjects who carried an ε 2 or ε 4 allele were ε 2/ ε 3 or ε 3/ ε 4 except one subject with GDS = 4 who was an ε 2/ ε 4.

proportion of subjects without dementia reported a history of alcohol use (p = 0.041), the data were only available for only 58% of demented participants.

Nutrient Concentrations in FC and TC, and Establishing NPs

Concentrations of nutrients averaged from the FC and TC are reported in **Table 2** (vitamin K only from FC). These data have also been previously reported separately for FC and TC (27, 31, 40). Lutein was the most predominant carotenoid in all FC and TC tissues with a concentration of 79.50 (52.57) pmol/g.

On the contrary, lycopene, at an average concentration of 20.41 (21.38) pmol/g, was not detected in both FC and TC in 20 subjects (43% of all subjects). Retinol, which included both free retinol, retinal, and retinyl esters before hydrolyzation during lipid extraction, had a concentration of 691.97 (305.56) pmol/g. Concentrations of α -TP and γ -TP were 66,917 (13,676) and 1,742 (1,018) pmol/g, respectively. While MK-4 was detectable in all brain tissues at 4.96 (2.32) pmol/g, PK was not detected in 17 subjects (38%). The predominant class of FA in the brain samples was SFA, which accounted for 15.36 (2.30) nmol/mg or 47.93 (1.68) mol%. Concentrations of individual FAs are shown in

TABLE 2 | Mean (SD) of nutrient concentrations averaged from the frontal and temporal cortices (vitamin K only in the frontal cortex).

Nutrient	All subjects ($n = 47$)	GDS 1–3 (<i>n</i> = 23)	GDS 4-7 (<i>n</i> = 24)	<i>P</i> -value ^a	
Carotenoids (pmol/g)					
Lutein	79.50 (52.57)	76.34 (43.72)	82.52 (60.65)	0.828	
Zeaxanthin	26.97 (12.73)	28.36 (14.06)	25.63 (11.44)	0.404	
Cryptoxanthin ($\alpha + \beta$)	62.06 (67.97)	57.15 (47.61)	66.76 (83.81)	0.787	
β-Carotene	55.86 (35.56)	46.22 (24.20)	65.09 (42.27)	0.130	
Lycopene	20.41 (21.38)	21.63 (21.57)	19.25 (21.59)	0.901	
Retinol (pmol/g)	691.97 (305.56)	674.11 (286.94)	709.10 (327.65)	0.688	
Vitamin E (pmol/g)					
α-Tocopherol	66,917 (13,676)	68,303 (13,732)	65,588 (13,782)	0.526	
γ-Tocopherol	1,742 (1,018)	1,891 (1,049)	1,600 (989)	0.208	
Vitamin K (pmol/g) ^b					
Phylloquinone	0.40 (0.39)	0.35 (0.42)	0.45 (0.36)	0.276	
Menaquinone-4	4.96 (2.32)	5.05 (2.82)	4.88 (1.82)	0.772	
Fatty acid (nmol/mg)					
Total SFA	15.36 (2.30)	15.04 (2.40)	15.66 (2.21)	0.333	
Total MUFA	7.00 (2.41)	6.83 (1.93)	7.17 (2.83)	0.723	
Total n-3 PUFA	4.20 (0.67)	4.11 (0.73)	4.29 (0.60)	0.321	
Total n-6 PUFA	5.53 (1.26)	5.41 (1.04)	5.63 (1.45)	0.569	
Total trans-FA	0.25 (0.09)	0.22 (0.06)	0.28 (0.10)	0.020	

^a Comparisons between Global Deterioration Scale (GDS) 1–3 and GDS 4–7 using Student's t-test. Log (x+1) transformation was applied prior to comparisons. ^b Brain tissue from two subjects was not available for vitamin K measures.

SFA, saturated fatty acid; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; trans-FA, trans-fatty acid.

Supplementary Table 2. Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6 n-3) and arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4 n-6) were the most predominant n-3 PUFA (11.90 (1.60) mol% or 90.22% of total n-3 PUFAs) and n-6 PUFA (8.54 (0.57) mol% or 66.36% of total n-6 PUFAs), respectively, in all brain tissues. Concentrations of each nutrient were not significantly different among demented and demented subjects. However, total *trans*-FA concentration was significantly higher among demented subjects (p = 0.020).

As shown in **Figure 1**, significant correlations were identified among concentrations of carotenoids, and among FAs (blue represents positive and red represents negative correlations). For others that also reached statistical significance, lycopene was also positively correlated with γ -TP (r = 0.32, p = 0.027) and negatively correlated with vitamin A (r = -0.49, p < 0.001), while α -TP was positively correlated with PK (r = 0.46, p =0.002) and negatively associated with total *trans*-FAs (r = -0.32, p = 0.030). MK-4, but not PK, was also associated with FA concentrations including total SFA (r = 0.45, p = 0.002), n-3 PUFA (r = 0.52, p < 0.001), and n-6 PUFA (r = 0.34, p =0.023). These correlations among nutrient concentrations further warranted the investigation of nutrients as NPs.

Next, PCA was used to derive NPs from brain nutrient concentrations. The first five NPs that explain the highest variance (each of which had an eigenvalue >1.0) among the 47 subjects are described in **Table 3**. No obvious outlier was detected in a PCA plot (data not shown). NP1 which has the highest variance accounted for 26.20% of the total variance. NP1 is described as higher concentrations of SFAs, MUFAs, and n-3 and n-6 PUFAs (all loading coefficients >0.40). NP2 is described

by high concentrations of carotenoids (all loading coefficients ≥ 0.30), and NP3 is described by high concentrations of retinol, α -TP, and PK (all loading coefficients ≥ 0.40). The correlations of these nutrients in each NP are as depicted in **Figure 1**. The first five NPs accounted for 75.92% of the total variance of the original nutrient dataset.

Composite Scores on Cognitive Domains, Depression, and Activities of Daily Living

The time interval between the cognitive assessment at the time point closest to death and the autopsy was <1 year for all subjects with an average of 156 (93) days for those whose data could be accurately calculated (81%). Subjects with GDS 1-3 had significantly higher MMSE scores than those with GDS 4-7 (p < 0.001). Similarly, SIB score was higher in subjects with GDS 1–3 (p < 0.001). Therefore, GDS effectively separated subjects based on their performance on global cognition as also previously reported in the original GCS cohort (n = 244) (56). Further, the composite scores for cognitive domains, depression, and activities of daily living had been calculated (Supplementary Table 3). Subjects with GDS 1-3 had significantly higher composite scores on all six cognitive domains and activities of daily living, and significantly lower scores on depression (less depression). Of note, while composite scores for other cognitive domains were available for all subjects, visuospatial function score was available for 87% of participants without dementia and 50% of participants with dementia, and attention score was available for 70% of participants without demented and 46% of participants with dementia.



TABLE 3 | Construction of nutrient patterns (NPs), NP structure and variance explained (n = 47).

Nutrient	NP1	NP2	NP3	NP4	NP5
Carotenoids					
Lutein	0.02	0.45	-0.14	0.23	0.12
Zeaxanthin	0.09	0.44	-0.13	0.14	0.27
Cryptoxanthin	0.16	0.30	0.14	0.11	0.06
β-Carotene	0.01	0.37	0.08	0.43	0.11
Lycopene	0.02	0.32	-0.41	-0.31	0.03
Retinol (Vitamin A)	0.06	-0.09	0.61	0.18	0.40
Vitamin E					
α-TP	0.11	0.23	0.40	-0.42	-0.04
γ-ΤΡ	0.19	0.05	-0.16	-0.54	0.52
Vitamin K					
PK	0.07	0.23	0.41	-0.28	-0.11
MK-4	0.26	0.19	0.12	-0.04	-0.50
Fatty acids					
Total SFAs	0.50	-0.05	-0.05	0.07	-0.03
Total MUFAs	0.41	-0.13	0.02	0.04	0.08
Total n-3 PUFAs	0.41	0.03	-0.13	0.12	-0.23
Total n-6 PUFAs	0.46	-0.15	-0.06	0.01	-0.05
Total trans–FAs	0.22	-0.27	-0.08	0.15	0.37
Eigenvalue	3.89	3.39	1.68	1.27	1.06
% Variance	26.2	22.76	11.28	8.53	7.15
Cumulative % variance	26.2	48.96	60.24	68.77	75.92

SFA, saturated fatty acid; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acid; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; trans-FA, trans-fatty acid; TP, tocopherol; PK, phylloquinone; MK-4, menaquinone-4.

Relationship Between Brain Nutrient Concentrations and Cognition

Scores of the first five NPs were not statistically different between demented and non-demented subjects (data not shown).

However, among non-demented subjects, subjects who had mild cognitive impairment (GDS 3, n = 11) had significantly lower NP2 score than that of cognitively intact subjects (GDS 1–2, n = 12, p = 0.002), but not for other NPs. The difference remained statistically significant after an adjustment for sex, education, hypertension, diabetes, and presence of *APOE* ε 4 allele (p = 0.004).

A heat map was constructed to provide Pearson's partial correlation coefficients between NP scores or nutrient concentrations and scores on cognitive domains, depression, and activities of daily living in all subjects (Figure 2A, *p*-values provided in **Supplementary Table 4A**). Pearson's partial correlations were adjusted for sex, education, diabetes, hypertension, and presence of *APOE* ε 4 allele. No consistent relationship between NPs and cognitive domain scores that reached statistical significance was observed.

A subset analysis among non-demented subjects (GDS 1-3) was performed and Pearson's coefficients are illustrated in a heat map (Figure 2B, *p*-values provided in Supplementary Table 4B). In the models adjusted for covariates among the five NPs representing the highest variances, NP2 was consistently associated with higher scores on global cognition (r = 0.38, p = 0.070, memory (r = 0.38, p = 0.073), language (r =0.42, p = 0.046), and lower depression score (r = -0.40, p =0.090) (Figure 3). After additional adjustment for antidepressant use, the correlation with lower depression score remained borderline significant (r = -0.35, p = 0.100). Since NP2 is mainly described by carotenoids, significant correlations were also consistently observed between lutein, zeaxanthin, βcarotene and scores on global cognition, memory, language, and depression. Other notable associations included NP3 and NP5 and higher depression. Additional adjustment for antithrombotic use was performed for PK and MK-4 and their correlations with different cognitive domain composite scores remained statistically non-significant (p > 0.05) for all six cognitive



domains and activities of daily living, while the correlation between MK-4, but not PK, and depression remained statistically significant (**Supplementary Table 4B**).

DISCUSSION

This study documents that brain NP high in carotenoids was consistently associated with better performance on multiple cognitive domains, activities of daily living, and lower depression among non-demented older adults in the GCS. Results also confirm previously established positive relationships between serum and brain concentrations of carotenoids in this group of subjects independent of their cognitive status (27). Given that serum concentrations of carotenoids likely reflect their habitual intake in the oldest old as previously discussed (27), our findings in the present study underscore the timing of intervention with diet high in carotenoid content before the onset of age-related dementia. This is further supported by the fact that nutrient concentrations and NP scores were not different between demented and non-demented subjects. Our exploratory findings also corroborate previous findings where serum levels of carotenoids are positively associated with better cognition in aging subjects (26, 32, 57-60). Specifically, higher serum lutein concentration was reported to be associated with better performance on language (32), which is similar to the correlation between NP2 and language score in this study.

The present analysis investigated concentrations of nutrients in the brain, the organ most relevant to cognition, as compared to previous studies that have established dietary or serum NPs with similar exploratory approaches (10, 11, 13, 15). Although the relationship between better adherence to a priori hypothesized intake patterns (such as MeDi, HDI, HEI, DASH, MIND) and lower risk of cognitive decline have been established (2), a priori hypothesized NPs are difficult with brain concentrations since little is known regarding nutrient uptake across the BBB and nutrient metabolism in neural tissue. For instance, SFAs and MUFAs can be de novo synthesized in the liver and CNS and may not reflect intake levels (61), and among n-3 PUFAs, DHA preferentially accumulates in neural tissue (62, 63). While substitution of SFA and trans-FA intakes with MUFAs and PUFAs decreases risk of age-related cognitive impairment in many prospective cohorts (64), our findings with brain content cannot be directly compared with intake levels of SFAs and MUFAs. It has also been reported that higher SFA content in membranes is usually associated with higher PUFA content to maintain membrane stability (65, 66), which likely explains the high correlation between SFA and unsaturated FA observed in the GCS brain tissues. Similarly, retinol is thought to be either taken up into the brain by STRA6, a retinol-binding proteinreceptor detected at the BBB or derived directly from the cleavage of provitamin A carotenoids (β -carotene and β -cryptoxanthin) by the enzyme BCO1 detected in human brain (67, 68). It



FIGURE 3 | The relationship between nutrient pattern 2 (NP2) score and composite scores of (A) global cognition, (B) memory, (C) language, and (D) depression among non-demented subjects (Global Deterioration Scale = 1-3, n = 23). Pearson's correlation coefficients are adjusted for sex, education, diabetes, hypertension, and APOE ε 4 allele.

remains unknown how much each source contributes to vitamin A content in the brain. Moreover, a previous report on vitamin K metabolism in rat cerebellum also suggests that neural MK-4 content is regulated by the enzyme UBIAD1 (69). Overall, findings of nutrient levels in neural tissue need to be cautiously interpreted for dietary recommendations, especially for nutrients that can be derived from other substrates and nutrients whose levels are tightly regulated in the brain. Data on dietary intake in the GCS have been previously reported (70). However, the dietary assessment was subjective and might have overestimated or underestimated food intake, particularly in this population with varying degrees of cognitive performance. As a result, dietary intake data were not incorporated into the present analysis.

Age-related cognitive impairment, notwithstanding mixed clinical pathologies, shares molecular signatures of increased oxidative stress and neuroinflammation (71, 72). Both carotenoids and n-3 PUFAs, especially lutein and DHA both of which are selectively accumulated in the brain, have been proposed to interfere with the progression of cognitive impairment in aging, presumably owing to their antioxidative and anti-inflammatory properties (73, 74). Consistent with

previous studies investigating neural concentrations of individual nutrients, a significant relationship was observed with lower carotenoids (mainly lutein and zeaxanthin) among cognitively impaired or demented subjects (26, 75-78). However, as previously discussed by Zamroziewicz and Barbey (22), univariate analytical approach with individual nutrients may be confounded by the effect of NPs and does not address the potentially interactive effects of multiple nutrients on cognitive health. An exploratory trial demonstrates that a combination of lutein and DHA supplements statistically improved performance on memory and learning in cognitively unimpaired elder women after 4 months whereas lutein or DHA supplement alone did not (79). Moreover, most individuals predominantly acquire nutrients from dietary sources that consist of a complex combination of nutrients. While a 6-month intervention with a lutein and zeaxanthin supplement failed to improve cognitive outcomes in subjects with or without Alzheimer's disease (80), a daily intervention with an avocado (a highly bioavailable source of 0.5 mg lutein and zeaxanthin, along with being a good source of potassium, B vitamins, vitamins C, E, K, MUFAs, and other non-essential phytochemicals) for 6 months has shown to improve cognitive performance on the Spatial Working Memory and the Stockings of Cambridge in non-demented subjects with low baseline intake of lutein-rich foods (81, 82). In the present analysis, a multivariate analysis approach (PCA) has been adopted to address correlations among nutrients and inspect the nutrition variable as NPs which reflect how multiple nutrients may synergistically function in the context of cognitive functioning and age-related cognitive impairment. This is an important step in the field of nutritional cognitive neuroscience toward the application of emerging technologies (such as metabolomics and brain magnetic resonance imaging) to systematically identify underlying mechanisms that mediate the effect that a combination of nutrients have on clinical outcomes (22, 32).

We acknowledge that this exploratory study is limited by a relatively small sample size (which is reflected by borderline significant *p*-values in Supplementary Table 4B) of mostly Caucasian women, and the inability to control for other covariates that may affect cognitive function such as alcohol and smoking history, physical activity, social interactions, and genetics (83). However, nutrient profiles and concentrations in this current analysis are similar to those of other cohorts of older adults (29-31, 84-88). NP1, described mostly by high fat content, was not associated with cognition in this population. Previous studies have reported benefits of diets high in n-3 PUFAs, especially DHA, on cognitive health (33, 89). While it is more appropriate to use absolute concentrations of FAs in the PCA, relative concentrations of FAs (i.e., FA composition) may be more relevant to the biological function of the brain. Additionally, it is unclear if the FA compositions in the brain of this cohort of the oldest old were in the normal range, since altered fatty acid compositions among cognitively impaired or demented subjects were reported (29-31), but no difference were observed between those with and without dementia in this study.

Other nutrients and dietary compounds such as B vitamins, vitamin D, minerals, and polyphenols that may be beneficial to cognitive health were also not examined in this study (90), but propose the opportunity to expand the scope of investigation. Nutrients that are not present in the brain but sharing common dietary sources with carotenoids and n-3 PUFAs, such as fibers in fruits, vegetables, nuts and seeds, may provide additional benefits to the central nervous system by functioning systemically through the regulation of reverse cholesterol transport, gut microbiota, and gut-brain axis signaling (91, 92). Finally, a cross-sectional study does not address a causal and longitudinal relationship between nutrition and cognition. A reverse causation where cognitive impairment leads to changes in nutrient uptake and metabolism-for example through BBB breakdown-is possible (23). However, dietary intervention in human trials and animal studies have indicated a significant impact that nutrition has on cognitive health in aging (93-95).

In summary, this report is the first to adopt a multivariate analysis approach to address the co-existence of nutrients and dietary compounds in the brain when investigating the relationship between nutrition and cognitive function in an aging population. Our findings support beneficial effects of a NP higher in carotenoids potentially derived from a diet rich in fruits and vegetables similar to the MeDi and DASH diets, on lowering the risk of age-related cognitive impairment and dementia previously reported (2, 93, 94). As compared to symptoms of nutritional deficiency which could be caused by an inadequate intake of one single nutrient and manifest within a short period of time, we are aware of the need to assess diet as a dietary pattern or NP in a context of complex outcomes such as age-related cognitive impairment (20–22). The synergistic and cumulative effect of nutrients on a person's risk of chronic diseases have recently been highlighted in the Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2015–2020 and 2020–2025 (96, 97).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The data set is not publicly available but it is available on request from the corresponding author, Elizabeth J. Johnson. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to elizabeth.johnson@tufts.edu.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the University of Georgia Institutional Review Board. Separate approval for using de-identified data for the present analyses was obtained from the Tufts University/Tufts Medical Center Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT, TMS, MAJ, LWP, and EJJ designed the study. MAJ and LWP contributed to the original design of the GCS and collection of biological samples. RV analyzed carotenoid, vitamin A, and vitamin E concentrations in all samples. NRM and AHL analyzed fatty acid concentration in all samples. GF analyzed vitamin K concentrations in all samples. JT performed statistical analysis, wrote the paper, and had primary responsibility for final content. All authors interpreted the data, contributed to the article, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Abbott Nutrition, DSM Nutritional Products, NIA 1P01-AG17553, USDA 8050-51000-095-01S, and USDA agreement 588-1950-9-001.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 704691/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- van der Flier WM, Scheltens P. Epidemiology and risk factors of dementia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2005) 76(Suppl. 5):v2-7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2005.082867
- van de Rest O, Berendsen AA, Haveman-Nies A, de Groot LC. Dietary patterns, cognitive decline, and dementia: a systematic review. *Adv Nutr.* (2015) 6:154–68. doi: 10.3945/an.114.007617
- Trichopoulou A, Kouris-Blazos A, Wahlqvist ML, Gnardellis C, Lagiou P, Polychronopoulos E, et al. Diet and overall survival in elderly people. *BMJ*. (1995) 311:1457–60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.7018.1457
- Zamroziewicz MK, Barbey AK. The mediterranean diet and healthy brain aging: innovations from nutritional cognitive neuroscience. In: Farooqui T, Farooqui AA, editors. *Role of the Mediterranean Diet in the Brain and Neurodegenerative Diseases*. London: Academic Press (2018). p. 17–33. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-811959-4.00002-X
- Huijbregts P, Feskens E, Räsänen L, Fidanza F, Nissinen A, Menotti A, et al. Dietary pattern and 20 year mortality in elderly men in Finland, Italy, and The Netherlands: longitudinal cohort study. *BMJ.* (1997) 315:13– 7. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7099.13
- Kennedy ET, Ohls J, Carlson S, Fleming K. The Healthy Eating Index: design and applications. J Am Diet Assoc. (1995) 95:1103–8. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00300-2
- Svetkey LP, Sacks FM, Obarzanek E, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Lin PH, et al. The DASH Diet, Sodium Intake and Blood Pressure Trial (DASH-sodium): rationale and design. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. J Am Diet Assoc. (1999) 99:S96–104. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(99)00423-X
- Morris MC, Tangney CC, Wang Y, Sacks FM, Bennett DA, Aggarwal NT. MIND diet associated with reduced incidence of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. (2015) 11:1007–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.11.009
- Samieri C, Jutand M-A, Féart C, Capuron L, Letenneur L, Barberger-Gateau P. Dietary patterns derived by hybrid clustering method in older people: association with cognition, mood, and self-rated health. J Am Diet Assoc. (2008) 108:1461–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.06.437
- Kesse-Guyot E, Andreeva VA, Jeandel C, Ferry M, Hercberg S, Galan P. A healthy dietary pattern at midlife is associated with subsequent cognitive performance. J Nutr. (2012) 142:909–15. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.156257
- Berti V, Murray J, Davies M, Spector N, Tsui WH, Li Y, et al. Nutrient patterns and brain biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease in cognitively normal individuals. *J Nutr Health Aging*. (2015) 19:413–23. doi: 10.1007/s12603-014-0534-0
- Chan R, Chan D, Woo J. A cross sectional study to examine the association between dietary patterns and cognitive impairment in older Chinese people in Hong Kong. J Nutr Health Aging. (2013) 17:757– 65. doi: 10.1007/s12603-013-0348-5
- Gu Y, Nieves JW, Stern Y, Luchsinger JA, Scarmeas N. Food combination and Alzheimer disease risk: a protective diet. *Arch Neurol.* (2010) 67:699– 706. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.84
- Bowman GL, Shannon J, Ho E, Traber MG, Frei B, Oken BS, et al. Reliability and validity of food frequency questionnaire and nutrient biomarkers in elders with and without mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. (2011) 25:49–57. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3181f333d6
- Bowman GL, Silbert LC, Howieson D, Dodge HH, Traber MG, Frei B, et al. Nutrient biomarker patterns, cognitive function, and MRI measures of brain aging. *Neurology*. (2012) 78:241–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182436598
- Zwilling CE, Talukdar T, Zamroziewicz MK, Barbey AK. Nutrient biomarker patterns, cognitive function, and fMRI measures of network efficiency in the aging brain. *Neuroimage*. (2019) 188:239–51. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.12.007
- Zamroziewicz MK, Talukdar MT, Zwilling CE, Barbey AK. Nutritional status, brain network organization, and general intelligence. *Neuroimage*. (2017) 161:241–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.08.043
- Talukdar T, Zamroziewicz MK, Zwilling CE, Barbey AK. Nutrient biomarkers shape individual differences in functional brain connectivity: Evidence from omega-3 PUFAs. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2019) 40:1887– 97. doi: 10.1002/hbm.24498
- Campos-Bedolla P, Walter FR, Veszelka S, Deli MA. Role of the blood-brain barrier in the nutrition of the central nervous system. *Arch Med Res.* (2014) 45:610–38. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.11.018

- Coley N, Vaurs C, Andrieu S. Nutrition and cognition in aging adults. *Clin Geriatr Med.* (2015) 31:453–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2015.04.008
- Jacques PF, Tucker KL. Are dietary patterns useful for understanding the role of diet in chronic disease? Am J Clin Nutr. (2001) 73:1– 2. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/73.1.1
- Zamroziewicz MK, Barbey AK. Nutritional cognitive neuroscience: innovations for healthy brain aging. *Front Neurosci.* (2016) 10:240. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00240
- Vauzour D, Camprubi-Robles M, Miquel-Kergoat S, Andres-Lacueva C, Bánáti D, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Nutrition for the ageing brain: towards evidence for an optimal diet. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2017) 35:222– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2016.09.010
- Osimani A, Berger A, Friedman J, Porat-Katz B-S, Abarbanel JM. Neuropsychology of vitamin B12 deficiency in elderly dementia patients and control subjects. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. (2005) 18:33–8. doi: 10.1177/0891988704272308
- Morris MC, Schneider JA, Tangney CC. Thoughts on B-vitamins and dementia. J Alzheimers Dis. (2006) 9:429–33. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2006-9409
- 26. Johnson EJ, Vishwanathan R, Johnson MA, Hausman DB, Davey A, Scott TM, et al. Relationship between serum and brain carotenoids, α -Tocopherol, and retinol concentrations and cognitive performance in the oldest old from the georgia centenarian study. *J Aging Res.* (2013) 2013:951786. doi: 10.1155/2013/951786
- 27. Tanprasertsuk J, Mohn ES, Matthan NR, Lichtenstein AH, Barger K, Vishwanathan R, et al. Serum carotenoids, tocopherols, Total n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, and n-6/n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid ratio reflect brain concentrations in a cohort of centenarians. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2019) 74:306–14. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gly125
- Tanprasertsuk J, Ferland G, Johnson MA, Poon LW, Scott TM, Barbey AK, et al. Concentrations of circulating phylloquinone, but not cerebral menaquinone-4, are positively correlated with a wide range of cognitive measures: exploratory findings in centenarians. J Nutr. (2020) 150:82– 90. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz200
- Fraser T, Tayler H, Love S. Fatty acid composition of frontal, temporal and parietal neocortex in the normal human brain and in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem Res.* (2010) 35:503–13. doi: 10.1007/s11064-009-0087-5
- Cunnane SC, Schneider JA, Tangney C, Tremblay-Mercier J, Fortier M, Bennett DA, et al. Plasma and brain fatty acid profiles in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. (2012) 29:691– 7. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2012-110629
- Söderberg M, Edlund C, Kristensson K, Dallner G. Fatty acid composition of brain phospholipids in aging and in Alzheimer's disease. *Lipids*. (1991) 26:421–5. doi: 10.1007/BF02536067
- Zamroziewicz MK, Paul EJ, Zwilling CE, Johnson EJ, Kuchan MJ, Cohen NJ, et al. Parahippocampal cortex mediates the relationship between lutein and crystallized intelligence in healthy, older adults. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2016) 8:379. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00297
- Zamroziewicz MK, Paul EJ, Zwilling CE, Barbey AK. Predictors Of Memory In Healthy Aging: Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Balance And Fornix White Matter Integrity. *Aging Dis.* (2017) 8:372–83. doi: 10.14336/AD.2017.0501
- Poon LW, Jazwinski M, Green RC, Woodard JL, Martin P, Rodgers WL, et al. Methodological considerations in studying centenarians: lessons learned from the georgia centenarian studies. *Annu Rev Gerontol Geriatr.* (2007) 27:231–64.
- 35. Shaw K, Gearing M, Davey A, Burgess M, Poon LW, Martin P, et al. Successful recruitment of centenarians for post-mortem brain donation: results from the georgia centenarian study. *J Biosci Med.* (2012) 2:124.
- Vishwanathan R, Neuringer M, Snodderly DM, Schalch W, Johnson EJ. Macular lutein and zeaxanthin are related to brain lutein and zeaxanthin in primates. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2013) 16:21–9. doi: 10.1179/1476830512Y.0000000024
- Carrié I, Bélanger E, Portoukalian J, Rochford J, Ferland G. Lifelong lowphylloquinone intake is associated with cognitive impairments in old rats. J Nutr. (2011) 141:1495–501. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.137638
- Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. (1957) 226:497–509. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)64849-5
- 39. Lichtenstein AH, Matthan NR, Jalbert SM, Resteghini NA, Schaefer EJ, Ausman LM. Novel soybean oils with different fatty acid profiles alter

cardiovascular disease risk factors in moderately hyperlipidemic subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2006) 84:497–504. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/84.3.497

- Tanprasertsuk J, Li B, Bernstein PS, Vishwanathan R, Johnson MA, Poon L, et al. Relationship between concentrations of lutein and StARD3 among pediatric and geriatric human brain tissue. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0155488. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155488
- Reisberg B, Ferris SH, de Leon MJ, Crook T. The Global Deterioration Scale for assessment of primary degenerative dementia. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1982) 139:1136–9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.139.9.1136
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.* (1975) 12:189–98. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Panisset M, Roudier M, Saxton J, Boller F. Severe impairment battery. a neuropsychological test for severely demented patients. *Arch Neurol.* (1994) 51:41–5. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1994.00540130067012
- 44. Fuld P. Fuld Object Memory Evaluation Instruction Manual. Wood Dale, IL: Stoetling (1981).
- 45. Benton A, Hamsler K. *Multilingual Aphasia Examination*. Iowa City, IA: University of Iowa (1997).
- Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III. San Antonio, TX,: The Psychological Corporation (1997). doi: 10.1037/t49755-000
- Grigsby J, Kaye K, Robbins LJ. Reliabilities, norms and factor structure of the behavioral dyscontrol scale. *Percept Mot Skills*. (1992) 74:883– 92. doi: 10.2466/pms.1992.74.3.883
- Chandler MJ, Lacritz LH, Hynan LS, Barnard HD, Allen G, Deschner M, et al. A total score for the CERAD neuropsychological battery. *Neurology*. (2005) 65:102–6. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000167607.63000.38
- Atkinson RC, Shiffrin RM. The control of short-term memory. Sci Am. (1971) 225:82–90. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican0871-82
- Sheikh JI, Yesavage JA. Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS): recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clin Gerontol.* (1986) 5:165– 73. doi: 10.1300/J018v05n01_09
- 51. Loewenstein DA, Amigo E, Duara R, Guterman A, Hurwitz D, Berkowitz N, et al. A new scale for the assessment of functional status in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. J Gerontol. (1989) 44:P114–21. doi: 10.1093/geronj/44.4.P114
- Welsh-Bohmer KA, Mohs RC. Neuropsychological assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. (1997) 49:S11–3. doi: 10.1212/WNL49.3_Suppl_3.S11
- Tanprasertsuk J, Johnson EJ, Johnson MA, Poon LW, Nelson PT, Davey A, et al. Clinico-neuropathological findings in the oldest old from the georgia centenarian study. J Alzheimers Dis. (2019) 70:35– 49. doi: 10.3233/JAD-181110
- Stacklies W, Redestig H, Scholz M, Walther D, Selbig J. pcaMethodsa bioconductor package providing PCA methods for incomplete data. *Bioinformatics*. (2007) 23:1164–67. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btm069
- Wold H. Estimation of principal components and related models by iterative least squares. In: Krishnaiah PR, editor. *Multivariate Analysis*. New York, NY: Academic Press (1966). p. 391–420.
- Davey A, Dai T, Woodard JL, Miller LS, Gondo Y, Johnson MA, et al. Profiles of cognitive functioning in a population-based sample of centenarians using factor mixture analysis. *Exp Aging Res.* (2013) 39:125– 44. doi: 10.1080/0361073X.2013.761869
- 57. Feart C, Letenneur L, Helmer C, Samieri C, Schalch W, Etheve S, et al. Plasma carotenoids are inversely associated with dementia risk in an elderly french cohort. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2016) 71:683–8. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv135
- Kiko T, Nakagawa K, Tsuduki T, Suzuki T, Arai H, Miyazawa T. Significance of lutein in red blood cells of Alzheimer's disease patients. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2012) 28:593–600. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2011-111493
- Nolan JM, Loskutova E, Howard AN, Moran R, Mulcahy R, Stack J, et al. Macular pigment, visual function, and macular disease among subjects with Alzheimer's disease: an exploratory study. J Alzheimers Dis. (2014) 42:1191–202. doi: 10.3233/JAD-14 0507
- Mecocci P, Polidori MC, Cherubini A, Ingegni T, Mattioli P, Catani M, et al. Lymphocyte oxidative DNA damage and plasma antioxidants in Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. (2002) 59:794–8. doi: 10.1001/archneur.59.5.794

- Agranoff BW, Benjamins JA, Hajra AK. Brain Lipid Biosynthesis. Lippincott-Raven (1999). Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK27970/ (accessed November 2, 2020).
- Carver JD, Benford VJ, Han B, Cantor AB. The relationship between age and the fatty acid composition of cerebral cortex and erythrocytes in human subjects. *Brain Res Bull.* (2001) 56:79–85. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00551-2
- Papanikolaou Y, Brooks J, Reider C, Fulgoni VL 3rd. U.S. adults are not meeting recommended levels for fish and omega-3 fatty acid intake: results of an analysis using observational data from NHANES 2003-2008. *Nutr J.* (2014) 13:31. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-13-64
- Morris MC, Tangney CC. Dietary fat composition and dementia risk. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2014) 35(Suppl. 2):S59– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.038
- Maulucci G, Cohen O, Daniel B, Sansone A, Petropoulou PI, Filou S, et al. Fatty acid-related modulations of membrane fluidity in cells: detection and implications. *Free Radic Res.* (2016) 50:S40–50. doi: 10.1080/10715762.2016.1231403
- Muriana FJ, Vazquez CM, Ruiz-Gutierrez V. Fatty acid composition and properties of the liver microsomal membrane of rats fed diets enriched with cholesterol. J Biochem. (1992) 112:562– 7. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a123939
- Kawaguchi R, Yu J, Honda J, Hu J, Whitelegge J, Ping P, et al. A membrane receptor for retinol binding protein mediates cellular uptake of vitamin A. *Science*. (2007) 315:820–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1136244
- Yan W, Jang GF, Haeseleer F, Esumi N, Chang J, Kerrigan M, et al. Cloning and characterization of a human beta,beta-carotene-15,15'-dioxygenase that is highly expressed in the retinal pigment epithelium. *Genomics*. (2001) 72:193–202. doi: 10.1006/geno.2000.6476
- 69. Okano T, Shimomura Y, Yamane M, Suhara Y, Kamao M, Sugiura M, et al. Conversion of phylloquinone (Vitamin K1) into menaquinone-4 (Vitamin K2) in mice: two possible routes for menaquinone-4 accumulation in cerebra of mice. J Biol Chem. (2008) 283:11270–79. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702971200
- Johnson MA, Davey A, Hausman DB, Park S, Poon LW, Georgia Centenarian Study. Dietary differences between centenarians residing in communities and in skilled nursing facilities: the Georgia Centenarian Study. Age. (2006) 28:333–41. doi: 10.1007/s11357-006-9021-9
- Perry G, Mondragón-Rodríguez S, Nunomura A, Zhu X, Moreira PI, Smith MA. Oxidative stress and balance in neurodegenerative diseases. In: Dickson DW, Weller RO, editors. *Neurodegeneration: The Molecular Pathology of Dementia and Movement Disorders*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell (2011). p. 10– 12. doi: 10.1002/9781444341256.ch3
- Pasqualetti G, Brooks DJ, Edison P. The role of neuroinflammation in dementias. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2015) 15:17. doi: 10.1007/s11910-015-0531-7
- Lieblein-Boff JC, Johnson EJ, Kennedy AD, Lai C-S, Kuchan MJ. Exploratory metabolomic analyses reveal compounds correlated with lutein concentration in frontal cortex, hippocampus, and occipital cortex of human infant brain. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0136904. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136904
- Devassy JG, Leng S, Gabbs M, Monirujjaman M, Aukema HM. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and oxylipins in neuroinflammation and management of Alzheimer disease. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:905–16. doi: 10.3945/an.116.012187
- 75. Feeney J, Finucane C, Savva GM, Cronin H, Beatty S, Nolan JM, et al. Low macular pigment optical density is associated with lower cognitive performance in a large, population-based sample of older adults. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2013) 34:2449–56. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.05.007
- Vishwanathan R, Iannaccone A, Scott TM, Kritchevsky SB, Jennings BJ, Carboni G, et al. Macular pigment optical density is related to cognitive function in older people. *Age Ageing*. (2014) 43:271–5. doi: 10.1093/ageing/aft210
- 77. Renzi LM, Dengler MJ, Puente A, Miller LS, Hammond BR Jr. Relationships between macular pigment optical density and cognitive function in unimpaired and mildly cognitively impaired older adults. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2014) 35:1695–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.12.024
- 78. Kelly D, Coen RF, Akuffo KO, Beatty S, Dennison J, Moran R, et al. Cognitive function and its relationship with macular pigment optical density and serum

concentrations of its constituent carotenoids. J Alzheimers Dis. (2015) 48:261–77. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150199

- Johnson EJ, McDonald K, Caldarella SM, Chung H-Y, Troen AM, Snodderly DM. Cognitive findings of an exploratory trial of docosahexaenoic acid and lutein supplementation in older women. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2008) 11:75– 83. doi: 10.1179/147683008X301450
- Nolan JM, Loskutova E, Howard A, Mulcahy R, Moran R, Stack J, et al. The impact of supplemental macular carotenoids in Alzheimer's disease: a randomized clinical trial. J Alzheimers Dis. (2015) 44:1157– 69. doi: 10.3233/JAD-142265
- Scott TM, Rasmussen HM, Chen O, Johnson EJ. Avocado consumption increases macular pigment density in older adults: a randomized, controlled trial. *Nutrients.* (2017) 9:919. doi: 10.3390/nu90 90919
- US Department of Agriculture, Agriculture Research Service, Nutrient Data Laboratory. USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Legacy. Version Current: April 2018. (2018). Available online at: http://www.ars.usda. gov/ba/bhnrc/ndl (accessed January 9, 2019).
- Clare L, Wu Y-T, Teale JC, MacLeod C, Matthews F, Brayne C, et al. Potentially modifiable lifestyle factors, cognitive reserve, and cognitive function in later life: a cross-sectional study. *PLoS Med.* (2017) 14:e1002259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002259
- Craft NE, Haitema TB, Garnett KM, Fitch KA, Dorey CK. Carotenoid, tocopherol, and retinol concentrations in elderly human brain. *J Nutr Health Aging*. (2004) 8:156–62.
- de Leeuw FA, Schneider JA, Agrawal S, Leurgans SE, Morris MC. Brain tocopherol levels are associated with lower activated microglia density in elderly human cortex. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2020) 6:e12021. doi: 10.1002/trc2.12021
- Fu X, Shea MK, Dolnikowski GG, Patterson WB, Dawson-Hughes B, Holland TM, et al. Vitamin D and Vitamin K concentrations in human brain tissue are influenced by freezer storage time: the memory and aging project. *J Nutr.* (2021) 151:104–8. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxaa336
- Thijssen HH, Drittij-Reijnders MJ. Vitamin K status in human tissues: tissuespecific accumulation of phylloquinone and menaquinone-4. *Br J Nutr.* (1996) 75:121–7. doi: 10.1079/BJN19960115
- Vishwanathan R, Schalch W, Johnson EJ. Macular pigment carotenoids in the retina and occipital cortex are related in humans. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2016) 19:95–101. doi: 10.1179/1476830514Y.0000000141
- Yanai H. Effects of N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on dementia. J Clin Med Res. (2017) 9:1–9. doi: 10.14740/jocmr2815w

- Gómez-Pinilla F. Brain foods: the effects of nutrients on brain function. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2008) 9:568–78. doi: 10.1038/nrn2421
- 91. Zhu X, Han Y, Du J, Liu R, Jin K, Yi W. Microbiota-gutbrain axis and the central nervous system. Oncotarget. (2017) 8:53829–38. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17754
- Gunness P, Gidley MJ. Mechanisms underlying the cholesterol-lowering properties of soluble dietary fibre polysaccharides. *Food Funct.* (2010) 1:149– 55. doi: 10.1039/c0fo00080a
- Martínez-Lapiscina EH, Clavero P, Toledo E, Estruch R, Salas-Salvadó J, San Julián B, et al. Mediterranean diet improves cognition: the PREDIMED-NAVARRA randomised trial. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2013) 84:1318– 25. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-304792
- 94. Smith PJ, Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA, Craighead L, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Browndyke JN, et al. Effects of the dietary approaches to stop hypertension diet, exercise, and caloric restriction on neurocognition in overweight adults with high blood pressure. *Hypertension.* (2010) 55:1331– 8. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.146795
- Willis LM, Shukitt-Hale B, Joseph JA. Modulation of cognition and behavior in aged animals: role for antioxidant- and essential fatty acid-rich plant foods. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 89:1602S-6S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.26736J
- U.S. Department of Health Human Services U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans 8th Edition. (2015). Available online at: http://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/guidelines/ (accessed November 2, 2020).
- 97. U.S. Department of Health Human Services U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2020-2025 Dietary Guidelines for Americans 9th Edition. (2020). Available online at: https://www.dietaryguidelines.gov/resources/2020-2025-dietary-guidelines-online-materials (accessed February 17, 2021).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Tanprasertsuk, Scott, Barbey, Barger, Wang, Johnson, Poon, Vishwanathan, Matthan, Lichtenstein, Ferland and Johnson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





β-Lactolin Reduces Age-Related Inflammation and Cognitive Decline

Yasuhisa Ano^{1,2*}, Rena Ohya^{1,2}, Akihiko Takashima³, Kazuyuki Uchida¹ and Hiroyuki Nakayama¹

¹ Laboratory of Veterinary Pathology, Graduate School of Agricultural and Life Sciences, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan, ² Kirin Central Research Institute, Kirin Holdings Company Ltd., Kanagawa, Japan, ³ Faculty of Science, Gakushuin University, Tokyo, Japan

With the rapid increase in aging populations worldwide, there has been an increase in demand for preventive and therapeutic measures for age-related cognitive decline and dementia. Epidemiological studies show that consumption of dairy products reduces the risk for cognitive decline and dementia in the elderly. We have previously demonstrated in randomized trials that the consumption of β-lactolin, a whey-derived Gly-Thr-Trp-Tyr lactotetrapeptide, improves cognitive function in older adults. Orally administered β -lactolin is delivered to the brain and inhibits monoamine oxidase, resulting in alleviation of memory impairment. However, there is currently no evidence of the effects of long-term β-lactolin intake on aging. Here, we found that the discrimination index in the novel object recognition test for object recognition memory was reduced in mice aged 20 months compared with that in young mice, indicating that age-related cognitive decline was induced in the aged mice; in aged mice fed β -lactolin for 3 months, memory impairment was subsequently alleviated. In aged mice, impairment of light/dark activity cycles was found to be induced, which was subsequently alleviated by β-lactolin consumption. Additionally, the number of activated microglia in the hippocampus and cortex and the production of cytokines (tumor necrosis factor-a, macrophage inflammatory protein-1a, and macrophage chemoattractant protein-1) were increased in aged mice compared with those in young mice but were reduced in aged mice fed β-lactolin. The age-related hippocampal atrophy was improved in aged mice fed β -lactolin. Cytochrome c levels in the hippocampus and cortex were increased in aged mice compared with those in young mice but were also reduced by β -lactolin consumption. These results suggest that β -lactolin consumption prevents neural inflammation and alleviates aging-related cognitive decline.

Keywords: aging, cognitive decline, inflammation, β -lactoglobulin, β -lactolin, β -lactopeptide, memory, whey

INTRODUCTION

Accompanying the rapid growth of aging populations worldwide, the increasing burden of agerelated cognitive impairment falls not only on patients and their families but also on national healthcare systems. In normal aging, the size of the brain decreases with age (1, 2). MRI studies have shown that gray matter volume in the prefrontal cortex and medial temporal lobe, which includes the hippocampus, declines with aging (3, 4). It is suggested that this volume loss is attributed to neuronal loss associated with aging, which changes the structure and function of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crystal Haskell-Ramsay, Northumbria University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Corinne Joffre, INRAE Nouvelle-Aquitaine Bordeaux, France Guoyuan Qi, University of Arizona, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Yasuhisa Ano Yasuhisa_Ano@kirin.co.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 12 June 2021 Accepted: 03 August 2021 Published: 23 August 2021

Citation:

Ano Y, Ohya R, Takashima A, Uchida K and Nakayama H (2021) β-Lactolin Reduces Age-Related Inflammation and Cognitive Decline. Front. Nutr. 8:724134. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.724134

46

synapses and neuronal networks (5). These changes in the brain are associated with age-related cognitive decline, such as memory and executive function impairment. Recent studies also show that age-related increases in inflammation are associated with cognitive decline (6). It is reported that age-related changed microglia in the aged brain shows the pro-inflammatory phenotype and reduce the protective function for neuron (7). It has been reported that the risk for cognitive decline and dementia in the elderly is associated with individual lifestyle (8); therefore, preventive approaches to cognitive decline, including dietary changes, have received increasing attention.

Recent investigations indicate that consumption of certain dairy products reduces the risk for dementia and for cognitive decline in the elderly. Ozawa et al. investigated dietary patterns and their potential association with reduced risk for dementia and cognitive decline in more than 1,000 dementia-free 60- to 79-year-old Japanese participants living in a local community (9, 10) and found that dietary patterns that included milk or dairy products reduced the risk for dementia in the general Japanese population. In addition, our previous study demonstrated that intake of Camembert cheese, a dairy product fermented by fungi, suppressed the activation of microglia and Alzheimer's disease pathologies in a $5 \times FAD$ mouse model (11). These findings suggest that some ingredients, such as peptides, contribute to the prevention cognitive decline and dementia (12, 13).

A recent study identified β -lactolin, a β -lactoglobulinderived Gly-Thr-Trp-Tyr tetrapeptide, which improves memory impairment in a pharmacologically-induced amnesia mouse model. β -lactolin belongs to the Trp-Tyr-related β -lactopeptide family, which also improve memory impairment and are abundant in Camembert and other types of cheeses fermented by *Penicillium* (14). Orally administered β -lactolin has been shown to be delivered to the brain, inhibit monoamine oxidase, and increase monoamine levels in the frontal cortex and hippocampus, resulting in improvements in spatial working memory and object recognition memory in mice (15-17). In addition to preclinical studies, previous clinical trials have demonstrated that supplementation with whey peptide rich in β-lactolin improves memory retrieval, attention, and executive function in the elderly (18, 19) and promotes neural activity in the cortex (20) and cerebral blood flow (21, 22). These findings suggest that consumption of β lactolin is beneficial for the prevention of age-related cognitive decline. Furthermore, β-lactolin has been shown to suppress the activation of microglia and inflammation, which improves object recognition memory in 5 \times FAD mice (23, 24). However, the effects of β-lactolin on age-related cognitive decline and age-related neuronal dysfunction have not yet been demonstrated. Most cognitive decline is associated with aging; thus, in the current study, we examined the effects of longterm consumption of β-lactolin on cognitive impairment using normally aged mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

C57BL/6J male mice aged 8 and 68 weeks (Charles River Japan, Tokyo, Japan) were maintained at the Kirin Company Ltd. The Animal Experiment Committee of Kirin Company Ltd. approved all experiments, which were conducted from May 2017 to April 2019 in strict accordance with their guidelines (Approval No.; AN10607-Z00). The body weights did not differ between the aged mice groups. We made every possible effort to minimize suffering.

Mice were maintained at 23 \pm 1°C under a constant 12-h light/dark cycle (light on from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.). Behavioral pharmacological tests were performed in a sound-isolated room under the same conditions after 24 h habituation. Mice were fed a standard purified rodent diet (AIN-93M, Oriental Yeast, Tokyo, Japan) supplemented with 0, 0.05% (w/w) β-lactolin (GTWY peptide, Bachem, Bubendorf, Switzerland), or 5% (w/w) whey peptide rich in β -lactolin (whey peptide contains 1.6 mg of β lactolin per gram and other components were amino acids and di, tripeptides Kirin Holdings Co. Ltd.), which was used in our previous clinical trials, for 3 months. Previously we showed that β-lactolin contributed to improve cognitive function as a responsible agent. Evaluation of the condition of skin and hair (glossiness, coarseness, hair loss, and ulcer) was performed using the senescence grading score system previously reported (25, 26). After each behavioral evaluation, samples taken from the brains of the mice were used for subsequent biochemical evaluations. Mice were euthanized in a chamber filled with 5% isoflurane vapor (Wako, Osaka, Japan). We tested 15 young and 15 aged mice with AIN-93M, 15 aged mice with AIN-93M containing 0.05% (w/w) β-lactolin, and 15 aged mice with 5% (w/w) whey peptide.

Novel Object Recognition Test

To evaluate episodic memory, we performed the NORT in accordance with the methods described in our previous study (14). The NORT was performed during the light period in a polyvinyl chloride box $(25 \times 40 \times 20 \text{ cm})$ without a roof. For the acquisition trial, we used a pair of wooden triangle poles $(4.5 \times 4.5 \times 4.5 \text{ cm})$ or wooden pyramids $(4.5 \times 4.5 \times 4.5 \text{ cm})$; for the retention trial, we used a pair of poles or pyramids and a golf ball (4.5 cm diameter). In all trials, we placed the objects 7.5 cm from the corner of the box. In the acquisition trial, mice were allowed to explore the box with the two objects for 10 min at 1 h after oral administration of the test sample. Twenty-four hours after the acquisition trial and 1 h after oral administration, the mice were permitted to explore the box with the novel and familiar objects for 5 min. The discrimination index (DI) was calculated using the following equation:

novel object exploration time – familiar object exploration time total exploration time

Thus, equal exploration of both objects was indicated by a DI of 0.

Abbreviations: NORT, novel object recognition test; DI, discrimination index; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein.

Measurements of Activity, Food Intake, and Water Intake in Home Cages

We monitored the amount of food intake, water intake, and ambulatory activity in the home cages using a three-point meter (O'Hara & Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) for 72 h according to a previously described method (27). Activity was monitored by infrared beams positioned on the X and Y axes around the home cages; the beams automatically measured the positions of the mice and their movement. In this experiment, we measured the moving distance of each mouse every 10 min for a total of 72 h.

Quantification of Cytokines and Chemokines

To measure cytokine levels, we homogenized the hippocampus and frontal cortex from the left hemisphere in Tris-buffered saline (Wako) with a multi-bead shocker (Yasui Kikai, Osaka, Japan). After centrifugation at 50,000 \times g for 20 min at 4°C, we collected the supernatant. We measured the total protein concentration of each supernatant using a BCA protein assay kit (ThermoScientific, Yokohama, Japan). We assayed the supernatant to quantify cytokines and chemokines using a Bio-Plex assay system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

Immunohistochemistry

The right-brain hemispheres were fixed in 10% formalin solution (Wako), paraffin-embedded, and cut into 5 µm serial sections to evaluate infiltration of activated microglia, astrocytes, and cytochrome C. The studied brain regions included the hippocampus and cerebral cortex (bregma 2.30 mm posterior). After the sections were dewaxed and rehydrated, those for ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba-1), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and cytochrome C measurements were autoclaved at 121°C for 10 min in 0.2% citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for antigen retrieval. The sections were then incubated with blocking solution (8% w/v skimmed milk) for 30 min after inactivation of endogenous peroxidase with 3% H_2O_2 (Wako) in methanol for 5 min. Subsequently, the sections were incubated overnight at room temperature with primary antibodies: polyclonal anti-Iba-1 antibodies (Wako, 1: 500), polyclonal anti-GFAP antibodies (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark, 1: 500), or monoclonal anti-cytochrome C antibodies (Santa Cruz, CA, USA, 1: 100). After the sections were incubated with horseradish peroxidase-coupled goat anti-mouse or rabbit IgG antibodies (4µg/mL, Nichirei, Tokyo, Japan) for 1h at room temperature, they were visualized with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (Wako) and counterstained with hematoxylin. The size of the positive region per area evaluated was measured using Image J image analysis software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

Statistical Analyses

Data are presented as the mean and the error bars as the standard error of the mean. We analyzed data by one-way analysis of variance, followed by the Tukey–Kramer test or analyzed data by student's *t*-test. All statistical analyses were performed with the Ekuseru-Toukei 2012 software program (Social Survey Research



FIGURE 1 | Novel object recognition test. The time taken to approach a novel or familiar object was measured (A), and the discrimination index (B) in the novel object recognition test was calculated. Data are represented as mean \pm SE and were analyzed by Student *t*-test (A) and one-way ANOVA, followed by the Tukey–Kramer test (B). *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01.

Information, Tokyo, Japan). We considered a p-value < 0.05 to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Preventive Effects of β-Lactolin on Age-Related Memory Impairment in Aged Mice

To evaluate the effects of β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin on memory impairment in aged mice, we fed mice aged 8 weeks (young) and 65 weeks (aged) a diet containing β -lactolin or whey peptide for 3 months and subjected them to behavioral memory evaluations using the NORT. The time taken by young mice to approach a novel object was significantly longer than that to approach a familiar object, but this difference was not observed at a significant level in the control aged mice; however, it was observed in the aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide (**Figure 1A**). This difference in approaching time between familiar object and novel object was greater in aged mice with whey peptide than those with β -lactolin. There was not significantly different in approaching time for novel object among the groups. The DI for control aged mice was significantly decreased compared with that for young mice, and for aged mice



fed with β -lactolin or whey peptide, the DIs were significantly increased compared with that for control aged mice (**Figure 1B**). The total time taken to approach each object did not differ among groups. These results indicate that object recognition memory in mice 80 weeks old had declined with age.

Effects of β-Lactolin on Locomotor Activity During Light/Dark Cycles in Aged Mice

To evaluate the effects of β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β-lactolin on locomotor activity in aged mice, we monitored the activity of mice in their home cages for 72 h. The total distance traveled over 72 h by control aged mice was significantly decreased compared with that traveled by young mice, and this reduction was attenuated by β -lactolin and whey peptide (Figure 2A). Young mice showed a distinctive cycle of locomotor activity, which was significantly higher during dark periods than during light periods. This cycle was not observed in control aged mice (Figure 2B). Young mice showed a distinctive cycle of locomotor activity per 10-min period, which was higher during dark periods and lower during light periods (Figure 2C); the amplitude of this cycle was, however, diminished in aged mice (Figure 2D). On the other hand, this light-dark cycle was observed in aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide (Figure 2B). However, there was no significant difference on total distance during light or dark periods among the group. These results indicate that activity and sleep cycles were impaired in aged mice; compared with control aged mice, aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide showed improvements in these impairments. The amounts of food and water intake did not differ significantly among the groups (**Supplementary Figures 1A,B**). The body weight among the aged groups was not changed (**Supplementary Figure 1C**). Notably, the weight of the hippocampus was significantly reduced in aged mice compared with that in young mice, and in aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide, it was increased compared with that in control aged mice (**Supplementary Figure 1D**).

Effects of $\beta\text{-Lactolin}$ on Glial Activation and Cytochrome C in Aged Mice

To evaluate the age-induced effects of β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin on glial activation and cytochrome C, we performed immunohistochemical analysis. The positive areas of Iba-1 in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex of control aged mice were significantly increased compared with those in young mice (**Figures 3A,B**, respectively). The Iba-1 positive areas in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex of aged mice fed β -lactolin were significantly lower than those in control aged mice (**Figures 3A,B**, respectively), and in the



hippocampus of aged mice fed whey peptide, it tended to be significantly lower than that in control aged mice. The representative images in young mice, control aged mice, and aged mice fed with β -lactolin or whey peptide were shown in **Supplementary Figures 2A–D**, respectively. The positive areas of GFAP in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex did not show significant differences between young mice and aged mice (**Figures 3C,D**, respectively). The positive areas of cytochrome C in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex of the control aged mice were significantly increased compared with those of young mice and were significantly reduced in aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide (**Figures 3E,F**, respectively).



Effects of β-Lactolin on Cytokine and Chemokine Production in Aged Mice

The levels of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α (MIP-1 α) were measured to evaluate the age-induced effects of β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin on these proteins in the hippocampus of aged mice. The levels of TNF- α , MCP-1, and MIP-1 α in the hippocampus of aged mice were significantly increased compared with those in the hippocampus of young mice (Figures 4A-C, respectively). The level of TNF- α in aged mice fed β -lactolin and the levels of MCP-1 and MIP-1 α in aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide were significantly reduced compared with those in control aged mice. These results indicate that age-related inflammation was induced in the hippocampus of aged mice, and those reactions were reduced by consumption of β -lactolin or whey peptide rich in β -lactolin.

DISCUSSION

Our study demonstrated that the consumption of β -lactolin or whey peptide rich in β -lactolin reduced age-related inflammation in the brain and improved memory impairment associated with aging. Aged mice displayed microglial activation, increases in levels of inflammatory molecules and apoptotic molecules of cytochrome C in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex, impairment of object recognition memory, and disruption of light/dark activity circadian cycles; these effects were improved by the administration of β -lactolin.

In aged mice, microglial inflammation has been reported to be induced by $A\beta$ and/or other antigens; activated microglia produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species, both of which lead to cognitive impairment (28, 29). Our previous study showed that the levels of $A\beta$ and glutamate in the hippocampus in aged mice were increased compared with young mice (27). Moreover, object recognition memory, assessed by the NORT in the present study, is a hippocampus-dependent type of memory (30-32). Inflammation in the hippocampus is reported to impair object recognition memory, and the suppression of inflammation subsequently improves these impairments (33, 34). These reports therefore suggest that β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin suppressed microglial inflammatory responses, including the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF-a and the chemokines MCP-1 and MIP-1a, resulting in the prevention of hippocampal cognitive decline associated with aging. In the current study, the preventive effects of whey peptide on microglia infiltration and TNF- α production was not observed, which was observed in the *β*-lactolin group. Recent study showed that BCAA (branched-chain amino acids) rich in whey peptide increase reactive oxygen and inflammation (35), which might affect the differences on the results between β-lactolin group and whey peptide group.

The current study also showed that cytochrome C is increased in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex and that the weight of the hippocampus was reduced in aged mice compared with these parameters in young mice. Cytochrome C is known as a mitochondria-related molecule that activates caspase signaling to induce apoptosis and is associated with inflammation (36). Mitochondrial dysfunction has been reported to be associated with hippocampal atrophy and memory impairment (37). Consequently, it is suggested that β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin may improve mitochondrial dysfunction, subsequently improving inflammatory responses and hippocampal atrophy and resulting in the improvement of cognitive function.

In our study, we further demonstrated the impairment of light/dark activity cycles in aged mice. Circadian rhythms are reportedly impaired in aged mice via sympathetic dysfunction in peripheral clock regulation (38). Neuroinflammation has also been associated with the dysfunction of circadian rhythms (39). The regulation of inflammation in the brain by β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin might improve age-related impairment of light/dark activity cycles. The current study also

showed that β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin suppressed the increases in senescence scores in aged mice (**Supplementary Figure 3**). β -lactolin may help prevent not only brain inflammation and cognitive decline but also other senescence phenotypes. Further study using aged mice is required to investigate these effects in detail.

Epidemiological studies have shown that regular intake of dairy products prevents cognitive decline in the elderly (9, 10), andour previous randomized clinical trials demonstrated that, compared with placebo, supplementation with whey peptide rich in β -lactolin for 6 or 12 weeks improves memory impairment (18, 19) and enhances cerebral blood flow (21, 22) and neural activity (20) in elderly with subjective cognitive decline. These reports expect that supplementations with β -lactolin for a long period is beneficial to prevent the age-related cognitive decline, on the other hand, the effects of long-term supplementation with β -lactolin, which is abundant in fermented dairy products, on age-related cognitive decline have not been investigated. As a mechanisms, in a pharmacokinetics study using radioisotopelabeled β -lactolin, orally administered β -lactolin was smoothly absorbed into the blood and delivered to each brain region (14). A previous study showed that β -lactolin inhibits the activity of monoamine oxidase B and increases the level of dopamine (14), neither of which is directly involved in inflammation. However, β-lactolin might be also associated with other molecular inflammation-related targets, such as mitochondria. High levels of some cytokine have been suggested to be associated with dementia and cognitive decline (40). The current study speculates that long-term supplementation with β -lactolin will be beneficial for the prevention of cognitive decline. Further clinical trials should investigate the effect of β-lactolin on inflammatory molecules and mitochondriarelated molecules in the blood to elucidate the mechanism in humans.

The current study has some limitations. We performed novel object recognition test and Y-maze test to evaluate the memory function, whereas we could not detect the age-related deficit in Y-maze test. Further study need to evaluate another behavioral evaluation such as Morris water maze. We observed the difference of the activities during light and dark cycle between the young mice and aged mice but did not evaluate the circadian gene expressions including PERs and CRYs. To discuss the effects of β -lactolin on aged-related circadian rhythms, further study need to measure the gene expressions. We also observed β lactolin suppressed the cytochrome c in aged mice, suggesting that β -lactolin improves the mitochondria related apoptosis, but did not evaluate the effects of β -lactolin on the activity of mitochondria. Further study need to evaluate the effects of β -lactolin on mitochondria.

REFERENCES

- Harada CN, Natelson Love MC, Triebel KL. Normal cognitive aging. *Clin* Geriatr Med. (2013) 29:737–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2013.07.002
- Murman DL. The impact of age on cognition. Semin Hear. (2015) 36:111–21. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1555115

In conclusion, our study demonstrated that β -lactolin, a β -lactoglobulin-derived lactopeptide, prevents age-related inflammation in the brain and cognitive decline in aged mice. The results of the current study support those of previous epidemiological studies as well as our previous reports. The consumption of β -lactolin and whey peptide rich in β -lactolin is a safe and easy practice to adopt in daily life and may be a beneficial approach to the prevention of aging-related brain disorders.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by The Animal Experiment Committee of Kirin Company Ltd.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YA conducted the experiment and wrote the manuscript. RO did the experiment in the behavioral evaluations. AT, KU, and HN designed and conducted this research. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The current study was supported by Kirin Holdings Co. Ltd.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 724134/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Food and water consumption and body weight in aged mice. Food (A) and water (B) consumption over 72 h was monitored. Body weight and hippocampal weight (C,D). Data are represented as mean \pm SE and were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by the Tukey–Kramer test.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Measurement of glial activation in aged mice. Iba-1-positive microglia and GFAP-positive astrocyte were detected by immunohistochemistry. (A–D) Representative immunohistochemistry images for Iba-1 in youg mice, control aged mice, and aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide, respectively. (E–H) Representative immunohistochemistry images for GFAP in youg mice, control aged mice, and aged mice fed β -lactolin or whey peptide, respectively. Scale bars, 400 μ m.

 $\label{eq:scores} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Supplementary Figure 3} \ | \ \mbox{Sensecence scores for aged mice. Senescence scores in the skin and hair category are shown. Data are represented as mean <math display="inline">\pm$ SE and were analyzed by one-way ANOVA, followed by the Tukey–Kramer test. *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01.

- 3. Raz N, Gunning FM, Head D, Dupuis JH, McQuain J, Briggs SD, et al. Selective aging of the human cerebral cortex observed *in vivo*: differential vulnerability of the prefrontal gray matter. *Cereb Cortex*. (1997) 7:268–82. doi: 10.1093/cercor/7.3.268
- Salat DH, Kaye JA, Janowsky JS. Prefrontal gray and white matter volumes in healthy aging and Alzheimer disease.

Arch Neurol. (1999) 56:338–44. doi: 10.1001/archneur. 56.3.338

- Masliah E, Mallory M, Hansen L, DeTeresa R, Terry RD. Quantitative synaptic alterations in the human neocortex during normal aging. *Neurology*. (1993) 43:192–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL43.1_Part_1.192
- Simen AA, Bordner KA, Martin MP, Moy LA, Barry LC. Cognitive dysfunction with aging and the role of inflammation. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* (2011) 2:175–95. doi: 10.1177/2040622311399145
- Angelova DM, Brown DR. Microglia and the aging brain: are senescent microglia the key to neurodegeneration? J Neurochem. (2019) 151:676–88. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14860
- Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:413–46. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Ozawa M, Ninomiya T, Ohara T, Doi Y, Uchida K, Shirota T, et al. Dietary patterns and risk of dementia in an elderly Japanese population: the Hisayama Study. Am J Clin Nutr. (2013) 97:1076–82. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112. 045575
- Ozawa M, Ohara T, Ninomiya T, Hata J, Yoshida D, Mukai N, et al. Milk and dairy consumption and risk of dementia in an elderly Japanese population: the Hisayama Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2014) 62:1224–30. doi: 10.1111/jgs. 12887
- 11. Ano Y, Ozawa M, Kutsukake T, Sugiyama S, Uchida K, Yoshida A, et al. Preventive effects of a fermented dairy product against Alzheimer's disease and identification of a novel oleamide with enhanced microglial phagocytosis and anti-inflammatory activity. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0118512. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118512
- Camfield DA, Owen L, Scholey AB, Pipingas A, Stough C. Dairy constituents and neurocognitive health in ageing. *Br J Nutr.* (2011) 106:159–74. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511000158
- Ano Y, Nakayama H. Preventive effects of dairy products on dementia and the underlying mechanisms. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1927. doi: 10.3390/ijms19071927
- Ano Y, Ayabe T, Kutsukake T, Ohya R, Takaichi Y, Uchida S, et al. Novel lactopeptides in fermented dairy products improve memory function and cognitive decline. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2018) 72:23–31. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.07.016
- Ano Y, Ayabe T, Ohya R, Kondo K, Kitaoka S, Furuyashiki T. Tryptophantyrosine dipeptide, the core sequence of beta-lactolin, improves memory by modulating the dopamine system. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:348. doi: 10.3390/nu11020348
- Ayabe T, Ano Y, Ohya R, Kitaoka S, Furuyashiki T. The lacto-tetrapeptide Gly-Thr-Trp-Tyr, β-Lactolin, improves spatial memory functions via dopamine release and D1 receptor activation in the hippocampus. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2469. doi: 10.3390/nu11102469
- Ayabe T, Ohya R, Ano Y. β-lactolin, a whey-derived glycine-threoninetryptophan-tyrosine lactotetrapeptide, improves prefrontal cortex-associated reversal learning in mice. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem.* (2020) 84:1039–46. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2020.1714424
- Kita M, Obara K, Kondo S, Umeda S, Ano Y. Effect of supplementation of a whey peptide rich in tryptophan-tyrosine-related peptides on cognitive performance in healthy adults: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:899. doi: 10.3390/ nu10070899
- Kita M, Kobayashi K, Obara K, Koikeda T, Umeda S, Ano Y. Supplementation with whey peptide rich in beta-lactolin improves cognitive performance in healthy older adults: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:399. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019. 00399
- Kanatome A, Ano Y, Shinagawa K, Ide Y, Shibata M, Umeda S. β-Lactolin enhances neural activity, indicated by event-related P300 amplitude, in healthy adults: a randomized controlled trial. *J Alzheimers Dis*. (2021) 81:787– 96. doi: 10.3233/JAD-201413
- Ano Y, Kobayashi K, Hanyuda M, Kawashima R. β-lactolin increases cerebral blood flow in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in healthy adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Aging*. (2020) 12:18660–75. doi: 10.18632/aging.103951

- 22. Ano Y, Kita M, Kobayashi K, Koikeda T, Kawashima R. Effects of β -lactolin on regional cerebral blood flow within the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during working memory task in healthy adults: a randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Med.* (2021) 10:480. doi: 10.3390/jcm10030480
- 23. Ano Y, Yoshino Y, Kutsukake T, Ohya R, Fukuda T, Uchida K, et al. Tryptophan-related dipeptides in fermented dairy products suppress microglial activation and prevent cognitive decline. *Aging.* (2019) 11:2949–67. doi: 10.18632/aging.101909
- 24. Ano Y, Ohya R, Takaichi Y, Washinuma T, Uchida K, Takashima A, et al. β -lactolin, a whey-derived lacto-tetrapeptide, prevents Alzheimer's disease pathologies and cognitive decline. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2020) 73:1331–42. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190997
- Hosokawa M, Kasai R, Higuchi K, Takeshita S, Shimizu K, Hamamoto H, et al. Grading score system: a method for evaluation of the degree of senescence in senescence accelerated mouse (SAM). *Mech Ageing Dev.* (1984) 26:91–102. doi: 10.1016/0047-6374(84)90168-4
- Sugimura T, Jounai K, Ohshio K, Suzuki H, Kirisako T, Sugihara Y, et al. Longterm administration of pDC-Stimulative *Lactococcus lactis* strain decelerates senescence and prolongs the lifespan of mice. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2018) 58:166–72. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.03.024
- Ano Y, Ohya R, Kondo K, Nakayama H. Iso-α-acids, hop-derived bitter components of beer, attenuate age-related inflammation and cognitive decline. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2019) 11:16. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00016
- Sarlus H, Heneka MT. Microglia in Alzheimer's disease. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:3240–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI90606
- Wendeln AC, Degenhardt K, Kaurani L, Gertig M, Ulas T, Jain G, et al. Innate immune memory in the brain shapes neurological disease hallmarks. *Nature*. (2018) 556:332–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0023-4
- Cohen SJ, Munchow AH, Rios LM, Zhang G, Asgeirsdottir HN, Stackman RW Jr. The rodent hippocampus is essential for nonspatial object memory. *Curr Biol.* (2013) 23:1685–90. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.07.002
- Albani SH, McHail DG, Dumas TC. Developmental studies of the hippocampus and hippocampal-dependent behaviors: insights from interdisciplinary studies and tips for new investigators. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 43:183–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.04.009
- Pioli EY, Gaskill BN, Gilmour G, Tricklebank MD, Dix SL, Bannerman D, et al. An automated maze task for assessing hippocampus-sensitive memory in mice. *Behav Brain Res.* (2014) 261:249–57. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.12.009
- Miwa M, Tsuboi M, Noguchi Y, Enokishima A, Nabeshima T, Hiramatsu M. Effects of betaine on lipopolysaccharide-induced memory impairment in mice and the involvement of GABA transporter 2. J Neuroinflammation. (2011) 8:153. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-153
- 34. Abareshi A, Anaeigoudari A, Norouzi F, Shafei MN, Boskabady MH, Khazaei M, et al. Lipopolysaccharide-induced spatial memory and synaptic plasticity impairment is preventable by captopril. *Adv Med.* (2016) 2016:7676512. doi: 10.1155/2016/7676512
- Zhenyukh O, González-Amor M, Rodrigues-Diez RR, Esteban V, Ruiz-Ortega M, Salaices M, et al. Branched-chain amino acids promote endothelial dysfunction through increased reactive oxygen species generation and inflammation. J Cell Mol Med. (2018) 22:4948–62. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13759
- Vringer E, Tait SWG. Mitochondria and inflammation: cell death heats up. Front Cell Dev Biol. (2019) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00100
- Oettinghaus B, Schulz JM, Restelli LM, Licci M, Savoia C, Schmidt A, et al. Synaptic dysfunction, memory deficits and hippocampal atrophy due to ablation of mitochondrial fission in adult forebrain neurons. *Cell Death Differ*. (2016) 23:18–28. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2015.39
- Tahara Y, Takatsu Y, Shiraishi T, Kikuchi Y, Yamazaki M, Motohashi H, et al. Age-related circadian disorganization caused by sympathetic dysfunction in peripheral clock regulation. *NPJ Aging Mech Dis.* (2017) 3:16030. doi: 10.1038/npjamd.2016.30
- Hand LE, Hopwood TW, Dickson SH, Walker AL, Loudon AS, Ray DW, et al. The circadian clock regulates inflammatory arthritis. *FASEB J.* (2016) 30:3759–70. doi: 10.1096/fj.201600353R
- 40. Ng A, Tam WW, Zhang MW, Ho CS, Husain SF, McIntyre RS, et al. IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α and CRP in elderly patients with depression or Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:12050. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30487-6

Conflict of Interest: YA and RO were employed by company Kirin Holdings Company Ltd. This study received funding from Kirin Holdings Company Ltd. The funder had the following involvement with the study: the decision to publish.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ano, Ohya, Takashima, Uchida and Nakayama. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Metformin Use and Cognitive Function in Older Adults With Type 2 Diabetes Following a Mediterranean Diet Intervention

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Vauzour, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Ramit Ravona-Springer, Sheba Medical Center, Israel Roberta Zupo, National Institute of Gastroenterology S. de Bellis Research Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence:

Rafael de la Torre rtorre@imim.es Jordi Salas-Salvadó jordi.salas@urv.cat

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 16 July 2021 Accepted: 07 September 2021 Published: 05 October 2021

Citation:

Soldevila-Domenech N. Cuenca-Rovo A, Babio N, Forcano L, Nishi S, Vintró-Alcaraz C, Gómez-Martínez C. Jiménez-Murcia S, Fernández-Carrión R Gomis-González M Alvarez-Sala A Carlos S, Pintó X, Corella D, Díez-Espino J, Castañer O, Fernández-Aranda F, Salas-Salvadó J and de la Torre R (2021) Metformin Use and Cognitive Function in Older Adults With Type 2 Diabetes Following a Mediterranean Diet Intervention. Front. Nutr. 8:742586. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.742586 Natalia Soldevila-Domenech^{1,2†}, Aida Cuenca-Royo^{1†}, Nancy Babio^{3,4}, Laura Forcano^{1,4}, Stephanie Nishi^{3,4}, Cristina Vintró-Alcaraz^{4,5,6}, Carlos Gómez-Martínez^{3,4}, Susana Jiménez-Murcia^{4,5,6,7}, Rebeca Fernández-Carrión^{4,8}, Maria Gomis-González¹, Andrea Alvarez-Sala^{4,8}, Silvia Carlos^{9,10}, Xavier Pintó^{4,11,12}, Dolores Corella^{4,8}, Javier Díez-Espino^{4,9,10}, Olga Castañer^{4,13,14}, Fernando Fernández-Aranda^{4,5,6,7}, Jordi Salas-Salvado^{3,4*} and Rafael de la Torre^{1,2,4*}

¹ Integrative Pharmacology and Systems Neurosciences Research Group, Neurosciences Research Program, Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Barcelona, Spain, ² Department of Experimental and Health Sciences, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain, ³ Department of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, Hospital Universitari de Sant Joan de Reus, Institut d'Investigacions Sanitàries Pere i Virgili, Human Nutrition Unit, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain, ⁴ Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red (CIBER) de Fisiopatología de la Obesidad y la Nutrición (CIBEROBN), Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, University Hospital of Bellvitge, Barcelona, Spain, ⁶ Psychiatry and Mental Health Group, Neuroscience Program, Institut d'Investigació Biomèdica de Bellvitge (IDIBELL), L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain, ⁸ Department of Clinical Sciences, School of Medicine, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ⁹ Department of Preventive Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ⁹ Department of Preventive Medicine, School of Internal Medicine, Institut d'Investigació Biomèdica de Bellvitge (IDIBELL), L'Hospitalet Health Research Institute (IDISNA), Pamplona, Spain, ¹¹ Lipid Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ⁹ Department of Preventive Medicine, School of Medicine, Institut d'Investigació Biomèdica de Bellvitge (IDIBELL), Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge, L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain, ¹² Faculty of Medicine, Universitat de Barcelona, Spain, ¹³ Cardiovascular Risk and Nutrition Research Group, Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Barcelona, Spain, ¹⁴ Endocrinology Service, Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Barcelona, Spain, ¹⁴ Endocrinology Service, Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Barcelona, Spain, ¹⁴ Endocrinology Service, Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Barcelona, Spain, ¹

Background and Purpose: Both adherence to the Mediterranean diet (MedDiet) and the use of metformin could benefit the cognitive performance of individuals with type 2 diabetes, but evidence is still controversial. We examined the association between metformin use and cognition in older adults with type 2 diabetes following a MedDiet intervention.

Methods: Prospective cohort study framed in the PREDIMED-Plus-Cognition sub-study. The PREDIMED-Plus clinical trial aims to compare the cardiovascular effect of two MedDiet interventions, with and without energy restriction, in individuals with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome. The present sub-study included 487 cognitively normal subjects (50.5% women, mean \pm SD age of 65.2 \pm 4.7 years), 30.4% of them (N = 148) with type 2 diabetes. A comprehensive battery of neurocognitive tests was administered at baseline and after 1 and 3 years. Individuals with type 2 diabetes that exhibited a good glycemic control trajectory, either using or not using metformin, were compared to one another and to individuals without diabetes using mixed-effects models with inverse probability of treatment weights.

Results: Most subjects with type 2 diabetes (83.1%) presented a good and stable glycemic control trajectory. Before engaging in the MedDiet intervention, subjects using

October 2021 | Volume 8 | Article 742586

55

metformin scored higher in executive functions (Cohen's d = 0.51), memory (Cohen's d = 0.38) and global cognition (Cohen's d = 0.48) than those not using metformin. However, these differences were not sustained during the 3 years of follow-up, as individuals not using metformin experienced greater improvements in memory ($\beta = 0.38$ vs. $\beta = 0.10$, P = 0.036), executive functions ($\beta = 0.36$ vs. $\beta = 0.02$, P = 0.005) and global cognition ($\beta = 0.29$ vs. $\beta = -0.02$, P = 0.001) that combined with a higher MedDiet adherence (12.6 vs. 11.5 points, P = 0.031). Finally, subjects without diabetes presented greater improvements in memory than subjects with diabetes irrespective of their exposure to metformin ($\beta = 0.55$ vs. $\beta = 0.10$, P < 0.001). However, subjects with diabetes not using metformin, compared to subjects without diabetes, presented greater improvements in executive functions ($\beta = 0.33$ vs. $\beta = 0.08$, P = 0.032) and displayed a higher MedDiet adherence (12.6 points vs. 11.6 points, P = 0.046).

Conclusions: Although both metformin and MedDiet interventions are good candidates for future cognitive decline preventive studies, a higher adherence to the MedDiet could even outweigh the potential neuroprotective effects of metformin in subjects with diabetes.

Keywords: cognition, Mediterranean diet, type 2 diabetes, metformin, metabolic syndrome, obesity, nutrition, overweight

INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of diabetes has reached epidemic proportions in the past few years. There are currently 463 million people living with diabetes, representing 8.5% of the world's adult population (1). It is estimated that diabetes affects 1 in 10 adults in Spain (1). Individuals with diabetes are at increased risk of blindness, lower limb amputation, and cardiovascular and kidney diseases, and have about 60% greater risk of developing dementia (2).

Diabetes consequences can be avoided or delayed with good glycemic control and the management of cardiovascular risk factors, which can be achieved by following a healthy diet, practicing regular physical activity, and smoking cessation (3). In individuals with type 2 diabetes, the traditional Mediterranean diet (MedDiet) has been shown to improve their glycemic control, various cardiovascular risk factors, and body weight (4, 5). In individuals without diabetes but with high cardiovascular risk, the MedDiet has also been shown to decrease the incidence of diabetes (6). Moreover, adherence to the MedDiet has been associated with improvements in some cognitive functions (7). Therefore, although type 2 diabetes has been associated with worse performance in executive functions (8), MedDiet interventions could be beneficial controlling glycemic levels and could prevent cognitive decline and even improve cognition in individuals with type 2 diabetes.

As lifestyle and weight management alone often fail to establish and sustain optimal glycemic control, glucose-lowering treatments are also an important component of diabetes management (3). Diabetes drugs may have indirect effects on the brain by affecting circulating concentrations of insulin and glucose (9, 10). However, although type 2 diabetes has been consistently associated with incident dementia, distinguishing between treated and untreated diabetes as a risk factor for dementia is challenging in most observational studies (11). Metformin has been used since the 1950s as first-line pharmacotherapy for treating patients with type 2 diabetes with good glycemic control because of its glucose-lowering effects, good safety profile and relatively low cost. However, for patients with poor glycemic control after this first-line therapy, alternative oral glucose-lowering medications and/or injectable insulin are preferable, in monotherapy or in combination with other therapy regimens (12).

Previous studies have shown that metformin use for more than 6 years was associated with lower risk of cognitive impairment (13) and with better performance in some cognitive domains over time in cognitively normal subjects with type 2 diabetes (14). However, there is currently considerable controversy about the effect of metformin on cognition (15). Given the varied response to glucose lowering medications and the heterogeneity in type 2 diabetes (16), the identification of different glycemic trajectory subgroups could help optimize the study of the effects of metformin on cognition. Thus, the analysis of trajectories of glycemic control is an important initial step toward the application of personalized medicine in the treatment of diabetes as it could help in the development of targeted strategies to improve the effectiveness of interventions (17).

The objective of this study is to characterize different glycemic trajectories subgroups and to examine the association between metformin use and cognition in subjects with type 2 diabetes that participated in the PREDIMED-Plus MedDiet intervention.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

The present study is a prospective cohort study framed in the PREDIMED-Plus-Cognition sub-study, using a subset of

participants (N = 487) of the PREDIMED-Plus trial. Full details of the study design and procedures of the PREDIMED-Plus trial have been published elsewhere (5). Further details on the study inclusion/exclusion criteria as well as the study protocol are available at http://predimedplus.com/. Briefly, the PREDIMED-Plus study is an ongoing multi-center randomized parallel-group primary prevention trial (N = 6,874) designed to assess and compare the long-term effectiveness of an intensive lifestyle intervention with an energy-reduced Mediterranean diet (er-MedDiet, intervention group), physical activity (PA) promotion and behavioral support of weight loss goals, with a more common intervention featuring energy-unrestricted traditional MedDiet recommendations without any recommendations on PA and weight loss strategies (control group). In order to promote the adherence to the MedDiet both groups were free provided with an allotment of extra-virgin olive oil (1 L/month) and occasionally, tree nuts (125 g/month). Participant's recruitment took place between October 2013 and December 2016 across 23 Spanish hospitals, universities and research institutes. Participants were randomly assigned, in a 1:1 ratio, to intervention and control groups. The eligibility criteria for participants were community-dwelling adults with overweight grade II (18) or obesity [body mass index (BMI) between 27 and 40 kg/m²] from Primary Care Health Centers of the Spanish National Health System aged between 55 and 75 years in the case of men and between 60 and 75 years in women who met at least three criteria for metabolic syndrome. The clinical trial is registered at the International Standard Randomized Controlled Trials database (ISRCTN; 89898870).

Four study sites participated in the PREDIMED-Plus-Cognition sub-study, with an in-depth assessment of the cognitive performance at baseline, 1 and 3 years after the initiation of the assigned PREDIMED-Plus intervention: Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute (IMIM), Barcelona; Pere Virgili Institute for Health Research (IISPV), Reus; University of Valencia (UV), Valencia; Bellvitge University Hospital (HUB), Hospitalet de Llobregat. Exclusion criteria for the present substudy are included in Supplementary Table 1. The data were analyzed using the PREDIMED-Plus-Cognition database dated 14th January 2021. All participants gave written informed consent. The protocol of the PREDIMED-Plus-Cognition substudy was approved by the local Research Ethics Committees from the participating centers and adheres to the standards of the World Medical Association (WAMA) Declaration of Helsinki.

Outcomes and Assessments Type 2 Diabetes

According to the American Diabetes Association criteria (19), type 2 diabetes was defined by previous clinical diagnosis of diabetes, HbA1c \geq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol) or fasting plasma glucose >126 mg/dL at both the screening and baseline visit or use of oral anti-diabetic medication (metformin, dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors, sulfonylureas, insulin secretagogues, SLGT2 inhibitors or thiazolidinediones) or use of insulin.

Cognitive Performance

Cognitive function was assessed by trained neuropsychologists blinded to the participants' group assignment and included the following cognitive domains: (i) Short-term and long-term auditory memory, using the Rey's Auditory-Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) (20); (ii) Visuoconstructive praxis and attention, short- and long-term visuospatial memory and visual perception, evaluated with the Rev-Osterrieth complex figure Test (RCFT) (21); (iii) Processing speed, evaluated with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) (22); (iv) Inhibition and attention (mental flexibility and interference resistance), evaluated with the Stroop Color-Word Interference Test (23); (v) Decision-making abilities (risk and reward and punishment values), evaluated with the Iowa Gambling Task (IGT) (24) (not administered to participants recruited at the UV site); (vi) Inattentiveness, impulsivity, sustained attention and vigilance evaluated with the Conners' Continuous Auditory Test of Attention (CPT) (25) (not administered to participants recruited at the UV site). Finally, a cognitive screening was also included at baseline using the Folstein Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (26).

Composite scores of 3 cognitive domains, namely memory, executive function and global cognition, were calculated for each participant by standardizing raw test scores to z-scores using the mean and standard deviation of baseline data. The memory composite included the mean standardized individual scores of the RAVLT immediate and delayed scores and the RCFT immediate, delayed and recognition scores. The executive function composite included the RCFT copy score, the SDMT direct score, the Stroop interference score, the IGT total score and the CPT omission, commission and hit reaction time scores. Lastly, the global cognition composite included all the tests of memory and executive functions.

Depressive Symptomatology

The severity of depressive symptomatology was assessed using the Beck's Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) (27) and was categorized according to general guidelines as no or minimal depression (0–9 points), mild-to-moderate depression (10–18 points), moderate-to-severe depression (19–29 points), and severe depression (\geq 30 points).

Anthropometry and Cardiovascular Biomarkers

Weight and height were measured by nurses using standardized procedures. BMI (kg/m²) was categorized as normo-weight (BMI 18.5–24.9 kg/m²), overweight (BMI 25.0–29.9 kg/m²), obesity I (BMI 30.0–34.9 kg/m²), and obesity II (BMI 35.0–39.9 kg/m²).

Fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and lipid levels (triglycerides, total cholesterol and HDL cholesterol) were determined using standard methodology after an overnight fast. LDL cholesterol concentrations were calculated using the Friedewald formula whenever triglycerides were lower than 300 mg/dL. Insulin was centrally measured by an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay using an Elecsys immunoanalyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Meylan, France). Insulin resistance was estimated at baseline using the Homeostasis Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) index (28).

Intervention Adherence

Adherence to the er-MedDiet was evaluated with an adapted version of the validated 14-item PREDIMED questionnaire including 17-items, the energy-restricted Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener (er-MEDAS) (29). Values ranged from 0 to 17 points and adherence was categorized as low (0–7 points), moderate (8–10 points), and high (11–17 points) using the cut-off values from previous studies based on approximate tertiles in the overall baseline PREDIMED-Plus sample (30). Physical activity categories (sedentary, under-active, moderately active, and active) were obtained from the Rapid Assessment of Physical Activity (RAPA) questionnaire (31).

Covariates

Covariates were evaluated at baseline through face-to-face interviews by trained staff using self-reported general questionnaires on socio-demographics (gender, age, years of education, employment status), lifestyle (smoking status), medication (use of treatment for high cholesterol, use of tranquilizers, or sedatives for anxiety or sleeping, use of medication for hypertension, use of medication for heart) and history of disease.

Statistical Analyses

Identification of Latent HbA1c Trajectories Subgroups Longitudinal finite mixture modeling was applied to explain the between-subject heterogeneity in growth of HbA1c by identifying latent classes or subgroups with different growth trajectories (32). Thus, each latent class represents a group of subjects sharing a similar HbA1c trajectory. We first applied latent class growth analysis (LCGA), and two different types of growth mixture modeling (GMM): GMM with random intercept and GMM with random intercept and slope. In each type of model, we tested 1-5 latent classes, so 15 models were computed in total. In order to select the model with the best or most reasonable representation of the observed data, our model selection criteria were based on lowest fit information criteria statistics, including the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and the sample-size adjusted BIC (SABIC), as well as at high entropy. Entropy is a measure of classification uncertainty in class assignment, with higher values indicating clearer delineation of classes. All these models did not include any covariates. Once the best model was selected among this first set of 15 models, we compared it with 3 additional models that included covariates (intervention group, diabetes medications or time-by-group interaction) as predictors of the growth factors and the class. Following the previously mentioned criteria for model selection, the best model was finally selected. The selected model presented a good discrimination index, since subjects classified in class 1, 2, and 3 had a mean probability of 98.4, 89.9, and 93.2% of belonging to their class, respectively. See details in Supplementary Table 2.

Descriptive and Inferential Statistics

Descriptive statistics of study variables stratified by diabetes status (yes/no) and by diabetes subgroups were obtained as mean and standard deviation (SD) or 95% confidence

intervals (95%CI) for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables. Univariate differences were estimated with the unpaired t test for continuous variables and chi-square test or Fisher's exact test, as deemed appropriate, for categorical variables. Additionally, standardized mean differences between groups were computed as Cohen's d (abbreviated as "d") with cut-offs for effect size interpretation of 0.2 (small), 0.5 (medium), 0.8 (large), and 1.2 (very large). Adjusted differences between diabetes subgroups at each time point (baseline, 1 and 3 years) were estimated with analysis of variance (ANOVA) from linear models adjusted by study site, years of education, use of treatment for high cholesterol, use of metformin and use of insulin. Correction for multiple comparisons was performed with the Tukey method when the explanatory variable was normally distributed and the Benjamini & Hochberg method otherwise. Finally, linear mixed effects models were used to test differences between groups in the mean rate of change in cognition from baseline, after 1 and 3 years.

Inverse Probability of Treatment Weights

Given that metformin was not randomly assigned, it was necessary to achieve comparability between groups with regard to pretreatment characteristics to reduce the potential confounding by indication bias and to get better estimates of the treatment effect. This was accomplished using inverse probability of treatment weights (IPTW) (33). IPTW are based on propensity scores estimated via generalized boosted models, a non-parametric machine-learning method that weights treated and control cases to estimate the population average treatment effect (ATE) weights. IPTW were used to generate a weighted "artificial" population (called "pseudo-population") with almost perfect covariate balance, in which treatment and measured pretreatment characteristics are independent. Three different IPTW were computed for each one of the following comparisons: (i) individuals with type 2 diabetes treated with metformin vs. individuals with type 2 diabetes not treated with metformin, (ii) individuals with type 2 diabetes treated with metformin vs. individuals without type 2 diabetes, and (iii) individuals with type 2 diabetes not treated with metformin vs. individuals without type 2 diabetes. Absolute standardized difference in means or proportions (abbreviated as "D"), was used to evaluate comparability between groups before and after IPTW matching. The relative influence of each variable in the models was also reported and expressed as a percentage. When there were residual differences in pretreatment characteristics between groups in the matched sample, regression adjustment was used to control for those unbalanced factors, which is known as a doubly robust approach (33). Accordingly, the comparison between individuals with diabetes exposed and not exposed to metformin was adjusted by sleep apnea. The comparison between subjects with and without diabetes and subjects taking metformin was adjusted by years of education, smoking status, total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, and use of treatment for high cholesterol. All the subsequent analyses were performed using weighted regression with robust standard errors.

Missing Data and Software

Missing data was reported as absolute and relative frequencies (N, %) and each specific analysis was performed on individuals with complete information on the variables involved. We used the R package "twang" to compute IPTW, the package "survey" to compute the weighted analysis and the package "nlme" to estimate linear mixed effects models.

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

Baseline characteristics of study participants stratified by diabetes status are included in **Table 1**. Briefly, 50.5% were women, the mean (SD) age was 65.2 (4.7) years, 18.7% were employed and 62.1% were retired. Regarding their lifestyle, 12% were current smokers, most were underactive (66.9%) or sedentary (15.6%) and had a low or medium adherence to the er-MedDiet (45.4 and 41.5%, respectively). All participants were over-weight (27.3%) or obese (48.5% had obesity type I and 24.2% type II). Finally, 50.3% were taking medications for high cholesterol and 23.0% used tranquilizers or sedatives.

Compared to individuals without diabetes, individuals with type 2 diabetes were older (65.9 vs. 64.9 years), had less years of education (10.5 vs. 12.1 years) and took more treatments for high cholesterol (62.2 vs. 45.1%). Moreover, most individuals with diabetes were being treated with metformin (75.0%), only 6.7% were taking insulin and 34.5% were taking other oral medications for diabetes (alone or in combination with metformin or insulin). As expected, participants with diabetes had poorer glycemic profile than those without diabetes, with higher values of HbA1c (mean of 7.0 vs. 5.8%), fasting plasma glucose (mean of 146 mg/dL vs. 103 mg/dL) and HOMA-IR index (mean of 5.0 vs. 7.1).

Figure 1 includes a flow diagram of the follow-up of the present study.

Longitudinal HbA1c Trajectories Subgroups

First, participants with type 2 diabetes were classified into three distinct latent subgroups based on their HbA1c trajectory from baseline to 1 and 3 years of MedDiet intervention. Subgroup 1 (S1) contained most of the subjects with diabetes (83.1%, N =123), and the remaining 11.5% (N = 17) and 5.4% (N = 8) were grouped into subgroups 2 (S2) and 3 (S3), respectively. Figure 2A shows the trajectories of HbA1c for the three different subgroups. At baseline, those in S1 presented good glycemic control (HbA1c < 7%), with a mean (SD) of 6.6% (0.55), which decreased to 6.3% (0.6) after 1 year but following a return to 6.5% (0.7) after 3 years. This subgroup was termed "S1. Good-Stable glycemic control pattern." S2 individuals presented poor glycemic control at baseline (HbA1c > 7%), with a mean (SD) of 9.0% (0.9), but it improved during the follow-up, with values of 7.9% (1.3) after 1 year and of 7.1% (1.1) after 3 years. This subgroup was termed "S2. Poor-Improved glycemic control pattern." Finally, those in S3 also presented poor glycemic control at baseline with high HbA1c levels (mean of 8.1%, SD = 0.81). Although after 1 year their glycemic control slightly improved (HbA1c declined to a mean of 7.5%, SD = 0.70), after 3 years it worsened and increased to 9.6% (0.7). This subgroup was termed "S3. Poor-Worsen glycemic control pattern." **Figure 2B** shows the HbA1c trajectory of individuals without diabetes.

As shown in Figure 2C, glucose trajectories in each subgroup mirrored HbA1c trajectories but with more variability, represented by a wider 95%CI. Figure 2D shows the mean glucose trajectory of individuals without diabetes. Regarding MedDiet adherence, at baseline, all subgroups scored a mean of 7.7-7.8 points, which is over the low adherence cut-off of 7 points and thus considered as moderate adherence. All subgroups presented mean improvements in their MedDiet adherence after 1 and 3 years. However, as shown in Figure 2E, S3 presented lower MedDiet adherence than S1 after 1 year (d = -0.87, 95% CI -1.59, -0.14) and especially after 3 years of follow-up (d = -1.16, 95% CI -1.89, -0.43). S2 also scored lower in MedDiet adherence than S1 after 1 year (d = -0.57, 95%CI -1.09, -0.04) but after 3 years they scored a high adherence for the MedDiet similar to the observed in S1 (11.5 vs. 11.8 points for S2 and S1, respectively). Despite of these moderate-to-large differences in MedDiet adherence between subgroups, results were not statistically significant, neither at baseline nor at the follow-up, probably due to the small subgroups sample size. See details in Supplementary Table 3. Figure 2F shows the MedDiet trajectory of individuals without diabetes.

Finally, metformin was used by 70.7% (N = 87) of participants from S1, and this treatment was maintained in 89.7% of them after 1 and 3 years of follow-up. From the remaining N = 36participants from S1 that were not taking metformin at baseline, N = 26 (72.2%) continued without taking metformin throughout the 3 years of follow-up. Therefore, in S1 the metformin prescription did not change substantially throughout the followup (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Moreover, most of subjects from S1 who were not taking metformin did not take any treatment for type 2 diabetes (75%) or were taking other oral antidiabetic drugs (16.7%). The description and comparability between subgroups in terms of baseline characteristics and medications for diabetes is included in **Supplementary Tables 4**, 5.

Metformin and Cognition in Subjects With Diabetes

Within the main subgroup of subjects with diabetes with a goodstable glycemic control (S1), those subjects using metformin (N = 87) were compared to those not using metformin (N = 36) (**Supplementary Table 6**). Before applying IPTW, those not using metformin presented higher total cholesterol (213 vs. 184 mg/dL) and higher LDL-cholesterol (131 vs. 108 mg/dL), but these differences vanished after matching with IPTW.

As shown in **Table 2** and **Figure 3**, at baseline, individuals with type 2 diabetes from S1 treated with metformin scored moderately higher in memory (d = 0.38, 95% CI -0.02, 0.79; P = 0.115), executive functions (d = 0.51, 95% CI -0.06, 1.08; P = 0.086) and global cognition (d = 0.48, 95% CI -0.01, 1.04; P = 0.124) than those not treated with metformin. Nonetheless, an effect difference ranging from d = -0.06, a very small negative association, to 1.08, a large positive association,

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of study participants stratified by type 2 diabetes (T2D) status and univariate differences.

		All population	No-T2D	T2D	P *
Variable	Category	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
N		487 (100)	339 (100)	148 (100)	
Study group	Intervention group	240 (49.3)	162 (47.8)	78 (52.7)	0.368
Study site	IMIM	116 (23.8)	65 (19.2)	51 (34.5)	<0.001
	IISPV	143 (29.4)	131 (38.6)	12 (8.1)	
	UV	70 (14.4)	34 (10.0)	36 (24.3)	
	HUB	158 (32.4)	109 (32.2)	49 (33.1)	
Sociodemographic characteristics	S				
Sex	Women	246 (50.5)	173 (51.0)	73 (49.3)	0.804
Age	Mean (SD)	65.2 (4.7)	64.9 (4.7)	65.9 (4.7)	0.029
Education (years)	Mean (SD)	11.7 (5.3)	12.1 (5.7)	10.5 (4.0)	<0.001
Employment status	Employed	91 (18.7)	68 (20.1)	23 (15.5)	0.611
	Unemployed	36 (7.4)	27 (8.0)	9 (6.1)	
	Housework	50 (10.3)	36 (10.7)	14 (9.5)	
	Retired	302 (62.1)	202 (59.8)	100 (67.6)	
	Missing	1	1		
Lifestyle, obesity and mental heal	th				
Current smoker		59 (12.1)	47 (13.9)	12 (8.11)	0.101
Physical activity ^a	Sedentary	76 (15.6)	48 (14.2)	28 (18.9)	0.082
	Under-active	326 (66.9)	238 (70.2)	88 (59.5)	
	Moderately active	44 (9.03)	25 (7.37)	19 (12.8)	
	Active	41 (8.42)	28 (8.26)	13 (8.78)	
Er-MedDiet adherence ^b	Low	221 (45.4)	150 (44.2)	71 (48.0)	0.741
	Medium	202 (41.5)	144 (42.5)	58 (39.2)	
	High	64 (13.1)	45 (13.3)	19 (12.8)	
BMI category	Over-weight	133 (27.3)	99 (29.2)	34 (23.0)	0.156
	Obesity I	236 (48.5)	164 (48.4)	72 (48.6)	
	Obesity II	118 (24.2)	76 (22.4)	42 (28.4)	
Depressive symptomatology ^c	No or minimal	304 (62.4)	217 (64.0)	87 (58.8)	0.544
	Mild-to-moderate	140 (28.7)	93 (27.4)	47 (31.8)	
	Moderate-to-severe	43 (8.8)	29 (8.5)	14 (9.5)	
Medications					
Metformin		111 (22.7)	0 (0.00)	111 (75.0)	-
Insulin		10 (2.0)	0 (0.00)	10 (6.7)	-
Other treatments for diabetes ^d	51 (10.5)	0 (0.00)	51 (34.5)	-	
Tranquilizers/sedatives	112 (23.0)	72 (21.2)	40 (27.0)	0.201	
Cholesterol treatment	245 (50.3)	153 (45.1)	92 (62.2)	0.001	
Intelligence Quotient (PD) ^e	Mean (SD)	92.0 (39.6)	88.7 (39.5)	99.5 (38.8)	0.006
Glycemic profile					
Hba1c (%)	Mean (SD)	6.1 (0.8)	5.8 (0.4)	7.0 (1.0)	<0.001
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	Mean (SD)	43.5 (9.2)	39.8 (4.2)	52.6 (11.2)	<0.001
Glucose (mg/dL)	Mean (SD)	116 (30.9)	103 (13.2)	146 (38.7)	<0.001
HOMA-IR index	Mean (SD)	5.6 (3.9)	5.0 (3.1)	7.1 (5.2)	<0.001

*T-test for continuous variables [presented as mean (SD)]; and chi-squared test (or Fisher's exact test when expected count in some cells is lower than 5) for categorical variables. ^aObtained from the Rapid Assessment of Physical Activity (RAPA) questionnaire.

^bEr-MedDiet, energy-restricted Mediterranean Diet adherence, from the 17-item er-MedDiet questionnaire.

^cObtained from the Beck's Depression Inventory-II (BDI).

^d Includes: dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors (N = 35), sulfonylureas (N = 21), insulin secretagogues (N = 11), SLGT2 inhibitors (N = 6), thiazolidinediones (N = 1), and others (N = 0). ^e Obtained from the WAIS-III Vocabulary Subtest.

HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; IMIM, Hospital del Mar Medical Research Institute; IISPV, Pere Virgili Institute for Health Research; UV, University of Valencia; HUB, Bellvitge University Hospital. Bold values denote statistical significance at the p < 0.05 level.



is also compatible with our data. However, no between-group differences in cognition were observed after 1 and 3 years of follow-up, given that those not treated with metformin compared to those treated with metformin experienced an improved performance from baseline to 3 years in memory (mean change of 0.38 vs. 0.10 SD from baseline mean [z-score], P = 0.036 for the between-group difference in mean change), executive functions (mean change of 0.36 vs. 0.02, P = 0.005) and global cognition (mean change of 0.29 vs. -0.02, P = 0.001).

Supplementary Table 7 includes the differences in each specific cognitive test between subjects with type 2 diabetes (S1) treated and not treated with metformin. At baseline, those treated with metformin scored moderately higher in decision-making abilities (d = 0.60, P = 0.002) and visuoconstructive praxis and attention (d = 0.53, P = 0.018), as well as slightly higher in shortand long-term visual memory (d = 0.40, P = 0.050; and d = 0.45, P = 0.032, respectively). However, after 3 years, those using

metformin scored lower in short- and long-term verbal memory (d = -0.42, P = 0.019; and d = -0.31, P = 0.051, respectively) and presented lower improvements in decision-making abilities (mean change of -1.2 vs. 15.9 points, P = 0.015).

Finally, at baseline, both groups presented a moderate adherence to the MedDiet (mean score of 7.7). However, after 3 years of dietary intervention, MedDiet adherence increased to 12.6 points (95% CI 11.8, 13.4) in subjects with type 2 diabetes not treated with metformin and to 11.5 points (95% CI 10.9, 12.1) in subjects treated with metformin, a difference which was statistically significant (d = -0.44, 95% CI -0.84, -0.02; P = 0.031).

Diabetes vs. No Diabetes

Irrespective of metformin exposure, participants with type 2 diabetes from S1 were compared to participants without diabetes.



FIGURE 2 | Representation of (A) glycemic control (HbA1c) latent trajectories or subgroups in subjects with diabetes, (B) HbA1c trajectory in subjects without diabetes, (C) fasting plasma glucose levels in each subgroup of subjects with diabetes and (D) in individuals without diabetes, and (E) er-MedDiet adherence score in diabetes subgroups and (F) in subjects without diabetes. Solid lines represent mean values, and shaded areas or dashed lines represent 95% confidence intervals (95% Cl). HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin. *N*, number. S, subgroup.

Participants with diabetes presented lower total cholesterol, LDLcholesterol, lower HDL-cholesterol and were more physically active (**Supplementary Table 8**). Despite large differences in the glycemic profile (**Supplementary Table 9**), both groups did not differ in terms of MedDiet adherence and BMI, although subjects with diabetes scored higher in depressive symptomatology at baseline (d = 0.39, 95% CI 0.18, 0.60) and after 1 year (d = 0.63, 95% CI 0.41, 0.85).

There were no differences in baseline memory, executive functions and global cognition between subjects with and without type 2 diabetes (as shown in Figures 4A-D and Supplementary Table 10). However, from baseline to 3 years, those without diabetes exhibited a greater increase in their memory performance (mean change in memory z-score of 0.55 vs. 0.10, P < 0.001 for between group differences in mean change). This increase in the memory composite was mainly due to improvements in short- and long-term verbal memory. Subjects without diabetes also presented greater improvements in visuoconstructive praxis and attention (mean change of 2.8 vs. 0.9 points in RCFT figure copy task, P = 0.009) and did not present reductions in inhibition (mean change of -0.5 vs. -5.1 points in Stroop interference score), compared to subjects with diabetes. However, participants with diabetes presented greater reductions in the reaction time after 3 years (-48.5 ms vs. -0.5 ms in the CPT HRT, P = 0.016).

Diabetes Plus Metformin vs. No Diabetes

Subjects with type 2 diabetes from S1 treated with metformin were compared to subjects without diabetes (Supplementary Table 11). In the matched analysis (Figures 4E-H Supplementary Table 12), and baseline cognition did not differ between individuals with diabetes treated with metformin and individuals without diabetes. However, subjects without diabetes showed greater increases in memory after 1 and 3 years (mean change in z-score of 0.53 vs. 0.14, P < 0.001) and in global cognition after 3 years (mean change in z-score of 0.25 vs. -0.001, P = 0.003), compared to subjects with diabetes treated with metformin. These two groups did not differ in terms of executive functions and MedDiet adherence, neither at baseline nor after 1 and 3 years of follow-up.

Diabetes No-Metformin vs. No Diabetes

Participants without diabetes were compared to participants with type 2 diabetes from S1 who were not treated with metformin (**Supplementary Table 13**). Before matching these groups only differed in HDL-cholesterol (52.4 mg/dL in subjects without diabetes vs. 48.0 mg/dL in subjects with diabetes without metformin) but after matching this difference was balanced and no additional differences were observed. No differences in memory, executive functions and global cognition were observed between subjects with type 2 diabetes not treated with metformin and subjects without diabetes, except in the mean rate of change in executive functions, in which participants with diabetes not treated with metformin presented a greater improvement than participants without diabetes (mean change in z-score of 0.33 vs. 0.08, P = 0.032, as shown in **Figures 4I–L** and **Supplementary Table 14**). Moreover, participants with type 2 diabetes not treated with metformin also presented a greater adherence to the MedDiet after 3 years of follow-up (d = 0.32, 95%CI -0.03, 0.67; P = 0.046).

DISCUSSION

Main Findings

This is the first study to date to examine the effect of metformin on cognition in older adults with type 2 diabetes following a MedDiet intervention. We first examined the heterogeneity in HbA1c trajectories after 1 and 3 years of dietary intervention. We identified three different subgroups of individuals with diabetes irrespective of the intervention group. The largest group exhibited good glycemic control that remained stable during the follow-up, while the remaining two subgroups showed poor baseline glycemic control that improved or worsened during the follow-up. Among the group with good glycemic control, we observed that those treated with metformin presented a better baseline performance in memory, executive functions and global cognition than those not treated with metformin. However, those not treated with metformin presented higher adherence to the MedDiet over time as well as greater improvements in memory, executive functions and global cognition, so that baseline differences between individuals with type 2 diabetes treated and not treated with metformin vanished after 1 and 3 years of MedDiet intervention. These results suggest that adherence to a MedDiet intervention could be superior to the potential neuroprotective effects of metformin among older adults with overweight/obesity and metabolic syndrome who have good glycemic control of their type 2 diabetes.

Metformin Use and Cognition in Individuals With Diabetes

Our results suggest that metformin could have neuroprotective effects. Specifically, we observed that before starting the MedDiet intervention, individuals with type 2 diabetes from a group presenting good glycemic control (S1) treated with metformin presented a higher performance in memory, executive functions and global cognition than those not treated with metformin. These results agree with previous observational studies showing better memory performance (14) or greater maintenance of executive functions and global cognition (34) in cognitively normal subjects with diabetes type 2 treated with metformin, compared to those not treated with metformin. Metformin use has also been associated with lower dementia risk (35, 36) and better cognitive function (37), but results are still highly variable across studies (15). These inconsistencies could be explained by the fact that multiple neurocognitive pathways are affected by diabetes. Therefore, some pathways, but not all, may be improved with drug therapy (e.g., neurovascular alterations) (38). Moreover, metformin has the adverse effect of lowering TABLE 2 | Differences in MedDiet adherence and in cognitive composites at each time point and in the mean change from baseline between individuals with type 2 diabetes from subgroup 1 (T2D-S1) treated with metformin and not treated with metformin (matched with inverse probability of treatment weights).

Variable	Time	T2D-S1 No-Metformin [N = 36] ^a		T2D-S1 Metformin [<i>N</i> = 87] ^b		Differences at each time point		Differences in the mean change (95%Cl) from baseline			
		Missing [N (%)]	Mean (95% Cl)	Missing [N (%)]	Mean (95% CI)	Cohen's D (95% CI)*	Effect Size ^c	P ^d	No-Metformin	Metformin	P ^e
er-MedDiet adherence score	Baseline	0 (0)	7.7 (6.8, 8.5)	0 (0)	7.7 (7.2, 8.3)	0.03 (-0.36, 0.41)	VS	0.752			
	1 year	1 (2.8)	12.1 (10.9, 13.3)	3 (3.4)	11.6 (11, 12.2)	-0.16 (-0.56, 0.23)	S	0.427	4.4 (3.4, 5.5)	3.9 (3.2, 4.6)	0.476
	3 years	1 (2.8)	12.6 (11.8, 13.4)	8 (9.2)	11.5 (10.9, 12.1)	-0.44 (-0.84, -0.02)	S	0.031	4.9 (3.9, 5.9)	3.9 (3.3, 4.4)	0.145
Memory composite (z-score)	Baseline	1 (2.8)	-0.17 (-0.46, 0.12)	3 (3.4)	0.1 (-0.03, 0.23)	0.38 (-0.02, 0.79)	S	0.115			
	1 year	7 (19.4)	0.1 (-0.21, 0.41)	13 (14.9)	0.18 (0.03, 0.33)	0.11 (-0.32, 0.54)	VS	0.795	0.2 (-0.03, 0.42)	0.01 (-0.11, 0.14)	0.307
	3 years	6 (16.7)	0.33 (0.04, 0.63)	16 (18.4)	0.29 (0.14, 0.44)	-0.06 (-0.49, 0.36)	VS	0.557	0.38 (0.15, 0.62)	0.1 (-0.05, 0.25)	0.036
Executive functions composite (z-score) ^{a,b}	Baseline	10 (34.5)	-0.14 (-0.42, 0.14)	21 (34.4)	0.13 (-0.02, 0.28)	0.51 (-0.06, 1.08)	М	0.086			
	1 year	10 (34.5)	-0.13 (-0.47, 0.21)	14 (23)	0.09 (-0.04, 0.21)	0.39 (-0.16, 0.93)	S	0.333	0.08 (0.00, 0.16)	-0.02 (-0.17, 0.13)	0.293
	3 years	14 (48.3)	0.23 (-0.14, 0.6)	28 (45.9)	0.14 (-0.01, 0.28)	-0.18 (-0.79, 0.44)	S	0.557	0.36 (0.13, 0.59)	0.02 (-0.09, 0.14)	0.005
Global cognition composite (z-score) ^{a,b}	Baseline	10 (34.5)	-0.1 (-0.35, 0.14)	22 (36.1)	0.13 (-0.02, 0.27)	0.48 (-0.1, 1.04)	М	0.124			
	1 year	10 (34.5)	0.02 (-0.34, 0.37)	15 (24.6)	0.15 (0.02, 0.29)	0.23 (-0.31, 0.77)	S	0.676	0.12 (-0.05, 0.29)	0.12 (0, 0.23)	0.511
	3 years	14 (48.3)	0.34 (-0.01, 0.69)	28 (45.9)	0.19 (0.03, 0.34)	-0.28 (-0.9, 0.34)	S	0.304	0.29 (0.10, 0.49)	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.07)	0.001

^aN = 29 and ^bN = 61 when excluding participants from University of Valencia study site that did not receive all the tests from executive functions and global cognition.

^c Effect Size: VS = very small (Cohen's d < 0.2); S = small [Cohen's d (0.2–0.5)]; M = medium [Cohen's d (0.5–0.8)]; L = large [Cohen's d (0.8–1.2)]; VL = very large (Cohen's d ≥ 1.2).

^dANOVA from multivariable-adjusted linear model.

^eANOVA from multivariable-adjusted linear mixed effects model.

Inverse probability of treatment weighting (IPTW) was applied to all analyses to weight each individual with his/her inverse probability of being treated with metformin, generating a pseudo-population with (almost) perfect covariate balance. All models were adjusted by diagnosis of sleep apnoea.

*Reference group= No-Metformin. Bold values denote statistical significance at the p < 0.05 level.



serum vitamin B12 concentration, which can in turn, increase the risk of cognitive impairment (39).

Metformin mainly acts by reducing liver gluconeogenesis and inhibiting glucagon-mediated signaling in the liver, but it can also cross the blood brain barrier and thus affect the brain more directly (40). However, the potential neuroprotective effects of metformin have been mostly attributed to its antiinflammatory and anti-coagulative properties, the prevention of metabolic syndrome (41) and the reduction of peripheral insulin levels that affect brain clearance of amyloid β -peptide (A β) (42). Several clinical trials have also tested the effects of metformin in subjects with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (43) or Alzheimer's disease (AD) (40). In a pilot study in individuals with amnesic MCI (N = 80), metformin treatment for 12 months marginally improved the selective reminding score, but did not affect the global cognitive composite (ADAS-Cog) (43). However, in a cross-over RCT with 20 individuals with AD, metformin treatment for 8 weeks improved executive function and trends also suggested improved memory, learning and attention (40). These preliminary findings support the need for larger trials to evaluate the efficacy and cognitive safety of metformin in prodromal and dementia stages of AD, such as the one recently promoted by the University of Columbia (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04098666).

Mediterranean Diet Adherence and Cognition in Individuals With Diabetes

Our results also suggest that a higher adherence to the MedDiet could reverse the cognitive disadvantage of those subjects with diabetes that were not treated with metformin, since both groups with diabetes achieved similar cognitive scores along the followup. Subjects with diabetes from S1 not treated with metformin presented improvements in memory, executive functions and global cognition composites during the 3 years of follow-up, but cognition remained almost stable among those treated with metformin. Moreover, subjects with diabetes who were not exposed to metformin showed greater adherence to the MedDiet



after 3 years of follow-up. The reason for this is unknown, but this indicates a group of subjects with a high capacity to make lifestyle changes. In fact, prior to participating in this study, most subjects from this group were able to control their blood glucose without medication and when offered a lifestyle intervention they adhered to it very faithfully, which probably translated into cognitive improvement. Another possibility is that those individuals with type 2 diabetes who take anti-diabetic drugs value lifestyle interventions less than those who do not take any drugs. Moreover, the greater compliance with the MedDiet among individuals with type 2 diabetes not taking metformin at baseline may also explain why they did not require metformin during the 3 years of follow-up. Previous studies have already reported the delayed need of medication for diabetes in patients with a newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes after a MedDiet intervention, compared to a low-fat diet (44, 45).

The favorable effect of the MedDiet intervention was likely due to the overall composition of the dietary pattern and not to a decreased caloric intake, weight loss or increased physical activity, because the allocation to the intervention or control group was balanced among subjects with diabetes either treated and not treated with metformin. In individuals with type 2 diabetes, the MedDiet has been consistently associated with better glycemic control (reduction of HbA1c by 0.32–0.53%) and a better profile of cardiovascular risk factors, compared to lowfat diets (4). These mechanisms could explain why adherence to the MedDiet might improve cognition in individuals with type 2 diabetes (46, 47). The high content in plant-based foods of the MedDiet (olive oil, legumes, vegetables, fruit, cereals, and nuts), along with fish and moderate red wine consumption during meals, make the MedDiet rich in phenolic compounds, n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamins that, in conjunction, may contribute to a reduced oxidative stress and chronic inflammation and better neurovascular health (48, 49).

Differences Between Individuals With and Without Diabetes

When individuals with diabetes were compared to those without diabetes, we did not find baseline differences in memory, executive functions and global cognition composites. These results differ from previous cross-sectional studies in the overall PREDIMED-Plus population (N = 6,823) showing worse executive functioning (evaluated with different neuropsychological tests) at baseline among participants with

type 2 diabetes (8). However, we observed that participants with diabetes experienced fewer improvements in memory than participants without diabetes after 3 years of follow-up.

Nevertheless, in our study subjects with diabetes not treated with metformin experienced a greater increase in their executive functions than subjects without diabetes after 3 years of followup. Therefore, their greater adherence to the MedDiet could explain this difference in the rate of change in executive functions. In turn, MedDiet adherence did not differ between subjects with diabetes treated with metformin and subjects without diabetes. However, those using metformin experienced a lower improvement in their memory after 1 and 3 years, and in their global cognition after 3 years of follow-up, compared to subjects without diabetes. Thus, in the face of equivalent adherence to MedDiet, metformin was unable to neutralize the negative impact of type 2 diabetes on cognition.

Strengths

The strengths of this study include its longitudinal design with 3 years of follow-up and the large number of cognitive tests that are administered to participants, covering 12 different cognitive abilities that are grouped in memory, executive functions and global cognitive composites. Moreover, the methodology used in the analysis of results allowed us to minimize confounding by indication which is not frequently addressed in most studies of metformin and cognitive associations. Finally, we also described the heterogeneity in the response to a MedDiet intervention among individuals with diabetes type 2, which aligns with the current recommendations of more patient-centered research and care in the field of diabetes (3).

Limitations

However, this study has several limitations. First, the small sample size of the population with diabetes (N = 148) leads to a small number of participants in the subgroups with poor glycemic control (N = 17 in S2 and N = 8 in S3). This limits the capacity to detect statistically significant differences in their baseline characteristics. Moreover, when testing the associations between metformin use and cognition within the group presenting good glycemic control (S1), the small sample size of the untreated (N = 36) and treated (N = 87) groups also limited the study of gender effects, which should be addressed in future studies. Moreover, this sample size constraint also prevented the stratification of subjects exposed and not exposed to metformin according to their adherence to the MedDiet (high/medium/low). Consequently, it was not possible to study the simultaneous effect (interaction) of metformin use and high MedDiet adherence on cognition.

Second, there were losses in the evaluation of the cognitive function during the follow-up (within S1, 14% in the first year and 18% in the third year). They were not unexpected given the burden of neuropsychological visits and the fact that visits of this sub-study were performed on different days to those of the main trial. In addition, executive functions and global cognition composites excluded participants from the UV study site (representing 27% of subjects from S1) since not all the tests that made up the construct of executive functions were administered in this site. Therefore, selection bias cannot be completely excluded from this study.

Third, our methodology was not suitable for investigating causal effects since metformin administration was not randomized, and we did not collect data on the duration of metformin use, specific doses, or patients' adherence to their medication regimens. However, we noted that participants did not change their metformin treatment during the 3 years of follow-up. Moreover, we used IPTW to match treated and untreated subjects in each comparison. This approach allows to account for systematic differences in comorbidities between groups and is used to limit confounding by indication. We also had no information about the *APOE* genotype of participants, which could influence the association between metformin use and cognitive decline, as reported in previous studies (14).

Finally, this study does not have a control group since all subjects were exposed to a MedDiet intervention. However, without any intervention, individuals with metabolic syndrome would have probably presented a cognitive decline over time (50) and in this study their cognition improved independently of their underlying pathological condition.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, both metformin and MedDiet seem to have neuroprotective effects in older adults at increased risk of pathological cognitive decline, presenting overweight/obesity, metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes. Given the heterogeneity in type 2 diabetes and in the response to lifestyle interventions and glucose-lowering medications, a group-based trajectory analysis was initially performed to stratify the population with diabetes. There were two minor subgroups with high HbA1c levels that did not achieve good glycemic control despite of the intensive MedDiet intervention. Future studies should consider applying more intensive and personalized dietary interventions to subjects with poor glycemic control of their type 2 diabetes. However, the majority subgroup of individuals with type 2 diabetes presented good glycemic control throughout the followup. In this subgroup, metformin treatment was associated with better memory, executive functions and global cognition at baseline. Nevertheless, after 1 and 3 years of MedDiet intervention, both metformin-treated and non-metformintreated subjects achieved similar cognitive function. We postulate that increased adherence to the MedDiet explained the cognitive improvement observed in individuals with type 2 diabetes not treated with metformin. In conclusion, a high adherence to MedDiet seems to at least slow down cognitive decline in the elderly with metabolic syndrome and other chronic diseases. Our results support the hypothesis that both metformin and MedDiet interventions are good candidates for future cognitive decline preventive studies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because there are restrictions on the availability of data for the PREDIMED-Plus trial, due to the signed consent agreements around data sharing. Requestors wishing to access the PREDIMED-Plus dataset generated and/or analyzed during the current study can make a request to the PREDIMED-Plus trial Steering Committee chair. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Jordi Salas-Salvadó, jordi.salas@urv.cat.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Parc de Salut Mar Drug Research Ethics Committee, Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Bellvitge University Hospital, Drug Research Ethics Committee of the Institut d'Investigació Sanitària Pere Virgili and Committee of Ethics and Research on Humans of Valencia University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RT, NS-D, AC-R, and LF contributed to the conception and design of the study, wrote the manuscript, and reviewed/edited the manuscript. NS-D performed the statistical analyses. AC-R, LF, NB, SN, CG-M, RF-C, AA-S, CV-A, SJ-M, and OC contributed to data acquisition. DC, SC, JD-E, OC, MG-G, XP, JS-S, and FF-A contributed to critical revision of the manuscript for key intellectual content. RT, JS-S, and FF-A obtained funding for the study. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

Study resulting from the following grants: SLT006/17/00246, SLT002/16/00045 and SLT006/17/00077 funded by the Department of Health of the Generalitat de Catalunya by the calls Acció instrumental de programes de recerca orientats en l'àmbit de la recerca i la innovació en salut and Pla estratègic de recerca i innovació en salut (PERIS). We thank CERCA Programme/Generalitat de Catalunya for institutional support. This project was funded by Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), the Spanish Government Official Agency for funding biomedical research-with competitive grants leaded by JS-S and Josep Vidal for the periods 2014–2016, 2015–2017, 2017–2019, and 2018– 2020, through the Fondo de Investigación para la Salud (FIS), which is co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund, ERDF, a way to build Europe) [grants: PI13/00233,

REFERENCES

- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Europe members (2020). Available online at: https://idf.org/our-network/regions-members/europe/members/ 159-spain.html (accessed: May 17, 2021).
- Chatterjee S, Peters SAE, Woodward M, Arango SM, Batty GD, Beckett N, et al. Type 2 diabetes as a risk factor for dementia in women compared with men: a pooled analysis of 2.3 million people comprising more than 100,000 cases of dementia. *Diabetes Care*. (2016) 39:300–7. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1588

PI13/00728, PI13/01123, PI13/00462, PI16/00533, PI16/00366, PI16/01094, PI16/00501, PI17/01167, PI19/00017, PI19/00781, PI19/01032, PI19/00576]; the Especial Action Project entitled: Implementación y evaluación de una intervención intensiva sobre la actividad física Cohorte PREDIMED-Plus grant to JS-S; the European Research Council [Advanced Research Grant 2014–2019; agreement #340918] granted to Miguel Ángel Martínez-González; the Recercaixa (number 2013ACUP00194) grant to JS-S. This research was also partially funded by EU-H2020 Grants (Eat2beNICE/H2020-SFS-2016-2; Ref 728018; and PRIME/H2020-SC1-BHC-2018-2020; Ref: 847879), Grant PROMETEO/2017/017 (Generalitat Valenciana) and Grant FEA/SEA 2017 for Primary Care Research. This work is also partially supported by ICREA under the ICREA Academia programme. This work was supported by grants from DIUE de la Generalitat de Catalunya 2017 SGR 138 from the Departament d'Economia i Coneixement de la Generalitat de Catalunya (Spain). NS-D has received the FI 2021 predoctoral grant (FI_B2021/00104) from the Agency for Management of University and Research Grants (AGAUR) of the Generalitat de Catalunya. CV-A was supported by a predoctoral Grant of the Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte (FPU16/01453). AA-S has received a post-doctoral grant from the Consellería de Innovación, Ciencia y Sociedad Digital, Generalitat Valenciana, Valencia (APOSTD/2020/003). The Physiopathology of Obesity and Nutrition Networking Biomedical Research Center (CIBEROBN) is an initiative of ISCIII.

None of these funding sources plays any role in the design, collection, analysis, or interpretation of the data or in the decision to submit manuscripts for publication. The funders of the study had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participants for their enthusiastic collaboration and the PREDIMED-Plus personnel for their invaluable support, as well as all affiliated primary care centers, for their excellent work.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 742586/full#supplementary-material

- Davies MJ, Alessio DAD, Fradkin J, Kernan WN, Mathieu C. Management of hyperglycaemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. A consensus report by the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). *Diabetologia*. (2018) 61:2461–98. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4729-5
- Huo R, Du T, Xu Y, Xu W, Chen X, Sun K, et al. Effects of Mediterraneanstyle diet on glycemic control, weight loss and cardiovascular risk factors among type 2 diabetes individuals: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2015) 69:1200–8. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2014.243

- Salas-Salvadó J, Díaz-López A, Ruiz-Canela M, Basora J, Fitó M, Corella D, et al. Effect of a lifestyle intervention program with energy-restricted Mediterranean diet and exercise on weight loss and cardiovascular risk factors: one-year results of the PREDIMED-Plus trial. *Diabetes Care*. (2019) 42:777– 88. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0836
- Salas-Salvadó J, Bulló M, Babio N, Martínez-González MÁ, Ibarrola-Jurado N, Basora J, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with the mediterranean diet: Results of the PREDIMED-Reus nutrition intervention randomized trial. *Diabetes Care.* (2011) 34:14–9. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1288
- Valls-Pedret C, Sala-Vila A, Serra-Mir M, Corella D, de la Torre R, Martínez-González MÁ, et al. Mediterranean diet and age-related cognitive decline: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2015) 175:1094– 103. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.1668
- Mallorquí-Bagué N, Lozano-Madrid M, Toledo E, Corella D, Salas-Salvadó J, Cuenca-Royo A, et al. Type 2 diabetes and cognitive impairment in an older population with overweight or obesity and metabolic syndrome: baseline cross-sectional analysis of the PREDIMED-plus study. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:16128. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33843-8
- Yarchoan M, Arnold SE. Repurposing diabetes drugs for brain insulin resistance in Alzheimer disease. *Diabetes Care.* (2014) 63:2253–61. doi: 10.2337/db14-0287
- McCrimmon RJ. Consequences of recurrent hypoglycaemia on brain function in diabetes. *Diabetologia*. (2021) 64:971–7. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05369-0
- Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:413–46. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Lipska KJ, Krumholz H, Soones T, Lee SJ. Polypharmacy in the aging patient. A review of glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *JAMA*. (2016) 315:1034–45. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0299
- Ng TP, Feng L, Yap KB, Lee TS, Tan CH, Winblad B. Long-term metformin usage and cognitive function among older adults with diabetes. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2014) 41:61–8. doi: 10.3233/JAD-131901
- 14. Wu CY, Ouk M, Wong YY, Anita NZ, Edwards JD, Yang P, et al. Relationships between memory decline and the use of metformin or DPP4 inhibitors in people with type 2 diabetes with normal cognition or Alzheimer's disease, and the role APOE carrier status. *Alzheimer's Dement*. (2020) 16:1663– 73. doi: 10.1002/alz.12161
- Giaccari A, Solini A, Frontoni S, Prato SD. Metformin benefits: Another example for alternative energy substrate mechanism? *Diabetes Care.* (2021) 44:647–54. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1964
- Dennis JM. Precision medicine in type 2 diabetes: using individualized prediction models to optimize selection of treatment. *Diabetes*. (2020) 69:2075-85. doi: 10.2337/dbi20-0002
- Luo M, Tan KHX, Tan CS, Lim WY, Tai ES, Venkataraman K. Longitudinal trends in HbA1c patterns and association with outcomes: a systematic review. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2018) 34:e3015. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3015
- Rubió M, Salas-Salvadó J, Barbany M, Moreno B, Aranceta J, Bellido D, et al. Consenso SEEDO 2007 para la evaluación del sobrepeso y la obesidad y el establecimiento de criterios de intervención terapéutica. *Rev Española Obes.* (2007) 128:184–96. doi: 10.1016/S0025-7753(07)72531-9
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2021. *Diabetes Care*. (2021) 44:S15-33. doi: 10.2337/dc21-S002
- 20. Rey A. L'examen clinique en psychologie. [The clinical examination in psychology]. Paris: Presses Universitaires De France (1958).
- Osterrieth PA. Test of copying a complex figure; contribution to the study of perception and memory. Arch Psychol. (1944) 30:206–356.
- 22. Smith A. SDMT. Test de Símbolos y Dígitos [Symbol and Digit Test]. TEA Edicio., ed. D. Arribas Madrid (2002).
- Stroop JR. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J Exp Psychol. (1935) 18:643–62. doi: 10.1037/h0054651
- Bechara A, Damasio H, Tranel D, Damasio AR. Deciding advantageously before knowing the advantageous strategy. *Science*. (1997) 275:1293– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5304.1293
- Conners CK. Conners' CPT II. Continuous Performance Test II. Computer Guide and Software Manual. North Tonawanda, NY: Multi Health Systems (2000).

- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res. (1975) 12:189–98. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75) 90026-6
- Beck A, Steer A, Carbin M. Psychometric properties of the Beck depression inventory twenty-five years of evaluation. *Clin Psych Rev.* (1988) 8:77– 100. doi: 10.1016/0272-7358(88)90050-5
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and β-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*. (1985) 28:412–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00280883
- Schröder H, Zomeño MD, Martínez-González MA, Salas-Salvadó J, Corella D, Vioque J, et al. Validity of the energy-restricted Mediterranean Diet Adherence Screener. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:4971–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021. 06.030
- Álvarez-Álvarez I, Martínez-González MÁ, Sánchez-Tainta A, Corella D, Díaz-López A, Fitó M, et al. Adherence to an energy-restricted mediterranean diet score and prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in the PREDIMED-plus: a cross-sectional study. *Rev Española Cardiol.* (2019) 72:925–34. doi: 10.1016/j.recesp.2018.08.007
- Topolski T, LoGerfo J, Patrick D, Williams B, Walwick J, Patrick M. The Rapid Assessment of Physical Activity (RAPA) among older adults. *Prev Chronic Dis.* (2006) 3:A118.
- van der Nest G, Lima Passos V, Candel MJJM, van Breukelen GJP. An overview of mixture modelling for latent evolutions in longitudinal data: modelling approaches, fit statistics and software. *Adv Life Course Res.* (2020) 43:100323. doi: 10.1016/j.alcr.2019.100323
- Ali MS, Prieto-Alhambra D, Lopes LC, Ramos D, Bispo N, Ichihara MY, et al. Propensity score methods in health technology assessment: principles, extended applications, and recent advances. *Front Pharmacol.* (2019) 10:973. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00973
- 34. Samaras K, Makkar S, Crawford JD, Kochan NA, Wen W, Draper B, et al. Metformin use is associated with slowed cognitive decline and reduced incident dementia in older adults with type 2 diabetes: the Sydney memory and ageing study. *Diabetes Care.* (2020) 43:2691–701. doi: 10.2337/dc20-0892
- 35. Orkaby AR, Cho K, Cormack J, Gagnon DR, Driver JA. Metformin vs sulfonylurea use and risk of dementia in US veterans aged >65 years with diabetes. *Neurology*. (2017) 89:1877–85. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004586
- Hsu CC, Wahlqvist ML, Lee MS, Tsai HN. Incidence of dementia is increased in type 2 diabetes and reduced by the use of sulfonylureas and metformin. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2011) 24:485–93. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2011-101524
- Herath PM, Cherbuin N, Eramudugolla R, Anstey KJ. The effect of diabetes medication on cognitive function: evidence from the PATH through life study. *Biomed Res Int.* (2016) 2016:7208429. doi: 10.1155/2016/7208429
- Kuehn BM. In Alzheimer Research, glucose metabolism moves to center stage. JAMA. (2020) 323:297–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.20939
- Moore EM, Mander AG, Ames D, Kotowicz MA, Carne RP, Brodaty H, et al. Increased risk of cognitive impairment in patients with diabetes is associated with metformin. *Diabetes Care.* (2013) 36:2981–7. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0229
- Koenig AM, Mechanic-Hamilton D, Xie SX, Combs MF, Cappola AR, Xie L, et al. Effects of the insulin sensitizer metformin in Alzheimer Disease: pilot data from a randomized placebo-controlled crossover study. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. (2017) 31:107–13. doi: 10.1097/WAD.00000000000202
- Orchard TJ, Temprosa M, Goldberg R, Haffner S, Ratner R, Marcovina S, et al. The effect of metformin and intensive lifestyle intervention on the metabolic syndrome: the diabetes prevention program randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med.* (2005) 142:611–9. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-142-8-200504190-00009
- Shalev D, Arbuckle MR. Metabolism and memory: obesity, diabetes, and dementia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2017) 82:e81– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.09.025
- Luchsinger JA, Perez T, Chang H, Mehta P, Steffener J, Pradabhan G, et al. Metformin in amnestic mild cognitive impairment: results of a pilot randomized placebo controlled clinical trial. *J Alzheimer's Dis.* (2016) 51:501– 14. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150493

- Esposito K, Maiorino MI, Petrizzo M, Bellastella G, Giugliano D. The effects of a Mediterranean diet on the need for diabetes drugs and remission of newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: Follow-up of a randomized trial. *Diabetes Care.* (2014) 37:1824–30. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2899
- 45. Esposito K, Maiorino M, Ciotola M, Di Palo C, Scognamiglio P, Gicchino M, et al. Effects of a Mediterranean-style diet on the need for antihyperglycemic drug therapy in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. (2009) 151:306–14. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-151-5-200909010-00004
- Mattei J, Bigornia SJ, Sotos-Prieto M, Scott T, Gao X, Tucker KL. The Mediterranean diet and 2-year change in cognitive function by status of type 2 diabetes and glycemic control. *Diabetes Care.* (2019) 42:1372– 9. doi: 10.2337/dc19-0130
- Soldevila-Domenech N, Forcano L, Vintro-Alcatraz C, Cuenca-Royo A, Pintó X, Jiménez-Murcia S, et al. Interplay between cognition and weight reduction in individuals following a Mediterranean Diet: threeyear follow-up of the PREDIMED-Plus trial. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:5221– 37. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.07.020
- Zupo R, Griseta C, Battista P, Donghia R, Guerra V, Castellana F, et al. Role of plant-based diet in late-life cognitive decline: results from the Salus in Apulia Study. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2021). doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2020.1853416. [Epub ahead of print].
- Frisardi V, Panza F, Seripa D, Imbimbo BP, Vendemiale G, Pilotto A, et al. Nutraceutical properties of mediterranean diet and cognitive decline: possible underlying mechanisms. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2010) 22:715– 40. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100942
- Yaffe K, Weston AL, Blackwell T, Krueger KA. The metabolic syndrome and development of cognitive impairment among older women. Arch Neurol. (2009) 66:324–8. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.20 08.566

Conflict of Interest: JS-S reports non-financial support from Nut and Dried Fruit Foundation, personal fees from Danone Institute Spain, other from Danone S.A., other from Font Vella Lanjaron, other from Nuts for Life, other from Eroski Distributors, outside the submitted work. FF-A reports consultation fees from Novo Nordisk and editor-in-chief honorarium from Wiley. JD-E reports honoraria for lectures and presentations from Novo Nordisk, Mundipharma, Lilly, Astra Zeneca, MSD and Boehringer Ingelheim. All these relationships did not influence study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Soldevila-Domenech, Cuenca-Royo, Babio, Forcano, Nishi, Vintró-Alcaraz, Gómez-Martínez, Jiménez-Murcia, Fernández-Carrión, Gomis-González, Alvarez-Sala, Carlos, Pintó, Corella, Díez-Espino, Castañer, Fernández-Aranda, Salas-Salvadó and de la Torre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bone and Lean Mass Loss and Cognitive Impairment for Healthy Elder Adults: Analysis of the Nutrition and Health Survey in Taiwan 2013–2016 and a Validation Study With Structural Equation Modeling

Sheng-Feng Lin^{1,2,3,4}, Yen-Chun Fan¹, Wen-Harn Pan⁵ and Chyi-Huey Bai^{1,2,6*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lucie Geurts, International Life Sciences Institute Europe, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Guoyuan Qi, University of Arizona, United States Bruno Pietro Imbimbo, Chiesi Farmaceutici, Italy

> *Correspondence: Chyi-Huey Bai baich@tmu.edu.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 27 July 2021 Accepted: 13 September 2021 Published: 13 October 2021

Citation:

Lin S-F, Fan Y-C, Pan W-H and Bai C-H (2021) Bone and Lean Mass Loss and Cognitive Impairment for Healthy Elder Adults: Analysis of the Nutrition and Health Survey in Taiwan 2013–2016 and a Validation Study With Structural Equation Modeling. Front. Nutr. 8:747877. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.747877 Medical University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁴ Department of Critical Care Medicine, Taipei Medical University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁶ Institute of Biomedical Sciences, Academia Sinica, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁶ Nutrition Research Center, Taipei Medical University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

¹ Department of Public Health, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ² School of

Public Health, College of Public Health, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Department of Emergency Medicine, Taipei

Purpose: Bone and lean mass loss and cognitive impairment are prevalent in elder adults and have been hypothesized to share a potential link.

Methods: This nationwide cross-sectional study systemically sampled elder adults aged \geq 65 years and conducted the door-to-door survey. The causal diagrams help to decide which covariates were included in the generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs). The structural equation modeling (SEM) was performed for the validation.

Results: A total of 535 participants were enrolled and categorized into the normal (67.3%), mild cognitive impairment (18.3%), and dementia groups (14.4%). With increasing in the severity of cognitive impairment, the bone marrow density and lean mass consistently showed the trend of decreasing values. In the GLMMs, a significant association existed between the decrease of the bone mineral density (BMD) and the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) ($\beta = 5.819$ scores per g/cm² decrease, p = 0.0305) with adjustment of the age, sex, and physical activity. The SEM models confirmed that the MMSE was significantly and directly predicted by the age ($\beta = 0.1363$, p = 0.0003) and BMD ($\beta = 0.1251$, p = 0.0006) independently and indirectly predicted by lean mass ($\beta = 0.1138$, p = 0.0003) through the bone density path.

Conclusion: In conclusion, an independent association between bone loss and cognitive impairment was existed rather than the confounding effect and the decrease of lean mass indirectly contributed to cognitive impairment by influencing the bone density.

Keywords: bone loss, bone marrow density, cognitive impairment, dementia, osteoporosis

71
INTRODUCTION

Skeletal deficit and muscle loss have emerged as major issues for elder adults (1–3). Several reports have documented the comorbidity of osteopenia and osteoporosis in patients with dementia (4–6). Bone loss has also been reported for sharing a distinctive connection to cognitive impairment (7). The mechanical unloading of the skeleton has been proposed to cause loss of bone mass in patients with aging (8). In addition, decreased physical activity (9), fragility, and sarcopenia (10) may also directly or indirectly contribute to bone loss in elder patients with dementia. Collectively, the connection between the boss loss and cognitive impairment is not easily elucidated and possibly as a result of confounding by related various factors.

Physiologists proposed a paradigm that bone remodeling and energy metabolism are coregulated through the brain-bone axis (11-13). The skeleton is a metabolically active system and undergoes bone resorption and bone formation in whole life (14). Investigation into the brain-bone axis began with an emphasis on leptin (15), a hormone secreted by the adipose cells with remarkable effects in the brain for coregulation of the appetite and bone accrual (12, 16). Low levels of leptin have been reported in Alzheimer's disease (16, 17). Moreover, the lean mass has been found in a major source of neurotrophic factors for preventing cognitive impairment (18). Accordingly, two correlated factors of bone and lean mass are needed to be considered simultaneously to explore the relationship between body composition and cognitive impairment in a statistical model. However, most of the epidemiological studies (4, 19-27) only considered one of the two correlated factors at a time. An epidemiological study investigating the link between the bone and lean mass cognitive impairment in elder adults, while effectively controlling multiple contributing factors is warranted.

In statistical analysis, one of the major challenges to investigating the influential factors on cognitive impairment is that the numerous variables, including age, physical activity, bone mass, and lean mass, are correlated with each other. With respect to the methodological advances and software development, a structural equation modeling (SEM) permits the illustration of the relationship among many factors (28, 29). The flexibility of SEM allows its application in a cross-sectional study and other research designs (28). While the causal relationship cannot be obtained from a cross-sectional study, a directed acyclic graph (DAG) provides a simple way to demonstrate the relationships between the variables and to evaluate if confounding was present in the model (30).

The National Nutrition and Health Survey in Taiwan (NAHSIT) 2005–2008 described that osteoporosis was estimated to affect one-fourth of the general population in Taiwan (31). A recent 2018 report indicated that the incidence and prevalence of osteoporosis in Taiwan were similar to those in most of the Western countries with aging populations as well (32). In this study, we like to investigate whether an association exists between cognitive impairment and bone loss in our community-based elder participants by using the latest survey data NAHSIT 2013–2016. We adopted two novel approaches: (1) using DAGs to identify the confounding variables that are needed to be adjusted

in the conventional regression analysis and (2) conducting an SEM to validify the best model constructed by a DAG.

METHODS

Study Design and Data Collection

The nationwide cross-sectional data were collected through the NAHSIT from January 1, 2013, to December 31, 2017, covering 359 townships or the city districts in Taiwan. The systematic sampling of the participants was classified into the eight strata by the characteristics of the population density, geographical area, and dietary habits. The door-to-door visits were carried out to obtain information of age, sex, body mass index (BMI), and physical activity by the trained interviewers. Mobile dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) was performed to obtain the body composition parameters and the bone mineral density (BMD) in each specific body region. Based on the WHO definition, we defined osteoporosis as a BMD T-score (in g/cm^2) of \leq 2.5 at the femoral neck or the lumbar spine in those aged 65 years and older. The DXA device (Prodigy, GE Healthcare Lunar, Wisconsin, USA) was used. Elder participants aged \geq 65 years who agreed to complete the physical assessment were enrolled. Besides, the lipid profiles, vitamin A, and vitamin D were measured in the centralized laboratory. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board on Biomedical Science Research, Academia Sinica, Taiwan (AS-IRB01-13067) and the Research Ethics Committee, National Health Research Institutes, Taiwan (EC1020110). Informed consent was acquired from the participants.

Cognitive Assessment

The diagnosis for dementia due to all the causes was following the guideline by the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups. Taiwanese version of the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (33) assessment was performed by the trained interviewers. The participants were categorized into the normal cognition, mild cognitive impairment (MCI), and dementia groups according to the previous literature. First, the participants with the MMSE scores of $27-30 (\geq 9 \text{ education years})$ and of 26-30 (<9 education years) were classified into normal cognition. Second, the participants with the MMSE scores of 24-26 (\geq 9 education years) and of 23–25 (<9 education years) were classified into MCI. Third, the participants with the MMSE scores of 14–23 (≥9 education years) and of 11–22 (<9 education years) were classified into moderate dementia. Finally, the participants with the MMSE scores of 0-13 (≥ 9 education years) and of 0-10(<9 education years) were classified into severe dementia (33).

Causal Diagram

The DAGs were plotted by background knowledge (**Figure 1**). In Model 1, the unbiased causal path between bone loss and cognitive impairment was plotted with adjustment of age and sex. In Model 2, the causal path was plotted with adjustment of age, sex, and physical activity. In Model 3, the causal path was plotted with adjustment of the age, sex, physical activity, vitamin D, and total lean mass. The DAGs were produced by the DAGitty version 3.0 software (University of Lübeck, Germany).



Statistical Analysis

The continuous and discrete variables were analyzed through the ANOVA and chi-squared test, respectively. The *p*-trend for the three cognitive groups was estimated by the generalized linear models for continuous variables and the Cochran-Armitage trend test for the discrete variable. We used the DAGs to decide which covariates were adjusted and put them into the multivariable model for obtaining the unbiasing results. The generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) with the random intercept and unstructured covariance matrix were applied, with the MMSE scores being dependent variables and with total BMD (unadjusted model); with total BMD, age, and sex (in Model 1); with total BMD, age, sex, and physical activity (in Model 2); or with total BMD, age, sex, physical activity, vitamin D, and total lean mass (in Model 3) being independent variables. The model fit statistics of the Akaike information criterion (AIC) and the Schwarz information criterion (SIC) were used to select the best model. For the AIC and the SIC, a lower score indicates a better model (34). The statistical significance was defined as two-tailed p < 0.05. All the statistical analyses were performed by using SAS 9.4 (Cary, North Carolina, USA). In the subgroup analysis by gender, the GLMMs with the above settings were applied. Required sample sizes for the subgroup analysis were estimated by specifying an α error of 0.05, a power (1- β) of 0.80, the number of covariates of 5, and the R^2 values obtained in the unadjusted model.

Validation Study

To examine the relationship between bone loss and cognitive impairment in Models 1 to 3, we employed the SEM. For explaining the SEM fit, we focused on the chi-squared test, comparative fit index (CFI), and standardized root mean square residual (SRMR). The chi-squared test for the SEM with p < 0.05 was defined as a good model fit. The values of the CFI and SRMR ≥ 0.90 and the SEM < 0.80 were considered as acceptable levels of fit, respectively (35–37). For the assessment of the direct effects, β coefficient of < 0.05 was considered to be unmeaningful, β coefficient of 0.10-0.24 was moderate, and β coefficient of < 0.003 was unmeaningful, β coefficient of 0.003-0.010 was small but meaningful, β coefficient of 0.010-0.060 was moderate, and β coefficient of ≥ 0.060 was large (38).

RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics

The flowchart of enrolling the elder participants in this crosssectional study is shown in **Figure 2**. A total of 535 elder participants who completed the assessment were enrolled (**Table 1**). The average MMSE scores for the normal cognition, MCI, and dementia groups were 28.5 ± 1.2 , 24.7 ± 1.0 , and 12.8 ± 9.6 (p < 0.0001, p-trend < 0.0001), respectively. In these



three groups, the average ages were 71.3 ± 5.6 , 73.2 ± 7.0 , and 75.1 ± 6.8 (p < 0.0001, p-trend < 0.0001) and the education years were 9.5 ± 4.9 , 8.2 ± 4.3 , and 5.7 ± 4.2 (p < 0.0001, p-trend < 0.0001), respectively. Dementia and MCI groups had more female participants compared to the normal cognition. No significant difference in BMI was observed among these three groups.

Bone Marrow Density and Osteoporosis

The measurements of BMD in the whole body and specific body regions for the three cognitive groups are shown in Table 2. With increasing in the cognitive impairment, the whole-body BMD revealed the decreasing values (1.102 \pm 0.136, 1.096 \pm 0.136, $1.013 \pm 0.139 \text{ g/cm}^2$, p < 0.0001, p-trend < 0.0001) among the normal cognition, MCI, dementia groups, respectively. Besides, BMD also showed the trend of decreasing values consistently in the upper extremities (p = 0.0005, p-trend = 0.0016), lower extremities (*p* < 0.0001, *p*-trend < 0.0001), spine (*p* < 0.0001, *p* trend < 0.0001), trunk area (*p* < 0.0001, *p*-trend < 0.0001), and femoral neck (p < 0.0001, *p*-trend < 0.0001), respectively. On the basis of the WHO definition, osteoporosis was more prevalent in the older adults with more severe cognitive impairment [normal cognition: 15.8%, MCI: 23.5%, and dementia groups: 32.5%, respectively (p = 0.0022, p-trend = 0.0005)]. The prevalence of osteoporosis in the overall participants was 19.6% (105/535).

Body Composition, Physical Activity, and Laboratory Tests

For body composition parameters (**Table 3**), the total lean mass was decreasing significantly with increasing in the cognitive impairment (40.79 \pm 7.38, 39.14 \pm 7.38, 37.21 \pm 7.17 kg, p = 0.0006, p-trend < 0.0001). The lean mass in the arms (p = 0.0047, p-trend = 0.0011), trunk (p = 0.0047, p-trend = 0.0011), android (p = 0.0045, p-trend = 0.0012), gynoid (p < 0.0001, p-trend < 0.0001), and legs (p = 0.0045, p-trend = 0.0012) revealed as the same trend as lean mass in whole body. For fat mass, the three cognitive groups showed no significant differences among them. For physical activity (**Table 4**), the MCI group showed a little higher activity, but no significant differences were found in the three groups. The laboratory tests of the lipid profiles, ferritin, vitamin A, and vitamin D showed no significant differences among the three cognitive groups as well (**Table 4**).

Associations Between Bone Loss and Cognitive Impairment

The regression analysis of the GLMMs is presented in **Table 5**. In the unadjusted models, decrease of total BMD showed significantly decrease of the MMSE score ($\beta = 8.479$ per g/cm² decrease, SE = 2.072, p < 0.0001). In Model 1, the significant association between total BMD and the MMSE score remained with adjustment of the age and sex ($\beta = 5.792$ per g/cm² decrease, SE = 2.681, p = 0.0312). In Model 2, this significant association

TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics of the three cognitive groups (N = 535).

Cognitive function	Normal cognition	Mild cognitive impairment	Dementia	P value	P trend
Number (%)	360/535 (67.3%)	98/535 (18.3%)	77/535 (14.4%)		
MMSE score	28.5 ± 1.2	24.7 ± 1.0	12.8 ± 9.6	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Age (years)	71.3 ± 5.6	73.2 ± 7.0	75.1 ± 6.8	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
65–69 years	164/360 (45.6%)	38/98 (38.8%)	19/77 (24.7%)	<0.0001*	
70–74 years	101/360 (28.1%)	22/98 (22.5%)	19/77 (24.7%)		
75–79 years	62/360 (17.2%)	19/98 (19.4%)	11/77 (14.3%)		
≥80 years	33/360 (9.2%)	19/98 (19.4%)	28/77 (36.4%)		
Female Sex	138/360 (38.3%)	45/98 (45.9%)	50/77 (64.9%)	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.6 ± 3.5	24.9± 4.0	24.5 ± 3.8	0.6977	0.9175

*Statistical significance (p < 0.05).

BMI, body mass index; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination.

TABLE 2 | Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measurements for bone marrow density in the three cognitive groups.

Cognitive function	Normal cognition	Mild cognitive impairment	Dementia	P value	P trend
Bone marrow density (g	/cm²)				
Whole body	1.102 ± 0.136	1.096 ± 0.136	1.013 ± 0.139	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Upper extremities	0.808 ± 0.157	0.813 ± 0.164	0.733 ± 0.136	0.0005*	0.0016*
Lower extremities	1.187 ± 0.178	1.170 ± 0.178	1.079 ± 0.191	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Spine	1.064 ± 0.203	1.042 ± 0.214	0.947 ± 0.180	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Trunk	0.880 ± 0.132	0.865 ± 0.143	0.797 ± 0.120	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Bone marrow density (g	/cm ²) by specific body region	1			
Femoral neck	0.812 ± 0.150	0.786 ± 0.177	0.728 ± 0.147	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
L-spine (L1 L4)	1.053 ± 0.217	1.020 ± 0.192	0.958 ± 0.235	0.0520	0.0162*
T-score					
Femoral neck	-1.134 ± 1.228	-1.235 ± 1.314	-1.642 ± 0.999	0.0053*	0.0022*
L-spine (L1 to L4)	-0.590 ± 1.760	-0.843 ± 1.561	-1.346 ± 1.934	0.0598	0.0193*
Osteopenia (%)	72/360 (20.0%)	20/98 (20.4%)	14/77 (18.2%)	0.9237	0.7752
Osteoporosis (%)	57/360 (15.8%)	23/98 (23.5%)	25/77 (32.5%)	0.0022*	0.0005*

*Statistical significance (p < 0.05).

MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination.

TABLE 3 | Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry measurements for body composition in the three cognitive groups.

Cognitive function	Normal cognition	Mild cognitive impairment	Dementia	P value	P trend
Body composition of lea	n mass				
Total (kg)	40.79 ± 7.38	39.14 ± 7.38	37.21 ± 7.17	0.0006*	<0.0001*
Arms (kg)	4.58 ± 1.12	4.37 ± 1.03	4.13 ± 1.10	0.0047*	0.0011*
Trunk (kg)	19.76 ± 3.48	19.14 ± 3.63	18.22 ± 3.38	0.0030*	0.0007*
Android (kg)	2.97 ± 0.61	2.88 ± 0.68	2.71 ± 0.60	0.0045*	0.0012*
Gynoid (kg)	6.12 ± 1.22	5.79 ± 1.27	5.41 ± 1.23	<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Legs (g)	13.20 ± 2.73	12.48 ± 2.77	11.83 ± 2.69	0.0003*	<0.0001*
Body composition of fat	mass				
Total (kg)	19.67 ± 6.94	20.06 ± 6.88	19.18 ± 6.24	0.7201	0.7650
Arms (kg)	1.98 ± 0.84	2.09 ± 0.84	2.11 ± 0.84	0.3712	0.1741
Trunk (kg)	11.44 ± 4.30	11.51 ± 4.26	10.91 ± 3.90	0.6137	0.4494
Android (kg)	2.09 ± 0.84	2.14± 0.87	1.97 ± 0.77	0.4291	0.4945
Gynoid (kg)	3.09 ± 1.08	3.13 ± 1.04	3.08 ± 0.98	0.9364	0.9541
Legs (kg)	5.48 ± 2.18	5.70 ± 2.11	5.42 ± 1.96	0.6411	0.9189

*Statistical significance (p < 0.05).

MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination.

TABLE 4 | Physical activity of the three cognitive groups.

Cognitive function	Normal cognition	Mild cognitive impairment	Dementia	P value	P trend
Physical activity (MET hours/week)	2.64 ± 11.01	3.19 ± 17.84	1.20 ± 5.94	0.7108	0.4941
Physical activity range				0.7815	
\geq 15.00 MET hours/week	17/360 (4.7%)	5/98 (5.1%)	3/77 (4.0%)		
7.50–14.9 MET hours/week	13/360 (3.6%)	2/98 (2.0%)	1/77 (2.0%)		
3.75–7.49 MET hours/week	6/360 (1.7%)	2/98 (2.0%)	0/77 (0%)		
<3.75MET hours/week	324/360 (90.0%)	89/98 (90.8%)	73/77 (94.0%)		
Lipid profile					
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	187.9 ± 36.8	181.3 ± 29.9	179.4 ± 32.6	0.0739	0.0267*
LDL-C (mg/dL)	118.7 ± 33.1	115.6 ± 27.4	112.2 ± 28.6	0.2389	0.0905
HDL-C (mg/dL)	53.5 ± 15.8	51.3 ± 12.9	51.7 ± 14.0	0.3691	0.2088
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	122.6 ± 75.7	110.1 ± 45.3	113.2 ± 55.8	0.2214	0.1407
Ferritin (ng/mL)	235.8 ± 256.4	220.6 ± 161.3	202.9 ± 149.6	0.5086	0.2450
Vitamin A (µM)	2.3 ± 0.7	2.2 ± 0.8	2.3 ± 0.8	0.8295	0.7519
Vitamin D (µM)	34.3 ± 10.6	36.7 ± 11.7	32.9 ± 12.5	0.0821	0.7966

*Statistical significance (p < 0.05).

HDL-C, high density lipoprotein-cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein-cholesterol; MET, metabolic equivalent of task.

TABLE 5 | Generalized linear mixed model estimates of the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE).

Scores of each item $(N = 535)$	Unadjusted Total MMSE Score [†]		Model 1 Total MMSE Score [†]		Model 2 Total MMSE Score [†]		Model 3 Total MMSE Score [†]					
	β	S.E.	P value	β	S.E.	P value	β	S.E.	P value	β	S.E.	P value
Total BMD (per g/cm ²)	-8.479	2.072	<0.0001*	-5.792	2.681	0.0312*	-5.819	2.682	0.0305*	-5.884	3.092	0.0576
Age (per 5 years)				-0.768	0.242	0.0016*	-0.764	0.242	0.0017*	-0.772	0.248	0.0020*
Sex (female vs male)				-0.826	0.754	0.2741	-0.786	0.756	0.2989	-1.825	1.000	0.0686
Physical Activity (per MET hours/week)							0.019	0.024	0.4278	0.020	0.023	0.3939
Vitamin D										-0.051	0.028	0.0772
Total lean mass (per kg)										-0.075	0.071	0.0391*
Model fit statistics												
AIC	3398.72			3391.61			3396.64			3014.11		
SIC	3394.72			3387.61			3392.64			3010.11		

*Variables with statistical significance (p < 0.05).

[†]Regression analysis of the generalized linear mixed model with the random intercept (multilevel model) was employed.

AIC, Akaike information criterion; BMD, bone marrow density; MET, metabolic equivalent of the task; SIC, Schwarz information criterion.

was persisted even if adjustment of the age, sex, and physical activity ($\beta = 5.819$ per g/cm² decrease, SE = 2.682, p = 0.0305). In Model 3, no statistically significant association between the bone loss ($\beta = 5.884$ per g/cm² decrease, SE = 3.092, p = 0.0576) and cognitive impairment was found with adjustment of the age, sex, physical activity, vitamin D, and total lean mass. In comparison to Models 1 and 2, Model 3 with the lowest values of the AIC (3014.11) and the SIC (3010.11) was considered the best model, which was furtherly used for the validation with an SEM.

There was no sex difference observed in the GLMMs (**Supplementary Table S1**). In the unadjusted models, decrease of total BMD showed significantly decrease of the MMSE score in the males ($\beta = 6.926$ per g/cm² decrease, SE = 2.986, p = 0.0211) and in the females ($\beta = 9.857$ per g/cm² decrease, SE = 4.778, p = 0.0403), respectively. After adjustment for the

age, physical activity, vitamin D, and total lean mass, a decrease of total BMD showed a reduction of the MMSE but without statistically significant. However, the sample size in the subgroup analysis by gender was inadequate (**Supplementary Table S2**). This study had 535 participants and out of them, 302 were males and 233 were females. The minimum sample size was 421 to attain an α error of 0.05 and apower (1- β) of 0.80 in the GLMMs with five covariates.

Validation With Structural Equation Modeling

In this study, the final SEM for the variables of age, bone mass, lean mass, vitamin D, physical activity, and the MMSE scores were plotted (**Figure 3**). This model also showed acceptable levels of fit [chi-squared test 22.75 with degrees of freedom

of 5 (p = 0.0004), CFI: 0.97, adjusted CFI: 0.93, SRMR: 0.06]. The standardized effects for the direct, indirect, and total effects were listed (**Supplementary Tables S3–S5**). In the direct paths, the predictive model confirmed that the MMSE score was significantly and moderately predicted by age ($\beta = 0.1363$, p = 0.0003) and bone mass ($\beta = 0.1251$, p = 0.0006) by total BMD. In the indirect paths, the MMSE score was significantly and strongly predicted by lean mass ($\beta = 0.1138$, p = 0.0003).

DISCUSSION

This study examined the association between bone mass and cognitive function for ethnic Asian elder adults in Taiwan. We found that bone loss was independently associated with cognitive impairment in the primary analysis with the GLMMs. The association between bone mass and cognitive function was not simply the confounding effect of age or change of body composition. These findings were reproducible and confirmed by our separate validation study with SEM.

An earlier hospital-based study, using a nationwide health insurance database for the patients in Taiwan who were diagnosed as having osteoporosis and related fractures [the International Classification of Diseases-9-Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) codes 733.0 and 733.1], revealed a 1.4-fold relative risk of developing dementia (39). Another similar study conducted in Germany that analyzed patients who had osteoporosis-related fractures (the ICD-10 codes M80 and M81) from 1993 to 2012 revealed that the patients with osteoporosis had a 1.2–1.3-fold higher risk of developing dementia (6). This study extended and confirmed that the association between bone mass and cognitive impairment existed in both the hospitalbased and community-based populations. In addition, the participants in this study were noninstitutionalized healthy elder adults. This indicated that bone health should be emphasized before elder adults developed obvious symptoms and signs of cognitive impairment.

Researchers have previously hypothesized that dementia and osteoporosis share mechanisms or are linked in other forms. In the SEM models, we found that the age and bone density individually directly predicted the MMSE score. This should be compatible with the unadjusted Model 1 and Model 2 in the regression analyses with the GLMMs. Therefore, we inferred that age and BMD were independently associated with cognitive impairment. On the other hand, BMD was not significantly associated with the MMSE score in Model 3 with adjustment of the vitamin D and lean mass. Additionally, lean mass was found significantly associated with the MMSE score in Model 3. In the SEM models, we found that the MMSE score was strongly and indirectly predicted by lean mass. These indirect paths from the lean mass to bone density, in the negative sense, should explain the attenuated association between BMD and the MMSE score by the GLMMs in Model 3. Additionally, we determined the SEM with acceptable fit with the three indicators of chi-squared test, CFI, and SRMR. Despite the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) was commonly used, we have the three main reasons that prefer SRMR to RMSEA: (1) SRMR is more accurate than RMSEA across small-to-large sample sizes (36, 40), (2) SRMR produces less type I error than RMSEA (36), and (3) RMSEA is more likely to overreject the true population models



by using the proposed cutoff criteria (41). Thus, we determined to use the three indicators, including the chi-squared test, CFI, and SRMR, to have an overall judgment of the good model fit.

The representative sampling of the community-based elder participants in this study should also be our strength. Proportions or prevalence of normal cognition, MCI, and dementia were similar to another nationwide population-based cross-sectional survey of cognitive impairment in Taiwan (42, 43). This study also had some limitations. First, owing to the cross-sectional design, we could not directly obtain the causal relationship between bone loss and cognitive impairment. However, with the SEM models, we may infer the most reasonable causal paths between bone loss and cognitive impairment. Second, the NAHSIT study focused on surveying the nutritional status of the elder participants and contained no more advanced genetic biomarkers. Third, this study had inadequate sample sizes in the subgroup analysis by gender. Though the overall analysis exhibited consistent results in both the males and females (Supplementary Table S1), larger sample size was required to confidently conclude no gender difference between the bone loss and cognitive impairment (Supplementary Table S2). Fourth, since this study aimed to survey the health status in the community population, the participants with higher health awareness were with higher willingness to complete all the assessments. A healthy volunteer bias possibly occurred and, therefore, the association between bone loss and cognitive impairment could be underestimated in this study. While the prevalence of osteoporosis in this study was 19.6%, the prevalence of osteoporosis by the National Health Insurance Research Database (NHIRD) of Taiwan, a real-world health database with coverage of > 99.9% residents in Taiwan (44), was from 17.4 to 25.0% (32). Our prevalence of MCI and dementia was similar to the prevalence by the NHIRD of Taiwan (42). Additionally, to ensure the representativeness for the total population in Taiwan, the NAHSIT 2013-2016 adopted the stratified sampling design by the characteristics of population density (with consideration of age and sex distribution) and geographical area. The enrollment protocol of the latest NAHSIT 2013-2016 (45) and the previous NAHSIT 2005-2008 (46) has been previously published. Consequently, we considered that the representative of the enrolled participants was not threatened.

In conclusion, these results support the association between bone loss and cognitive impairment for the older adults that were present and not simply a confounding effect from aging. The decrease of lean mass may indirectly affect cognitive impairment by influencing bone density. Further studies focus on exploring the biological plausibility that should be more convincing.

REFERENCES

 Padilla Colón CJ, Molina-Vicenty IL, Frontera-Rodríguez M, García-Ferré A, Rivera BP, Cintrón-Vélez G, et al. Muscle and bone mass loss in the elderly population: advances in diagnosis and treatment. *J Biomed (Syd).* (2018) 3:40–9. doi: 10.7150/jbm.23390

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because the NAHSIT 2013–2016 study was managed by the Health Promotion and Administration (HPA), Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan. With legal restrictions imposed by the government of Taiwan on the distribution of the personal health data in relation to the Personal Information Protection Act, request for data needs a formal proposal to the Health and Welfare Data Science Center (HWDC), Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan, and therefore the data was not publicly available. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan, https://www.mohw.gov. tw/np-126-2.html.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board on Biomedical Science Research, Academia Sinica, Taiwan; Research Ethics Committee, National Health Research Institutes, Taiwan. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S-FL, Y-CF, W-HP, and C-HB contributed to the conception and design of the study, acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the data. S-FL wrote the first draft of the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Health Promotion Administration (HPA), Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan (reference number: MOHW108-HPAH-114-134703 and MOHW109-HPA-H-114-144702), and by the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, in the form of a grant awarded to CHB (reference number: MOST 107-2314-B-038-072-MY3 and MOST 110-2314-B038-056-MY3). The content of this research may not represent the opinion of the Health Promotion Administration, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 747877/full#supplementary-material

Dionyssiotis Y. Sarcopenia in the elderly. Eur Endocrinol. (2019) 15:13– 4. doi: 10.17925/EE.2019.15.1.13

Haasum Y, Fastbom J, Fratiglioni L, Johnell K. Undertreatment of osteoporosis in persons with dementia? A population-based study. Osteoporos Int. (2012) 23:1061–8. doi: 10.1007/s00198-011-1636-8

- Zhou R, Zhou H, Rui L, Xu J. Bone loss and osteoporosis are associated with conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* (2014) 11:706–13. doi: 10.2174/15672050116661408121 15818
- Amouzougan A, Lafaie L, Marotte H, Dènariè D, Collet P, Pallot-Prades B, et al. High prevalence of dementia in women with osteoporosis. *Joint Bone Spine*. (2017) 84:611–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2016. 08.002
- Kostev K, Hadji P, Jacob L. Impact of Osteoporosis on the Risk of Dementia in Almost 60,000 Patients Followed in General Practices in Germany. J Alzheimers Dis. (2018) 65:401–7. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180569
- Frame G, Bretland KA, Dengler-Crish CM. Mechanistic complexities of bone loss in Alzheimer's disease: a review. *Connect Tissue Res.* (2020) 61:4– 18. doi: 10.1080/03008207.2019.1624734
- Epstein S, Inzerillo AM, Caminis J, Zaidi M. Disorders associated with acute rapid and severe bone loss. J Bone Miner Res. (2003) 18:2083– 94. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.12.2083
- Oppl B, Michitsch G, Misof B, Kudlacek S, Donis J, Klaushofer K, et al. Low bone mineral density and fragility fractures in permanent vegetative state patients. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2014) 29:1096–100. doi: 10.1002/ jbmr.2122
- Ogawa Y, Kaneko Y, Sato T, Shimizu S, Kanetaka H, Hanyu H. Sarcopenia and Muscle Functions at Various Stages of Alzheimer Disease. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:710. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00710
- Haberland M, Schilling AF, Rueger JM, Amling M. Brain and bone: central regulation of bone mass. A new paradigm in skeletal biology. J Bone Joint Surg Am. (2001) 83:1871–6. doi: 10.2106/00004623-200112000-00016
- Karsenty G, Oury F. The central regulation of bone mass, the first link between bone remodeling and energy metabolism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2010) 95:4795–801. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-1030
- Kelly RR, Sidles SJ, LaRue AC. Effects of neurological disorders on bone health. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:612366. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020. 612366
- Kenkre JS, Bassett J. The bone remodelling cycle. Ann Clin Biochem. (2018) 55:308–27. doi: 10.1177/0004563218759371
- Ducy P, Amling M, Takeda S, Priemel M, Schilling AF, Beil FT, et al. Leptin inhibits bone formation through a hypothalamic relay: a central control of bone mass. *Cell.* (2000) 100:197–207. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00) 81558-5
- Paz-Filho G, Wong ML, Licinio J. The procognitive effects of leptin in the brain and their clinical implications. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2010) 64:1808– 12. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2010.02536.x
- McGuire MJ, Ishii M. Leptin dysfunction and Alzheimer's disease: evidence from cellular, animal, and human studies. *Cell Mol Neurobiol.* (2016) 36:203– 17. doi: 10.1007/s10571-015-0282-7
- Sui SX, Williams LJ, Holloway-Kew KL, Hyde NK, Pasco JA. Skeletal muscle health and cognitive function: a narrative review. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 22:255. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010255
- Nourhashémi F, Andrieu S, Gillette-Guyonnet S, Reynish E, Albarède JL, Grandjean H, et al. Is there a relationship between fat-free soft tissue mass and low cognitive function? Results from a study of 7,105 women. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2002) 50:1796–801. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50507.x
- Wirth R, Smoliner C, Sieber CC, Volkert D. Cognitive function is associated with body composition and nutritional risk of geriatric patients. *J Nutr Health Aging*. (2011) 15:706–10. doi: 10.1007/s12603-011-0089-2
- Kilgour AH, Ferguson KJ, Gray CD, Deary IJ, Wardlaw JM, MacLullich AM, et al. Neck muscle cross-sectional area, brain volume and cognition in healthy older men: a cohort study. *BMC Geriatr.* (2013) 13:20. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-13-20
- Burns JM, Johnson DK, Watts A, Swerdlow RH, Brooks WM. Reduced lean mass in early Alzheimer disease and its association with brain atrophy. *Arch Neurol.* (2010) 67:428–33. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.38
- Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Gillette-Guyonnet S, Gardette V, Annweiler C, Beauchet O, et al. Gait speed, body composition, and dementia. The EPIDOS-Toulouse cohort. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2012) 67:425– 32. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr177

- Sui SX, Williams LJ, Holloway-Kew KL, Hyde NK, Anderson KB, Tembo MC, et al. Skeletal muscle density and cognitive function: a cross-sectional study in men. *Calcif Tissue Int.* (2021) 108:165–75. doi: 10.1007/s00223-020-00759-3
- Kang HG, Park HY Ryu HU, Suk SH. Bone mineral loss and cognitive impairment: the PRESENT project. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2018) 97:e12755. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000012755
- Zhou R, Deng J, Zhang M, Zhou HD, Wang YJ. Association between bone mineral density and the risk of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. (2011) 24:101–8. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-101467
- Loskutova N, Honea RA, Vidoni ED, Brooks WM, Burns JM. Bone density and brain atrophy in early Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. (2009) 18:777–85. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2009-1185
- Kwok OM, Cheung MWL, Jak S, Ryu E, Wu JY. Editorial: Recent advancements in structural equation modeling (SEM): from both methodological and application perspectives. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:1936. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01936
- Beran TN, Violato C. Structural equation modeling in medical research: a primer. BMC Res Notes. (2010) 3:267. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-3-267
- Tennant PWG, Murray EJ, Arnold KF, Berrie L, Fox MP, Gadd SC, et al. Use of directed acyclic graphs (DAGs) to identify confounders in applied health research: review and recommendations. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2021) 50:620– 32. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyaa213
- Lin YC, Pan WH. Bone mineral density in adults in Taiwan: results of the Nutrition and Health Survey in Taiwan 2005-2008 (NAHSIT 2005–2008). *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 20:283–91. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2011.20.2.18
- Chen FP, Huang TS, Fu TS, Sun CC, Chao AS, Tsai TL. Secular trends in incidence of osteoporosis in Taiwan: a nationwide population-based study. *Biomed J.* (2018) 41:314–20. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2018.08.001
- Shyu YI, Yip PK. Factor structure and explanatory variables of the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) for elderly persons in Taiwan. J Formos Med Assoc. (2001) 100:676–83.
- Dziak JJ, Coffman DL, Lanza ST Li R, Jermiin LS. Sensitivity and specificity of information criteria. *Brief Bioinform.* (2020) 21:553–65. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbz016
- Shi D, Lee T, Maydeu-Olivares A. Understanding the model size effect on SEM fit indices. *Educ Psychol Meas.* (2019) 79:310–34. doi: 10.1177/0013164418783530
- Shi D, Maydeu-Olivares A, Rosseel Y. Assessing fit in ordinal factor analysis models: SRMR vs. RMSEA. Struct Equ Model. (2020) 27:1– 15. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2019.1611434
- Shi D, Maydeu-Olivares A. The effect of estimation methods on SEM fit indices. *Educ Psychol Meas.* (2020) 80:421– 45. doi: 10.1177/0013164419885164
- Gunzler D, Chen T, Wu P, Zhang H. Introduction to mediation analysis with structural equation modeling. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry*. (2013) 25:390–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2013.06.009
- 39. Chang KH, Chung CJ, Lin CL, Sung FC, Wu TN, Kao CH. Increased risk of dementia in patients with osteoporosis: a population-based retrospective cohort analysis. Age (Dordr). (2014) 36:967–75. doi: 10.1007/s11357-013-9608-x
- Pavlov G, Maydeu-Olivares A, Shi D. Using the standardized root mean squared residual (SRMR) to assess exact fit in structural equation models. *Educ Psychol Meas.* (2021) 81:110–30. doi: 10.1177/0013164420926231
- Hu Lt, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* (1999) 6:1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Sun Y, Lee HJ, Yang SC, Chen TF, Lin KN, Lin CC, et al. A nationwide survey of mild cognitive impairment and dementia, including very mild dementia, in Taiwan. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e100303. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100303
- Fuh JL, Wang SJ. Dementia in Taiwan: past, present, and future. Acta Neurol Taiwan. (2008) 17:153–61. doi: 10.29819/ANT.200809.0001
- Hsieh CY, Su CC, Shao SC, Sung SF, Lin SJ, Kao Yang YH, et al. Taiwan's National Health Insurance Research Database: past and future. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2019) 11:349–58. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S196293
- 45. Lin SF, Fan YC, Chou CC, Pan WH, Bai CH. Body composition patterns among normal glycemic, pre-diabetic, diabetic health Chinese adults in community: NAHSIT 2013-2016. PLoS ONE. (2020) 15:e0241121. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241121

46. Tu SH, Chen C, Hsieh YT, Chang HY, Yeh CJ, Lin YC, et al. Design and sample characteristics of the 2005–2008 Nutrition and Health Survey in Taiwan. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. (2011) 20:225–37. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2011.20.2.13

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lin, Fan, Pan and Bai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





US Older Adults That Consume Avocado or Guacamole Have Better Cognition Than Non-consumers: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2011–2014

Feon W. Cheng¹, Nikki A. Ford¹ and Matthew K. Taylor^{2,3*}

¹ Avocado Nutrition Center, Mission Viejo, CA, United States, ² Medical Center Department of Dietetics and Nutrition, University of Kansas, Kansas City, KS, United States, ³ Alzheimer's Disease Center, University of Kansas, Fairway, KS, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Joseph Lamport, University of Reading, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Philippa Jackson, Northumbria University, United Kingdom Timothy Michael Eschle, University of the West of Scotland, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Matthew K. Taylor mtaylor3@kumc.edu orcid.org/0000-0002-4368-2705

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 23 July 2021 Accepted: 15 September 2021 Published: 14 October 2021

Citation:

Cheng FW, Ford NA and Taylor MK (2021) US Older Adults That Consume Avocado or Guacamole Have Better Cognition Than Non-consumers: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2011–2014. Front. Nutr. 8:746453. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.746453 **Purpose:** The goal of this study is to examine how avocado relates to cognitive function among older adults.

Methods: A total of 2,886 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2011–2014 participants aged 60 or older met the eligibility criteria and were included of our cross-sectional study. Participants were binarily classified as avocado consumers (i.e., reported consuming any avocado/guacamole in either 24-h dietary recalls) or non-consumers. Cognitive performance was evaluated with: Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's disease (CERAD)—immediate and delayed recall (IWR/DWR), the Animal Fluency test, and the Digit Symbol Substitution Test. We calculated the education-dependent z-scores for each subject because education level can impact cognitive function. Global cognitive score, an average of the z-scores for each cognitive test, was calculated in participants who had completed all four tests. To account for relevant covariates, we tested for mean differences in cognition between consumers and non-consumers using independent sample *t*-tests and ANCOVA, special cases of ordinary least squares regression.

Results: Avocado consumers had significantly better cognitive scores across all cognitive tests and the global cognition score (p < 0.05) in the unadjusted model. Some mean differences attenuated after adjusting for potential confounders, but others remained significant. Compared to non-consumers, avocado consumers had significantly higher z-scores of 0.15, 0.15, and 0.11 for CERAD IWR and DWR, and global cognition score, respectively (all p < 0.05 in adjusted models).

Conclusion: Avocado consumption was associated with significantly better IWR, DWR, and the overall global cognition score, which remained significant when controlling for all relevant confounders.

Keywords: cognitive performance, older adults, avocado, brain health, NHANES

INTRODUCTION

Brain health is becoming an increasingly important research topic, especially in the older adult population, as it is estimated that diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease (AD) will triple by 2060 from 2017 (1–3). Many of the known modifiable risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia are cardiovascular-related (1, 4). Some of those risk factors include high cholesterol, hypertension, obesity, diabetes, and tobacco use. Improved nutrition can help alleviate many of these modifiable risk factors and may directly impact the brain (1, 4).

There have been studies showing the potential benefits of single food items and dietary patterns on brain health. For instance, greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet has been associated with slower cognitive decline and cognitive impairment (5). In a cross-sectional analysis of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) survey (2011–2014), Taylor et al. found that greater Mediterranean Diet adherence was associated with better cognitive performance among individuals aged 60 years and older (6). Similarly, the German Longitudinal Cognitive Impairment and Dementia Study found that those with greater adherence to the Mediterranean Diet had better memory in older adults (7). Although avocados are not part of a traditional Mediterranean diet, consumption is dramatically increasing worldwide, and their nutrient profile aligns strikingly well with the Mediterranean dietary pattern.

A medium avocado fruit provides a lipid profile almost identical to olive oil plus 16% daily value (DV) niacin and riboflavin, 24% DV vitamin B6, 32% DV folate, 44% pantothenic acid, 408 ug of the carotenoid lutein, 36% of the DV for fiber, 16% DV vitamin C, and 20% DV vitamin E (8, 9). Single food components with similar fatty acid profiles to avocados, such as extra virgin olive oil and nuts, have been shown to correlate with cognition (10-12). Yet, few studies have investigated the association between avocados and cognition (13, 14). The two existing studies are limited in sample size and only one of them examined older adults, which may not be representative of the general older adult population. Both studies provided one whole avocado a day for 12 weeks or 6 months, which does not reflect habitual intake of avocado within the US population. Therefore, it's important to understand the role of this understudied but popularly consumed food on cognitive function using a large nationally representative health and nutrition survey. Specifically, this study aims to examine how avocado relates to cognitive function among individuals aged 60 or older from the Natonal Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2011-2014.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This cross-sectional study was conducted using NHANES, a publicly available dataset. NHANES is a program within the National Center for Health Statistics, a part of the Centers for

Disease Control and Prevention¹. It used a multistage, probability sampling design to select participants representing the non-institutionalized US population (15). It also oversampled some subgroups to allow for a better estimate for those subgroups. All NHANES participants were provided informed consent, and the National Center of Health Statistics Research Ethics Review Board reviewed and approved NHANES protocols.

Cognitive tests were administered only in the 2011–2012 and 2013–2014 cycles to adults 60 years or older; thus we restricted our analysis to participants in this age group and survey waves (n = 3,472) (16). Figure 1 displays the flow chart of eligible NHANES participants for this study. Subjects were included if they had at least one cognitive assessment and one 24-h food recall. Those with extreme total energy intake (e.g., women: <500 or >5000 kcal/day for women and <500 or >8,000 kcal/day for men) were further excluded (17). A total of 2,886 NHANES 2011–2014 participants were appropriate for this study.

Dietary Assessment

Trained interviewers collected 24-h dietary recalls. The first recall was conducted in the Mobile Examination Center (MEC), and the second recall was conducted over the phone 3–10 days later. More details of the interview process are described elsewhere (18).

Food codes from the USDA Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies were used to identify avocado (63105010) and guacamole (63409010) consumers. Participants were binarily classified as consumers or non-consumers. Avocado consumers were defined as participants who reported consuming any avocado/guacamole in either 24-h dietary recalls. Avocado nonconsumers were defined as participants who didn't report eating any avocado/guacamole during either 24-h dietary recalls.

Cognitive Function

NHANES participants aged 60 years or older not requiring a proxy informant in the 2011–2014 cohorts completed cognitive tests at home and in the MEC. The assessments were conducted in the following order: Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's disease (CERAD)—immediate recall (IWR), the Animal Fluency test (AFT), the Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST), and CERAD—delayed recall (DWR). Cognitive tests were available in different languages, including English, Spanish, Korean, Chinese, and Vietnamese.

The CERAD assessment evaluates IWR and DWR of new verbal learning (19). Participants completed three learning trials where the trained interviewer showed words to the participants on flip cards. During each learning trial, the participants read the words out loud, one at a time. After flipping through all 10 cards, the participant had 90 s to remember as many words as possible. The CERAD score ranged from 0 to 10 for each learning trial; each correctly recalled word earned one point. The CERAD IWR score was an average of correctly recalled words from the three trials. After the AFT and DSST assessments, one delayed

¹Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey*. Survey Methods and Analytic Guidelines. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/index.htm (accessed April 25 2021).



recall was conducted, about 8–10 min after the initial word cards were presented.

The AFT test is a test of executive function, assessing verbal fluency by asking subjects to audibly list as many animals as possible within 1 min (20). As a practice trial, participants were asked to list aloud three clothing items. If they could not accomplish the test task, they did not continue with the AFT assessment. The calculated score equals the number of correct animals named.

The DSST is a subtest of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Third Edition, which tests processing speed and attention using a paper form (21). The top of the page shows numbers one through nine with unique symbols associated with each number. Subjects were given 2 min to draw corresponding symbols in the 133 numbered boxes. The score ranged from 0 to 133; each point represents a correct match. Participants did a practice test, and those who were unable to complete it without the interviewer's help did not continue the DSST.

Because education level has been shown to impact cognitive function significantly, we calculated the education-dependent zscores for each subject (22). Participants were first grouped by their educational levels (i.e., <9th grade, 9–11th grade, high school grad/GED or equivalent, some college or AA degree, and college graduate or above). We then calculated participants' education-dependent z-scores for each cognitive test with the mean and standard deviation derived from each education level group. Finally, a global cognitive score, taken as the average of the z-scores for each cognitive test, was calculated in participants who had completed all four tests.

Covariates

The following variables were assessed for confounding: age (continuous), gender (male and female), the ratio of family income to poverty (continuous), race (Mexican American, other Hispanic, non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, non-Hispanic Asian, and other race-including multi-racial), marital status (married, widowed, divorced, separated, never married, and living with a partner), smoked at least 100 cigarettes in life (yes and no), had at least 12 alcohol drinks per 1 year (yes and no), work activity (vigorous, moderate, and other), recreational activities (vigorous, moderate, and other), body mass index (continuous), Mediterranean Diet score (continuous), selfreported physician diagnosis of prediabetes or diabetes (yes and no), self-reported physician diagnosis of coronary heart disease (yes and no), self-reported physician diagnosis of high blood pressure (yes and no), and self-reported physician diagnosis of stroke (yes and no).

The work and recreational activities variables were calculated using the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire, which asks two sets of similar questions to characterize typical work activity and typical recreational activity. The first set asks whether the participant regularly engages in 10 min of continuous vigorous activity and the other set determines whether the participant regularly engages in 10 min of continuous moderate activity. Subjects were classified as engaging in "vigorous work activity" if they answered "yes" to the vigorous work activity question, "moderate work activity" if they answered "no" to vigorous work activity and "yes" to moderate work activity, and "other" if they answered "no" for both questions. The same approach was used for questions relating to recreational activity.

Calculation of the Mediterranean Diet score in this sample has been previously described (6) using a modified version of Sofi, et al.'s 18-point Mediterranean Diet index (Sofi MedD Score) (23). Briefly, the Sofi MedD Score consists of 9 groups: fruit, vegetables, legumes, cereals, fish, meat, dairy, alcohol, and olive oils. Each group was assigned either 0, 1, or 2, depending on an individual's intake. Except for meat, dairy, and alcohol, a greater score represents a higher consumption of each food group.

Statistical Analysis

For all statistical analyses, we used sampling weights designed to account for multiple cycles of complex, multistage surveys (15). We performed descriptive statistics to show the baseline characteristics. Avocado consumers and non-consumers characteristics were compared using independent sample *t*-tests and chi-square tests. We compared means for educationdependent cognitive performance between the two avocado consumption groups using unadjusted and covariate-adjusted ordinary least squares (OLS) regression models (i.e., independent sample t-test and ANCOVA). Model 1 was unadjusted. Model 2 was adjusted for age, gender, the ratio of family income to poverty, race, and marital status. Model 3 further adjusted for smoking status, alcohol consumption, work activity, recreational activities, BMI, Mediterranean Diet score, selfreported physician diagnosis of prediabetes or diabetes, self-reported physician diagnosis of coronary heart disease, self-reported physician diagnosis of high blood pressure, and selfreported physician diagnosis of stroke. Covariates were selected based on previous research showing potential association between these covariates and exposure and/or outcomes (6, 16, 17, 24–27). There were no indications of multicollinearity in adjusted regression models (i.e., variance inflation factor ≤ 2.5 and tolerance >0.2), and model assumptions were tested using residual analyses (e.g., residual histograms and quantile-quantile plots). All analyses were performed with SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC), and the level of significance was considered at p < 0.05.

Protocol Registration and Checklist

We developed and registered our study protocol at: osf.io/yjbdn before data analysis (28). In addition, this study also followed the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) checklist to ensure the quality of the research.

RESULTS

Of 19,931 NHANES 2011–2014 participants, 2,886 individuals met the criteria for this study (**Figure 1**). Approximately 7% of them were avocado consumers with an average (standard error)

avocado and guacamole consumption of 73.61 (7.25) and 53.37 (9.41) grams, respectively. In general, avocado consumers were younger, more likely to be married, had a higher family income to poverty ratio, and educational level (**Table 1**). They also had a lower BMI, engaged in more vigorous or moderate recreational activities, and had a higher diet quality, as measured by the Mediterranean Diet Score (**Table 1**).

Figure 2 illustrates the mean education-dependent z-scores, corresponding cognitive test 95% confidence intervals, and *p*-values for avocado consumers and non-consumers. In the unadjusted model, avocado consumers had significantly better cognitive performance across all cognitive tests and the global cognition score (p < 0.05) (**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Table 1**). Some mean differences attenuated after adjusting for potential confounders (models 2 and 3), but others remained significant. In the fully adjusted model 3, compared to non-consumers, avocado consumers had significantly higher *z*-scores of 0.15, 0.15, and 0.11 for CERAD IWR and DWR, and global cognition scores, respectively (all p < 0.05).

Supplementary Table 1 presents complete regression statistics for all three of our OLS models using avocado consumer vs. non-consumer as the primary independent variable.

DISCUSSION

This study was the first to compare the differences in cognitive function between avocado consumers and non-consumers in an observational dataset of older Americans. Avocado consumers had significantly better scores for the CERAD IWR and DWR tests and the overall global cognition score and remained significant when controlling for relevant confounders (in all adjusted models). Our study found that avocados may have an impact independent of a number of covariates, including diet quality (per model 3), which is associated with slower cognitive decline and cognitive impairment (5). While the AFT and DSST scores were significantly better for avocado consumers in our unadjusted model, the significance was attenuated in the adjusted models. Given avocado consumption is growing dramatically worldwide, and research has shown the cardiometabolic benefits of eating avocados through the effects of various dietary components, phytochemical, and nutrients that avocados include as discussed by Silva Caldas et al. (29-34), it's relevant to study the cognitive benefits of avocado intake within a large population cohort.

We found that consuming avocado was most strongly related to better memory performance. Among all participants, avocado consumers recalled an average of 1.8 more words across the three learning trials for the IWR and 0.9 more words on the DWR. For cognitively normal individuals of this age group, the average performance by avocado consumers on these tasks was at the median for suggested normative performance while average performance by non-consumers was at the bottom of the suggested interquartile range (35). This is critical because memory is the most common complaint in older adults and likely the first cognitive domain to be affected in agerelated neurodegenerative disease (i.e., AD and Mild cognitive impairment) (36, 37). Two previous studies investigated the TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of NHANES participants by avocado/guacamole consumer vs. non-consumer (n = 2,886)*.

Avocado/guacamole consumer [†]	All	No	Yes	Р
	(<i>n</i> = 2,886)	(n = 2,693)	(<i>n</i> = 193)	
Age (yr)	69.3 (0.2)	69.4 (0.2)	67.9 (0.5)	0.03
Female, %	53.8	53.2	62.0	0.08
Family income to poverty ratio	3.1 (0.1)	3.1 (0.1)	3.7 (0.2)	0.003
Race/ethnicity, %				0.002
Mexican American	3.4	3.3	4.6	
Other hispanic	3.7	3.4	7.9	
Non-hispanic white	79.5	79.4	80.1	
Non-hispanic black	8.5	9.0	2.8	
Non-hispanic Asian	3.0	3.0	3.4	
Other race-including multi-racial	1.9	1.9	1.2	
Marital status, %				<0.00
Married	62.6	61.5	76.0	
Widowed	16.9	17.8	5.4	
Divorced	12.3	12.4	11.1	
Separated	1.2	1.3	0.4	
Never married	4.3	4.1	6.8	
Living with partner	2.6	2.8	0.3	
Education, %				<0.00
<9th grade	6.0	6.2	4.4	
9–11th grade	10.3	10.7	5.5	
High school grad/GED or equivalent	22.2	22.8	14.4	
Some college or AA degree	31.5	31.8	27.4	
College graduate or above	30.0	28.5	48.2	
BMI (kg/m ²)	29.1 (0.2)	29.3 (0.2)	27.5 (0.7)	0.02
Smoker, % [‡]	50.4	50.6	47.2	0.59
Alcohol drinker, %§	72.5	71.6	83.7	0.005
Work activity, %				0.99
Vigorous	12.9	12.8	13.4	
Moderate	21.9	21.9	22.1	
Other	65.2	65.2	64.5	
Recreation activities, %				0.000
Vigorous	11.4	10.5	22.5	
Moderate	33.8	33.4	38.0	
Other	54.8	56.0	39.5	
Prediabetes or diabetes, % [¶]	30.2	30.6	25.7	0.34
Coronary heart disease, % [¶]	9.7	9.9	6.3	0.17
Stroke, %¶	6.6	6.8	4.5	0.47
Hypertension, % [¶]	59.4	59.7	55.7	0.42
Energy intake, kcals/day	1,870.7 (18.2)	1,862.5 (19)	1,973.0 (65)	0.12
Mediterranean Diet Score	5.3 (0.1)	5.2 (0.1)	6.2 (0.2)	0.000
Raw cognitive scores		0.2 (0.1)	0.2 (0.2)	0.0000
CERAD immediate learning	6.5 (0.1)	6.5 (0.1)	7.1 (0.1)	<0.00
CERAD delayed recall	6.2 (0.1)	6.1 (0.1)	7.0 (0.1)	<0.00
Animal fluency test	18.1 (0.2)	17.9 (0.2)	20.1 (0.6)	0.000
Digit symbol substitution test	52.4 (0.5)	51.8 (0.6)	58.9 (1.7)	0.000

BMI, body mass index; CERAD, Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's disease.

*Means (standard errors) for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables.

[†]Avocado/guacamole consumers were identified as NHANES 2011–2014 participants who reported consuming any amount of avocado or guacamole during the 24-h dietary recall. [‡]Smoker is defined as those who had at least 100 cigarettes in life.

[§]Alcohol drinker is defined as those who had at least 12 alcohol drinks/1 year.

[¶]Self-reported physician diagnosis.



for Alzheimer's disease. *Model 1 is unadjusted. Sample sizes for each cognitive test were: Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,842); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease-Delayed Recall (n = 2,840); Animal Fluency Test (n = 2,827); Digit Symbol Substitution Test (n = 2,765); Global cognition (n = 2,698). *Model 2 adjusted for age, gender, ratio of family income to poverty, race, and marital status. Sample sizes for each cognitive test were lower because of missing covariates: Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Delayed Recall (n = 2,619); Animal Fluency Test (n = 2,608); Digit symbol substitution test (n = 2,553); Global cognition (n = 2,491). *Model 3 further included adjusted for smoking status, alcohol consumption, work activity, recreational activities, BMI, Mediterranean Diet score, self-reported physician diagnosis of prediabetes or diabetes, self-reported physician diagnosis of coronary heart disease, self-reported physician diagnosis of high blood pressure, and self-reported physician diagnosis of stroke. Sample sizes for each cognitive test were lower because of missing covariates: Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Immediate Learning (n = 2,532); Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease–Delayed Recall (n = 2

effects of avocado on cognitive function and found some positive benefits, similar to our study. Scott et al. randomized healthy older adults into a 6-month trial where subjects consumed either one avocado or one cup of potato or chickpeas per day (13). The control foods were selected to limit the intake of lutein, a nutrient hypothesized to contribute to cognitive performance and present in the fresh avocado pulp. A battery of cognitive tests evaluated different cognitive domains, including attention (Choice Reaction Time and Rapid Visual Information Processing), visual memory (Delayed Match to Sample, Paired Associates Learning), and executive function, working memory, and planning tests (Spatial Span, Spatial Span Reverse, Spatial Working Memory, and Stockings of Cambridge). The avocado group had improvements in working memory. Additionally, as lutein accumulated in the eye's macula, working memory and efficiency of approaching a problem also improved. Similarly, we found that those consuming avocado scored higher on the CERAD IWR and DWR memory tests. Evidence suggests that avocados could benefit cognition across the lifespan, potentially influencing different cognitive domains at different life stages. The other randomized controlled trial conducted by Edwards et al. found that 84 overweight and obese adults performed better on a cognitive test of attentional inhibition when consuming fresh avocado daily for 12 weeks than an isocalorically controlled meal (14). To evaluate cognitive function, they used the Flanker task, oddball task, and Nogo task. They found that the avocado group improved accuracy in the Flanker task, even when accounting for numerous confounders. The other cognitive measures were not significantly changed. Although the tests used in this study differ from our current study, it is consistent that avocado consumption seems to benefit specific domains in cognitive function vs. all the domains. Our study suggests that additional clinical trial in older adults is necessary to elucidate effects of an avocado intervention.

There are several potential mechanisms to support the observed associations between avocado intake and cognitive function. One Hass avocado contains ~369 micrograms of the carotenoid, lutein (8). Lutein preferentially accumulates in neural tissues and therefore is hypothesized to be involved in neurocognitive function across the lifespan, and numerous studies report lutein-related cognitive benefits (38). Kesse-Guyot et al. observed that a carotenoid-rich dietary pattern was associated with a better overall cognitive score after a 13year follow-up (39). Two prospective studies reported reduced cognitive aging for individuals consuming higher amounts of lutein and zeaxanthin-containing vegetables (40-42). The relationship between brain lutein concentrations of decedents >98 y at death and premortem measures of cognitive function were assessed in a study by Johnson et al. Among the carotenoids, brain lutein content was reliably related to cognitive test scores (43). Although findings from the RCT (14) did not find a correlation between serum lutein levels and attentional inhibition, it is important to note that macular pigment measures of lutein were not significantly changed. Because it is assumed that lutein deposited in the macula correlates with brain lutein levels, the intervention likely did not significantly boost lutein levels in the brain and thus is not responsible for the positive cognitive findings in the study. As a whole food, it is inherently difficult to identify individual avocado nutrients or bioactive compounds that are responsible for the biological benefits observed. Instead, it's plausible that nutrients work additively or synergistically to benefit cognitive measures.

Avocados also contain 13.3 grams of monounsaturated fat and provide vitamins and minerals known to support brain health and cognitive function (5, 8). In addition, the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects of monounsaturated fat and its derivatives can help decrease chronic inflammation and oxidative stress, which have been observed in individuals with mild cognitive impairment and AD (44, 45). For example, in a prospective cohort study of women aged 60 years and older, Naqvi et al. found that monounsaturated fat intake was associated with a slower decline in cognitive function, as indicated by the overall cognitive function score (46). Interestingly, monosaturated fat intake was particularly beneficial to the memory and visual domains, similar to what we observed in our analysis.

Avocados contain B vitamins, which have been studied for their potential role in brain health because of their role in homocysteine metabolism (5, 8). Elevated homocysteine level is a risk factor for AD and dementia. B vitamins can help to lower homocysteine levels (47). For example, folate is needed for the remethylation of homocysteine to methionine, and vitamin B₆ is a cofactor for the enzyme which breaks down homocysteine to sulfate (48). Although results from B vitamin supplementation trials are mixed, observational studies that examined B-vitamins intake and cognitive function have shown some significant benefits (5, 49). For instance, several studies reported that a higher intake of B- vitamins (e.g., folate) was associated with less cognitive decline or less risk for AD and dementia (50–52).

As evidence linking cardiometabolic health with brain health and function continues to grow (53, 54), we also hypothesize that the relationship between avocado intake and better cardiometabolic health may provide explanation for our findings (29–34). For instance, avocados have micronutrients that may benefit blood pressure and avocado interventions have been shown to lower LDL and raise HDL in patients with hypercholesterolemia (30–32, 34) and improve peripheral blood flow acutely after consumption (29, 33).

Our study includes several strengths. First, we used a large nationally representative health and nutrition survey. Second, although we found that avocado consumers tended to be younger, more likely to be married, had a higher educational level and family income to poverty ratio, we adjusted for numerous characteristics in our final model to best understand the specific role of avocado on cognitive measures. One of those key characteristics was education level which is independently correlated with cognitive performance. Thus, we calculated education-dependent z-scores for each cognitive outcome.

Limitations of interpreting these findings include the study's cross-sectional nature, potential residual confounding of observational studies, and the limited number of dietary recalls used to assess avocado intake. For example, one or two 24-h dietary recall(s) may not accurately reflect usual intake. Thus, it would be important to replicate this study using a food frequency questionnaire. Also, since only 7% of the population studied were avocado consumers, we could not complete complementary sensitivity analyses in those with subjective memory complaints. However, avocado intake has dramatically increased from an annual 5 pounds per capita in 2011 to close to 9 pounds per capita in 2020, so the data analyzed in these NHANES cycles may underestimate current avocado consumption trends among older adults, and newer releases of NHANES data may capture a larger sample of avocado consumers.

Although our findings cannot be considered causal, and more studies are needed to confirm these findings, the data suggests a role for avocados in the cognitive function of older Americans. In addition, future studies are warranted to replicate these associations in other populations and examine the mechanism of action.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: The data that support the findings of this study are openly available in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey database from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention at https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs/ nhanes/Default.aspx.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Review Board at the National Center for Health Statistics. All NHANES participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors conception and design, analysis and interpretation of the data, drafting of the article, critical revision of the article for important intellectual content, and also have seen and agreed with the manuscript's contents and met the ICMJE requirements for authorship.

REFERENCES

- Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, Costafreda SG, Huntley J, Ames D, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:2673– 734. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31363-6
- Brookmeyer R, Abdalla N, Kawas CH, Corrada MM. Forecasting the prevalence of preclinical and clinical Alzheimer's disease in the United States. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2018) 14:121–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2017.10.009
- Matthews KA, Xu W, Gaglioti AH, Holt JB, Croft JB, Mack D, et al. Racial and ethnic estimates of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias in the United States (2015-2060) in adults aged ≥65 years. *Alzheimers Dement*. (2019) 15:17-24. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3063
- 4. National Academies of Sciences E Medicine (2017). *Preventing Cognitive Decline and Dementia: A Way Forward.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Scarmeas N, Anastasiou CA, Yannakoulia M. Nutrition and prevention of cognitive impairment. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:1006–15. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30338-7
- Taylor MK, Mahnken JD, Sullivan DK. NHANES 2011-2014 reveals cognition of US older adults may benefit from better adaptation to the mediterranean diet. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1929. doi: 10.3390/nu12071929
- Ballarini T, Melo van Lent D, Brunner J, Schroder A, Wolfsgruber S, Altenstein S, et al. Mediterranean diet, Alzheimer disease biomarkers and brain atrophy in old age. *Neurology*. (2021) 96:e2920–32. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012067
- Dreher ML, Davenport AJ. Hass avocado composition and potential health effects. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. (2013) 53:738– 50. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2011.556759
- Food Data Central (2019). Available online at: https://fdc.nal.usda.gov/fdcapp.html#/food-details/171706/nutrients (accessed September 27, 2021).
- O'Brien J, Okereke O, Devore E, Rosner B, Breteler M, Grodstein F. Long-term intake of nuts in relation to cognitive function in older women. J Nutr Health Aging. (2014) 18:496–502. doi: 10.1007/s12603-014-0014-6
- Klimova B, Novotny M, Kuca K, Valis M. Effect Of an extra-virgin olive oil intake on the delay of cognitive decline: role of secoiridoid oleuropein? *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2019) 15:3033–40. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S218238
- Theodore LE, Kellow NJ, McNeil EA, Close EO, Coad EG, Cardoso BR. Nut consumption for cognitive performance: a systematic review. *Adv Nutr*. (2020) 12:777–92. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmaa153
- Scott TM, Rasmussen HM, Chen O, Johnson EJ. Avocado consumption increases macular pigment density in older adults: a randomized, controlled trial. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:919. doi: 10.3390/nu9090919
- Edwards CG, Walk AM, Thompson SV, Reeser GE, Erdman JW Jr, Burd NA, et al. Effects of 12-week avocado consumption on cognitive function among adults with overweight and obesity. *Int J Psychophysiol*. (2020) 148:13– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2019.12.006
- Johnson CL, Dohrmann SM, Burt VL, Mohadjer LK. National health and nutrition examination survey: sample design, 2011-2014. *Vital Health Stat.* (2014) 2:1–33.
- Brody DJ, Kramarow EA, Taylor CA, McGuire LC. Cognitive performance in adults aged 60 and over: national health and nutrition examination survey, 2011-2014. Natl Health Stat Report. (2019) 1–23.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Hass Avocado Board and the National Institutes of Health (K01AG065487).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2021. 746453/full#supplementary-material

- Dong X, Li S, Chen J, Li Y, Wu Y, Zhang D. Association of dietary omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids intake with cognitive performance in older adults: National Health and nutrition examination Survey (NHANES) 2011-2014. *Nutr J.* (2020) 19:25. doi: 10.1186/s12937-020-00547-7
- Ahluwalia N, Dwyer J, Terry A, Moshfegh A, Johnson C. Update on NHANES dietary data: focus on collection, release, analytical considerations, and uses to inform public policy. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:121–34. doi: 10.3945/an.115.009258
- Morris JC, Heyman A, Mohs RC, Hughes JP, van Belle G, Fillenbaum G, et al. The Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD). Part Clinical I, and neuropsychological assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. (1989) 39:1159–65. doi: 10.1212/WNL.39.9.1159
- Strauss E, Sherman E, Spreen O. (2006) A compendium of neuropsychological tests: Administration, norms, and commentary. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- 21. Wechsler D. (1987) Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, 3rd ed (WAIS-III). New York, NY: Psychological Corporation.
- 22. de Azeredo Passos VM, Giatti L, Bensenor I, Tiemeier H, Ikram MA, de Figueiredo RC, et al. Education plays a greater role than age in cognitive test performance among participants of the Brazilian Longitudinal Study of Adult Health (ELSA-Brasil). *BMC Neurol.* (2015) 15:191. doi: 10.1186/s12883-015-0454-6
- Sofi F, Macchi C, Abbate R, Gensini GF, Casini A. Mediterranean diet and health status: an updated meta-analysis and a proposal for a literature-based adherence score. *Public Health Nutr.* (2014) 17:2769– 82. doi: 10.1017/S1368980013003169
- 24. Fulgoni VL III, Dreher M, Davenport AJ. Avocado consumption is associated with better diet quality and nutrient intake, and lower metabolic syndrome risk in US adults: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2001-2008. *Nutr J.* (2013) 12:1. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-12-1
- Christensen K, Gleason CE, Mares JA. Dietary carotenoids and cognitive function among US adults, NHANES 2011-2014. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2020) 23:554–62. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2018.1533199
- Cichosz SL, Jensen MH, Hejlesen O. Cognitive impairment in elderly people with prediabetes or diabetes: a cross-sectional study of the NHANES population. *Prim Care Diabetes*. (2020) 14:455–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pcd.2019.11.005
- Zhou Y, Zhang T, Lee D, Yang L, Li S. Body mass index across adult life and cognitive function in the American elderly. *Aging (Albany NY)*. (2020) 12:9344–53. doi: 10.18632/aging.103209
- Cheng F, Ford N, Taylor M. Avocado and Guacamole Consumption and Cognition Among Adults Aged 60 Years or Old: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2011–2014. (2021). Available online at: osf.io/yjbdn (accessed April 25 2021).
- Li Z, Wong A, Henning SM, Zhang Y, Jones A, Zerlin A, et al. Hass avocado modulates postprandial vascular reactivity and postprandial inflammatory responses to a hamburger meal in healthy volunteers. *Food Funct.* (2013) 4:384–91. doi: 10.1039/C2FO30226H
- Wang L, Bordi PL, Fleming JA, Hill AM, Kris-Etherton PM. Effect of a moderate fat diet with and without avocados on lipoprotein particle number, size and subclasses in overweight and obese adults: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Heart Assoc. (2015) 4:e001355. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.114.001355

- Silva Caldas AP, Chaves LO, Linhares Da Silva L, De Castro Morais D, Gonçalves Alfenas R. Mechanisms involved in the cardioprotective effect of avocado consumption: a systematic review. *Int J Food Properties*. (2017) 20:1675–85. doi: 10.1080/10942912.2017.1352601
- Mahmassani HA, Avendano EE, Raman G, Johnson EJ. Avocado consumption and risk factors for heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 107:523–36. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqx078
- 33. Park E, Edirisinghe I, Burton-Freeman B. Avocado fruit on postprandial markers of cardio-metabolic risk: a randomized controlled dose response trial in overweight and obese men and women. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1287. doi: 10.3390/nu10091287
- 34. Wang L, Tao L, Hao L, Stanley TH, Huang KH, Lambert JD, et al. A moderate-fat diet with one avocado per day increases plasma antioxidants and decreases the oxidation of small, dense LDL in adults with overweight and obesity: a randomized controlled trial. *J Nutr.* (2020) 150:276– 84. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz231
- 35. Hankee LD, Preis SR, Piers RJ, Beiser AS, Devine SA, Liu Y, et al. Population normative data for the CERAD word list and victoria stroop test in youngerand middle-aged adults: cross-sectional analyses from the framingham heart study. *Exp Aging Res.* (2016) 42:315–28. doi: 10.1080/0361073X.2016.1191838
- Petersen RC, Doody R, Kurz A, Mohs RC, Morris JC, Rabins PV, et al. Current concepts in mild cognitive impairment. *Arch Neurol.* (2001) 58:1985– 92. doi: 10.1001/archneur.58.12.1985
- Jahn H. Memory loss in Alzheimer's disease. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. (2013) 15:445–54. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2013.15.4/hjahn
- Stringham JM, Johnson EJ, Hammond BR. Lutein across the lifespan: from childhood cognitive performance to the aging eye and brain. *Curr Dev Nutr.* (2019) 3:nzz066. doi: 10.1093/cdn/nzz066
- Kesse-Guyot E, Andreeva VA, Ducros V, Jeandel C, Julia C, Hercberg S, et al. Carotenoid-rich dietary patterns during midlife and subsequent cognitive function. *Br J Nutr.* (2014) 111:915–23. doi: 10.1017/S0007114513003188
- Kang JH, Ascherio A, Grodstein F. Fruit and vegetable consumption and cognitive decline in aging women. *Ann Neurol.* (2005) 57:713– 20. doi: 10.1002/ana.20476
- Morris MC, Evans DA, Tangney CC, Bienias JL, Wilson RS. Associations of vegetable and fruit consumption with age-related cognitive change. *Neurology*. (2006) 67:1370–6. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000240224.38978.d8
- Lee Y, Kim J, Back JH. The influence of multiple lifestyle behaviors on cognitive function in older persons living in the community. *Prev Med.* (2009) 48:86–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.10.021
- 43. Johnson EJ, Vishwanathan R, Johnson MA, Hausman DB, Davey A, Scott TM, et al. Relationship between serum and brain carotenoids, alpha-tocopherol, and retinol concentrations and cognitive performance in the oldest old from the georgia centenarian study. J Aging Res. (2013) 2013:951786. doi: 10.1155/2013/951786
- Briante R, Febbraio F, Nucci R. Antioxidant properties of low molecular weight phenols present in the mediterranean diet. J Agric Food Chem. (2003) 51:6975–81. doi: 10.1021/jf034471r
- Padurariu M, Ciobica A, Hritcu L, Stoica B, Bild W, Stefanescu C. Changes of some oxidative stress markers in the serum of patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett.* (2010) 469:6– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.11.033

- Naqvi AZ, Harty B, Mukamal KJ, Stoddard AM, Vitolins M, Dunn JE. Monounsaturated, trans, and saturated fatty acids and cognitive decline in women. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2011) 59:837–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03402.x
- Smith AD, Refsum H. Homocysteine, B vitamins, cognitive impairment. Annu Rev Nutr. (2016) 36:211–39. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-05 0947
- Strain JJ, Dowey L, Ward M, Pentieva K, McNulty H. B-vitamins, homocysteine metabolism and CVD. Proc Nutr Soc. (2004) 63:597– 603. doi: 10.1079/PNS2004390
- Behrens A, Graessel E, Pendergrass A, Donath C. Vitamin B-Can it prevent cognitive decline? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev. (2020) 9:111. doi: 10.1186/s13643-020-01378-7
- Luchsinger JA, Tang MX, Miller J, Green R, Mayeux R. Higher folate intake is related to lower risk of Alzheimer's disease in the elderly. J Nutr Health Aging. (2008) 12:648–50. doi: 10.1007/BF0300 8276
- Kim H, Kim G, Jang W, Kim SY, Chang N. Association between intake of B vitamins and cognitive function in elderly Koreans with cognitive impairment. *Nutr J.* (2014) 13:118. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-13-118
- Lefevre-Arbogast S, Feart C, Dartigues JF, Helmer C, Letenneur L, Samieri C. Dietary B vitamins and a 10-year risk of dementia in older persons. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:761. doi: 10.3390/nu8120761
- Morris JK, Honea RA, Vidoni ED, Swerdlow RH, Burns JM. Is Alzheimer's disease a systemic disease? *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2014) 1842:1340– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.04.012
- Feinkohl I, Lachmann G, Brockhaus WR, Borchers F, Piper SK, Ottens TH, et al. Association of obesity, diabetes and hypertension with cognitive impairment in older age. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2018) 10:853– 62. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S164793

Conflict of Interest: NAF and FWC were employed by Hass Avocado Board, Mission Viejo, United States.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Cheng, Ford and Taylor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





An Interactive Review on the Role of Tocotrienols in the Neurodegenerative Disorders

Ruth Naomi¹, Nurul Husna Shafie^{2,3}, Priyatharisni Kaniappan⁴ and Hasnah Bahari^{1*}

¹ Department of Human Anatomy, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ² Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ³ UPM-MAKNA Cancer Research Laboratory, Institute of Bioscience, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ⁴ Department of Medical Microbiology & Parasitology, Faculty of Medicine & Health Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, Malaysia

Neurodegenerative disorders, such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease, are claimed to be of major concern causing a significant disease burden worldwide. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and nerve damage are the main reasons for the emergence of these diseases. The formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is the common chemical molecule that is formed from all these three interdependent mechanisms which is highly reactive toward the neuronal cells. For these reasons, the administration of tocotrienols (T3s), which is a potent antioxidant, is proven to cater to this problem, through in vitro and in vivo investigations. Interestingly, their therapeutic potentials are not only limited to antioxidant property but also to being able to reverse the neuronal damage and act as a shield for mitochondria dysfunction. Thereby, T3s prevents the damage to the neurons. In regards to this statement, in this review, we focused on summarizing and discussing the potential therapeutic role of T3s on Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, and their protective mechanisms based on evidence from the in vitro and in vivo studies. However, there is no clinical trial conducted to prove the efficacy of T3s for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's subjects. As such, the therapeutic role of T3s for these neurodegenerative disorders is still under debate.

Keywords: tocotrienols, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, therapeutic potential, neuroprotective, reverse nerve damage, antioxidant, mitochondrial shield

INTRODUCTION

Over the past 25 years, neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's (AD), Parkinson's (PD), and Huntington (HD) diseases, are on the upsurge due to longer life expectancy, as age is one of the risk factors when contracting any one of these diseases (1). Due to the complex pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders, detecting and treating the disorders remain as a challenging task despite the existence of a wide range of modern technologies and medicine (2). With this in mind, there is a continuous interest among researchers to overcome such problems by using natural compounds as an alternative and complementary medicine (3). Besides consumed in their natural forms, these compounds can be modified to enhance or suppress certain properties such as stability, efficacy and bioavailability (4). Many of them serve as lead compounds for designing new drugs with desirable pharmacological activity.

The usage of natural compounds, such as tocotrienols (T3s) (3), curcumin (5), flavonoid apigenin (6), crocin (7), rosmarinic acid (8), green tea catechins (9), resveratrol (10), and hesperidin (11), has been reported to be effective against several types of neurodegenerative disorders such as

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Vauzour, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Luciana Mosca, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Sylvie Vancassel, INRA Centre Bordeaux-Aquitaine, France

> *Correspondence: Hasnah Bahari haba@upm.edu.my

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 05 August 2021 Accepted: 21 September 2021 Published: 26 October 2021

Citation:

Naomi R, Shafie NH, Kaniappan P and Bahari H (2021) An Interactive Review on the Role of Tocotrienols in the Neurodegenerative Disorders. Front. Nutr. 8:754086. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.754086

90

AD (3, 5-11), PD (3, 5-11), diabetic neuropathy (6, 11), stroke (6), epilepsy (7), cerebral ischemia (10), HD (10, 11), and multiple sclerosis (11). These compounds are capable of reducing the beta amyloid (A β) aggregation by increasing monoamine secretion in AD and PD (8), preventing abnormal accumulation of A β and α synuclein in AD and PD (9), acting as an antioxidant against AD (3, 5-11), improving blood flow to the cerebral, and improving cognition and performance in AD, PD, HD, and multiple sclerosis (11). Interestingly, being a naturally existing substance, they have been reported to exhibit minimal adverse effects (3). Recent epidemiological data indicates that persons with high plasma levels or a high dietary intake of the combination of all natural vitamin E forms had a lower incidence of dementia or AD. In these, tocotrienols are more effective than tocopherol in neutralizing certain free radicals, given the fact that all vitamin E congeners show antioxidant activity (12, 13). Currently, more than 1/3 of the top selling pharmaceutical medicines are natural compound origin and labeled as traditional medicine. However, there are not many clinical trials that have proven the efficacy of these compounds. Yet, day by day, there are more and more natural product-based formulations being introduced to the market (14).

Neurodegenerative Disorders

The nervous system is made up of neurons comprising of nerves and specialized cells that transmit signals between various parts of the body. The transmission of signals greatly influences the normal coordination of body activity. A small alteration in the signal transmission may cause neurological changes that lead to neurodegenerative disorders. AD and PD are two of such diseases that have distinct pathologies yet share some similar features in pathogenesis. There are some common cascades of neuronal events such as protein toxicity and oxidative stress prior to progressive neurodegeneration in these patients. Toxicity of alpha-synuclein in PD and Aβ42 or tau proteins in AD are some of the common neuronal alternations detected among those patients (15). In terms of cell signaling, both show overlapping events in the activation of oxidative stress, glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta, mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), and cell cycle re-entry (16).

In addition, the development of both the PD and AD occurs in the brain. Many factors, such as aging, exposure to environmental toxin and unhealthy lifestyle, attribute to the development of these diseases (17). Both of the diseases are linked with mitochondria dysfunction in association with increased oxidative stress. Exponential oxidative stress, together with DNA mutation, leads to mitochondria dysfunction which is much implicated in the aging process (18). In AD, oxidative stress leads to the activation of amyloidogenesis pathway which elevates the development and deposition of amyloid peptide (19). Equally in PD, oxidative stress leads to misfolding of α -synuclein protein that causes neurodegeneration; loss of dopaminergic neurons and loss of dopamine in the brain (20).

Alzheimer's Disease

AD is a form of dementia characterized by deposition of neurofibrillary tangles and amyloid plaques in the brain which

resulted in loss of neurons and synapses (21). AD can also be defined by the deterioration in everyday activity due to progressive waning in two or more cognitive functions and verified by anomaly in clinical and neuropsychological testing (22). AD can be categorized into 4 stages; (1) preclinical stage of AD, (2) Mild Cognitive impairment due to AD and (3) moderate AD and (4) Severe AD (23). The pre-clinical stage of AD is characterized by slight memory loss, alterations in the cortex and hippocampus, but no significant hindrance in everyday life: the mild cognitive impairment due to AD displays early symptoms of AD such as memory loss, disorientation and mood swings with amyloid accumulation in the brain, moderate AD shows increase memory loss, failure to recognize friends and family members, with amyloid accumulation and loss of neurological function, and finally, the severe AD stage leads to complete failure recognizing in friend and family, loss of cognitive activities as the cortex area is fully affected (24). Collectively, the progression of AD can be monitored by determining the accretion neurochemical such as amyloid, tau proteins and neurofibrillary tangles (25).

Approximately 60–80% of dementia cases are due to AD (26). According to the world Alzheimer's report, it is expected that more than 130 million people tend to suffer from this condition by the year 2050 (27). Those who are diagnosed with AD tend to live up to 8 years. In the United States, AD has been recognized as the 6th leading cause of death (28). Increasing age is known to be a major risk factor for AD patients above 65 years old, but the exact cause of AD remains unknown. Current available treatment is said to be very limited and failed in reversing the progression of the disease, although some may improve the symptoms temporarily. AD development is closely related to two distinct mechanisms in the nervous system, namely deposition of extracellular A β and accumulation of intracellular tau protein in the brain (29).

Amyloid beta $(A\beta)$ is part of a larger protein, the transmembrane protein, amyloid precursor protein (APP). Aß peptide is comprised of up to 43 amino acids in length as a result of amyloid precursor protein (APP) cleavage via β- and γ -secretase. In normal condition, the monomers and oligomers of A β are degraded by protease and cleared in the brain (30). Defective clearance of $A\beta$ from aberrant APP cleavage results in the accumulation of $A\beta$ at the extraneural tissues. When this happens, the soluble $A\beta$ monomers polymerize initially into soluble oligomers, and then into larger insoluble fragments such as Aβ42, which precipitated as amyloid fibrils (31). Elevated level of amyloid fibrils in extracellular brain region will suppress excitatory synaptic activity at the postsynaptic level, particularly those in the form of oligomers will impair the synapse transmission. This happens because oligomers will bind to the pre- and post-synaptic neurons. Thereafter, loss of long term potentiation, synapse damages, and neuronal apoptosis will occur (32).

Tau protein is found in the neurons and its primary role is to ensure the stabilization of the internal microtubules. Tau protein accumulation happens due to the degeneration of neurofibrils. Initially, tau is aggregated as a paired helical filament, twisted around each other, forming paired helical filaments. These deposits interfere with cellular functions by displacing organelles. By altering the spacing of microtubules, axonal transport is impaired, thereby affecting the nutrition of dendrites and axon terminals. This will start at the entorhinal cortex, preceding to the hippocampus, and then to the connection cortex at later time (33). These will result in microtubules instability, mitochondrial damage, and pathogenic signaling that alter the molecular motor phosphorylation. Eventually, the associated motor functions are altered (34).

Parkinson's Disease

PD is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that affects movements. It usually results in trembling, imbalance, and stiffness (35). Clinically, features such as rest tremor, bradykinesia, postural instability and akinesia are most wellidentified symptoms of PD (36). Other non-motor symptoms include psychiatric impediments such as control disorders, anxiety, depression, dementia and sleep disorders (37). The clinical symptoms are prominent during the third stage of the disease where the death of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta and noradregenic neurons at the locus coeruleus occurs (38). This neurological abnormality is pathologically characterized by the accumulation of α synuclein protein in the form of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites (39). Meanwhile, in association with PD, the neurochemical metabolites, such as dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), and glutamate, have been found to be lower in PD patients (40). These neurotransmitters can be used to track the development of PD.

Epidemiological data indicate that men are 50% more prone to get this disease in comparison to women (35). Although age is considered to be the primary risk factor for PD, <10% of patients develop the disease before the age of 50. In certain cases, the etiology of this disease is closely related to certain gene mutations which include synuclein, alpha (SNCA), Parkin RBR E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (PARK2), Parkinson's disease protein 7 precursor (PARK7), PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1), ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 (PARK5), and leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) (41). There are a few known mechanisms that are related to the development of PD.

One of the mechanisms is due to the imbalance of ROS level which arises from the metabolism of dopamine. In the presence of iron, dopamine breakdown may occur spontaneously. Dopamine is an unstable compound which can form quinones and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) by auto-oxidizing. H_2O_2 may form more active hydroxyl radical (?OH) by reacting with irons or oxygen (O₂). Dopamine quinones can react with cysteine in sulfhydryl groups, especially reduced glutathione (GSH), a ROS scavenger, resulting in decreased GSH and increased ROS levels (42). On the other hand, monoamine oxidase (MAO) catalyzes the breakdown of dopamine in a reaction that generates H_2O_2 . The H₂O₂level is considered as safe to cells until cytotoxic OH are produced excessively through Fenton reaction. ROS can lead to structural and functional alterations in proteins, DNA and lipids. Lipid damage causes a loss of membrane integrity while increasing permeability to ions such as calcium in substantia nigra that will trigger excitotoxicity (43).

Another mechanism closely linked to PD is the loss of substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons associated with the involvement of intraneuronal inclusions known as Lewy bodies. The Lewy body is an unusual aggregation or clumping of the α synuclein protein (44). In the brain, native α -synuclein is often deployed without a specified tertiary structure, although it can be present in stable tetramers that resist aggregation in aqueous solutions. Usually, α -synuclein folds through its N-terminal into α-helical structures upon interaction with negatively charged lipids, such as the phospholipids that make up cell membranes. In PD, α -synuclein adopts an amyloid-like structure rich in β-sheet that is vulnerable to aggregation. Several mechanisms, including serine 129 phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and Cterminal truncation, have been speculated for the conformational changes that lead to abnormal α -synuclein aggregation. α synuclein can interact with the mitochondrial membrane and accumulate within the organelles. This contributes to the damage of complex I activity, eventually to mitochondrial dysfunction and increased oxidative stress. This is because the interaction between oligomeric α-synuclein and the translocase of outer membrane 20 (TOM20) mitochondrial receptor may lead to impairment of the machinery importing mitochondrial protein leading to decreased respiration which results in excessive formation of ROS (45).

VITAMIN E

Vitamin E is a lipid soluble compound that consists of eight members which are known for their antioxidant property. The members are divided into tocopherols and T3s such that each group is further divided into α , β , γ , and δ forms (46). Structurally, T3s and tocopherols share a chromanol head with an aliphatic side chain. Tocopherols have a phytyl tail (saturated) side chain, while T3s have an isoprenoid (unsaturated with three double bonds) side chain (47). The differences among α , β , γ , and δ forms are the position and number of the methyl groups on the chromanol head. **Figure 1** shows the different forms of T3s and tocopherols. Vitamin E can be found in nuts, vegetable oils and seeds, while palm oils, rice grain and annatto seed are a rich in T3s (47).

Biological Activities of Tocotrienols

The functional properties of tocopherols and T3s can be differed from one another: T3s have been reported to exhibit more potent activities than tocopherols. Apart from possessing neuroprotective effects, T3s have cholesterol-lowering capacity (48) and anti-tumor property (49). Despite the lower bioavailability, antioxidant activity of T3s outranges tocopherols. Previous study has shown that α -T3 has greater peroxyl radical scavenging capability in the liposomal membrane in comparison to the α -tocopherol due to the presence of unsaturated side chain which enhances the even distribution of T3 in the bilayer membrane. The even distribution facilitates the interaction between chromanol ring of α -T3 with lipid radicals (50). T3s also move much more rapidly than α -tocopherol within lipid vesicles (51).



THERAPEUTIC MECHANISMS OF TOCOTRIENOLS

AD and PD arise from distinct pathogenesis. Yet, they share some common molecular damages such as oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegeneration. In consideration to this, T3s have been shown to be effective in combating these damages. **Tables 1**, **2** summarizes the effect of T3s in AD and PD in regards to *in vitro* and *in vivo* trials.

Tocotrienols as an Antioxidant

The brain requires high level of oxygen for its optimal function. Due to this, it is the primary organ susceptible to oxidative insults by free radicals (45). The formation of A β hinders the activity of antioxidant enzymes, specifically glutathione peroxidase (GPx), superoxide dismutase (SOD), and catalase (CAT) (52). AB binds to CAT, SOD and GPx with high affinity and inhibits H_2O_2 breakdown by these enzymes (52). Eventually, this will result in elevation of oxidative stress. As a consequence, proteins, lipids, and DNA will start to oxidize. Normally, SOD functions to dissociate excess superoxide anion into hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and O₂, while glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and CAT will then reduce the H₂O₂ into water. In the absence of these enzymes, H_2O_2 will be transformed into hydroxide (^{-}OH) (53). In relation to this, α -T3 has been proven to increase the SOD activity in AD mice's brain (54). This clearly defines the reason behind the disruption of Aβ42 aggregation and reduction in Aß deposition at the hippocampus of APPswe/PS1 AD mice (37, 39). This has been illustrated in Figure 2 which refers to the mechanisms of action of T3s in AD. Similarly, Hamezah et al. (55) noticed a decrease of APP in the hippocampus of APPswe/PS1 mice treated with T3s-rich fraction (TRF). In addition, TRF hinders the formation of A β fibrils and oligomers in a cell-free assay, and decreases the accumulation of A β in the hippocampus and pre-frontal cortex of A β PP/PS1 mice (55).

Khor et al. (56) have shown that TRF has the capacity to upregulate gene expressions of GPx and CAT in senescent myoblasts. Furthermore, TRF decreases the activity of lipid peroxidase and inhibits its binding toward the DNA in neuronal cells of myoblasts, preventing oxidative damage to the DNA (56). T3s have the capacity to hinder the production of other reactive species such as nitric oxide molecule (3), particularly peroxynitrite (56) and nitrosamines (3). This mechanism is further supported by Mohamed et al. (57) who noticed a reduction in isoprostane F_2 by T3, a by-product of lipid peroxidation, in hippocampal cells prepared from 2-vessel occlusion neurodegenerative model rats. Damanhuri et al. (54) have shown that TRF increases CAT enzyme activity but has no effect on GPx activity in the hippocampus of A β PP/PS1 mice.

The existence of unsaturated side chain in γ -T3 eases the penetration of γ -T3 into tissues (58). This further ensures it is evenly distributed in the surface of the lipid layers of the cell membrane. With the aid of lipoprotein lipases or lipoprotein endocytosis mediated by receptors, tissue absorbs γ -T3 more effectively. Thus, peroxyl radicals will be removed rapidly as the even distribution most likely enhances the interaction of chromanols with lipid radicals (58). TRF is evidenced in protecting cytochrome P450 from oxidative damage (59). A study done by Tan et al. (60) proves that the location of α -T3, which is closer to the surface of the membrane, enhances the

TABLE 1 | Effects of T3s on AD in in vitro and in vivo studies.

References	Intervention	Gender and age	Model and strain	Findings
Yatin et al. (62)	T3&Tocopherol, dose not specified	18-day-old; gender not specified	Sprague Dawley rat's fetus; embryonic hippocampal neuronal cells of Aβ peptide-treated rat	 Reduced ornithine decarboxylase activity in the neuronal cells. Decreased spermidine uptake by neuronal cells. Increased polyamine metabolism in the neuronal cells.
Sung et al. (92)	T3&Tocopherol (member unspecified), 2 IU/g/d × 6 months, Regular chow	5 and 14 months; gender not specified	Tg2576 mice	 Reduced lipid peroxidation in hippocampus. Reduced Aβ levels and amyloid deposition in hippocampus. Reduced brain oxidative stress in hippocampus.
Conte et al. (93)	T3&Tocopherol, 2 IU/g/d × 8 weeks, Regular chow	11 months; female	Tg2576 mice	 Reduced lipid peroxidation in brain. Reduced Aβ levels and amyloid deposition in brain. Improved spatial learning ability. Decreased ROS in brain.
Yao et al. (94)	T3&Tocopherol, 10 mg/ℓ/d × 7 months, Drinking water	8 months; female and male	Tg2576 mice	 Decreased Aβ1-40 and Aβ1-42 in hippocampus. Suppressed brain inflammation and ROS in brain hippocampus. Reduced isoprostane 8,12-iso-iPF2α (iPF_{2α}-V) in brain hippocampus.
Grimm et al. (66)	10μM α-T3, 24 h	Not applicable	SH-SY5Y wild type cells; APP695 transfected SH-SY5Y cells	 Reduced Aβ degradation in N2a cells. Reduced ROS level. Reduced cholesterol and cholesterol esters. Reduced γ-secretase activity in neuro 2a (N2a) cells.
Damanhuri et al. (54)	TRF, 200 mg/kg/d × 6 months, Oral gavage	9 months; male	Wild type and double transgenic mouse B6C3-Tg (APPswe, PS1dE9) 85Dbo/Mmjax with C57BL/6J	 Increased superoxide dismutases (SOD) activity in hippocampus. Increased catalase (CAT) activity in hippocampus. Decreased DNA damage in the brain. Increased in antioxidant effect.
Ibrahim et al. (95)	TRF, 1%, 0.01%, 0.001% v/v × 24 h	Not applicable	Cell free assay; Human neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y	 Disrupted Aβ42 aggregation. Reduced Aβ42 fibrils formation. Inhibited Aβ oligomerization.
	TRF, 60 mg/kg/d × 15 months, Oral administration	5 months; female and male	APPswe/PS1dE9 double transgenic mice (APP/PS1)	 Absence of cytotoxic effect. Reduced Aβ deposition in the hippocampus. Reduced thioflavin-s-positive fibrillar type plaques in hippocampus and cortex.
Durani et al. (61)	TRF, 5 mL/kg/d × 15 months, Oral administration	5 months; female and male	APP/PS1 double transgenic mice	 Increased exploratory activity. Enhanced spatial learning, memory and recognition memory. Increased level of neurotransmitters such as (acetylcholine, L-tyrosine, L-glutamic acid, and L-aspartic acid) metabolism in medial pre-frontal cortex, striatum and hippocampus.
Mohamed et al. (57)	T3 (members unspecified), 100 mg/kg/d × 8 weeks, Oral administration	Male; age not specified	White albino rats (Sprague Dawley); 2-vessel occlusion rats	 Increased neurons with compact cellular structure of stratum pyramidale. Increased well-demarcated cell membrane, clear cytoplasm, and distinct nucleus in brain. Decreased Isoprostane F₂ (Iso-F₂) in brain.
Hamezah et al. (55)	TRF, 60 mg/kg/d × 10 months, Oral gavage	5 months; male and female	APPswe/PS1dE9 double transgenic (Tg) mice (AβPP/PS1)	 Inhibited ERK and c-Src in MAPK pathway. Increased glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in hippocampus. Decreased Interleukin enhancer-binding protein 2 (ILF-2), ACTR10 protein, APP and PTPRA protein expression in hippocampus.
Wan Nasri et al. (84)	TRF, 200 mg/kg/d × 6 months, Oral gavage	9 months; male	Double transgenic male mouse B6C3-Tg (APP swe, PS1dE9) 85Dbo/Mmjax with C57BL/6J	 Elevated gene expression of Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM), and Calcium Voltage-Gated Channel Subunit Alpha1 B (CACNA1B). Downregulated messenger RNA (mRNA) processing, focal adhesion-PI3K-Akt-mTOR signaling, epidermal growth factor receptor 1 (EGFR1) signaling, p53 signaling, T cell receptor signaling, Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) NF-kB signaling, and MAPK signaling.

References	Intervention	Gender and age	Model and strain	Findings
Hagl et al. (96)	T3, tocopherol and γ-oryzanol, 150 mg/kg/d × 30 days, Oral gavage	Not applicable	PC12 cells; SNP-treated brain cells of guinea pigs fed	 Increased mitochondrial respiration in brain. Increased dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp1) and fission 1 (fis1) proteins. Increased mitochondrial mass.
Nakaso et al. (97)	10–1,000 nM γT3 and δT3 48 h	Not applicable	MPP ⁺ -treated SH-SY5Y cells	 Cytoprotective against MPP+. Activation of PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in cell line. Formation of caveola. Stimulation of translocation of estrogen receptor beta (ERβ) from cytosolic to the perinuclear space.
Hagl et al. (69)	T3, tocopherol and γ-oryzanol, 340 mg/kg/d × 3 weeks, Oral gavage	Female NMRI mice; 18 months	sodium nitroprusside (SNP)-treated mice	 Protected brain cells against nitrosative stress. Increased mitochondrial content. Increased mitochondrial membrane potential. Increased adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production.
Nakaso et al. (98)	α-T3 and δ-T3, 100 μg/kg/d × 6 days, Oral gavage	Female and male; age not specified	MPTP induced C57BL/6 mice	 Increased expression of estrogen receptor-α in olfactory bulb and cerebellum. Reduced estrogen receptor-β expression in the brain. Preservation of neuron cells from oxidative damage. Recovery of spontaneous activity.
Matsura (63)	γ-T3 and δ-T3, 48 h	Not applicable	MPP+-treated SH-SY5Y cells	 Cytoprotective against 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP+). Activated MAPK, PI3K/Akt. Translocation of Akt from cyctosolic to plasma membrane.
	$\gamma\text{-}T3$ and $\delta\text{-}T3,6$ days	Not specified	MPTP mouse PD model	 Recovered voluntary performance. Reduced oxidative stress. δ-T3 protection against MPTP-induced neurotoxicity.
Kumari (67)	α-T3 and γ-T3, 200 mg/kg/d × 28 days, Oral gavage	Male SD rats; 14 weeks old	6-OHDA-treated rats	 Delayed disease progression. Diminished motor deficits. Restored Parkinson's disease 6 (PARK 6) gene. Restored gene expression of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), Dopa-decarboxylase (DDC), Solute Carrier Family 18 Member A2 (SLC18A2), solute carrier family 6 member 3 (SLC6A3) and nuclear receptor related 1 (NURR1) genes. Neuroprotective against dopaminergic neurons.

recycling process of chromanols. This serves as the main reason for continuous reduction of oxidative stress.

Most researchers agreed that T3s act as an antioxidant in AD mice (29, 31, 35–39). The protective mechanisms of T3s against AD has led to the reduction of A β , ROS, oxidative stress marker (Iso-F₂), or lipid peroxidation marker (iPF_{2a}-VI). In fact, the ability of T3s to act as an antioxidant is the primary reason to reverse certain age-associated symptoms such as memory. Durani et al. (61) noticed a drastic increase in spatial, exploratory, and recognition memory in A β PP/PS1 AD mice treated with TRF.

Yatin et al. (62) observed reduction in ornithine decarboxylase and spermidine by T3 in A β -treated embryonic hippocampal neuronal cultures of rat. The findings suggest that T3 acts as a free oxidative radical scavenger that enhances polyamine metabolism. The need for cellular polyamine biosynthesis and the ability to take up extracellular polyamines are increased when there is an increase demand for polyamine. A regulatory protein, an antizyme, is regulated by polyamine uptake and its biosynthetic rate. Antizyme synthesis is the cell's natural way to defend itself by slowing down transport of ornithine decarboxylase activity against over-accumulation of polyamines to toxic levels (62). This is another mechanism of T3 as an antioxidant agent.

Matsura (63) notices reduction of oxidative stress in 1methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP⁺)-treated SH-SY5Y cells when the cells are supplemented with γ - and δ -T3 within 48 h. Comitato et al. (64) report that T3 is effective against PD-related toxicities such as MPP⁺ through the binding of γ - and δ -T3 to ERB which will lead to a marked activation of PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Activation of PI3K/Akt signaling reduces ROS by negatively regulating expression of the downstream proteins such as Forkhead Box Protein O1 (FOXO1) and Caspase 3 (65). Comparably, Nakaso et al. (66) observe the activation of PI3K/Akt signaling via ER β binding by γ - and δ -T3 in MPP⁺ treated SH-SY5Y cells. The similar mechanism is believed to be underlaid in the study done by Kumari (67, 68) who notice a prevention in the loss of dopamine neurons in α - and γ -T3 treated groups. Figure 3 summarizes the action of T3 in PD as an antioxidant agent.

Hagl et al. (69) observe the T3's ability to protect brain cells against sodium nitroprusside (SNP)-induced nitrosative stress in aged NMRI mice. Nitrosative stress is a common



of ROS.

pathology found in PD patients. It facilitates S-nitrosylation of neuroprotective proteins and compromises their function, thereby leading to cognitive impairments (70). This is because SNP is a potent neurotoxicant as it generates nitric oxide (NO), cyanides, and free irons. This could stimulate typical programmed cell death changes such as formation of the apoptotic nuclei, activation of caspase-3/7 and-9, decrease of the Bcl-2/Bax ratio, decrease level of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP), and release of cytochrome c in neuronal cells. In dopaminergic cells, this may trigger cytotoxicity that leads to dopaminergic cell death caused by SNP (71). At the same time, NO may combine with superoxide to form peroxynitrite, which rapidly causes protein nitration or nitrosylation, lipid peroxidation, DNA damage and neuronal cell death (72). In this scenario, γ - and δ -T3 reduce nitrosative stress by minimizing the activity of nitric oxide synthase and then leading to the reduced formation of nitric oxide (73). This is achieved by downregulating TNF-a, TNF-1β, NF-kB and caspase-3 activities (72).

Furthermore, in AD, an increase in 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG CoA) reductase is a common pathology. Along with tocotrienol consumption, there are inverse associations that have been witnessed between the incidence of AD and blood levels of the HMG CoA reductase. T3s has the ability to inhibit the processing and nuclear localization of SREB-2, the transcriptional factor for HMG CoA reductase and farnesyl pyrophosphate (FPP) synthase, and further promotes HMG CoA reductase degradation. As a result, tocotrienols decrease the pool of FPP and geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGPP), potentially slowing the progression of prenylation-dependent AD. T3s' anti-inflammatory properties contribute to their protection against Alzheimer's disease. In sum, T3s inhibit the processing and maturation of SREBP-2 and increase the breakdown of HMG CoA reductase, making them a preventive agent against AD (74).

Tocotrienols as a Cell Signaling Mediator

Neurotransmission of excitatory glutamatergic neurons is essential for the survival of neurons and synaptic plasticity. Normally, this neurotransmission mechanism takes place with N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor (NMDAR). However, small alteration in this activity, mainly elevation of NMDAR, could result in excitotoxicity of glutamatergic neurons, thereby leading to neuronal cell apoptosis in AD (75). In PD, slight increase in glutamate concentration due to loss of nigral dopaminergic neurons triggers the glutamate overactivity (76). In both



disorders, the increased level of glutamate eventually damages the neurons, especially the HT4 neural cell (77). Aside from this, in consequence of the glutamate rise, extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) (78) and 12-lipoxygenase (LOX) (79) will be activated. Hence, there will be a sudden rise in the level of calcium ion (Ca²⁺), depletion of GSH, dysfunction of mitochondria and eventually neuronal death (79). T3s, especially α -T3, are found to provide neuroprotection in glutamate-induced death of neuron cells at nanomolar concentrations beyond its antioxidant nature (58).

Cellular antioxidant defense is compromised by a GSHdepleted state, accompanied by increased susceptibility of the cell to ROS. T3s, through an antioxidant-independent mechanism, are able to inhibit the activation of pp60^{c-src} kinase. This happens as nanomolar level of α -T3 suppresses glutamateinduced early activation of c-Src kinase (58). Src family kinases are a group of genes that are involved in the regulating of cell growth. The Src family kinase product, c-Src, is strongly expressed in the brain. Overexpression of c-Src may stimulate the activation of glutamate leading to neurodegeneration caused by glutamate (80).

Apart from this, T3s enhance the re-entrance of injured cells into S phase (DNA synthesis) and G2/M phase (DNA repair and

recovery) of cell cycle (81). This is to reverse the glutamateinduced apoptosis of the neuronal cell (58). Inversely, since brain contains a very high level of arachidonic acid (AA), a major component of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), it is highly susceptible to oxidative metabolism. T3s have acted as mediators for AA, altering metabolism of AA (58). In this, α -T3 will interact directly with the enzyme that suppress AA anabolism (82). This happens as T3s are able to cleave the membrane phospholipid bilayer via cytosolic phospholipase A2 (58). The carboxyl (COOH) terminal at the AA site will enter the 12-LOX solvent cavity while the catalytic site is accessed. It is therefore possible that the binding position of α -T3 prevents access of the AA substrate to the active 12-LOX site. As so, LOX-12 is inhibited. Thus, 12-LOX inhibition protects Aβinduced toxicity in the corticol neurons (82). The reduction in receptor-type tyrosine-protein phosphatase alpha (PTPRA) protein expression by TRF, as shown by Hamezah et al. (55), further confirm the role of TRFs as a neuroprotective agent (55) via the inhibition of ERK and c-Src in MAPK pathway in APPswe/PS1 mice. PTPRA is perceived as a crucial mediator for synaptic plasticity and neuronal migration and association with memory. At the same time, PTPRA plays a central role as an activator of Src family kinases (83). In regards to this case, TRFs have been proven to be effective in decreasing the excess level of PTPRA at the hippocampus of A β PP/PS1 mice, thereby exerting neuroprotective effect (55).

On the contrary, Wan Nasri et al. (84) observe a significant increase of *ATM* and *CACNA1B* expression in A β PP/PS1 mice treated with TRF. One of the primary functions of ATM is to provide sufficient duration for DNA repair in the cell cycle. This is a post mitotic process which prevents replicative stress on the neurons (85). Expression of ATM signaling is feasible for replication process of neurons, thereby reducing neuronal apoptosis. *CACNA1B* encodes the presynaptic neuronal voltage-gated calcium channel Cav2.2/N-type pore-forming subunit. As so, this *CACNA1B* is essential for neurotransmission (86). In other words, the expression of *CACNA1B* enhances excitatory transmitters (87). From here, we can speculate that in the AD mice, the action potential generated by excitatory neurotransmitters has been re-established upon being treated with T3s.

Tocotrienols as a Shield for Mitochondria Dysfunction

Mitochondrial dysfunction is an early hallmark of AD and PD. Extracellular or intracellular Aßs are imported into the inner membrane of mitochondria in the neuronal cell of AD brain. The progressive accumulation of mitochondrial Aß leads to impaired energy metabolism, functional defects in key respiratory enzymes, increased mitochondrial ROS and altered mitochondrial biogenesis. This AB will bind to proteins in the mitochondria, such as cyclophilin D (CypD) and amyloid-binding alcohol dehydrogenase (ABAD), leading to mitochondrial dysfunction which will contribute to neuronal damage and cognitive impairment (88). Meanwhile, mutations in the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) are common feature of PD. The accumulation of mtDNA mutations will increase the relative levels of somatic mutations. mtDNA mutations lead to bioenergetic mitochondrial deficiency in the neurons of substantia nigra. With the accumulation of mtDNA mutations and increase in oxidative stress, reduction in mitochondrial function decreases cellular bioenergetics and favors a-synuclein aggregation, leading to the development of Parkinsonism (89).

T3s have been speculated as effective in shielding mitochondria and microsomes from oxidative stress. Mitochondria has been reported as the major target of oxidative stress due to its major role as an energy powerhouse which generates free radicals as by-products (90). Cytochrome c is generated excessively when ROS is produced inside the mitochondria (91). Cytochrome c will then come into contact with caspase-9 and Apaf-1. Thus, caspases-associated apoptosis is stimulated. Caspase-3 activation results in DNA-fragmentation and apoptosis (90).

T3s function not only limited to decreasing the activity of lipid peroxidation, but also act as a protective shield against mitochondrial dysfunction. γ -T3 exhibits positive effects such as improved mitochondrial function on aged mice through the elevation of ATP level and membrane potential. This is confirmed

through the increase expression of mitochondrial transcription factor A which serves as an initiator of mtDNA duplication and further leads to increased mitochondrial function (81). Another study reveals significant reduction in mitochondrial levels of pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bid, Bax, and Bad upon being exposed to T3s in the hippocampus of AD mice (99). Concurrently, Park et al. (100) observe subsequent increase in mitochondrial levels of anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL when α -T3s is used as a treatment in the glutamatetreated primary hippocampal neurons. Studies done by Hagl et al. (62, 92) have shown that T3s act as mitochondrial shield by increasing mitochondrial mass, content, membrane potential and respiration in the brain of APPswe/PS1 mice and APP695treated SH-SY5Y cells. Therefore, it can be speculated that the stabilization and integrity of the mitochondrial membrane can be strengthened when a small amount of T3s is being used as treatment.

TOCOTRIENOLS-BASED SUPPLEMENTS IN THE MARKET

The beneficial effects of T3s on neurodegenerative disorders have been proven through *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies; and no adverse effect or dose toxicity of T3s has been reported in these studies. The positive outcomes have urged the pharmaceutical industries to formulate T3s into tablets, powder, or syrups for consumption as health supplement. Nevertheless, the efficacy of these products on human health remains to be tested. Most of these products are labeled as antioxidants, while others claimed to improve neurological function and prevent cognitive aging. With the evidence from cell and animal studies, more and new T3s-based products are expected to be released by the pharmaceutical companies, but clinical trials will be needed to convince the consumers in purchasing these products. **Table 3** shows the currently marketed T3 products which claimed to be neuroregenerative.

The bioavailability of T3 is the definition which incredibly impacts the degree of assimilation. The same group of analysts also demonstrate that self-emulsifying frameworks, that produce better beads of emulsion, noticeably upgrade the retention of T3 by \sim 2–3-folds higher compared to non-emulsified definition. It is also observed that the slack time required for the emission of bile salts to emulsify the T3 in arrange to encourage their retention are moderately shorter with the nearness of selfemulsifying frameworks (13).

SAFETY, LIMITATION, AND FUTURE PROSPECTIVE OF TOCOTRIENOLS

The low bioavailability of T3s, particularly in the form of oral formulations, is one of the greatest challenges in the therapeutic field (101). Due to this, the recommended dose to consume is 50–100 mg of T3s in a day to experience the beneficial effect (103). In terms of cost, extraction of T3s can be very expensive. In relation to this issue, approximately more than US\$8000 is needed to extract 1 g of γ -T3 from natural sources (46).

Formulation	Brand and company	Claim	Dosage	References
δ-T3	DeltaGold [®] , American River Nutrition	Prevent age-related cognitive decline	3.5 mg	(101)
α,β,δ, and γ-T3	Naturale, DavosLife	Cell wellness and protection	50 mg	(102)
Natural α , β , δ , and γ -T3	EVNol [™] , ExcelVite	Antioxidant in various system	30–50 mg/day	(103)
Bioenhanced natural α , β , δ , and γ -T3	EVNol Suprabio TM , ExcelVite	Antioxidant in various system	30–50 mg/day	(103)
Water dispersible natural α,β,δ, and γ-T3	EVNolMax TM , ExcelVite	Antioxidant in various system	30–50 mg/day	(103)
Water dispersible natural α,β,δ, and γ-T3	EVNolBeV TM , ExcelVite	Antioxidant in various system	30–50 mg/day	(103)
Natural α , β , δ , and γ -T3	Tocobeads [®] , ExcelVite	Antioxidant in various system	30–50 mg/day	(103)
γ-Τ3	Tocotrol TM L50P, Fuji chemical industry	Improve neurological function	50–100 mg	(104)
30% Palm T3 Powder	TocoTab [®] , Fuji chemical industry	Improve neurological function	50–100 mg	(104)

TABLE 3 | T3s-based products for neuroregeneration.

This is the main reason why most of the study is limited to tocopherols or synthetic tocopherols, instead of focusing on T3s. Additionally, it is really hard to synthesize T3s due to the existence of three double bonds in the isoprenoid side chain (101). So far, there is no reported dose limiting toxicity that has been recorded for T3s consumption. However, it is advisable for those with blood disorders to avoid consuming T3s as they possess anticoagulant effect (81). There are limitations including the forms of vitamin E that are not clarified in some areas. As such, the composition of vitamin E supplement might not reflex the genuine composition within the diet. At present, there is no reliable evidence of adequacy of vitamin E within the avoidance or treatment of individuals with AD; in this way, more investigation is required. However, the preclinical evidence supporting the use of antioxidants to prevent or slow AD is strong. There is clear evidence for increased oxidative damage in the brain of AD patients and numerous potential sources of excess free radicals that may contribute to this damage. To add on, the market for T3s remains robust. By the year 2026, it is expected that the market value for T3s might reach up to USD522.0 million (105). In considering this, continuity in research, especially in bioavailability, is highly recommended to fully utilize T3s for the prevention of neurodegenerative disorders in the future.

CONCLUSIONS

In vitro and *in vivo* studies have confirmed the neuroprotective potential of T3s against neurodegenerative diseases such as AD and PD through the actions as antioxidant, shield of

REFERENCES

 Feigin VL, Krishnamurthi RV, Theadom AM, Abajobir AA, Mishra SR, Ahmed MB, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders during 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet mitochondria damage, and neuroprotectant against neuronal cell death. These effects are expected to be validated by clinical trials. The market value for T3s as supplement for preventing neurodegenerative diseases is high, while approaches that lower their extraction cost and enhances bioavailability are anticipated as sensible focus of future research in T3s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RN: conceptualization, software, data curation, and visualization. RN and NS: methodology and writing review and editing. HB and NS: validation and investigation. RN and HB: formal analysis and writing original draft preparation. PK: resources. HB: supervision and funding acquisition. NS: project administration. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded through the grant provided by Fundamental Research Grant (FRGS/1/2020/SKK0/UPM/02/4) in the form of database subscription. The funders do not have any contribution and decision to publish or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All the authors would like to express our gratitude to the Faculty of Medicine & Health Science, UPM for the guidance and resources to complete this review.

Neurol. (2017) 16:877–97. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30 299-5

big 2. Siuly S, Zhang, Υ. Medical data: neurological through medical data analysis. diseases diagnosis Data Sci Eng. (2016)1:54-64.doi: 10 1007/s41019-016-0011-3

- Shahidi F, Camargo AC. De tocopherols and tocotrienols in common and emerging dietary sources: occurrence, applications, and health benefits. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:1745. doi: 10.3390/ijms17101745
- Mordeniz C. Introductory chapter: traditional and complementary medicine. In: Mordeniz C, editor. *Traditional and Complementary Medicine*. London: IntechOpen (2019). p. 1–22.
- Maiti P, Dunbar GL. Use of curcumin, a natural polyphenol for targeting molecular pathways in treating age-related neurodegenerative diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1637. doi: 10.3390/ijms19061637
- Kim M, Jung J, Jeong NY, Chung HJ. The natural plant flavonoid apigenin is a strong antioxidant that effectively delays peripheral neurodegenerative processes. *Anat Sci Int.* (2019) 94:285–94. doi: 10.1007/s12565-019-00486-2
- Farkhondeh T, Samarghandian S, Yazdi HS, Samini, F. The protective effects of crocin in the management of neurodegenerative diseases: a review. *Am J Neurodegener Dis.* (2018) 7:1–10. doi: 10.2174/1570163815666180219115453
- 8. Hase T, Shishido S, Yamamoto S, Yamashita R, Nukima H, Taira, et al. Rosmarinic acid suppresses Alzheimer's disease development by reducing amyloid β aggregation by increasing monoamine secretion. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45168-1
- Pervin M, Unno K, Ohishi T, Tanabe H, Miyoshi N, Nakamura, et al. Beneficial effects of green tea catechins on neurodegenerative diseases. *Molecules*. (2018) 23:1297. doi: 10.3390/molecules23061297
- Rege SD, Geetha T, Griffin GD, Broderick TL, Babu JR. Neuroprotective effects of resveratrol in Alzheimer disease pathology. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:218. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00218
- Hajialyani M, Farzaei MH, Echeverría J, Nabavi SM, Uriarte E, Sobarzo-Sánchez E, et al. Hesperidin as a neuroprotective agent: a review of animal and clinical evidence. *Molecules*. (2019) 24:648. doi: 10.3390/molecules24030648
- Horowitz MP, Greenamyre JT. Mitochondrial iron metabolism and its role in neurodegeneration. J Alzheimers Dis. (2010) 20:S551–68. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100354
- Mangialasche F, Xu W, Kivipelto M, Costanzi E, Ercolani S, Pigliautile M, et al. Tocopherols and tocotrienols plasma levels are associated with cognitive impairment. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2012) 33:2282–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.11.019
- Enrico C. Nanotechnology-based drug delivery of natural compounds and phytochemicals for the treatment of cancer and other diseases. In: Rahman A, editor. *Studies in Natural Products Chemistry, Vol. 62.* Berkeley, CA: Elsevier BV (2019). p. 91–123. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64185-4. 00003-4
- Lleó A, Cavedo E, Parnetti L, Vanderstichele H, Herukka SK, Andreasen N, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in trials for Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2015) 11:41–55. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.20 14.232
- Dhakal S, Kushairi N, Phan CW, Adhikari B, Sabaratnam V, Macreadie I, et al. Dietary polyphenols: a multifactorial strategy to target Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:5090. doi: 10.3390/ijms20205090
- Lum PT, Sekar M, Gan SH, Pandy V, Bonam SR. Protective effect of mangiferin on memory impairment: a systematic review. *Saudi J Biol Sci.* (2021) 28:917–27. doi: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2020.11.037
- Agnihotri A, Aruoma OI. Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease: a nutritional toxicology perspective of the impact of oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, nutrigenomics and environmental chemicals. J Am Coll Nutr. (2019) 39:16–27. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2019.1683379
- Nury T, Lizard G, Vejux, A. lipids nutrients in parkinson and alzheimer's diseases: cell death and cytoprotection. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:2501. doi: 10.3390/ijms21072501
- Madireddy S, Madireddy, S. Protection from the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders, including Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Huntington's disease, and Parkinson's diseases, through the mitigation of reactive oxygen species. *J Neurosci Neurol Disord.* (2019) 3:148–61. doi: 10.29328/journal.jnnd.1001026
- Congdon EE, Sigurdsson EM. Tau-targeting therapies for Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol. (2018) 14:399–415. doi: 10.1038/s41582-018-0013-z
- Tarawneh R, Holtzman DM. The clinical problem of symptomatic Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2012) 2:a006148. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006148

- Breijyeh Z, Karaman, R. Comprehensive review on Alzheimer's disease: causes and treatment. *Mol.* (2020) 25:5789. doi: 10.3390/molecules25245789
- 24. Salehpour F, Khademi M, Hamblin MR. Photobiomodulation therapy for dementia: a systematic review of pre-clinical and clinical studies. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2021) 18:437–46. doi: 10.3233/JAD-210029
- Murphy MP, Levine, H. Alzheimer's disease and the amyloid-β peptide. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2010) 19:311–23. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-1221
- Podcasy JL, Epperson CN. Considering sex and gender in Alzheimer disease and other dementias. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2016) 18:437– 46. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.4/cepperson
- Prince M, Comas-Herrera A, Knapp M, Guerchet M, Karagiannidou M. Improving healthcare for people living with dementia coverage, quality and costs now and in the future. (2016). World Alzheimer Report, London, UK.
- Alzheimer's Association 2019. Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Dement. (2019) 15:321–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.01.010
- 29. Winblad B, Amouyel P, Andrieu S, Ballard C, Brayne C, Brodaty H, et al. Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:455–532. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00062-4
- Cardoso I, Santos LM, Alemi, M. Modulating role of TTR in Aβ toxicity, from health to disease. In: Fernandez-Escamilla A-M, editor. *Exploring New Findings on Amyloidosis*. London: InTech (2016). p. 1–72. doi: 10.5772/63194
- Sun X, Chen W-D, Wang Y-D. β-amyloid: the key peptide in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Front Pharmacol.* (2015) 6:221. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2015.00221
- 32. Wang Z, Jackson RJ, Hong W, Taylor WM, Corbett GT, Moreno A, et al. Human brain-derived A β oligomers bind to synapses and disrupt synaptic activity in a manner that requires APP. *J Neurosci.* (2017) 37:11947– 66. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2009-17.2017
- Mandelkow EM, Mandelkow E. Tau in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol. (1998) 8:425–7. doi: 10.1016/S0962-8924(98)01368-3
- De Vos KJ, Hafezparast, M. Neurobiology of axonal transport defects in motor neuron diseases: opportunities for translational research? *Neurobiol Dis.* (2017) 105:283–99. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2017.02.004
- Downward E, Pool JJ. Parkinson's Disease in Women. Available online at: https://parkinsonsdisease.net/women-impacted-parkinsons/ (accessed October 13, 2020).
- Jankovic, J. Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2008) 79:368–76. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.131045
- Weintraub D, Burn DJ. Parkinson's disease: the quintessential neuropsychiatric disorder. *Mov Disord.* (2011) 26:1022– 31. doi: 10.1002/mds.23664
- Owens-Walton C, Jakabek D, Li X, Wilkes FA, Walterfang M, Velakoulis D, et al. Striatal changes in Parkinson disease: an investigation of morphology, functional connectivity and their relationship to clinical symptoms. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging*. (2018) 275:5–13. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.03.004
- Mahul-Mellier A-L, Burtscher J, Maharjan N, Weerens L, Croisier M, Leleu M, et al. The process of Lewy body formation, rather than simply α-synuclein fibrillization, is one of the major drivers of neurodegeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:4971–82. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1913904117
- Emamzadeh FN, Surguchov, A. Parkinson's disease: biomarkers, treatment, and risk factors. Front Neurosci. (2018) 0:612. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00612
- Rewar S. A systematic review on Parkinson's disease (PD). Indian J Res Pharm Biotechnol. (2015) 3:176–85. Available online at: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/279181994_A_systematic_review_on_ Parkinson's_disease_PD
- Weng M, Xie X, Liu C, Lim KL, Zhang CW, Li L. The sources of reactive oxygen species and its possible role in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsons Dis.* (2018) 2018:9163040. doi: 10.1155/2018/9163040
- Poewe W, Seppi K, Tanner CM, Halliday GM, Brundin P, Volkmann J, et al. Parkinson disease. *Nat Rev Dis Prim.* (2017) 3:1–21. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.13
- Mackenzie IRA. The pathology of Parkinson's disease. BC Med J. (2001) 43:142–7. Available online at: https://bcmj.org/articles/pathologyparkinson%E2%80%99s-disease
- 45. Kouli A, Torsney KM, Kuan W-L. Parkinson's disease: etiology, neuropathology, and pathogenesis. In: Stoker TB,

Greenland JC, editors. *Parkinson's Disease: Pathogenesis and Clinical Aspects.* Brisbane: Codon Publications (2018). p. 3–26. doi: 10.15586/codonpublications.parkinsonsdisease.2018.ch1

- Peh HY, Tan WSD, Liao W, Wong WSF. Vitamin E therapy beyond cancer: tocopherol versus tocotrienol. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2016) 162:152– 69. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.12.003
- Ahsan H, Ahad A, Siddiqui WA. A review of characterization of tocotrienols from plant oils and foods. J Chem Biol. (2015) 8:45– 59. doi: 10.1007/s12154-014-0127-8
- Grimm MOW, Stahlmann CP, Mett J, Haupenthal VJ, Zimmer VC, Lehmann J, et al. Vitamin E: curse or benefit in Alzheimer's disease? A systematic investigation of the impact of α-, γ- and δ-tocopherol on Aβ generation and degradation in neuroblastoma cells. J Nutr Heal Aging. (2015) 19:646–54. doi: 10.1007/s12603-015-0506-z
- Ramanathan N, Tan E, Loh LJ, Soh BS, Yap WN. Tocotrienol is a cardioprotective agent against ageing-associated cardiovascular disease and its associated morbidities. *Nutr Metab.* (2018) 15:1–15. doi: 10.1186/s12986-018-0244-4
- Singh S, Sharma B, Kanwar SS, Kumar, A. Lead phytochemicals for anticancer drug development. *Front Plant Sci.* (2016) 7:1667. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2016.01667
- Leng X, Kinnun JJ, Marquardt D, Ghefli M, Kučerka N, Katsaras J, et al. αtocopherol is well designed to protect polyunsaturated phospholipids: MD simulations. *Biophys J*. (2015) 109:1608–18. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2015.08.032
- 52. Milton NGN. Amyloid- β binds catalase with high affinity and inhibits hydrogen peroxide breakdown. *Biochem J.* (1999) 344:293–6. doi: 10.1042/bj3440293
- Singh A, Kukreti R, Saso L, Kukreti, S. Oxidative stress: a key modulator in neurodegenerative diseases. *Molecules*. (2019) 24:1583. doi: 10.3390/molecules24081583
- 54. Damanhuri HA, Rahim NIA, Nasri WNW, Tan JK, Makpol S, Mazlan M, et al. Tocotrienol-rich fraction supplementation modulates antioxidant enzymes activity and reduces DNA damage in APPswe/PS1dE9 Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Sains Malaysiana*. (2016) 45:1363–1370. Available online at: http://journalarticle.ukm.my/10279/
- 55. Hamezah HS, Durani LW, Yanagisawa D, Ibrahim NF, Aizat WM, Makpol S, et al. Modulation of proteome profile in AβPP/PS1 mice hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex, and striatum by palm oil derived tocotrienol-rich fraction. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2019) 72:229–46. doi: 10.3233/JAD-181171
- Khor SC, Ngah WZW, Yusof YAM, Karim NA, Makpol, S. Tocotrienolrich fraction ameliorates antioxidant defense mechanisms and improves replicative senescence-associated oxidative stress in human myoblasts. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2017) 2017: 3868305. doi: 10.1155/2017/3868305
- Mohamed W, Saxena AK. Oxidative stress status and neuroprotection of tocotrienols in chronic cerebral hypoperfusion-induced neurodegeneration rat animal model. *Int J Nutr. Pharmacol Neurol Dis.* (2018) 8:47–52. doi: 10.4103/ijnpnd.ijnpnd_17_18
- Ahsan H, Ahad A, Iqbal J, Siddiqui WA. Pharmacological potential of tocotrienols: a review. *Nutr Metab.* (2014) 11:1– 22. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-11-52
- Ahmadi K, Kumalaningsih S, Wijana S. Imam Santoso antioxidative effect of tocotrienol rich fraction from palm fatty acid distillate on oxidative stress. *Food Public Heal.* (2013) 3:130–6. doi: 10.5923/j.fph.2013 0303.03
- Tan CY, Saw TY, Fong CW, Ho HK. Comparative hepatoprotective effects of tocotrienol analogs against drug-induced liver injury. *Redox Biol.* (2015) 4:308–20. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2015.01.013
- Durani LW, Hamezah HS, Ibrahim NF, Yanagisawa D, Nasaruddin ML, Mori M, et al. Tocotrienol-rich fraction of palm oil improves behavioral impairments and regulates metabolic pathways in AβPP/PS1 mice. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2018) 64:249–67. doi: 10.3233/JAD-170880
- 62. Yatin SM, Yatin M, Aulick T, Ain KB, Butterfield DA. Alzheimer's amyloid β-peptide associated free radicals increase rat embryonic neuronal polyamine uptake and ornithine decarboxylase activity: protective effect of vitamin E. *Neurosci Lett.* (1999) 263:17–20. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(99)00101-9
- Matsura, T. Protective effect of tocotrienol on *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of Parkinson's disease. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). (2019) 65:S51– 3. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.65.S51

- Comitato R, Ambra R, Virgili F. Tocotrienols: a family of molecules with specific biological activities. *Antioxidants.* (2017) 6:93. doi: 10.3390/antiox6040093
- 65. Liu F, Huang X, Luo Z, He J, Haider F, Song C, et al. Hypoxiaactivated PI3K/Akt inhibits oxidative stress via the regulation of reactive oxygen species in human dental pulp cells. Oxid Med Cell. Longev. (2019) 2019:6595189. doi: 10.1155/2019/6595189
- 66. Grimm MOW, Regner L, Mett J, Stahlmann CP, Schorr P, Nelke C, et al. Tocotrienol affects oxidative stress, cholesterol homeostasis and the amyloidogenic pathway in neuroblastoma cells: consequences for Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:1809. doi: 10.3390/ijms17111809
- 67. Kumari M. Neuroprotective Mechanism of Oral Supplementation of Alpha or Gamma Tocotrienol in a Rat Model of Parkinson's Disease. Kajang: International Medical University (2019).
- Kumari M, Ramdas P, Radhakrishnan AK, Haleagrahara N, Kutty MK. Tocotrienols ameliorate neurodegeneration and motor deficits in the 6-ohda-induced rat model of parkinsonism: behavioural and immunohistochemistry analysis. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:1583. doi: 10.3390/nu13051583
- Hagl S, Berressem D, Grewal R, Sus N, Frank J, Eckert P, et al. Rice bran extract improves mitochondrial dysfunction in brains of aged NMRI mice. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2016) 19:1–10. doi: 10.1179/1476830515Y.0000000040
- Chung KKK. Studying nitrosative stress in Parkinson's disease. Methods Mol Biol. (2015) 1292:195–201. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2522-3_14
- Chun HS, Low WC. Ursodeoxycholic acid suppresses mitochondriadependent programmed cell death induced by sodium nitroprusside in SH-SY5Y cells. *Toxicology*. (2012) 292:105–12. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2011.11.020
- Kuhad A, Chopra K. Tocotrienol attenuates oxidativenitrosative stress and inflammatory cascade in experimental model of diabetic neuropathy. *Neuropharmacology.* (2009) 57:456–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009.06.013
- 73. Nasir NAA, Agarwal R, Vasudevan S, Tripathy M, Alyautdin R, Ismail M, et al. Effects of topically applied tocotrienol on cataractogenesis and lens redox status in galactosemic rats. *Mol Vis.* (2014) 20:822–35. Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4057512/
- 74. Weiming X, Huanbiao M. Potential of tocotrienols in the prevention and therapy of alzheimer's disease potential of tocotrienols in the prevention and therapy of Alzheimer's disease. J Nutr Biochem. (2015) 31:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.10.011
- Wang R, Reddy HP. Role of glutamate and NMDA receptors in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2017) 57:1041–8. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160763
- 76. Jenner P, Caccia C. The role of glutamate in the healthy brain and in the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. *Eur Neurol Rev.* (2019) 14:2– 12. Available online at: https://touchneurology.com/parkinsons-disease/ journal-articles/the-role-of-glutamate-in-the-healthy-brain-and-in-thepathophysiology-of-parkinsons-disease-2/
- Jalil AA, Khaza'Ai H, Nordin N, Mansor N, Zaulkffali AS. Vitamin Emediated modulation of glutamate receptor expression in an oxidative stress model of neural cells derived from embryonic stem cell cultures. *Evid Based Compl Altern Med.* (2017) 2017:6048936. doi: 10.1155/2017/ 6048936
- Sun J, Nan G. The extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 pathway in neurological diseases: a potential therapeutic target (Review). *Int J Mol Med.* (2017) 39:1338–46. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2017.2962
- Maher P, Leyen K, van Dey PN, Honrath B, Dolga A, Methner A. The role of Ca2+ in cell death caused by oxidative glutamate toxicity and ferroptosis. *Cell Calcium*. (2018) 70:47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2017.05.007
- Iovino L, Tremblay ME, Civiero L. Glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in Parkinson's disease: the role of glial cells. J Pharmacol Sci. (2020) 144:151– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.jphs.2020.07.011
- Chin K-Y, Tay SS. A review on the relationship between tocotrienol and Alzheimer disease. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:881. doi: 10.3390/nu10070881
- Khanna S, Roy S, Ryu H, Bahadduri P, Swaan PW, Ratan R, et al. Molecular basis of Vitamin E action: tocotrienol modulates 12-lipoxygenase, a key mediator of glutamate-induced neurodegeneration. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:43508–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M307075200
- Giau V Van, Senanarong V, Bagyinszky E, Limwongse C, An SSA, Kim S. Identification of a novel mutation in APP gene in a Thai subject with

early-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2018) 14:3015–23. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S180174

- Wan Nasri WN, Makpol S, Mazlan M, Tooyama I, Wan Ngah WZ, Damanhuri HA, et al. Tocotrienol rich fraction supplementation modulate brain hippocampal gene expression in APPswe/PS1dE9 Alzheimer's disease mouse model. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2019) 70:S239–54. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180496
- Tse K-H, Herrup K. Re-imagining Alzheimer's disease the diminishing importance of amyloid and a glimpse of what lies ahead. *J Neurochem.* (2017) 143:432–44. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14079
- Gorman KM, Meyer E, Grozeva D, Spinelli E, McTague A, Sanchis-Juan, et al. Bi-allelic loss-of-function CACNA1B mutations in progressive epilepsy-dyskinesia. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2019) 104:948–56. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2019.03.005
- Bunda A, Lacarubba B, Bertolino M, Akiki M, Bath K, Lopez-Soto J, et al. Cacna1b alternative splicing impacts excitatory neurotransmission and is linked to behavioral responses to aversive stimuli. *Mol Brain.* (2019) 12:1– 14. doi: 10.1186/s13041-019-0500-1
- Picone P, Nuzzo D, Caruana L, Scafidi V, Carlo MD. Mitochondrial dysfunction: different routes to Alzheimer's disease therapy. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2014) 2014:780179. doi: 10.1155/2014/ 780179
- Park JS, Davis RL, Sue CM. Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: new mechanistic insights and therapeutic perspectives. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2018) 18:21. doi: 10.1007/s11910-018-0829-3
- Kamsani YS, Rajikin MH. Tocotrienols and oxidative stress in oocytes and developing embryos. J Clin Heal Sci. (2017) 2:8–18. doi: 10.24191/jchs.v2i2.5881
- Matsuura K, Canfield K, Feng W, Kurokawa M. Metabolic regulation of apoptosis in cancer. In: Jeon KW, Galluzzi L, editors. *International Review* of Cell and Molecular Biology, Vol. 327. Kidlington: Elsevier Inc (2016). p. 43–87. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2016.06.006
- 92. Sung S, Yao Y, Uryu K, Yang H, Lee VMY, Trojanowski JQ, et al. Early vitamin E supplementation in young but not aged mice reduces Abeta levels and amyloid deposition in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J. (2004) 18:323–5. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0961fje
- Conte V, Uryu K, Fujimoto S, Yao Y, Rokach J, Longhi, et al. Vitamin E reduces amyloidosis and improves cognitive function in Tg2576 mice following repetitive concussive brain injury. J Neurochem. (2004) 90:758– 64. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02560.x
- 94. Yao Y, Chinnici C, Tang H, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VMY, Praticò D, et al. Brain inflammation and oxidative stress in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer-like brain amyloidosis. J Neuroinflammation. (2004) 1:21. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-1-21
- 95. Ibrahim NF, Yanagisawa D, Durani LW, Hamezah HS, Damanhuri HA, Wan Ngah WZ, et al. Tocotrienol-rich fraction modulates amyloid pathology and improves cognitive function in AβPP/PS1 mice. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2017) 55:597–612. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160685
- 96. Hagl S, Kocher A, Schiborr C, Eckert SH, Ciobanu I, Birringer M, et al. Rice bran extract protects from mitochondrial dysfunction in guinea

pig brains. Pharmacol Res. (2013) 76:17-27. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2013. 06.008

- 97. Nakaso K, Tajima N, Horikoshi Y, Nakasone M, Hanaki T, Kamizaki K, et al. The estrogen receptor β -PI3K/Akt pathway mediates the cytoprotective effects of tocotrienol in a cellular Parkinson's disease model. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2014) 1842:1303–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.04.008
- Nakaso K, Horikoshi Y, Takahashi T, Hanaki T, Nakasone M, Kitagawa, et al. Estrogen receptor-mediated effect of δ-tocotrienol prevents neurotoxicity and motor deficit in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett.* (2015) 610:117–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.10.062
- Wong SK, Kamisah Y, Mohamed N, Muhammad N, Masbah N, Fahami AM, et al. Potential role of tocotrienols on non-communicable diseases: a review of current evidence. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:259. doi: 10.3390/nu120 10259
- 100. Park HA, Mnatsakanyan N, Broman K, Davis AU, May J, Licznerski P, et al. Alpha-tocotrienol prevents oxidative stress-mediated post-translational cleavage of Bcl-xL in primary hippocampal neurons. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:220. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010220
- 101. Liu X, Gujarathi S, Zhang X, Shao L, Boerma M, Compadre M, et al. Synthesis of. (2R,9'S,3'E)-δ-tocodienol, a tocoflexol family member designed to have a superior pharmacokinetic profile compared to δ-tocotrienol. *Tetrahedron.* (2016) 72:4001–6. doi: 10.1016/j.tet.2016.05.028
- Davos Life Science Tocotrienols DavosLife E3. Available online at: https:// www.klkoleo.com/davoslife/davoslife-e3/ (accessed October 24, 2020).
- ExcelVite ExcelVite. Available online at: https://www.excelvite.com/ tocotrienol/faqs-about-tocotrienol/ (accessed October 24, 2020).
- Fuji Chemical Industry Co., L. Life Sciences. Available online at: http:// www.fujichemical.co.jp/english/life_science/tocotreal/index.html (accessed October 24, 2020).
- Watson J. Tocotrienols Market To Reach USD 522.0 Million By 2026. New York (2020).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Naomi, Shafie, Kaniappan and Bahari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dietary Fish Hydrolysate Improves Memory Performance Through Microglial Signature Remodeling During Aging

Mathilde Chataigner^{1,2}, Céline Lucas³, Mathieu Di Miceli^{1,4}, Véronique Pallet¹, Sophie Laye¹, Alexis Mehaignerie², Elodie Bouvret², Anne-Laure Dinel^{1,3†} and Corinne Joffre^{1*†}

¹ Université de Bordeaux, INRAE, Bordeaux INP, NutriNeuro, Bordeaux, France, ² Abyss Ingredients, Caudan, France, ³ NutriBrain Research and Technology Transfer, NutriNeuro, Bordeaux, France, ⁴ Worcester Biomedical Research Group, School of Science and the Environment, University of Worcester, Worcester, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Joseph Lamport, University of Reading, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Amanda N. Carey, Simmons University, United States Adrian Whyte, University of Winchester, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Corinne Joffre corinne.joffre@inrae.fr

[†]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutrition and Brain Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 30 July 2021 Accepted: 01 November 2021 Published: 23 November 2021

Citation:

Chataigner M, Lucas C, Di Miceli M, Pallet V, Laye S, Mehaignerie A, Bouvret E, Dinel A-L and Joffre C (2021) Dietary Fish Hydrolysate Improves Memory Performance Through Microglial Signature Remodeling During Aging. Front. Nutr. 8:750292. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.750292 Brain aging is characterized by a chronic low-grade inflammation, which significantly impairs cognitive function. Microglial cells, the immunocompetent cells of the brain, present a different phenotype, switching from a homeostatic signature (M0) to a more reactive phenotype called "MGnD" (microglial neurodegenerative phenotype), leading to a high production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Furthermore, microglial cells can be activated by age-induced gut dysbiosis through the vagus nerve or the modulation of the peripheral immune system. Nutrients, in particular n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) and low molecular weight peptides, display powerful immunomodulatory properties, and can thus prevent age-related cognitive decline. The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of n-3 LC-PUFAs and low molecular weight peptides contained in a marine by-product-derived hydrolysate on microglial phenotypes and intestinal permeability and their consequences on cognition in mice. We demonstrated that the hydrolysate supplementation for 8 weeks prevented short- and long-term memory decline during aging. These observations were linked to the modulation of microglial signature. Indeed, the hydrolysate supplementation promoted homeostatic microglial phenotype by increasing TGF-β1 expression and stimulated phagocytosis by increasing Clec7a expression. Moreover, the hydrolysate supplementation promoted anti-inflammatory intestinal pathway and tended to prevent intestinal permeability alteration occurring during aging. Therefore, the fish hydrolysate appears as an interesting candidate to prevent cognitive decline during aging.

Keywords: n-3 long chain PUFA, low molecular weight peptides, microglia, memory, hydrolysate, cognitive decline, aging

INTRODUCTION

Brain aging has been associated with a chronic low-grade inflammation, in humans (1-3) and rodents (4-6). Neuroinflammation is finely orchestrated by microglial cells, the immunocompetent cells of the central nervous system (CNS). In the healthy brain, microglial cells exhibit a unique molecular homeostatic signature (M0) but with aging, these cells can display a novel

103

non-homeostatic signature called "MGnD" (microglial neurodegenerative phenotype) and become sensitized to inflammation and highly reactive, leading to an imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine production (7, 8). During aging, microglial cells express pro-inflammatory markers such as galectin 3 (Lgals3), the AXL receptor tyrosine kinase (Axl), c-type lectin domain family 7-member A (Clec7a), the major histocompatibility complex class II (MHCII) and the integrin subunit alpha X (Itgax also known as CD11c) (9-11). Moreover, transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), an important molecule in the maintaining of the M0 phenotype, is decreased in microglial cells of aged mice, contributing to the shift toward MGnD signature (7, 10). Microglia can also be activated by aged-induced gut dysbiosis. Indeed, aging has been linked to a decrease of gut microbiota diversity and an increase of intestinal permeability and inflammation, contributing to microglia activation via the vagus nerve or by direct modulation of the peripheral immune system (12–15).

This microglial dysfunction can lead to aged-related cognitive decline which is characterized by non-pathological, but significant alterations of memory in both humans and animals (16, 17). This cognitive decline can lead to alteration of well-being and quality of life (18, 19). Indeed, in humans, a mild stimulation of the host defense is associated with increased cytokine release and negative effects on emotional and memory functions (20). In rodents, interleukin (IL)-1 β injection induces decreased memory performance as measured in an 8-arm radial maze or in the Morris water maze (21, 22). Moreover, spatial memory is altered in transgenic mice overexpressing tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) in the brain, while it is enhanced in TNF- α deficient mice (23, 24). Thus, targeting inflammation during aging constitutes a good strategy to delay or limit the development of age-related cognitive deficits (25).

Nutrition is an innovative strategy to prevent age-related cognitive impairments. Among all nutrients, n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) and low molecular weight peptides derived from proteins are good candidates for their immunomodulatory properties. n-3 LC-PUFAs, including docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), display powerful anti-inflammatory and proresolutive properties. Indeed, they regulate the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, as evidenced in clinical and pre-clinical in vivo studies, as well as in in vitro studies (26-28). In humans suffering from diseases associated with chronic lowgrade inflammation, supplementations with EPA and/or DHA reduce circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines expression and increase the production of specialized pro-resolving mediators (SPM) (29-31). Supplementation with n-3 LC-PUFAs in adult rodents prevents the increase of the pro-inflammatory cytokine expression IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or IL-1 β and increases hippocampal production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10 and IL-4 (32-38). Furthermore, numerous observational and interventional studies highlighted the positive association between the consumption of dietary n-3 LC-PUFAs and cognitive performance in the elderly (39-43). Similarly, beneficial effect of n-3 LC-PUFAs supplementations on cognition have also been shown in aged rodents (44-47). Aged mice supplemented with DHA and/or EPA are protected against neuroinflammation and cognitive impairment (46). In vitro, anti-inflammatory effects of n-3 LC-PUFAs have been demonstrated in microglial cells with the reduction of LPS-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as the polarization of microglial cells into an anti-inflammatory phenotype (48-54). Low molecular weight peptides (<1,000 Da) contained in protein hydrolysates are also nutrients of interest for their central and peripheral antiinflammatory properties, demonstrated in vivo and in vitro (55-59). In a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, peptides from milk reduced the expression of inflammatory factors such as TNF-α, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2) inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in the brain (60). In vitro, in human primary monocytes and murine macrophages, salmon- and lupine-derived peptides inhibited the production of nitric oxide (NO), prostaglandin (PG) E2 and pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β (61, 62). At the periphery, peptides from soy and milk reduced peripheral expression of pro-inflammatory factors such as TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1 β , interferon- γ , or IL-17 in mice colon and abdominal aorta (56, 63). Furthermore, at the intestine level, an intake of marine n-3 PUFAs or bioactive peptides (from soy or oyster hydrolysate, for example) has been shown to decrease intestinal inflammation induced by inflammatory bowel diseases in humans and mice (64, 65). n-3 LC-PUFAs have been shown to influence the gut microbiota and improve intestinal immunity (66, 67). In rodents, supplementation with n-3 LC-PUFAs increases the number and abundance of beneficial bacteria, such as Bifidobacterium (68, 69). EPA and DHA have also been shown to prevent intestinal permeability changes induced in vitro and in vivo (70). Moreover, low molecular weight collagen peptides have been shown to protect the intestinal barrier function in vitro via the regulation of tight junction proteins zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1) and occludin (Ocln) expression and distribution and the myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) pathway (71, 72).

In this study we investigated the effects of n-3 LC-PUFAs and low molecular weight peptides contained in a marine by-product-derived hydrolysate on microglial signature, intestinal permeability, and cognition in mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Fifteen-month old male C57Bl6/J mice (Janvier Labs, Le Genest-Saint-Isle, France) were housed under normal 12 h-12 h light/dark cycle on cellulose litter in a controlled environment (21–23°C, 40% of humidity), with *ad libitum* access to food and water. Animal husbandry and experimental procedures were done in accordance with the EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and were approved by the local ethical committee (CE050 from Bordeaux) for the care and use of animals (approval ID APAFIS#14144-2018041213072383).

Diet

Mice were randomly assigned to different groups: one group (n = 10) fed a control diet (INRAE Jouy-en-Josas, France)

TABLE 1 Cor	nposition of the	control and the	the hydrolysate-enrich	ed diets.
---------------	------------------	-----------------	------------------------	-----------

Components	Percent (%)			
	Control diet	Hydrolysate-enriched diet		
Hydrochloric casein	18	18		
Corn starch	45.9	45.7		
Sucrose	24	24		
Cellulose	2	2		
Peanut oil	5	5		
Mineral mix	4	4		
Vitamin mix	1	1		
+ DL methionine	0.1	0.1		
+ Vitamin A 5 UI/g	5 UI/g	5 Ul/g		
Hydrolysate	0	0.29		

and one group (n = 11) fed the hydrolysate-enriched diet (INRAE Jouy-en-Josas, France) containing 0.29% of the fish hydrolysate for 8 weeks (**Table 1**; **Figure 1**). The fish hydrolysate was provided by the BrainBooster Consortium. It was obtained from marine by-products and contained mostly low molecular weight peptides (<1,000 Da) and n-3 LC-PUFAs such as DHA and EPA. The specific composition of the fish hydrolysate is detailed in patent number B251427FR. The fish hydrolysate dose was determined as previously shown (73). The dose of low molecular weight peptides was 5.55 mg/mouse/day, and the dose of n-3 LC-PUFAs was 280 µg/mouse/day (of which 70 µg/mouse/day of DHA and 179 µg/mouse/day of EPA).

EchoMRI

Fat mass and lean mass were quantified at the beginning and at the end of the supplementation by magnetic resonance using minispec LF90 II (Bruker, Wissembourg, 67166).

Behavioral Tests

Y-Maze

Eight weeks after the beginning of the supplementation, short term spatial recognition memory was evaluated with the Y-maze test as described previously (74). The apparatus is a Y-shaped maze with 3 arms (35 cm long and 10 cm deep), illuminated at 15 lx. Extra-maze visual cues are placed on the walls, allowing mice to navigate in space. In the first trial, one arm of the Y-maze was closed, and mice were allowed to visit the two other arms for 5 min. Short term spatial memory was evaluated after a 1 h inter-trial interval (ITI), where mice were placed again in the start arm for the second trial and allowed to explore freely all three arms for 5 min. Start and closed arms were randomly assigned for each mouse. The animals were video-tracked (SMART system; Bioseb, Vitrolles, France) to analyze the distance traveled in the different arms.

Morris Water Maze

Spatial learning and memory were assessed in the Morris water maze as previously detailed (73, 75). Briefly, two familiarization days were designed. Mice had to find a submerged platform in a small pool (60 cm diameter) to familiarize with water

and swimming (3 consecutive trials a day; 60 s cut-off). Then, visuomotor deficits were evaluated during a day of cued learning in the Morris water maze where mice had to find a submerged platform pointed out with a cue (6 trials a day; 90 s cut-off). During spatial learning, mice were trained during four consecutive days to learn the location of the submerged platform by using distal extra-maze cues (6 trials a day; 90 s cut-off). For each trial, the distance traveled to reach the platform was recorded by Imetronic videotracking system (Pessac, France). Spatial memory was assessed 72 h after the last day of training, during the probe test for 60 s in the maze without the platform. The distance traveled in the four quadrants was recorded using the SMART system (Bioseb, Vitrolles, France). The quadrant containing the platform is referred to as "target quadrant."

Tissue Preparation

Mice were euthanized by injection of a cocktail of ketamine/xylamin the day following the probe test. After transcardiac perfusion with phosphate buffered saline (PBS), brain structures and peripheral organs of interest were collected and frozen at -80° C until further analysis. For the immunohistochemistry analysis, hemispheres were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) overnight at 4°C, cryoprotected in 30% sucrose during 48 h at 4°C, rapidly frozen with isopentane and stored at -80° C.

Biochemical Measurements Quantitative Real-Time PCR

The expression of the different genes of interest was evaluated by real time quantitative PCR as previously described previously (73). These analyses were performed on central (hippocampus) and peripheral structures (ileum and colon). Briefly, total RNAs were extracted from hippocampus, ileum and colon by TRIzol (Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Saint Aubin, France). Quantity and purity of RNA for each sample were measured by spectrophotometry (Nanodrop, Life technologies, Saint Aubin, France). Reverse transcription was performed on one or two micrograms of RNA by Superscript IV (Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Saint Aubin, France). TaqMan[®] specific primers were used to amplify genes of interest as previously described (73). We focused on IL-6 (Mm00446190_m1), IL-1β (Mm00434228_m1), TNF-α (Mm00443258_m1), TGF-β1 (Mm01178820_m1), transforming growth factor β receptor 2 (TGF- β r2; Mm03024091_m1), α M integrin (Itgam; Mm00434455_m1); transmembrane protein 119 (Tmem119; Mm00525305_m1), P2Y purinoceptor 12 (P2y12; Mm00446026_m1), colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1r; Mm01266652 m1), MHCII (Mm00439216 m1), triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (Trem2; Mm04209424_g1), Apolipoprotein E (ApoE; Mm01307193_g1), Lgals3 (Mm00802901_m1), Axl (Mm00437221 m1), Clec7a (Mm01183349_m1), Itgax (Mm00498708_g1), IL-10 (Mm01288386_m1), Ocln (Mm00500912_m1), ZO-1 (Mm00493699_m1), claudin 5 (Cldn5; Mm00727012_s1), and MLCK (Mm00653039_m1). The housekeeping gene was β-2-microglobulin (B2m; Mm00437762_m1). Fluorescence was determined on a LightCycler[®] 480 instrument II (Roche, La



LC-PUFAs, long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids; QE, quadrant east, QN, quadrant north; QS, quadrant south; QW, quadrant west.

Rochelle, France). Data were analyzed using the comparative threshold cycle (Ct) method and results were expressed as relative fold change (73, 76, 77) to control target mRNA expression.

Immunohistochemistry

Free-floating coronal sections of 40 µm through the hippocampus were collected on a cryostat (Leica Biosystems, Nanterre, France). After being washed for 10 min with PBS-Tween 0.01%, sections were blocked in a buffer containing 5% of donkey serum, 5% of bovine serum albumin (BSA), 0.3% Triton in PBS 1X for 1 h at room temperature (RT). Sections were then immunolabelled with a rabbit polyclonal antibody against Iba1 (1:1,000; Wako #019-19741, Plaisir, France) and a rat polyclonal antibody Clec7a (1:50, Invitrogen, Life Technologies # MABG-MDECT, Saint Aubin, France) in a staining buffer containing 5% of BSA, 0.1% of triton in PBS 1X over night at 4°C. After being washed in PBS-Tween 0.01%, slices were incubated with donkey anti-rabbit 488 (1:2,000; Invitrogen, Life Technologies #A-21206, Saint Aubin, France) and donkey anti-rat 594 (1:100, Invitrogen, Life Technologies #A-21209, Saint Aubin, France) secondary antibodies in a buffer containing 5% of BSA in PBS 1X for 2 h at RT. All sections were processed in parallel. Staining was visualized using DAPI (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany). Images were obtained with a $20 \times$ microscope objective and the software NIS-Elements AR3-2 (Nikon Eclipse 400, Nikon Corporation, Champigny-sur-Marne, France). The number of Iba1- and Clec7a-positive cells in the hippocampus was counted using Image J software (Image J, open source).

Western Blot

Proteins were extracted from the TRIzol fraction previously recovered from the RNA extraction step using the extraction protocol of Simões et al. (78). Protein concentration was determined by bicinchoninic acid protein assay (Interchim, Montlucon, France) according to the protocol. For analysis,

proteins were resolved on 10% sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were incubated with different primary antibodies: a rabbit polyclonal anti-ZO-1 (1:500, #61-7300, Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Saint Aubin, France), a rabbit polyclonal anti-ocln (1:250, #40-4700, Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Saint Aubin, France) and a rabbit polyclonal anti-GAPDH as housekeeping protein (1:10,000; #51745, Cell Signaling, Leiden, Netherlands). These primary antibodies were detected with appropriated donkey horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:5,000, #711-035-152, Jackson Immunoresearch, Westgrove, PA, USA). The membranes were incubated with a peroxidase revealing solution (SuperSignal West Dura, ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA, USA) and were revealed using ChemiDoc MP (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA). Proteins of interest were normalized to GAPDH and results are expressed as relative expression.

Data Analysis

Hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using R free software (79), version 4.0.3. Forty variables were used (**Table 2**). Then, unsupervised hierarchical analysis was performed with *hclust* function (80) using Ward's linkage method (81). The resulting cluster dendrogram was then generated with the *plot* function. Correlation matrices were calculated and drawn in R with *heatmap.plus*, *gplots*, *psy*, *RcolorBrewer*, *corrplot*, *ggplot2*, *Hmisc* and *ggcorrplot* packages (cran.r-project.org). All aforementioned packages can be found on the CRAN repository (https://cran.r-project.org/).

Statistical analyses were conducted with GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPadSotfware, San Diego, USA). Graphs are represented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). A 2-way ANOVA with repeated measures was used to analyze body weight (factors: diet and time). The Y-Maze was analyzed using a 2-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey *post-hoc* test. Concerning the Morris water maze:

TABLE 2 | Variables used for hierarchical cluster analysis.

Family		Process	Variable	Full name
Central nervous system Inflam		Inflammation	IL6	Interleukin 6
			IL1b	Interleukin 1β
			TNFa	Tumor necrosis factor α
MO Mi		Microglial phenotype	TGFb1	Transforming growth factor β1
			TGFbr2	Transforming growth factor β receptor 2
			Itgam	αM integrin
			Tmem119	Transmembrane protein 119
			P2Y12	P2Y purinoceptor 12
			CSF1r	Colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor
MGnD		Microglial phenotype	MHCII	Major histocompatibility complex class II
			Trem2	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
			ApoE	Apolipoprotein E
			Lgals3	Galectin 3
			Axl	Tyrosine-protein kinase receptor UFO
			Clec7a	C-type lectin domain containing 7A
			Itgax	αX integrin
			Clec7a ⁺ Iba1 ⁺ /Iba1 ⁺	C-type lectin domain containing 7A lonized calcium binding adapter molecule1
Intestinal tract	Colon	Inflammation	IL6	Interleukin 6
			IL1b	Interleukin 1β
			TNFa	Tumor necrosis factor α
			IL10	Interleulin 10
		Permeability	Protein Ocln	Protein occludin
		-	Protein ZO-1	Protein ZO-1
			Ocln	Occludin
			ZO-1	Zonula occludens-1
			Cldn5	Claudin 5
			MLCK	Myosin light-chain kinase
	lleum	Inflammation	IL6	Interleukin 6
			IL1b	Interleukin 1ß
			TNFa	Tumor necrosis factor α
			IL10	Interleukin 10
		Permeability	Protein Ocln	Protein occludin
		-	Protein ZO-1	Protein ZO-1
			OcIn	Occludin
			ZO-1	Zonula occludens-1
			Cldn5	Claudin 5
			MLCK	Myosin light-chain kinase
Behavior		Cognition	Distance target	Distance in the target quadrant of the MWM
		~	Y.Maze. New arm	Distance in the new arm of the Y-Maze
			Y.Maze. Familiar arm	Distance in the familiar arm of the Y-Maze

M0, Microglial homeostatic signature; MGnD, Microglial neurodegenerative-associated disease phenotype.

- Cued learning was analyzed using an unpaired *t*-test.
- Spatial learning was analyzed using a 2-way ANOVA with repeated measures (factors: diet and days of learning).
- Probe test comparisons were performed for each group against chance level (25%) using a one sample *t*-test and a 1-way ANOVA (factor: quadrants) followed by a Dunnett's multiple

comparisons *post-hoc* test. A 2-way ANOVA has also been performed (factors: quadrant and diet).

The other analyses were performed using unpaired t-tests (when variances were not different) or Welch-corrected t-tests (when variances were different) between groups. For the ANOVA analyses, the method of Geisser-Greenhouse was used to correct


the violation of the assumption of sphericity (82). Alpha has been set at 0.05 and all the *post-hoc* tests used in the present study (Tukey's and Dunnett's) are comparing multiple variables and are also correcting for family wise error rate.

RESULTS

Individual Heterogeneity in the Experimental Groups

Unsupervised hierarchical clustering analysis was performed using input from all the behavioral and biochemical parameters previously described (**Table 2**). Output clustered mice into two different clusters. The majority of mice that were given hydrolysate-enriched or control diets were segregated in two separate clusters (**Figure 2**). However, out of 11 mice fed with the hydrolysate enriched-diet, 3 mice did not behave as the majority of the group. Similarly, 2 out the 10 mice fed with the control diet did not behave as the majority of the group. Subsequently, these mice were considered as not homogenous within their respective groups and were therefore considered as outliers, and excluded from further analyses (**Figure 2**).

Weight and Body Composition

Weight, fat mass and lean mass were measured all along the 10 weeks of dietary supplementation. Body weight increased in both control and hydrolysate fed mice over the 10 weeks of diet (time effect [$F_{(9, 126)} = 25.93$, p < 0.001]), in a diet-independent manner (diet effect [$F_{(1, 14)} = 2.287$, p = 0.153]) (data not shown). Fat mass gain and lean mass reduction were also similar between mice fed either with the control diet or the hydrolysate

enriched-diet $[t_{(14)} = 0.949, p = 0.359 \text{ and } t_{(14)} = 0.688, p = 0.503$, respectively] (data not shown).

Short-Term and Long-Term Memory Evaluation

The effect of the hydrolysate supplementation on short-term spatial memory was assessed using a Y-maze test with a 1 h ITI. The 2-way ANOVA revealed an effect of arms $[F_{(1, 28)} = 25.62, p < 0.001]$ but did not reveal any effect of the diet $[F_{(1, 28)} = 1.451, p = 0.239]$. However, the interaction between arms and diet was significant $[F_{(1, 28)} = 15.08, p < 0.001]$. The distance traveled in the familiar and in the new arm were not significantly different in control aged mice (Tukey *post-hoc* test: p = 0.838), characterizing short-term memory deficits. Furthermore, aged mice fed the hydrolysate diet traveled less distance in the familiar arm than control aged mice (Tukey *post-hoc* test: p < 0.01). These deficits were prevented in mice fed the hydrolysate diet, which traveled more distance in the new arm (Tukey *post-hoc* test: p < 0.001) (Figure 3A).

The effect of the hydrolysate supplementation on spatial learning and long-term memory was then assessed with the Morris water maze test. First, to evaluate their visuo-motor abilities, mice were trained to find a visible cued platform in the Morris water maze. Both groups traveled similar distances to reach the visible platform [$t_{(14)} = 1.515$, p = 0.152], meaning that they had similar visual abilities and did not display any impairment during the cued learning (**Figure 3B**). Mice were then submitted to the spatial learning. The 2-way ANOVA did not reveal any interaction [$F_{(3, 42)} = 1.119$, p = 0.352] or effect of the diet [$F_{(1, 14)} = 1.098$, p = 0.313]. However, both control and hydrolysate supplemented groups traveled significantly less



distance over the 4 days of training [day effect, $F_{(3, 42)} = 3.85$, p < 0.05] indicating that learning was achieved (Figure 3C). Mice fed the hydrolysate enriched-diet did not show better performance than control mice (diet effect $[F_{(1, 14)} = 1.098]$, p = 0.313]). Spatial memory was evaluated 72 h after the last day of spatial learning, during the probe test. A 2-way ANOVA was performed for the probe test and did not reveal any interaction $[F_{(3, 42)} = 0.475, p = 0.702]$ and no effect of the diet $[F_{(1, 14)} =$ 1.117, p = 0.308]. However, the analysis revealed a significant quadrant effect $[F_{(3, 42)} = 10.47, p < 0.001]$. One sample ttest compared to the chance level (25%) showed that control mice didn't travel more distance in the target quadrant $[t_{(7)}]$ = 1.533 p = 0.169], revealing that 72 h after the last day of training, aged control mice presented memory alterations (Figure 3D). The hydrolysate supplementation prevented this memory long-term memory deficit as shown in Figure 3D. Indeed, supplemented mice significantly traveled more distance in the target quadrant $[t_{(7)} = 3.591, p < 0.01]$. Furthermore, aged control mice failed to discriminate the target quadrant $[F_{(3, 28)}]$ = 2.164, p = 0.115] to the contrary of aged mice supplemented with the hydrolysate enriched-diet $[F_{(3, 28)} = 12.61, p < 0.001].$ They significantly differentiated QN and QS from the target quadrant (QN vs. QW: p < 0.001; QS vs. QW: p < 0.001) and tended to differentiate QE from the target quadrant (QE vs. QW: p = 0.061). The absence of differences between QE and QW could be explained by the freezing of the mice for the 10 first seconds of the probe test, suggesting the presence of anxiety-like behavior, which were corrected by the hydrolysate supplementation. The freezing of the mice can be due to the cold water but we used the temperature used by Morris (75). Freezing can also be a temporary stress related to immobility. This behavior is commonly observed, especially in aged animals, while the Morris water maze is test known to induce stress (83).

Pro-inflammatory Cytokine Gene Expression in the Hippocampus

Gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α was analyzed in the hippocampus of mice. The mRNA expression of IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α was not different between control and supplemented groups ([$t_{(14)} = 0.601$, p = 0.557]; [$t_{(14)} = 0.326$, p = 0.749], and [$t_{(14)} = 0.821$, p = 0.426], respectively) (**Figure 4**).



FIGURE 4 | Effects of the fish hydrolysate supplementation on pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the hippocampus. Pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α mRNA expression in the hippocampus of aged mice fed with the control diet or the hydrolysate-enriched diet for 10 weeks. n = 8 per group. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

Homeostatic and MGnD Microglial Signatures in the Hippocampus

The expression of genes that characterize the homeostatic microglial signature has been evaluated. Interestingly, the hydrolysate supplementation increased the expression of TGF- β 1 compared to the control diet [$t_{(9,413)} = 2.34$, p < 0.05], which is essential for the maintenance of the homeostatic microglial signature (**Figure 5**). No differences were observed between mice fed with the control and the hydrolysate enriched-diet for TGF- β r2 [$t_{(14)} = 0.07$, p = 0.945], P2y12 [$t_{(14)} = 0.7$, p = 0.496], CSF1r [$t_{(14)} = 0.279$, p = 0.784], Itgam [$t_{(14)} = 0.301$, p = 0.768] and Tmem119 [$t_{(14)} = 0.012$, p = 0.991] (**Figure 5**).

The expression of genes that characterize the MGnD microglial signature, occurring during aging, has also been evaluated in the same cerebral structure. Mice fed the hydrolysate enriched-diet displayed higher expression of Clec7a, which is involved in phagocytosis, compared to mice fed the control diet $[t_{(14)} = 2.226, p < 0.05]$ (Figure 6). Moreover, the hydrolysate supplementation tended to decrease the expression of Trem2 $[t_{(14)} = 1.84, p = 0.087]$, which is involved in the shift toward MGnD phenotype (Figure 6). No differences were observed between both control and hydrolysate supplemented groups for ApoE $[t_{(14)} = 0.818, p = 0.427]$, Axl $[t_{(14)} = 0.878, p = 0.395]$, MHCII $[t_{(14)} = 0.987, p = 0.341]$, Lgals3 $[t_{(14)} = 0.73, p = 0.478]$ and Itgax $[t_{(14)} = 0.031, p = 0.976]$ (Figure 6).

Hippocampal Clec7a-Positive Microglia

We wanted to go further with the increased mRNA expression of Clec7a in the hippocampus of the aged hydrolysate group. We then performed immunohistochemical analysis on the number of cells positive for Clec7a within Iba1-positive microglia in the hippocampus (**Figure 7A**). The analysis revealed no significant difference between the number of Clec7a⁺ Iba1⁺ cells between mice fed either the control or the hydrolysate-enriched diet in the whole hippocampus [$t_{(8)} = 1.265$, p = 0.241] (**Figure 7B**).

mRNA and Protein Expression of Intestinal Inflammation and Permeability Markers

Gut alterations related to aging lead to the production of inflammatory cytokines, thus contributing to chronic lowgrade inflammation. Then, the effect of the hydrolysate supplementation was evaluated on inflammation in the ileum and the colon. In the ileum, gene expression of IL-6, IL-1β, TNF- α and IL-10 was not different between mice fed the control and the hydrolysate-enriched diet (IL-6 [$t_{(14)} = 0.115, p = 0.911$]; IL-1 β [$t_{(14)} = 0.637$, p = 535]; TNF- α [$t_{(14)} = 0.061$, p = 0.952]; IL-10 $[t_{(14)} = 0.436, p = 0.67]$) (**Figure 8A**). In the colon, mRNA expression of IL-10 was significantly increased following the hydrolysate supplementation [$t_{(14)} = 2.27, p < 0.05$], suggesting an anti-inflammatory effect of the hydrolysate (Figure 8B). The mRNA expression of the other genes in the colon was comparable in the control and hydrolysate supplemented groups (IL-6 $[t_{(14)}]$ = 0.899, p = 0.384]; IL-1 β [$t_{(14)} = 0.832$, p = 0.42]; TNF- α [$t_{(14)}$ = 1.046, p = 0.313]) (Figure 8B).

Gut alterations related to aging, in addition to the production of inflammatory cytokines, lead to an increase of intestinal permeability. The effect of the hydrolysate supplementation was then evaluated on gene expression involved in ileum and colon permeability. In the ileum, gene expression of Ocln, ZO-1, Cldn5 and MLCK were not different between mice fed the control diet and mice fed the hydrolysate-enriched diet (Ocln [$t_{(14)} = 0.398$, p = 0.697]; ZO-1 [$t_{(14)} = 0.87$, p = 0.399]; Cldn5 [$t_{(14)} = 0.24$, p = 0.814]; MLCK [$t_{(14)} = 0.212$, p = 0.835]) (**Figure 9A**). In the colon, both control and supplemented groups displayed similar expression of Ocln [$t_{(14)} = 0.448$, p = 0.661], Cldn5 [$t_{(14)} = 0.203$, p = 0.843], and MLCK [$t_{(14)} = 0.641$, p = 0.532] (**Figure 9B**). The hydrolysate supplementation tended to increase the expression of ZO-1 [$t_{(14)} = 1.891$, p = 0.08] (**Figure 9B**).

To go further, protein expression of Ocln and ZO-1 were assessed in the ileum and the colon. As shown in **Figure 10** for Ocln, multiple reactive bands were observed at molecular weights of \sim 62–65 kDa for the lower molecular weight and 71 kDa for the higher molecular weight, representing the hyperphosphorylated form of the lower molecular weight form. Relative protein expression is represented as the ratio of protein expression to



GAPDH. Total Ocln expression is represented as the ratio of the higher molecular weight form to the lower molecular weight form. No differences were observed between groups in the ileum (Ocln [$t_{(14)} = 0.191$; p = 0.851]; ZO-1 [$t_{(14)} = 0.497$; p = 0.627]) (**Figure 10A**) neither in the colon (Ocln [$t_{(14)} = 1.122$; p = 0.281]; ZO-1 [$t_{(8.81)} = 0.384$; p = 0.71]) (**Figure 10B**).

Shift in Inflammatory, Intestinal Permeability, and Behavioral Marker Profile

Correlation matrices were performed in aged control and aged hydrolysate groups. Overall, these correlation matrices revealed two different profiles based on the expression of hippocampal and intestinal inflammatory markers, intestinal permeability markers, behavioral assessment and immunological markers (Figure 11). Correlations between cognitive parameters and microglial markers were highlighted in both groups but to a lesser extent in the aged control group than in the aged hydrolysate group. In the aged hydrolysate group, the distance traveled in the new arm of the Y-Maze as well as in the target quadrant of the Morris water maze was positively correlated with genes involved in the homeostatic microglial signature, such as CSF1r, Tmem119, or P2y12, suggesting that the maintenance of this signature plays a role in cognitive function. In the aged control group, some markers of the MGnD microglial signature such as Trem2 or MHCII were negatively correlated with the distance traveled in the new arm of the Y-Maze. Likewise, the M0 marker P2y12 was positively correlated to the distance traveled in the target quadrant of the Morris water maze. Differences in the level of correlations between M0 and MGnD markers have been highlighted in the aged control group and the aged hydrolysate group. Indeed, in the aged hydrolysate group, the correlation matrix showed more significant positive than negative correlations, notably between the M0 markers TGF-Br2, Tmem119, P2y12, CSF1r and the MGnD markers MHCII, Trem2, ApoE, Lgals3, and Axl. In this group, negative correlations have also been highlighted between the M0 markers TGF-β1, Tmem119, P2y12, CSF1r and the MGnD markers Clec7a, Itgax, and Clec7a⁺Iba1⁺ cells. In comparison, the aged control group showed less significant correlations. Nevertheless, those correlations were similar to those observed in the aged hydrolysate group. The higher number of significant correlations in the aged hydrolysate group as compared to the aged control group suggested a higher microglial reactivity and switches between M0 and MGnD phenotype and a dysfunction in phenotype transition of microglial cells in the aged control group. Furthermore, in the aged hydrolysate group, markers of the MGnD microglial signature, such as Axl, Lgals3, ApoE, Trem2, and MHCII were negatively correlated with permeability markers, such as ZO-1, Cldn5, MLCK, Ocln (protein) in the ileum and Ocln, ZO-1, and Cldn5 in the colon, highlighting a link between microglial phenotypes and intestinal permeability. Moreover,



Trem2, ApoE, AxI, MHCII, Lgals3, Clec7a, and Itgax in the hippocampus of aged mice fed with the control diet or the hydrolysate-enriched diet for 10 weeks (*p < 0.05 by unpaired *t*-test; n = 8 per group). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.



different profiles were observed concerning correlations between intestinal inflammation and permeability. In the aged hydrolysate group, IL-10 in the ileum and the colon was positively correlated with ZO-1, Cldn5, and MLCK in the ileum and the colon whereas IL-10 in the ileum was negatively correlated to any variable in the aged control group. Concerning the pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α in the ileum were positively correlated with Ocln, ZO-1, Cldn5, and MLCK in the ileum in the aged hydrolysate group. These correlations were not observed in the aged control group. We also noticed a positive correlation between colon inflammatory (IL-6, TNF- α) and permeability

(Ocln, ZO-1, Cldn5) markers and brain IL-6. These results

suggest a link between gut physiology and brain function.

DISCUSSION

Our results confirmed previous results obtained in our laboratory (73) and demonstrated that the hydrolysate supplementation prevents short- and long-term memory decline during aging. To better understand the mechanisms involved in the prevention of cognitive decline, we investigated the impact of the hydrolysate on microglial signature and on peripheral inflammation. We demonstrated that, without modulating pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, the fish hydrolysate supplementation modulated microglial signature. Indeed, mice supplemented with the fish hydrolysate displayed higher TGF-B1 expression, characteristic of the homeostatic microglial phenotype, higher







FIGURE 9 [Effects of the fish hydrolysate supplementation on gene expression of intestinal permeability markers. Intestinal permeability markers Ocln, ZO-1, Cldn 5 and MLCK mRNA expressions in **(A)** the ileum and **(B)** the colon of aged mice fed with the control diet or the hydrolysate-enriched diet for 10 weeks. n = 8 per group. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.



expression of Clec7a, a marker of MGnD microglial signature involved in phagocytosis, and tended to express less Trem2. Our results represent a snapshot of the experimental conditions that we used during our study (i.e., population of microglia in the hippocampus of 17-months old mice supplemented or not). Although phenotypic changes can be transient and observed in a time-dependent manner, we can also suggest that these changes can be due to the fish hydrolysate supplementation that modulated microglia microenvironment. As shown by correlation matrices, aged mice supplemented with the hydrolysate enriched-diet displayed more significant and positive correlations between markers of the homeostatic microglial phenotype and markers of the MGnD phenotype, suggesting a higher reactivity of microglial cells as compared to the aged control group. The results are in accordance with a previous study that showed higher microglial reactivity in response to inflammation (84). Moreover, the hydrolysate supplementation promoted anti-inflammatory intestinal pathway and tended to prevent intestinal permeability alteration occurring during aging. The hydrolysate supplementation induced a shift in biochemical and behavioral marker profiles and appeared consequently as an interesting candidate to prevent cognitive decline during aging.

We highlighted a beneficial effect of the fish hydrolysate supplementation on TGF- β 1 during aging, which is an antiinflammatory cytokine largely involved in the regulation of inflammation, in cell proliferation, growth and differentiation as well as in neuroprotection (85). Moreover, protective effects against neuronal insults have also been observed before

(10). We showed that TGF- β 1 expression was higher in the hydrolysate supplementation group as compared to the control group. This effect could be linked to the enhancement of the cognitive performances in these mice. Indeed, defects in TGF-β1 have negative impact in physiological and pathological conditions. In normal aging in human, it was shown that a genetic variation within TGF-\beta1, leading to a lower production of TGF-B1, has a negative impact on functional and cognitive performance (85). In patients with Alzheimer's disease, impairment in TGF- β 1 signaling is characterized by a reduction of TGF-B1 plasma levels and decreased receptor expression in neurons (85). In rodents, this cytokine seems to be involved in learning processes as demonstrated in mice and rats treated with a selective inhibitor of TGF-B1 signaling pathway (86, 87). These results suggest a possible role of TGF-B1 probably in the formation and remodeling of synapses (88).

In our study, aged mice fed the fish hydrolysate enricheddiet tended to express less Trem2 than aged control mice. This trend is interesting since this marker, which is highly expressed in glial cells, is involved in the switch from homeostatic microglial phenotype to MGnD phenotype (89, 90). Moreover, several studies have highlighted the beneficial effect of a Trem2 deficiency in aged mice on microglial activation, cognitive performance as well as hippocampal long-term potentiation, suggesting a potential detrimental role of Trem2 during physiological aging (89, 91). Further experimentations are needed to deepen the effect of the fish hydrolysate on Trem2 expression.



The expression of another gene associated to the MGnD phenotype, (Clec7a), was higher following the fish hydrolysate supplementation, although the number of positive microglia for Clec7a was not different from the aged control group. This could be the result of infiltrating cells, other than microglia, since this marker is expressed by macrophages as well as dendritic cells (92). It promotes microglial phagocytosis but can also be involved in pathogen recognition and the

regulation of autophagy (93). In fine, it enhances the removal of cellular debris or damaged cell accumulation. Clec7a has been reported to enhance neuroinflammation when acting in synergy with Toll-like receptor 2 (94, 95) but in the regeneration of damaged CNS (96), *via* Syk-dependent signaling pathway. Syk is activated by phosphorylation into p-Syk, which, in turn activates signaling molecules such as NF- κ B (95). It would be interesting to evaluate Syk and p-Syk expression to demonstrate

the signaling pathways involved in the regulation of Clec7a by the hydrolysate.

Another possible mechanism of action of the fish hydrolysate during aging has been explored. We focused on the intestinal tract, which is involved in several physiological processes including nutrient intake as well as immune modulation (97). Indeed, a close link between gut inflammation, gut permeability and cognition has been demonstrated before (14). Age-related dysbiosis of the gut microbiota is known to be associated with aberrations of gut barrier integrity and enhanced proinflammatory cytokines. These changes impact the gut-brain axis thereby impairing neural, endocrine, and immunological signals between the gut and the brain via the enteric nervous system and could play a role in diseases of the CNS (98, 99). In aged rodents, several studies have reported an increased intestinal permeability to macromolecules and microbes, suggesting altered function and integrity of the intestinal barrier, leading to the leakage of microbial products in the circulation, thereby triggering systemic inflammation and contributing to cognitive impairments (12, 100-102). Recently, fecal microbiota transplant from aged mice to young mice has been shown to affect spatial learning and longterm memory, confirming the link between gut microbiota and cognitive function (103). It is also known that some nutrients can influence gut microbiota and functionality. In this study, aged mice fed the hydrolysate enriched-diet displayed higher colonic expression of IL-10 as compared to aged control mice. This is particularly interesting since IL-10 is a cytokine which plays a crucial role in the regulation of epithelial integrity as well as the regeneration of the colon (104, 105). In line with this, a positive correlation was also found between intestinal IL-10 and permeability markers ZO-1, Cldn5, and MLCK. Furthermore, IL-10 can interact with the intestinal microbiota to regulate epithelial function (106). The hydrolysate supplementation also tended to decrease intestinal permeability. The effects of n-3 LC-PUFAs on gut microbiota, intestinal permeability and immune function have recently been reviewed (66, 67, 70). EPA and DHA display significant beneficial effects on barrier integrity and intestinal inflammation as shown in in vitro and in vivo studies. Moreover, n-3 PUFAs can influence gut microbiota composition and, in turn, microbiota can impact the metabolism and absorption of n-3 PUFAs. However, less is known about the effects of low molecular weight peptides. Recently, the supplementation with small peptides from skipjack by-products have been shown to display anti-inflammatory effects in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis and to increase the diversity of the intestinal flora (107). These anti-inflammatory properties have also been observed in murine models of colitis supplemented with peptide derived from soy or oyster (63, 64). In addition, collagen peptides also protect the intestinal barrier function in vitro, via the regulation of ZO-1 and Ocln expression and distribution and the MLCK pathway (71, 72).

The effect of the fish hydrolysate on intestinal inflammation and permeability was highlighted in the colon but not in the ileum. This could be linked to differences in microbiota in these two intestinal tissues. Indeed, ileum and colon presented distinct microbiota suggesting different mechanisms of action (97, 108). Microbial signatures in colon and ileum are specific and may be differently modulated by the hydrolysate supplementation, as already shown in a study evaluating the effects of polyphenols on intestinal inflammation and gut microbiome signature (97). Moreover, aging induces change in microbiota diversity, which is linked to immune function and cognition (14). Comparisons between microbiota composition in the colon or the ileum would be interesting, as previous studies in humans have observed differences in composition and density between the microbiota of the distal ileum and the colon (109, 110). These microbiota compositions also changed with diet and we could speculate that it wasn't change similarly by the hydrolysate supplementation due to their basal composition.

This study has some limitations. A first limitation concerns the sample size, which could have been increased in order to increase the significance of the statistical tests. However, we had to comply with ethical regulations and our previous results have shown that the number of mice is sufficient to highlight beneficial effects of a hydrolysate supplementation on cognitive function as well as neuroinflammation (73, 84). We also acknowledge some potential bias for the multiple comparison analyses given the high risk of family-wise, thus given rise to potential false positives within the reported results. A second limitation concerns the lack of morphological analyses of microglia. Indeed, microglia morphology and function are closely related and morphological analyses would have given us information on their function. We chose to analyze the protein expression of Clec7a by immunofluorescence because it is involved in phagocytosis, which is enhanced during aging (10).

CONCLUSION

This study provides further evidence for the understanding of the mechanisms of action of the marine hydrolysate containing n-3 LC-PUFAs and low molecular weight peptides on inflammation and cognitive functions during aging. The beneficial effects induced by the hydrolysate supplementation on behavioral and biochemical markers reinforce the innovative character of this hydrolysate on the prevention of age-related cognitive decline.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by CE050 (Approval ID APAFIS#14144-2018041213072383).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VP, SL, AM, EB, A-LD, and CJ devised the project, the main conceptual ideas, and proof outline. MC, VP, SL, A-LD, and CJ conceived and designed experiments. MC and CL conducted research and analyzed data. MC and MDM performed statistical analysis. MC wrote the manuscript with support of A-LD and CJ. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work is part of the Brain Booster project which has been funded by Bpifrance and the Région Bretagne (DOS0049628/00).

REFERENCES

- Cohen HJ, Pieper CF, Harris T, Rao KM, Currie MS. The association of plasma IL-6 levels with functional disability in community-dwelling elderly. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (1997) 52:M201–208. doi: 10.1093/gerona/52A.4.M201
- Dik MG, Jonker C, Hack CE, Smit JH, Comijs HC, Eikelenboom P. Serum inflammatory proteins and cognitive decline in older persons. *Neurology*. (2005) 64:1371–7. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000158281.08946.68
- Rafnsson SB, Deary IJ, Smith FB, Whiteman MC, Rumley A, Lowe GDO, et al. Cognitive decline and markers of inflammation and hemostasis: the Edinburgh Artery Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2007) 55:700– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01158.x
- Braida D, Sacerdote P, Panerai AE, Bianchi M, Aloisi AM, Iosuè S, et al. Cognitive function in young and adult IL (interleukin)-6 deficient mice. *Behav Brain Res.* (2004) 153:423–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2003.12.018
- Buchanan JB, Sparkman NL, Chen J, Johnson RW. Cognitive and neuroinflammatory consequences of mild repeated stress are exacerbated in aged mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2008) 33:755–65. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.02.013
- Barrientos RM, Frank MG, Hein AM, Higgins EA, Watkins LR, Rudy JW, et al. Time course of hippocampal IL-1 beta and memory consolidation impairments in aging rats following peripheral infection. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2009) 23:46–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2008.07.002
- Krasemann S, Madore C, Cialic R, Baufeld C, Calcagno N, El Fatimy R, et al. The TREM2-APOE pathway drives the transcriptional phenotype of dysfunctional microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:566–81.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.008
- Butovsky O, Weiner HL. Microglial signatures and their role in health and disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2018) 19:622–35. doi: 10.1038/s41583-018-0057-5
- Hickman SE, Kingery ND, Ohsumi TK, Borowsky ML, Wang L, Means TK, et al. The microglial sensome revealed by direct RNA sequencing. *Nat Neurosci.* (2013) 16:1896–905. doi: 10.1038/nn.3554
- Butovsky O, Jedrychowski MP, Moore CS, Cialic R, Lanser AJ, Gabriely G, et al. Identification of a unique TGF-β-dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia. *Nat Neurosci.* (2014) 17:131–43. doi: 10.1038/ nn.3599
- Holtman IR, Raj DD, Miller JA, Schaafsma W, Yin Z, Brouwer N, et al. Induction of a common microglia gene expression signature by aging and neurodegenerative conditions: a co-expression metaanalysis. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2015) 3:31. doi: 10.1186/s40478-015-0203-5
- Thevaranjan N, Puchta A, Schulz C, Naidoo A, Szamosi JC, Verschoor CP, et al. Age-associated microbial dysbiosis promotes intestinal permeability, systemic inflammation, and macrophage dysfunction. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2017) 21:455–66.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.03.002
- Nagpal R, Mainali R, Ahmadi S, Wang S, Singh R, Kavanagh K, et al. Gut microbiome and aging: physiological and mechanistic insights. *Nutr Healthy Aging*. (2018) 4:267–85. doi: 10.3233/NHA-170030
- Cryan JF, O'Riordan KJ, Cowan CSM, Sandhu KV, Bastiaanssen TFS, Boehme M, et al. The microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Physiol Rev.* (2019) 99:1877– 2013. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00018.2018
- Madore C, Yin Z, Leibowitz J, Butovsky O. Microglia, lifestyle stress, and neurodegeneration. *Immunity*. (2020) 52:222– 40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.12.003

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is part of the Brain Booster project selected for Fonds Unique Interministériel (FUI) projects (2016-2020). Each partner of the Brain Booster Consortium is acknowledged. The authors would also like to thank the animal technicians for animal care as well as Jean-Christophe Delpech for his help with immunohistochemistry.

- Gallagher M, Rapp PR. The use of animal models to study the effects of aging on cognition. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (1997) 48:339– 70. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.48.1.339
- Deary IJ, Corley J, Gow AJ, Harris SE, Houlihan LM, Marioni RE, et al. Age-associated cognitive decline. *Br Med Bull.* (2009) 92:135– 52. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldp033
- Streit WJ, Braak H, Xue Q-S, Bechmann I. Dystrophic (senescent) rather than activated microglial cells are associated with tau pathology and likely precede neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2009) 118:475–85. doi: 10.1007/s00401-009-0556-6
- von Bernhardi R, Tichauer JE, Eugenín J. Aging-dependent changes of microglial cells and their relevance for neurodegenerative disorders. J Neurochem. (2010) 112:1099–114. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06537.x
- Reichenberg A, Yirmiya R, Schuld A, Kraus T, Haack M, Morag A, et al. Cytokine-associated emotional and cognitive disturbances in humans. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2001) 58:445–52. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.5.445
- Oitzl MS, van Oers H, Schöbitz B, de Kloet ER. Interleukin-1 beta, but not interleukin-6, impairs spatial navigation learning. *Brain Res.* (1993) 613:160–3. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)90468-3
- 22. Taepavarapruk P, Song C. Reductions of acetylcholine release and nerve growth factor expression are correlated with memory impairment induced by interleukin-1 beta administrations: effects of omega-3 fatty acid EPA treatment. J Neurochem. (2010) 112:1054–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06524.x
- Aloe L, Fiore M, Probert L, Turrini P, Tirassa P. Overexpression of tumour necrosis factor alpha in the brain of transgenic mice differentially alters nerve growth factor levels and choline acetyltransferase activity. *Cytokine*. (1999) 11:45–54. doi: 10.1006/cyto.1998.0397
- Golan H, Levav T, Mendelsohn A, Huleihel M. Involvement of tumor necrosis factor alpha in hippocampal development and function. *Cereb Cortex.* (2004) 14:97–105. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhg108
- Patterson SL. Immune dysregulation and cognitive vulnerability in the aging brain: interactions of microglia, IL-1β, BDNF and synaptic plasticity. *Neuropharmacology*. (2015) 96:11–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.12.020
- Calder PC. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammation. Biochem Soc Trans. (2005) 33:423–7. doi: 10.1042/BST0330423
- Layé S, Nadjar A, Joffre C, Bazinet RP. Anti-inflammatory effects of omega-3 fatty acids in the brain: physiological mechanisms and relevance to pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2018) 70:12–38. doi: 10.1124/pr.117.014092
- Joffre C, Rey C, Layé S. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the resolution of neuroinflammation. *Front Pharmacol.* (2019) 10:e01022. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.01022
- Kremer JM. n–3 Fatty acid supplements in rheumatoid arthritis. Am J Clin Nutr. (2000) 71:349s–51s. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.1.349s
- 30. Lamon-Fava S, So J, Mischoulon D, Ziegler TR, Dunlop BW, Kinkead B, et al. Dose- and time-dependent increase in circulating antiinflammatory and pro-resolving lipid mediators following eicosapentaenoic acid supplementation in patients with major depressive disorder and chronic inflammation. *Prostagland Leukotr Essen Fatty Acids*. (2021) 164:102219. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2020.102219
- 31. So J, Wu D, Lichtenstein AH, Tai AK, Matthan NR, Maddipati KR, et al. EPA and DHA differentially modulate monocyte inflammatory response in subjects with chronic inflammation in part *via* plasma specialized proresolving lipid mediators: a randomized, double-blind, crossover study. *Atherosclerosis.* (2021) 316:90–8. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2020.11.018

- 32. Kavanagh T, Lonergan PE, Lynch MA. Eicosapentaenoic acid and gamma-linolenic acid increase hippocampal concentrations of IL-4 and IL-10 and abrogate lipopolysaccharide-induced inhibition of long-term potentiation. *Prostagland Leukotr Essen Fatty Acids*. (2004) 70:391– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2003.12.014
- Lonergan PE, Martin DSD, Horrobin DF, Lynch MA. Neuroprotective actions of eicosapentaenoic acid on lipopolysaccharide-induced dysfunction in rat hippocampus. J Neurochem. (2004) 91:20– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02689.x
- Orr SK, Palumbo S, Bosetti F, Mount HT, Kang JX, Greenwood CE, et al. Unesterified docosahexaenoic acid is protective in neuroinflammation. J Neurochem. (2013) 127:378–93. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12392
- 35. Dehkordi NG, Noorbakhshnia M, Ghaedi K, Esmaeili A, Dabaghi M. Omega-3 fatty acids prevent LPS-induced passive avoidance learning and memory and CaMKII-α gene expression impairments in hippocampus of rat. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2015) 67:370–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2014.10.014
- 36. Shi Z, Ren H, Huang Z, Peng Y, He B, Yao X, et al. Fish oil prevents lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior by inhibiting neuroinflammation. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2017) 54:7327– 34. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-0212-9
- 37. Dong Y, Xu M, Kalueff AV, Song C. Dietary eicosapentaenoic acid normalizes hippocampal omega-3 and 6 polyunsaturated fatty acid profile, attenuates glial activation and regulates BDNF function in a rodent model of neuroinflammation induced by central interleukin-1β administration. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018) 57:1781–91. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1462-7
- Rey C, Delpech JC, Madore C, Nadjar A, Greenhalgh AD, Amadieu C, et al. Dietary n-3 long chain PUFA supplementation promotes a proresolving oxylipin profile in the brain. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2019) 76:17– 27. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.07.025
- Whalley LJ, Fox HC, Wahle KW, Starr JM, Deary IJ. Cognitive aging, childhood intelligence, and the use of food supplements: possible involvement of n-3 fatty acids. Am J Clin Nutr. (2004) 80:1650– 7. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.6.1650
- González S, Huerta JM, Fernández S, Patterson AM, Lasheras C. The relationship between dietary lipids and cognitive performance in an elderly population. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2010) 61:217–25. doi: 10.3109/09637480903348098
- Lee LK, Shahar S, Chin A-V, Yusoff NAM. Docosahexaenoic acid-concentrated fish oil supplementation in subjects with mild cognitive impairment (MCI): a 12-month randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. (2013) 225:605–12. doi: 10.1007/s00213-012-2848-0
- 42. Titova OE, Sjögren P, Brooks SJ, Kullberg J, Ax E, Kilander L, et al. Dietary intake of eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids is linked to gray matter volume and cognitive function in elderly. *Age (Dordr)*. (2013) 35:1495–505. doi: 10.1007/s11357-012-9453-3
- McNamara RK, Kalt W, Shidler MD, McDonald J, Summer SS, Stein AL, et al. Cognitive response to fish oil, blueberry, and combined supplementation in older adults with subjective cognitive impairment. *Neurobiol Aging.* (2018) 64:147–56. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.12.003
- 44. Petursdottir AL, Farr SA, Morley JE, Banks WA, Skuladottir GV. Effect of dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on brain lipid fatty acid composition, learning ability, and memory of senescence-accelerated mouse. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2008) 63:1153–60. doi: 10.1093/gerona/63.11.1153
- 45. Kelly L, Grehan B, Chiesa AD, O'Mara SM, Downer E, Sahyoun G, et al. The polyunsaturated fatty acids, EPA and DPA exert a protective effect in the hippocampus of the aged rat. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2011) 32:2318.e1– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.04.001
- 46. Labrousse VF, Nadjar A, Joffre C, Costes L, Aubert A, Grégoire S, et al. Short-term long chain omega3 diet protects from neuroinflammatory processes and memory impairment in aged mice. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e36861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036861
- Cutuli D, De Bartolo P, Caporali P, Laricchiuta D, Foti F, Ronci M, et al. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation enhances hippocampal functionality in aged mice. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:e00220. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00220
- De Smedt-Peyrusse VD, Sargueil F, Moranis A, Harizi H, Mongrand S, Layé S. Docosahexaenoic acid prevents lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine

production in microglial cells by inhibiting lipopolysaccharide receptor presentation but not its membrane subdomain localization. *J Neurochem.* (2008) 105:296–307. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05129.x

- Ajmone-Cat MA, Salvatori ML, Simone RD, Mancini M, Biagioni S, Bernardo A, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid modulates inflammatory and antineurogenic functions of activated microglial cells. *J Neurosci Res.* (2012) 90:575–87. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22783
- Hjorth E, Zhu M, Toro VC, Vedin I, Palmblad J, Cederholm T, et al. Omega-3 fatty acids enhance phagocytosis of Alzheimer's disease-related amyloid-β 42 by human microglia and decrease inflammatory markers. *J Alzheimer Dis.* (2013) 35:697–713. doi: 10.3233/JAD-130131
- Pettit LK, Varsanyi C, Tadros J, Vassiliou E. Modulating the inflammatory properties of activated microglia with docosahexaenoic acid and aspirin. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2013) 12:16. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-12-16
- Chen S, Zhang H, Pu H, Wang G, Li W, Leak RK, et al. n-3 PUFA supplementation benefits microglial responses to myelin pathology. *Sci Rep.* (2014) 4:7458. doi: 10.1038/srep07458
- Corsi L, Dongmo BM, Avallone R. Supplementation of omega 3 fatty acids improves oxidative stress in activated BV2 microglial cell line. *Int J Food Sci Nutr.* (2015) 66:293–9. doi: 10.3109/09637486.2014.986073
- Inoue T, Tanaka M, Masuda S, Ohue-Kitano R, Yamakage H, Muranaka K, et al. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids suppress the inflammatory responses of lipopolysaccharide-stimulated mouse microglia by activating SIRT1 pathways. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids*. (2017) 1862:552–60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2017.02.010
- Aihara K, Ishii H, Yoshida M. Casein-derived tripeptide, Val-Pro-Pro (VPP), modulates monocyte adhesion to vascular endothelium. J Atheroscler Thromb. (2009) 16:594–603. doi: 10.5551/jat.729
- Nakamura T, Hirota T, Mizushima K, Ohki K, Naito Y, Yamamoto N, et al. Milk-derived peptides, val-pro-pro and ile-pro-pro, attenuate atherosclerosis development in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice: a preliminary study. *J Med Food*. (2013) 16:396–403. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2012.2541
- 57. Zhang H, Kovacs-Nolan J, Kodera T, Eto Y, Mine Y. γ-Glutamyl cysteine and γ-glutamyl valine inhibit TNF-α signaling in intestinal epithelial cells and reduce inflammation in a mouse model of colitis *via* allosteric activation of the calcium-sensing receptor. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2015) 1852:792–804. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.12.023
- Majumder K, Mine Y, Wu J. The potential of food protein-derived antiinflammatory peptides against various chronic inflammatory diseases. J Sci Food Agric. (2016) 96:2303–11. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.7600
- Lee SY, Hur SJ. Mechanisms of neuroprotective effects of peptides derived from natural materials and their production and assessment. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Safety*. (2019) 18:923–35. doi: 10.1111/1541-4337. 12451
- Min L-J, Kobayashi Y, Mogi M, Tsukuda K, Yamada A, Yamauchi K, et al. Administration of bovine casein-derived peptide prevents cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease model mice. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0171515. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171515
- Ahn C-B, Cho Y-S, Je J-Y. Purification and anti-inflammatory action of tripeptide from salmon pectoral fin byproduct protein hydrolysate. *Food Chem.* (2015) 168:151–6. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.05.112
- 62. Montserrat de la Paz S, Lemus-Conejo A, Toscano R, Pedroche J, Millan F, Millan-Linares MC. GPETAFLR, an octapeptide isolated from *Lupinus angustifolius* L. protein hydrolysate, promotes the skewing to the M2 phenotype in human primary monocytes. *Food Funct.* (2019) 10:3303–11. doi: 10.1039/C9FO00115H
- Kovacs-Nolan J, Zhang H, Ibuki M, Nakamori T, Yoshiura K, Turner PV, et al. The PepT1-transportable soy tripeptide VPY reduces intestinal inflammation. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subjects*. (2012) 1820:1753– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.07.007
- 64. Hwang J-W, Lee S-J, Kim Y-S, Kim E-K, Ahn C-B, Jeon Y-J, et al. Purification and characterization of a novel peptide with inhibitory effects on colitis induced mice by dextran sulfate sodium from enzymatic hydrolysates of Crassostrea gigas. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* (2012) 33:993– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.fsi.2012.08.017
- Calder PC. Marine omega-3 fatty acids and inflammatory processes: effects, mechanisms and clinical relevance. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2015) 1851:469– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.08.010

- Costantini L, Molinari R, Farinon B, Merendino N. Impact of omega-3 fatty acids on the gut microbiota. Int J Mol Sci. (2017) 18:2645. doi: 10.3390/ijms18122645
- 67. Fu Y, Wang Y, Gao H, Li D, Jiang R, Ge L, et al. Associations among dietary omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, the gut microbiota, and intestinal immunity. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2021) 2021:e8879227. doi: 10.1155/2021/8879227
- Guinane CM, Cotter PD. Role of the gut microbiota in health and chronic gastrointestinal disease: understanding a hidden metabolic organ. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2013) 6:295–308. doi: 10.1177/1756283X13482996
- Kaliannan K, Wang B, Li X-Y, Kim K-J, Kang JX. A host-microbiome interaction mediates the opposing effects of omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids on metabolic endotoxemia. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:11276. doi: 10.1038/srep11276
- Durkin LA, Childs CE, Calder PC. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the intestinal epithelium—a review. *Foods.* (2021) 10:199. doi: 10.3390/foods10010199
- Chen Q, Chen O, Martins IM, Hou H, Zhao X, Blumberg JB, et al. Collagen peptides ameliorate intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction in immunostimulatory Caco-2 cell monolayers via enhancing tight junctions. *Food Funct.* (2017) 8:1144–51. doi: 10.1039/C6FO01347C
- Song W, Chen Q, Wang Y, Han Y, Zhang H, Li B, et al. Identification and structure-activity relationship of intestinal epithelial barrier function protective collagen peptides from alaska pollock skin. *Mar Drugs.* (2019) 17:450. doi: 10.3390/md17080450
- 73. Chataigner M, Mortessagne P, Lucas C, Pallet V, Layé S, Mehaignerie A, et al. Dietary fish hydrolysate supplementation containing n-3 LC-PUFAs and peptides prevents short-term memory and stress response deficits in aged mice. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2021) 91:716–30. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.09.022
- 74. Dellu F, Mayo W, Cherkaoui J, Le Moal M, Simon H. A two-trial memory task with automated recording: study in young and aged rats. *Brain Res.* (1992) 588:132–9. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)91352-F
- Morris R. Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. J Neurosci Methods. (1984) 11:47-60. doi: 10.1016/0165-0270(84)90007-4
- 76. Mingam R, Moranis A, Bluthé R-M, De Smedt-Peyrusse V, Kelley KW, Guesnet P, et al. Uncoupling of interleukin-6 from its signalling pathway by dietary n-3-polyunsaturated fatty acid deprivation alters sickness behaviour in mice. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2008) 28:1877–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06470.x
- Rey C, Nadjar A, Buaud B, Vaysse C, Aubert A, Pallet V, et al. Resolvin D1 and E1 promote resolution of inflammation in microglial cells *in vitro. Brain Behav Immun.* (2016) 55:249–59. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.12.013
- 78. Simões AE, Pereira DM, Amaral JD, Nunes AF, Gomes SE, Rodrigues PM, et al. Efficient recovery of proteins from multiple source samples after trizol[®] or trizol[®]LS RNA extraction and long-term storage. *BMC Genomics*. (2013) 14:181. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-14-181
- 79. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna (2013). Available online at: http://www.R-project.org/ (accessed November 10, 2021).
- Murtagh F, Legendre P. Ward's hierarchical agglomerative clustering method: which algorithms implement ward's criterion? J Classif. (2014) 31:274–95. doi: 10.1007/s00357-014-9161-z
- Ward JH. Hierarchical grouping to optimize an objective function. J Am Stat Assoc. (1963) 58:236–44. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1963.10500845
- Greenhouse SW, Geisser S. On methods in the analysis of profile data. Psychometrika. (1959) 24:95–112. doi: 10.1007/BF02289823
- Harrison FE, Hosseini AH, McDonald MP. Endogenous anxiety and stress responses in water maze and Barnes maze spatial memory tasks. *Behav Brain Res.* (2009) 198:247–51. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.10.015
- Chataigner M, Martin M, Lucas C, Pallet V, Layé S, Mehaignerie A, et al. Fish hydrolysate supplementation containing n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and peptides prevents lps-induced neuroinflammation. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:824. doi: 10.3390/nu13030824
- 85. Fraga VG, Guimarães HC, Lara VP, Teixeira AL, Barbosa MT, Carvalho MG, et al. TGF- β 1 codon 10 T>C polymorphism influences short-term functional and cognitive decline in healthy oldest-old individuals: the pietà study. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2015) 48:1077–81. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150397

- Caraci F, Gulisano W, Guida CA, Impellizzeri AAR, Drago F, Puzzo D, et al. A key role for TGF-β1 in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:11252. doi: 10.1038/srep11252
- Arkhipov VI, Pershina EV, Levin SG. Deficiency of transforming growth factor-β signaling disrupts memory processes in rats. *Neuroreport.* (2018) 29:353–5. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000971
- Diniz LP, Matias I, Siqueira M, Stipursky J, Gomes FCA. Astrocytes and the TGF-β1 pathway in the healthy and diseased brain: a double-edged sword. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2019) 56:4653–79. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1396-y
- Qu W, Li L. Loss of TREM2 confers resilience to synaptic and cognitive impairment in aged mice. J Neurosci. (2020) 40:9552–63. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2193-20.2020
- Wei M-D, Wang Y-H, Lu K, Lv B-J, Wang Y, Chen W-Y. Ketamine reverses the impaired fear memory extinction and accompanied depressive-like behaviors in adolescent mice. *Behav Brain Res.* (2020) 379:112342. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2019.112342
- Linnartz-Gerlach B, Bodea L-G, Klaus C, Ginolhac A, Halder R, Sinkkonen L, et al. TREM2 triggers microglial density and age-related neuronal loss. *Glia*. (2019) 67:539–50. doi: 10.1002/glia.23563
- Brown GD, Gordon S. A new receptor for β-glucans. *Nature.* (2001) 413:36– 7. doi: 10.1038/35092620
- Brown GD. Dectin-1: a signalling non-TLR pattern-recognition receptor. Nat Rev Immunol. (2006) 6:33–43. doi: 10.1038/nri1745
- Rogers NC, Slack EC, Edwards AD, Nolte MA, Schulz O, Schweighoffer E, et al. Syk-dependent cytokine induction by dectin-1 reveals a novel pattern recognition pathway for C type lectins. *Immunity*. (2005) 22:507–17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.03.004
- Ye X-C, Hao Q, Ma W-J, Zhao Q-C, Wang W-W, Yin H-H, et al. Dectin-1/Syk signaling triggers neuroinflammation after ischemic stroke in mice. J Neuroinflammation. (2020) 17:17. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1693-z
- 96. Baldwin KT, Carbajal KS, Segal BM, Giger RJ. Neuroinflammation triggered by β-glucan/dectin-1 signaling enables CNS axon regeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:2581–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1423221112
- 97. Saccon TD, Nagpal R, Yadav H, Cavalcante MB, Nunes AD, de C, et al. Senolytic combination of dasatinib and quercetin alleviates intestinal senescence and inflammation and modulates the gut microbiome in aged mice. J Gerontol A. (2021) 76:1895–905. doi: 10.1093/gerona/ glab002
- Collins SM, Surette M, Bercik P. The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2012) 10:735–42. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2876
- Luna RA, Foster JA. Gut brain axis: diet microbiota interactions and implications for modulation of anxiety and depression. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* (2015) 32:35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2014. 10.007
- Mullin JM, Valenzano MC, Verrecchio JJ, Kothari R. Age- and diet-related increase in transepithelial colon permeability of fischer 344 rats. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2002) 47:2262–70. doi: 10.1023/A:1020191412285
- 101. Annaert P, Brouwers J, Bijnens A, Lammert F, Tack J, Augustijns P. Ex vivo permeability experiments in excised rat intestinal tissue and in vitro solubility measurements in aspirated human intestinal fluids support age-dependent oral drug absorption. Eur J Pharm Sci. (2010) 39:15– 22. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2009.10.005
- 102. Cattaneo A, Cattane N, Galluzzi S, Provasi S, Lopizzo N, Festari C, et al. Association of brain amyloidosis with pro-inflammatory gut bacterial taxa and peripheral inflammation markers in cognitively impaired elderly. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2017) 49:60–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016. 08.019
- 103. D'Amato A, Di Cesare Mannelli L, Lucarini E, Man AL, Le Gall G, Branca JJV, et al. Faecal microbiota transplant from aged donor mice affects spatial learning and memory *via* modulating hippocampal synaptic plasticity- and neurotransmission-related proteins in young recipients. *Microbiome*. (2020) 8:140. doi: 10.1186/s40168-020-00914-w
- 104. Pull SL, Doherty JM, Mills JC, Gordon JI, Stappenbeck TS. Activated macrophages are an adaptive element of the colonic epithelial progenitor niche necessary for regenerative responses to injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:99–104. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405979102

- Quiros M, Nishio H, Neumann PA, Siuda D, Brazil JC, Azcutia V, et al. Macrophage-derived IL-10 mediates mucosal repair by epithelial WISP-1 signaling. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:3510–20. doi: 10.1172/JCI90229
- 106. Zheng L, Kelly CJ, Battista KD, Schaefer R, Lanis JM, Alexeev EE, et al. Microbial-derived butyrate promotes epithelial barrier function through il-10 receptor–dependent repression of claudin-2. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:2976– 84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700105
- 107. Wang Z, Ying X, Gao P, Wang C, Wang Y, Yu X, et al. Anti-inflammatory activity of a peptide from skipjack (*Katsuwonus pelamis*). *Mar Drugs*. (2019) 17:582. doi: 10.3390/md17100582
- Naftali T, Reshef L, Kovacs A, Porat R, Amir I, Konikoff FM, et al. Distinct microbiotas are associated with ileum-restricted and colon-involving Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:293– 302. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000662
- 109. Dieterich W, Schink M, Zopf Y. Microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract. Med Sci (Basel). (2018) 6:116. doi: 10.3390/medsci60 40116
- 110. Villmones HC, Haug ES, Ulvestad E, Grude N, Stenstad T, Halland A, et al. Species level description of the human ileal bacterial microbiota. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:4736. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-2 3198-5

Conflict of Interest: MC, AM, and EB are employed by company Abyss Ingredients.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chataigner, Lucas, Di Miceli, Pallet, Laye, Mehaignerie, Bouvret, Dinel and Joffre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

